I

# **Table of Contents**

Part I	Overview	8
1	Contents of help file	
2	Using this help file	10
Part II	Quick start and concepts	10
1	Quickstart	10
2	Basic programming terms and elements	
3	DMX addresses and links	
4	Cross fixture-type compatible effects	
5	Scene and fade times	
Part III	Hardware configuration and setup	22
1	Hardware setup	
2	Detecting and configuring DMX hardware	
	Detecting DMX hardware	23
	Installing the Universal USB/DMX interface	
	Updating the driver for the Universal USB/DMX interface	
	The USB/DMX interface	
	Installing and using the USB DMX interface	
	USB/DMA Interface warnings and errors	
	Installing the PCI DMX transmitter card	
	Installing the ISA/DMX card	
	Installing the PCMCIA DMX interface	
	Installing the ADP (Parallel Port) DMX interface	
	Configuring DMX hardware options	
	XLR cable connections	
3	Audio	39
	Audio setup	
	Audio CD control	
	Audio CD-ROM trouble shooing	
4	MIDI	
5		
Part IV	The LightJockey desktop	44
1	Main desktop window	44
2	Configuring the desktop	45
3	Desktop main menu	47
	Main system menu	
	Deleting multiple data files	
	Using the data restore option	

	Main setup menu	50
	System preferences	50
	Startup options	
	Default DMX output	53
	Main view menu	
	The unassigned fixtures list	
4	Tool- and status-bars	55
	Sequence/cue tool bar	55
	Cue list tool bar	
	LightJockey Offline Visualizer tool bar	
	Fixture tool bar	
F	Status bar	
5	Fixture icon popup	
6	DMX output monitor	60
Part V	User libraries	62
1	User libraries	
2	Backup & restore	
Part VI	Fixture configuration	66
1	Fixture configuration	66
2	Configuration warnings	
3	Copy from fixture	
4	Clear fixture data	
5	Applying default DMX to new fixtures	74
6	Controlling older Martin fixtures via Martin/DMX interface	74
7	Customizing built-in fixture profiles	
	The select bitmap dialog	
Part VII	Controlling and programming fixtures	80
1	Selecting fixtures for control and programming	
	Selecting fixtures on the desktop	80
	Next/previous fixture selection	
	Fixture groups	
2	Using generic DMX profiles	
	Generic DMX profiles	
	The generic DMX control	
	The RGB pack color control	
3	Fixture controls	
	Fade state buttons	
	Fixture control elements	
	User palettes	
	Intensity control	
	Intensity controls for user defined profiles	
	Movement and position control	
	Position control	
	Position fan out	101

LightJockey Help file - (C) Martin Professional

III

	Movement macros	
	Movement macro engine	
	Bézier shapes	
	Auto delay control	
	Position presets	
	Non pan/tilt movement controls	
	Color control	
	Color controls for built in profiles	
	Color controls for user defined profiles	
	Gobo control	
	Gobo controls for built in profiles	
	Gobo controls for user defined profiles	
	Beam control	
	Beam controls for user defined profiles	
	Etean control	
	Effect controls for huilt in profiles	115
	Effect controls for user defined profiles	116
	Extended controls	
	Extended controls for built in profiles	
	Extended controls for user defined profiles	
	Lamp controls	
	Lamp controls for built in fixtures	119
	Lamp controls for user defined profiles	
	Reset control	120
	Resetting fixtures, built in profiles	
	Resetting fixtures, user defined profiles	121
Part VIII	Smoke machines and hazers	121
Part VIII	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers	<b>121</b>
Part VIII 1 2	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control	<b>121</b> 121 122
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control	121 121 122 124
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes Deleting scenes	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes Deleting scenes Sequence blind mode Snapshot and recording from DMX output	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes Deleting scenes Sequence blind mode Snapshot and recording from DMX output Sequence fades	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 Part X	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes Deleting scenes Sequence blind mode Snapshot and recording from DMX output Sequence fades The cue control	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 Part X 1	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes Deleting scenes Sequence blind mode Snapshot and recording from DMX output Sequence fades The cue control The cue control	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 Part X 1 2	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes Sequence blind mode Snapshot and recording from DMX output Sequence fades The cue control The cue control Save cue dialog	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Part X 1 2 3	Smoke machines and hazers Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers The smoke control The sequence control The sequence control Save sequence dialog List of sequences Inserting scenes Sequence blind mode Snapshot and recording from DMX output Sequence fades The cue control The cue control List of cues	121 
Part VIII 1 2 Part IX 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 Part X 1 2 3	Smoke machines and hazers         Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers         The smoke control         The sequence control         The sequence control         Save sequence dialog         List of sequences         Inserting scenes         Sequence blind mode         Snapshot and recording from DMX output         Sequence fades         The cue control         Save cue dialog         List of cues         Cue pages	121 

Part

5	Modifying sequence slot labels	143
6	Trigging sequences in the cue	
7	Sequence slot loop options	145
8	Cue time control	147
9	Cue macro control	
10	Transparent cues	149
11	Sequence intensities	150
12	The cue builder	150
Part XI	The generic DMX macro	153
1	Generic DMX macros	153
2	The Generic DMX macro editor	156
3	The macro shapes lists	158
4	Macro visualization and tracking panel	159
5	The fixture channel list	161
6	Generic macro parameters	161
7	Generic macro delays	163
8	Save macro dialog	165
9	Select macro list	166
Part XII	The background cue	167
1	Using the background cue	167
2	List of background cues	169
Part XIII	The cue list control	169
1	The cue list control	169
2	Save cue list dialog	176
3	List of cue lists	176
4	Cue list commands	177
5	Using time code in cue lists	179
6	MIDI/SMPTE time code	
7	Launching external programs from the cue list	183
8	Using the LightJockey MediaPlayer	183
9	Playing multiple, simultaneous media files from the cue list	185
10	Using Winamp for digital audio playback	186
11	Winamp time code issues	187
Part XIV	The statics control	189
1	Static merge and replace modes	191
Part XV	Using audio input	192

Contents
----------

Part XVI	Global functions	195
1	Global intensity control	195
	Blackout/restore	
	Master intensity control	195
2	Freeze output	198
3	Offline / Online switch	198
4	Follow spot function	198
5	Fixture solo function	200
6	Global patching	201
	Global patch dialog	
	HTP groups	
Part XVII	Hotkeys	203
1	Using hotkeys	203
2	Hotkey functions	205
Part XVIII	External control	210
1	Fingers for Light lockey	210
	Fingers setup	
	Fingers controls overview	
	Fingers status panel	216
	Configuring and using the function buttons	
	Configuring and using the scroll buttons	
	Configuring and using fader and bump functions	
	Configuring and using jog-wheel functions	
	Fingers multi select mode	
	Virtual Fingers	
2	Using the 2532 direct access controller	225
	2532 direct access	
	The 2532 layout	
	Printing the 2532 controller	
	Emulating the 2532	
3	Using DMX in	231
	DMX in translation	
	Editing translation tables	
4	Using MIDI in	240
5	Using the 2518 controller via RS-232	
	2518 controller via RS-232	
	2518 controller via RS-232, mode 2	
•	2518 controller via RS-232, mode 1	
6		
7	RS-232 remote control	

VI

Part XIX	User definable fixture profiles	247
1	The user definable fixtures profiles	
2	Scanner 1 profile	
	Configuring the Scanner 1 profile	
	Defining the Scanner 1 profile	
	Defining Scanner 1 intensity control	
	Defining Scanner 1 pan & tilt control	251
	Defining Scanner 1 color control	252
	Defining Scanner 1 gobo control	
-	Defining Scanner 1 level control	
3	Color Scroller 1	255
	User Definable Fixtures - Color Scroller 1	255
	Defining the Color Scroller Profile	255
4	Generic fixture type 2 profile	256
	Defining the generic fixture 2 profile	256
	Applying profile data to multiple fixtures	258
	User definable dynamic functions	259
	User definable static functions	
	User definable palettes	
	The intensity & Jamp tab	
	The nan & tilt tab	
	The fixed color tab	
	The CMY & RGB tab	
	The gobo tab	272
	The beam tab	
	The effects tab	274
	The special tab	274
	The levels tab	277
	The Offline Visualizer tab	
	Creating custom bitmaps for palette controls	
F	Creating custom bitmaps for fixture icons	
5	importing and exporting profiles	
	Importing user defined fixture profiles	
	Exporting user defined fixture profiles	
6	External application/device profile plug in	
Part XX	Real time visualizing	284
1	The Offline Visualizer	
2	Interfacing with Capture	
Part XXI	LJ Manager	288
1	LJ Manager plugin	288
Part XXII	The 2510 playback controller	290
1	Using the 2510 playback controller with LightJockey	290
2	Creating a sequence list for the 2510 controller	291

	Contents	VII
3	Generating the 2510 download file	294
4	Downloading the 2510 download file	295
5	Using the 2510 for playback	295
6	2510 memory test	297
7	Binary 2510 files	297
Part XXIII	Creating download files for the 2518 controller	298
Part XXIV	Release notes	299
1	Version 2.95	300
2	Version 2.9	300
3	Version 2.8	301
4	Version 2.7	301
5	Version 2.6	303
6	Version 2.5	309
7	Version 2.3	312
8	Version 2.2	312
9	Version 2.1	314
10	Version 2.0	317
11	Version 1.08	317
12	Version 1.07	321
13	Version 1.06	326
14	Version 1.05	331
15	Version 1.04	332
16	Version 1.03	333
17	Version 1.01	334

### 1 Overview

### 1.1 Contents of help file



See <u>Release notes</u> 299 See <u>Using this help file</u> 10

### Contents - overview

Basic programming terms and elements Programming quick start

Hardware setup 22 <u>Fixture configuration</u> 66 User definable fixtures and creating new profiles 247 <u>DMX smoke machines and hazers</u> 127 <u>DMX addresses and links</u> 217

Main desktop window 44 Configuring the desktop 45 Desktop main menu 47 Selecting fixtures 80 Tool and status bars 55

Fixture controls The generic DMX control The sequence control The cue control The cue list control The background cue The statics control Generic DMX macros Follow spot functions Test for the state for the state of the st

<u>Global patch</u> 201े <u>Default DMX output</u> बिडी <u>HTP groups</u> 203े

Startup options 52

<u>Using audio-in ସେଥି</u> <u>Using time code in cue lists</u> ସେଥି <u>Using the LightJockey MediaPlayer</u> 183

Backup and restore Using the data restore option 48

Hotkeys 203



Fingers for LightJockey 210 2532 direct access 225 DMX In remote control 231 MIDI In remote control 240 Martin MC-X remote control 245 Martin 2518 Controller via RS-232 242 Using the 2510 playback controller 290. RS232 remote control 246 External devices and applications 282

Controlling older Martin fixtures via Martin/DMX interface <u>Controlling RGB fixtures</u>



The Offline Visualizer 284





Interfacing with Capture 286

LightJockey and this help file may be updated by downloading the latest version from the Martin Website: <a href="http://www.martin.com/service/software/logs/LightJockey\_sw.htm">www.martin.com/service/software/logs/LightJockey\_sw.htm</a>

The current list of user-defined fixture profiles can be found at:

http://www.martin.com/service/Software/controller/LJ/list.asp

Finally, an end-user discussion forum dedicated to the LightJockey is hosted on the Martin professional website : <u>http://www.martin.com/forum/</u>

### 1.2 Using this help file

#### Changing the help file

the LightJockey help file may be available in different languages. To select between different help files use **Select Help file** from the *main help menu*.

Please note that any non-English help-files may not document the latest changes and updates (see <u>Release Notes</u><sup>299</sup> for the helpfile in question).

While an updated version of the English help file is always shipped with LightJockey it may be necessary to update the non-English help files when they become available. The latest releases are available from the Martin Website at

www.martin.com/service/software/logs/lightjockey\_sw.htm and the latest beta release usually via the LightJockey end-user forum at www.martin.com/forum/

Die deutsche Hilfe könnte sich kurzzeitig auf eine ältere Software version beziehen - bitte beachten Sie den

Versionshinweis im Inhalt der online-Hilfe und besuchen Sie die Seite www.martin.com/service/software/logs/lightjockey\_sw.htm

#### Topic help from within LightJockey

Most windows and controls in LightJockey has a **Help** entry in the local menu. If present, clicking **Help** opens the help file on a help topic that relates to the function(s) of the window/control itself.

#### The help file as PDF

The help file is also supplied in PDF format on the CD. The latest PDF version may be downloaded via the LightJockey end-user forum at <u>www.martin.com/forum/</u>.

Adobe Acrobat reader or another PDF reader application is required to read PDF documents - at the time of writing this a free version of the Acrobat reader can be downloaded from <u>www.Adobe.com</u>. A print out of the entire help file should be made via the PDF file.

### 2 Quick start and concepts

### 2.1 Quickstart

#### Programming LightJockey

#### Introduction to programming

This short introduction will help you get started using the Martin LightJockey quickly. It assumes that you have some basic experience programming moving lights and are familiar with Windows. Additional information is <u>available</u> in this on-line "Help" documentation.

If you are a Martin 3032 programmer

Programming with the LightJockey is similar in many ways to programming with the 3032 Controller. Fade times and the Off/Snap/Fade control, however, will be new features to 3032 programmers.

The best way to learn your way around the LightJockey is to experiment. As you try the controls, be aware that clicking with the left and right mouse buttons often do different things. Note: depending on software version, screens and button names may differ from those shown here.



LightJockey Desktop

#### **Configuring fixtures**

The first step after configuring the hardware is to select and address your lighting fixtures in the Fixture Configuration window. In the following example, the LightJockey is set up to control 2 MAC 600s.

- 1. Choose Setup > Fixture Configuration from the main menu.
- Select "MAC 600 (mode 2/4)" from the list of Available Fixture Types (found under the Martin Manufacturer heading). Drag and drop it on line 1. Add another MAC 600 to line 2. (Multiple fixtures can also be added using the Add (fixture name) button.)
- 3. If the addresses are already set on the fixtures, click the fixture, select the DMX link it's on, and enter its address in the DMX Address field.
- 4. If you want the controller to automatically assign addresses, click Auto Address. Click Find Addresses and then click Ok. Remember to set the addresses on the fixtures to match the LightJockey's fixture configuration.
- 5. Click the first MAC 600. Type "Left" in the Fixture Username field.
- 6. Click the second MAC 600 and name it "Right."
- 7. Save the configuration and close the window.

- Fi	iture Configuration						×
Gur	Fisher	Configural	tion			Fishue	Settinge
No	Foture Tape	DNX Add	Special	Uper Name		DMSCLink DMSCArid	Setting:
55	Bobe DubScap 250 CT	2 123 128		Dub 250	_		
17	Robe Funks	2129131		Funka		1 2 3 4 0	÷.
58	Bohn Funion	2132134		Fusion			
59	Bobe DubSe			250		Calculat	e Address
60	Bobs DubSs FIXTURE C	ontial	iratio	250			
61	Robe Duble/			250		Louised Rass	Increase Direction at
62	Robe Duble/	lint		250		inverte an	grove bidoxible
161	AdvancedLa	list		ALED.		Invert Lik	Ignore Grand Master
64	Chauvet Legend 150DMB ILS	2.176-182	_	Leg 150LS		Swap #	acter
65	Chauset Misi Legend II S	2183197		Misl edl S			settinas —
66	Chausel Mini Legend Wash ILS	2188-194		MLedu/abl 5		Fodure Upe	
67	Teshki Flash 5751-16hit	2 195 210		Techk 575	_		
68	Matio MdC 250 Kaston I16 Bit	2 217,230		MAC 250KB		O Dear F	Wate Settings
69	Matin MAC 1200 (mode 2/4)	2 231,244		MAC1200			-
70	Matin & Channel DMX Sailch	2.211.218		SWITCHE		72 Fatures configured	762 DMX Addresses Used
71	Matin Fron VA	2.245.290		Fael/4			
72	Martin Roboscan 518 (mode 3)			518	-	Henove S	elected hoture(s)
	Avai	lable Profile	**			LJ Profile Notes 0/V Pre	dile Notes
B-6	Clay Paky					Built-in Profile	
B-G	Generic						
B-6	Jen Avali	able r	profile	20	_	Roboscan 518 Hotes	
19-6	S Matin / Cy cill		21 O IIII	20		Personality for Mode 3, 16 bit F	wryTit - Tracking
	o channel of	lint.					
1	Acrobat	list				PL432 Junce Profile	notes
	Acarbod Extended Di	ev.				<u>n reme</u>	inote of
	Alice OF					Notes:	
1 1	with to					Podure Stand-alone modes use	shutter channel (special)
	Alien 05, DHX Node 1						
	Alien 05, DHX Hode 2	2					
	Alien 02						
	Atomic 3000 Color /4 Ch+	Scrolleri			*	Profile uses 9	DMX addresses
Çol	lapse Q End Kata	Generic	Uper defina	ble Add Fixtu	e (c) =	😹 Save	👖 Dore

#### Configuring the desktop

Lighting fixtures are represented by icons on the desktop. To create and place icons you drag fixtures from the Unassigned Fixtures list to the desktop. Icons can be organized any way you like on multiple pages or "tabs."

- 1. The list of unassigned fixtures is displayed on the desktop automatically. It can also be opened by selecting View > Unassigned Fixtures from the main menu.
- 2. Drag the MAC 600s to the desktop.
- 3. Right-click on the desktop. Select Icons > Auto Arrange. Click OK. Additional menus pop up when you right-click on the icons but we are not concerned with these now.



#### Key LightJockey concepts

Understanding these concepts is critical for successful programming with the Light-Jockey. Don't worry if they are new to you, the programming example that follows is designed to illustrate them and they will make more sense once you have been through it.

#### Cues, sequences, and scenes

A light show is typically divided into cues that you program and then play back from the list of available cues. The LightJockey also supports cue playback several external units such as the Martin 2532 Direct Access Controller.

A cue 'points' to up to 12 sequences that run together in parallel. In addition to these pointers, cues have some additional sequence timing and loop options.

A sequence is a set of scenes that run one after the other. A sequence can have from 1 to 999 scenes.

A scene is a set of instructions for selected fixtures. These instructions are made up of a static command, a fade time, and a scene time. A static command is one or more instructions such as "insert the red filter" or "rotate the triangle gobo counterclockwise." Fade time is the time it takes, for example, for the color to change from blue to red. Scene time is simply how long the scene lasts before the next scene in the sequence is executed. If scene time is greater than fade time, the fixture fades to the position and stops.

#### Current cues and current sequences

To program cues and sequences you either create new ones or load existing ones using standard Windows techniques such as dragging and dropping. Once loaded or created from new they become the current cue or current sequence.

The current cue is displayed differently from the current sequence. The action of the current cue is shown by changes in the relevant control windows. The pan/tilt cursor in the movement window, for instance, slides back and forth to show a pan movement. This feature lets you see the program without actual fixtures.

The controls for effects programmed in the current sequence, however, stand still so you don't have to catch a moving target as you work. The pan/tilt cursor, to take the previous example, stops moving when you load the movement sequence onto the desktop. To see the sequence run again you have to clear it from the desktop by loading another sequence or clicking New/Clear Sequence on the Sequence toolbar.

#### Bottom to top execution

Understanding the order of execution in the cue is vital for successful programming. The Light-Jockey executes the current sequence first and then executes the current cue from bottom (sequence 12) to top (sequence 1). When two sequences contain instructions for the same effect, the sequence closest to the bottom has priority; instructions in the sequence closest to the top are not executed.

#### Off/Snap/Fade control

Most effect controls have an Off/Snap/Fade (O/S/F) button. In the default setting, the button is red and displays "Off." Clicking the red Off button once turns it into a yellow "Snap" button. Clicking again turns it into a green "Fade" button. Some controls, such as

the Lamp Control, have Off and Snap only.

When an effect's O/S/F button is Off, the control sends no instructions. This allows a lower-priority sequence to control that effect. It does not turn off the effect itself. The dimmer O/S/F button must be Off in sequence 10, for example, if you want to program a

dimmer command in sequence 9 or below.

When you set an effect's O/S/F button to Snap, the effect moves at maximum speed.

When you set an effect's O/S/F button to Fade, the effect's speed is determined by the fade time. To program a scene with a 10-second pan movement, you would first define the movement with the cursor, then set the Pan O/S/F button to Fade, and finally set the scene and fade times to 10 seconds. Setting an effect's O/S/F button to Snap or Fade overrides all programming for that effect in higher sequences in the cue. Leave the button on Off (the default) unless you are programming a command.

#### Striking lamps

Most Martin fixtures with discharge lamps, also known as arc lamps, must be struck (turned on) from the controller. There are three ways to do this:

- Use the LightJockey's automatic lamp-strike feature. This is recommended and is described in the following example.
- Program a "lamp on" cue. This is not recommended because Martin fixtures use the same DMX

channel for lamp and shutter control. Therefore, the lamp-on command will be overridden by any higher-priority sequence with a shutter command. If you choose to program a "lamp on" cue, turn on the lamps one at a time with 3 - 5 second intervals to avoid excessive voltage drop and current draw.

• Strike a lamp manually by selecting it, clicking the Lamp button on the fixture tool-bar, and clicking Power On in the Lamp Control dialog. Depending on the fixture, the Lamp Control may also allow you to turn off the lamp.

#### Example: Programming a cue

The following example, in which you program a simple cue for 2 MAC 600s, demonstrates the basic steps and concepts involved in programming. To keep you focus on the screen, it is suggested that you program the first cue without fixtures attached.

The screens shots show how your screen will look if you follow the steps correctly.

Step I: Strike lamps

This step only applies if you have actual fixtures connected to the controller.

- 1. Configure 2 MAC 600s and place them on the desktop.
- 2. Turn on the MAC 600s, set them to mode 4, and set their addresses to match the LightJockey fixture configuration.
- 3. Choose System > Auto Strike Lamps from the main menu. Click Stop when the lamps have struck.

Step II: Program shutter/dimmer sequence

In this step you program a sequence to open the shutters and set the dimmers to 20%.

- 1. Configure 2 MAC 600s and place them on the desktop if you have not done so.
- 2. Click New/Clear Sequence on the Sequence toolbar. The new (blank) sequence is indicated by a gray Sequence name field.
- Click both MAC 600s to select them. The fixture icon caption is blue when the fixture is not selected and red when it is selected.
- 4. Click Show Fixture Controls on the Fixture toolbar (see page 1). Arrange the control windows any way like by dragging them on the desktop. Since you will not be using the Beam control in this example, you can close it to make more room on the desktop. Individual controls can be opened and closed as needed by clicking buttons on the Fixture toolbar.
- 5. Find the Intensity dialog (see below). Click the shutter control. Three things happen: "Shutter Closed" changes to "Shutter Open," the shutter O/S/F button automatically changes to Snap, and the Sequence Name field in the Sequence toolbar changes from gray to yellow, indicating that the new (blank) sequence has been changed.
- 6. Drag the dimmer level to 20%. Click the dimmer O/S/F button twice to Snap.



7. Verify that your Intensity control looks like the one above and that the O/S/F buttons in all other controls are off.

8. Click Save Sequence in the Sequence toolbar. Type "20% dimmer" in the dialog's Sequence Name field. Click Save as New Sequence or press Enter.

📕 Save	e Sequence	2	×
Prefere	nces <u>H</u> elp		
Seq #	Sequence Name	Sequence Type	
	20% dimmer	<none></none>	•
Add to 0	Cue in Slot	Default	-
□ <u>C</u> lea □ <u>A</u> dd	ir after Save Sequence to Current Cu	Create <u>n</u> ew Cue Auto <u>s</u> ave Current Cue	
L L	3 Save Sequence	📕 🖳 Save as New Sequence	e

#### Step III: Add sequence to Cue

Checking "Add Sequence to Current Cue" in the Save Sequence dialog would have automatically added the sequence to the current cue when saving. Windows techniques such as drag and drop can also be used to add, delete, and rearrange items in lists.

- 1. Click List of Sequences on the Sequence toolbar.
- 2. Click View Cue Control on the Cue toolbar.
- 3. Drag the "20% dimmer" sequence to position 1 in the cue. (If drag mode is not enabled, choose Preferences > Drag mode from the Select Sequence dialog menu.)

	14	1.8		111.00.1	-								-
100.00	Sequence Name	Types	31000	Modered	100	Sequence	Type	Scene	51	11	5964	Loop	1.79
R1	20% Denner		1	H01-2009 11-2-	Contract of the local division of the local	WER Dimmer		5146	1.00	0.02	2000	Fed	Ask.
					and the second second								
		roa opd	drou		2 IO IO IO	to other of	antroll						
		ray anu	aro	o seque	ence	to cue co	JULIO						
		ray anu	uru	o seque	ence	to cue co	Shiron						
	Ľ	ray anu	uro	o seque	ence	to cue co	JILIOI						
		ray anu	uroj	J Seque		to cue co	onuoij						
		ray anu	uroj	J Seque	ence	to cue co	Shiron						
		ray anu		JSeque	ence.	to cue co	Shiron						
				JSeque	ance.	to cue co	Shiron						
				Jiseque		to cue co	SHUOIJ						
				JSEque						71.4			

#### Step IV: Program CMY sequence

The next sequence is a CMY (cyan, magenta, yellow) color chase with 3 scenes. In the first scene, cyan fades in and yellow, which comes in scene 3, fades out. In the second scene, cyan fades out and magenta fades in. Finally, magenta fades out and yellow fades in. The scene and fade times for each scene is set to three seconds for a smooth continuous effect.

- 1. Close the cue editing and sequence list windows.
- 2. Click New/Clear Sequence on the Sequence toolbar.
- 3. Make sure both MAC 600s are selected: a fixture is selected when the icon caption is red. Drag and drop sequences to cues.
- 4. Place the cursor over the cyan fader and drag it to 100%. The O/S/F button automatically changes to Fade.

Color	s X
UserPale	tte Preferences Eades Help
0#	<ul> <li>I</li> <li>I</li></ul>
Fade	Cyan 100,0% ► 7 Rnd Slow
Off	Magenta 0,0%
Off	✓ Yellow 0,0%

- 5. Click View Sequence Control in the Sequence toolbar.
- 6. Click the "Synchronize Scene and Fade Times" box. Set the scene (and fade) time to 3 seconds.

7. Click Add Scene in the Sequence dialog.

SEQUENCE [0000 No Name]	Insert Scene X
Disable Fade Preferences Add Scene Help	
	+ 🔬
Scene Time Current Scene: Total Scenes	Clabel State Time Delete Scene Global Fade Time
Synchronize Scene and Fade Times	- 🗶 🗷 🕫 🛞

8. Drag the Cyan fader to 0%. Drag the Magenta fader to 100%.

Colors	×
UserPalette	Preferences Eades Help
01 -	
Fade •	Cyan 0,0% 🕨 🌌 Rnd Slow
Fade	Magenta 100,0%  Magenta 100,0%
Off	Yellow 0,0%

- 9. Click Add Scene in the Sequence dialog.
- 10. Drag the Magenta fader to 0% and the Yellow fader to 100%.
- 11. Now you need to change scene 1 to fade out yellow. Scroll to scene 1 of 3 by clicking Next Scene (not Add Scene) in the dialog.

SEQUENCE [0000 No Name]	X
Disable Fade Preferences Snapshot Help	
₩ ₩ 33	+ 🛃
Scepe Time (sec) 1:00 (60,00 bpm) 6 Previous Scene Next Sce Fade Time (Sec) 10:05	lobal <u>S</u> cene Time ne   woal <u>F</u> ade Time
Synchronize Scene and Fade Times	y 🗷 💵 🛞

- 12. Yellow is already at 0% so you only need to click its O/S/F button to Fade.
- 13. Click Save Sequence in the Sequence dialog or toolbar.
- 14. Click the "Clear after Save" and "Add Sequence to Current Cue" boxes in the Save Sequence dialog.
- 15. Type "CMY chase" in the name field.
- 16. Click Save as New Sequence or press Enter. Notice how the CMY faders move once the sequence has been saved, cleared, and added to the current cue.

#### Step V: Program movement sequence

The LightJockey features a sophisticated engine for generating pan/tilt movements. The effects engine is not described here but detailed information is available in the on-line help. In the first two sequences, both fixtures were programmed together to do the same thing. In this sequence you program each

fixture individually to move in opposite directions.

- 1. To program "Left" MAC 600, select it and deselect the "Right" MAC 600.
- 2. If the pan/tilt control window, shown below, is not open, click Movement on the Fixture toolbar.
- 3. Drag the movement cursor to the middle of the top-right quadrant. Click the Pan and the Tilt O/S/F buttons twice to Snap.
- 4. Click the "Left" MAC 600 to deselect it; select the "Right" MAC 600.
- 5. Drag the movement cursor to the middle of the top-right quadrant.
- 6. Click the Pan O/S/F button and the Tilt O/S/F button to Snap.
- 7. Open the Sequence Control if it is closed by clicking View Sequence Control. Set the scene time to 2 seconds.
- 8. Click Add Scene in the Sequence dialog. Click Synchronize Scene and Fade Times. Set the scene (and fade) time to 15 seconds.
- 9. Drag the movement cursor to the middle of the top-right quadrant. Click the Pan O/S/F button to Fade.
- 10. Click the "Right" MAC 600 to deselect. Select the "Left" one.
- 11. Drag the movement cursor to the top-left quadrant and click the Pan O/S/F button to Fade.
- 12. Click Save Sequence on the Sequence toolbar. Type "Pan" in the Sequence Name field. Click the "Clear after Save" and "Add Sequence to Current Cue" boxes. Click Save as New Sequence or press Enter.

If you programmed the sequence as described, the movement cursor will move slowly from left to right if when you select the "Left" MAC 600 and from right to left when you select the "Right" one.

#### Step VI: Edit movement sequence

This step demonstrates how to edit a programmed sequence. Here you edit the pan sequence to black out both fixtures in the first scene.

- 1. Click List of Sequences on the Sequence toolbar.
- 2. Drag the "Pan" sequence to the desktop. Close the sequence list. Notice that the cursor in the Movement control stopped moving.
- 3. Open the Sequence Control if it is closed. Click Next Scene to advance to scene 1 of 2.
- 4. Select both MAC 600s.
- 5. Click the shutter control in the Intensity dialog. It changes from "Shutter Open" to "Shutter Closed." Click, if necessary, to set the shutter O/S/F button to Snap.
- 6. Click Save Sequence on the Sequence toolbar or in the Sequence dialog. To save the changes to the sequence, click Save Sequence or press Enter. Click OK to confirm.

#### Step VI: Save the cue

Cues are handed much like sequences.

- 1. Click Save Cue on the Cue toolbar.
- 2. Type "M600 CMY pan" in the Cue Name field.
- 3. Click Save New or press Enter.

#### Step VII: Edit the cue

This step demonstrates how sequence order effects cue playback. Look at the Intensity control: the shutter closes for 2 seconds because of the command in the pan sequence. This sequence has the highest priority because it is closest to the bottom. When you put the 20% dimmer sequence underneath the pan sequence, the 20% dimmer sequence takes priority and keeps the shutter open all the time. With a little planning, you can create different looks using the same sequences just by changing their order.

- 1. Click New/Clear Cue on the Cue toolbar to clear the cue from the desktop. (This is not required; it just helps demonstrate how to load cues.)
- 2. Click List of Cues on the Cue toolbar.
- 3. Drag the "M600 CMY pan" cue to the desktop. Its name appears in the Cue name field and the cue begins to run. Close the list of cues to make room on the desktop.
- 4. Click View Cue Control on the Cue toolbar.
- 5. Drag the "20% dimmer" sequence from position 1 to position 4. Select Move Sequence from the popup dialog.

- 6. Click Save Cue in the Edit Cue window or on the Cue toolbar.
- 7. Click Save. Click OK in the confirmation dialog.
- 8. Look at the Intensity control: the shutter now stays open all the time.

#### Additional cue operations

When editing cues, remember that the current sequence has highest priority. Normal cue execution resumes when the current sequence is cleared. Note too that to synchronize the sequences in the current cue, you must clear the cue and reload it onto the desktop.

- To create a new cue and/or clear the current one, click New/Clear Cue.
- To load a cue, click List of Cues and drag it from the List of Cues to the desktop. Click View Cue Control to open the Edit Cue window. Here, sequences can be added, removed, rearranged, loaded, etc.
- To adjust cue timing, open the Cue Edit window and click Cue Times at the bottom. The cue master fader adjusts times (as a percent) for all sequences set to "CUE" time. Setting a sequence fader to another value overrides the master cue fader.

### 2.2 Basic programming terms and elements

#### **Fixtures**

This term is used throughout the LightJockey to describe the 'equipment' that the LightJockey can control. The term may not only be confined to lighting fixtures, but everything that might be controlled from LightJockey via DMX protocol, such as smoke machines or motor control.

#### **Fixture profiles and protocols**

Controlling fixtures via DMX is actually not a very 'intelligent' method of control. There are (for various reasons, some of them good reasons) no industry standards for commands like "go to red" or "move to home position". This means that each type of fixture has it's own set of command values - the fixture DMX protocol. On generics DMX consoles, usually equipped with faders to set values, it is necessary for the programmer to know the correct command values to send and also which channel or address to send these value to. Most modern control systems implement more or less sophisticated fixture 'personalities' to hide the protocols from the end-user. LightJockey implements graphical 'personalities' or profiles for most DMX capable fixtures, this means that the user does not need to know anything about DMX values or addresses to program fixtures. While not essential, a good understanding of how the DMX protocol works is definitely an advantage when trying to get the most out of LightJockey programming.

See also <u>DMX addresses and links</u> [21], <u>Generic DMX fixtures</u> [84], <u>User definable fixture profiles</u> [247], <u>Controlling older Martin Fixtures via Martin/DMX interface</u> [74]

#### Scene

A scene is the most basic programming element in LightJockey. In other types of consoles and controllers this is also known as a memory. Unlike most other consoles, LightJockey does not refer to individual memories, scenes only exists as part of sequences (see later).

Each scene in LightJockey contains information for <u>all</u> fixtures and <u>all</u> their effects. Usually, only a small number of the fixtures/effects will be programmed in a scene as LightJockey offers methods to combine and layer several 'scenes' to create a final output (e.g. in a cue). So most of the time an effect will probably be "unused" or "off" in a given scene (see <u>off/snap/fade</u> [93]).

A good analogy to a scene in LightJockey is a single picture frame on a roll of film. As the picture frame, a scene only contains static information, so a scene cannot contain both red and blue color commands for the same color wheel on the same fixture. Like the film, the 'animation' or changes happen when the film progresses through the individual picture frames to form a movie. This is what happens when one scene is replaced by another scene, as in a sequence or when replacing one cue with another cue.

As mentioned, the scene only contains static commands, note however that not all static commands to fixtures result in a static 'expression'.

For example a command to a fixture to strobe or rotate it's color wheel will result in a 'dynamic' expression - in this case the static command specifies a strobe-frequency or rotation speed but the fixture performs the actual dynamic.

Another notable exception which is dynamic in expression are the <u>movement macros</u> which is dynamic in expression are the light around in geometric patterns. Although the information to move the light in a circle has a dynamic expression (the movement in a circle) - the parameters that determine the 'dynamics' are still static within the scene.

#### Sequence

A sequence is the cornerstone of programming in LightJockey. A sequence consists of one or more scenes chained together in a sequential order. If the sequence contains more than one scene, the sequence can 'animate' the fixtures by executing scenes with different contents, like the film strip with different picture frames. The default behavior for a sequence when it reaches the last scene, is to loop back to the first scene to get a continuous execution of the sequence.

A very simplified example is a sequence containing 3 scenes:

Scene 1 instructs a fixture equipped with a color wheel to go to red, scene 2 instructs the fixture to go to yellow and in scene 3 the fixture is instructed to go to green. When this sequence is played back in the default loop mode, the sequence will 'animate' the color of the fixture through the 3 colors, and after scene 3 it will loop back and start with scene 1 and the red color again.

#### **Scene and Fade times**

The **sequence** also contains parameters that dictate how the animation is supposed to take place. First of all there is the **scene time**. In the previous example, a scene time of 1 second for all scenes would have LightJockey advancing through the sequence, with each scene being replaced by the next scene after 1 second of 'on time'. Scene times can be set individually for each scene in the sequence with the sequence control, e.g. scene 1 may have a scene time of 1 second, while scenes 2 and 3 may have a scene time of 0.5 and 2 seconds respectively.

The sequence also contains a **fade time** for each scene. The fade time dictates how long time the physical transition will take from the position (e.g. color wheel position) programmed in the previous scene, to the position programmed in the current scene.

Here the film analogy might be used again. A film shot showing a person walking from one side of the scene to the other side requires 'a lot' of individual pictures in between the two positions to get 'smooth' movement. The way to make making slow, smooth movements like this with LightJockey is to program the two end points (colors in the example) in two scenes, and then let LightJockey calculate all the positions (pictures in the analogy) in between the two end points. This is exactly what using fade time and fading an effects does.

With the previous color example, setting a fade time of 3 second for each scene, would mean that each color change takes 3 seconds. The way this works is that LightJockey calculates all the possible positions between the two colors, and outputs these values at a calculated rate so that the fixture moves the color wheel from one position to the next in one smooth movement taking exactly 3 seconds (note, some fixtures will not allow slow transitions between colors or other types of effects - this is a restriction of the fixture's DMX protocol, not LightJockey).

Note that in order for an effect to fade from one position to the next, the fade state of that effect must be set to fade. See off/snap/fade 3

A sequence does not have to contain more than one scene - in this case, the sequence is called static sequence. While the scene time no longer is relevant since there will be no progression in the sequence, the fade time still controls the transition time from the previous effect position (whatever that was) to the one programmed into the scene.

See also Scene and fade times 221, Sequence control 124

#### Cues

A cue is a construction that contains up to 12 sequences to be executed run in parallel. Although LightJockey allows playback of single sequences, the cue offers much more flexibility in terms of dynamic and combination options.

It is important to understand that the cue only contains references to the sequence, not the actual sequences themselves. This means that if a sequence is edited to a new contents, this change will take effect in **ALL** cues that contains a reference to this sequence. It also means that it is not necessary to re-save cues just because the sequence has been changed, the changes will implement automatically.

It is normally not desirable to program every fixture and effect into the same scene, even to obtain the 'complete look'. The reason for this, is that by combining a number of sequences each with elements that together forms the complete look, it is much easier to re-use some of these elements to obtain other looks. It is also the only way of obtaining simultaneous different fade times on different effects in the same fixture, as the sequence only allows one fade time pr scene, e.g when combining a slow color change with a fast speed intensity chase.

An example is a very simple cue consisting of 3 sequences:

- Sequence 1 contains instructions to all fixtures output light with full intensity (static sequence)

- Sequence 2 contains information to all fixtures to fade between red, green and blue colors (non-static sequence)

- Sequence 3 contains information that moves the fixtures beams around in a pattern (non-static sequence)

The combined result has the fixtures moving around in the complex pattern, all changing between the colors and all with full intensity.

By replacing sequence 1 with another static sequence that orders the fixtures to strobe on full intensity, a different expression has been created. Still the same colors changes, still the same movements, but now the fixtures are strobing rather than having full intensity. To obtain the same result in a single sequence, all scenes would have to be edited so that they contain a strobe command and not full intensity for all fixtures.

Another example would be to have the original cue running, but two of the fixtures should point to a specific location in open white at 50% intensity, while all the other fixtures still moves the beam around in the pattern and changing colors.

Without the cue construction, the only way to do this would be to edit the two fixtures in every scene of the sequence, creating a new sequence with this look particular look.

However, by using the cue and its rules of priority (see below), it is possible to write just a single static sequence instructing just these two fixtures to go to the position in open white with the right amount of intensity. This static sequence is then added at a priority position within the cue and takes control over only the programmed fixtures - the rest still runs the original cue since they are not at all affected by the new sequence.

The way the priority works within the cue is not related to fixtures, rater to individual fixtures/effects (DMX control channels to be precise). How to program the sequences and use the cue is very much up to individual tastes, and most likely also fixture types and fixture count.

Some programmers programs complete fixtures, or groups of fixtures into sequences including all desired effects for these fixtures. They then use the cue to combine different groups of fixtures, each group of fixtures contained in it's 'own' sequence. Other programmers swear to modularity and only programs single effects into sequences. E.g. color information in one sequence, gobo information in another, movement information in a third sequence and so on. By combining these sequences in the cue they create complete looks.

Most programmers however, tends to use some from both methods. There are no rules governing how to use the cue - in the end it is up to personal preferences.

See <u>cue control</u> 132 for more details.

#### **Cue list**

The cue list offers a way to playback cues in a pre-determined order. The cue list may be synchronized to internal PC clock for elapsed time between cues or to time code from a CD-ROM drive or Windows Media files. It can also be executed manually using a 'go-button', if for example used in a theatrical type of show where everything is planned and pre-programmed.

See <u>cue list control</u> for more details

#### The current sequence

It is important to understand that the LightJockey **always** contains a 'current sequence'. Think of the current sequence as a 'holder' for sequences when editing a sequence. When saving a sequence, it is always the current sequence that is being saved, and when loading an already saved sequence, the sequence is being loaded 'into' the current sequence for editing.

In principle the current sequence always contributes to the final DMX output of the LightJockey however if the current sequence does not contain any 'instructions' (for example after a *New Sequence* command has been executed) there will be no visible effect of the current sequences contribution to the overall output.

#### The current cue

In the same way as the current sequence the LightJockey always have a current cue. The current cue acts as a 'holder' for cues when editing, and when playing back cues, it is always done by loading cues into the current cue. As with the current sequence, the current cue always contributes to the final DMX output, but if the current cue contains no 'instructions' (no sequences or other elements) - there will be no visible effect.

### 2.3 DMX addresses and links

#### **DMX Addresses**

To enable communication between the LightJockey and the fixtures, an address must be assigned to each fixture. This address must also be set on the fixture itself - Martin fixtures has DIP-switches or LED display panels for address settings.

When assigning DMX addresses keep in mind that fixtures usually uses several continuous addresses, for example the Roboscan 918 uses 16 addresses. The first address is usually referred to as the *start-address*. This is important to remember since it is not possible to 'share' addresses between individual fixtures, so if the Roboscan 918 was given the start-address of 1, the next available address would be 17 (1+16).

The DMX protocol defines a maximum of 512 addresses (or channels) so all fixtures must fit within this address space.

There are two ways to assign an address to a fixture in LightJockey.

#### Set the address manually.

Use the address field in the upper right hand corner of the <u>fixture configuration dialog</u>. Use this method to match addresses on fixtures that has already been given an address (on the fixture).

#### Use the "Auto Address" function.

This will prompt LightJockey to calculate addresses based on the fixtures selected and fixtures that has already been assigned an address. Use this approach when fixtures have not yet been addressed (on the fixture). There are a few exceptions where the auto address will not work - see details in the Fixture Configuration and help topic.

#### Link

Link is a term that describes the physical connection from the controller to the fixtures (and between the fixtures). Since the DMX protocol allows only 512 channels on one link, the only way to add more channels to a system is to increase the number of links (physical connections). Depending on what

DMX transmitter hardware is in use in the installation, one or more links may be available for connecting fixtures. Links are numbered 1-4 and when addressing the fixtures, make sure to specify which link the fixture is connected to.

### 2.4 Cross fixture-type compatible effects

Some fixture effects are cross-fixture type compatible. This means that changes to a cross type compatible effect on the <u>master</u> and fixture will also change the effects on the selected slave fixtures, even if they are not of the same type as the master fixture but still support the same type of effect. For example, applying 50% intensity to the master fixture will also set 50% intensity on the slave fixtures.

The following effects are usully cross-fixture type compatible although exceptions may exist: Intensity, strobe, shutter (intensity), pan and tilt positions and movement macros, CMY and RGB, iris, focus, (variable) zoom, lamp on/off commands, fixture reset, levels (for generic DMX fixture profiles [84])

Other effects such as gobo or fixed colors are not cross fixture-type compatible.

### 2.5 Scene and fade times

Each scene in a sequence has its own scene time and fade time, both can be set in the <u>Sequence control</u> 124. The scene time defines how long each scene is active before the sequence advances to the next scene within the sequence. If the sequence contains only one scene, the scene time doesn't have any real effect since the sequence never advances to a new scene. The scene time defaults to a value of 1.00 seconds.

Fade time dictates the way a scene changes effects from its previous position (DMX value) to the position(DMX value) stored within the scene.

In order for an effect transition to be controlled by the fade time, the effect must be programmed with the fade state set to fade and the effect is programmed with the fade state to snap, the effect will simply snap to the new position regardless of the fade time set in the scene. The fade time defaults to a value of 0.05 seconds.

It is possible to set a fade time that is higher than the scene time. In this case the transition to the new value in the scene is never finished.

### 3 Hardware configuration and setup

### 3.1 Hardware setup

In order for LightJockey to recognize PC or external hardware such as transmitter interfaces or direct access controllers, they must first be configured using the hardware setup dialog. The dialog is accessed through the main Setup menu (Setup/Hardware Setup).

Hardware Setup	
Help	
DMX Hardware Audio MIDI F	eripheral devices
Configured Hardware	
Type None	Enable DMX in
Address N/A	DMX Channels N/A
Status N/A	
Detect DMX I	1ardware Utear DMX Hardware
	NK Carcel

The hardware setup dialog

The dialog locates different types of hardware and associated settings on different tabs: DMX Hardware - configure and setup DMX transmitter and receiver hardware - see Detecting DMX hardware <sup>23</sup> XLR Cable connections - connecting the serial links to the interfaces. Converting 3 pin XLR to 5 pin XLR and phase reversing XLR cables - see <u>XLR cable connnections</u> <sup>38</sup> Audio - configure and setup Audio related hardware and software - see <u>Audio setup</u> <sup>39</sup> MIDI - configure and setup MIDI related hardware and software - see <u>MIDI</u> <sup>42</sup> External control devices - configure and setup peripheral hardware that connects via RS-232 or DMXin - see External control devices <sup>43</sup>

### 3.2 Detecting and configuring DMX hardware

#### 3.2.1 Detecting DMX hardware

DMX transmitter hardware is configured using the DMX hardware tab in the hardware setup dialog 22.

LightJockey supports the following types of DMX transmitter/receiver hardware:

- LightJockey PCI 512 card, 512 DMX channels out and 512 DMX channels in.
- LightJockey PCI 2048 card, 2048 DMX channels out or 1536 DMX channels out + 512 DMX channels in.
- Martin 4064 ISA Card club version, 2048 DMX channels out or 1536 DMX channels out + 512 DMX channels in.
- Martin 4064 ISA Card DJ version, 512 DMX channels out and 512 DMX channels in.
- Martin DMXADP Parallel port adapter, 512 DMX channels out (not supported in Windows 2000/XP)
- Martin LightJockey PCMCIA interface, single card, 1024 channels out or 512 DMX channels out + 512 DMX channels in.
- Martin LightJockey PCMCIA interface, two cards, 2048 DMX channels out or 1536 DMX channels out + 512 DMX channels in.
- Martin LightJockey USB interface, 512 DMX channels out up to 4 interfaces may be connected.
- Martin LightJockey Universal USB/DMX interface, 1024 DMX channels out or 512 DMX channels out + 512 DMX channels in. Up to 3 interfaces may be connected.

Each interface ship with a printed installation guide, this help file only contains short installation notes. The latest version of the installation guide can be downloaded from the support section of the Martin Website: <u>www.martin.com</u> - support section. Installing the PCI DMX transmitter card (PCI 512, PCI 2048) Installing the ISA DMX transmitter card (DJ, CLUB) Installing the ADP (Parallel Port) DMX interface Installing the PCMCIA DMX interface Installing the USB DMX interface Installing the Unversal USB/DMX interface Installing the UNVER UNVER

#### **Detecting DMX Hardware**

Once the hardware (and a Windows driver if required, see notes for individual interfaces) has been installed, start LightJockey and enter the hardware setup dialog via the main **Setup** menu. Click **Detect DMX Hardware** to detect and list the installed hardware.

Hardware Type	Version	Address
064/ISA Club Version	1.2/1.2	000000
064/ISA DJ Version	1.2	00,6000
ightlockey USB	1.0/1.0	NL/A

Detected hardware list (most installations will only see one type of hardware installed)

Select the required interface option from the list and click Ok.

Different hardware interfaces may have different setup options for adjusting DMX refresh rate or enabling DMX in - see <u>Configuring DMX hardware options</u> 3.

Note that if an already configured hardware type or one of the options are changed LightJockey will may to restart in order to re-initialize the hardware.

See also XLR cable connections 3, Configuring DMX hardware options 3

#### 3.2.2 Installing the Universal USB/DMX interface

#### The Universal USB/DMX Interfaces

Universal DMX/USB interfaces are supported in Windows 2000 and XP.

The Universal USB/DMX interface can be configured to transmit 2 \* 512 DMX channels (2 universes) or 512 DMX out channels and 512 DMX in channels. From LightJockey version 2.6, a maximum of 3 Universal USB/DMX interfaces can be connected for a total of 2048 DMX out channels and 512 DMX in channels.

Note that description Universal USB/DMX interface refers to the twin DMX port interfaces and these should not be confused with the older single DMX port USB/DMX Interfaces 27.

#### **Driver installation and locations - Important notes**

Install the driver before you plug in the interface. The driver for the Universal USB/DMX interface is located in the \HardwareDrivers\Universal USBDMX folder.

Run the "Martin Universal USB-DMX driversetup.exe" application and the driver will be installed on to the PC.

You can now plug the interfaces one at a time into an individual USB port and follow Windows Hardware Wizard to install the driver for each individual interface.

#### Multi USB interface installation - Important notes

Windows system level support for USB devices means that it is not possible for LightJockey to distinguish between physical USB interfaces of the same type. To be sure that LightJockey routes the intended DMX data to the same physical USB interface each time, make sure that all USB interfaces

are connected to the same connector as it was when configured. Also, once drivers have been properly installed (see above), interfaces should be connected to the USB ports before Windows starts up. See notes on using multiple USB Interfaces below for more details.

Please be aware that is not possible to mix Universal USB/DMX interfaces with the older <u>USB DMX-</u> <u>Out interface types</u>  $2^{\uparrow}$  in the same installation.

#### **Configuring USB interfaces**

Once installation of Windows USB driver(s) is completed and the interface(s) is plugged in, start up LightJockey and go to the hardware setup Main Menu ->Setup

Click **Detect DMX Hardware** at to detect installed DMX hardware (note: performing a hardware detection will disconnect already configured and connected USB interfaces - to reconnect the interfaces, LightJockey must be restarted).

and wars Turns	Maurice	Address
iaht laak og PCI 2049	Version	DCICLuH 0
Universal USB-DMX (2 interfac	N/A	N/A
		-

Detecting DMX hardware - multiple Universal USB/DMX interfaces found

Wait for the hardware detection to finish, then select LightJockey Universal USB/DMX (<x> interfaces) from the list and click Ok.

Hardware Setup					1 1/327		×
Help							
DMX Hardware Audio MIDI Periphera	devices						
Configured Hardware							
Type Universal USB-DMX		Enable D	MX in				
Address N/A	DMD	< Chann	els 3	3x512 O	ut /1x51	2 In	
Status Ok							
Interface			Functio	on			
Universal USB-DMX Interface			Box 1				
Universal USB-DMX Interface			Box 2				
? 🔜 Detect DMX Hardwar	е		ť	🗍 ClearD	MX Hard	lware	
	A OK			1			
<u> </u>	UK	_ <b>X</b> U	ancel				

Configured hardware list

The hardware setup dialog will now show the configured Universal USB/DMX interface(s) - the DMX output is automatically routed to the DMX out interfaces in the order they are detected.

#### Identifying and naming the Universal USB/DMX interfaces

If you click on an interface in the list, the interface will respond by blinking green/orange on the right LED.

If you want to name the interfaces in the interface list, you can double-click the interface line and enter a name for this interface.

Set Interface Name	×
Box 1	
OK Cancel	

Naming the interface

#### Notes on using multiple Universal USB/DMX interfaces

When LightJockey connects to a USB interface it makes the connection via a logical port determined by Windows USB subsystem. Windows determines the logical port when the USB device is detected and the logical port has no relation to the physical connection or physical interface. The only time that Windows is guaranteed to assign the same logical port to an interface connected to a given physical connector is when detecting attached interfaces during Windows startup, so in order to ensure that LightJockey routes the DMX data to the same physical USB interface the interfaces should be connected to the same physical USB connector each time at Windows startup.

**Hint**: If the USB interfaces are frequently disconnected from the PC, it is a good idea to label individual interfaces with note telling which connector the interface should be connected to.

#### Interface checking at startup

When configuring USB hardware LightJockey will automatically register which type of interface is connected to which logical port.

See also XLR cable connections

#### 3.2.2.1 Updating the driver for the Universal USB/DMX interface

When updating the driver for the Universal USB/DMX interface as prompted by an in-program notification or release notes please follow the following procedure:

1. Shut down LightJockey.

2. Unplug all Universal USB/DMX interfaces.

3. To update the driver after an in-program promot run the driver installation program (Martin Universal USB-DMX driversetup.exe) located in the <LightJockey Installation Path>\HardwareDrivers\Universal USBDMX\ and follow any onscreen prompts. If updating from a dowloaded driver update, please follow the instuctions given for the download.

4. Once the driver setup application has finished, attach each individual Universal USB/DMX interface one at a time wait for 10 seconds and allow Windows Found New Hardware Wizard to complete for each interface if required (the wizard may not appear in all circumstances).

5. Restart LightJockey and check that the interfaces are recognized by selecting **Setup/Hardware Setup** from the main menu.

Please note that updating drivers will most likely require a user account with adminisrator access (depending on Windows version)

### 3.2.3 The USB/DMX interface

#### 3.2.3.1 Installing and using the USB DMX interface

#### The LightJockey USB/DMX Interfaces

DMX/USB interfaces are supported in Windows 98, ME, 2000 and XP. The USB DMX interface transmits 512 DMX channels. From LightJockey version 2.5, a maximum of 4 USB DMX-out interfaces can be connected for a total of 2048 DMX out channels. Note that the interfaces refered to here are are the older single DMX port interfaces and should not be confused with the newer Universal USB/DMX interfaces [24].

#### **Driver locations - Important notes**

If you are installing/updating the USB driver from a LightJockey release downloaded from the Internet, it may be necessary to run LightJockey once to decompress and update new files - the USB driver folder may not be available until the installation is properly updated. If you are installing USB drivers from a version of LightJockey that has been updated with a newer version, you may see folders with names such as *\HardwareDrivers\USB\W9X* or *\HardwareDrivers\USB\W2K* - these are older versions of the driver from a previous installation or update, do NOT install a driver from these folders.

#### Multi USB interface installation - Important notes

Windows system level support for USB devices means that it is not possible for LightJockey to distinguish between physical USB interfaces of the same type. To be sure that LightJockey routes the intended DMX data to the same physical USB interface each time, make sure that all USB interfaces are connected to the same connector as it was when configured. Also, interfaces should be connected to the USB ports before Windows starts up. See notes on using multiple USB Interfaces below for more details

#### **USB Interface Models**

There are 2 different models of the LightJockey USB/DMX interface:

#### The original, 'square' DMX-Out model.

- In LightJockey, this model will be referred to as USB/DMX Interface

#### The newer, 'triangular' DMX-Out model.

- In LightJockey, this model will be referred to as USB/DMX Interface II - DMX-out

The two types are essentially identical in performance and may be freely mixed in any multi-interface installation. It is however, not possible to mix DMX out interfaces with the Universal USB/DMX interface 24.

#### Installing USB interface drivers

Drivers are required to operate the interface in any Windows version. The USB interface features Windows plug and play functionality so to install the required driver, connect the interface(s) and then start up Windows.

During startup Windows will report that it has found new hardware and that a driver is required. To install the drivers, follow the guidance in the Windows New Hardware Wizard. The driver for the interface is located in <LightJockey>\HardwareDrivers\USB2\. If multiple USB interfaces are connected, the driver must be installed for each interface. For a detailed walk through of the driver installation please refer to the hardware installation guide that came with LightJockey - or download a an installation updated guide from the support area of www.martin.com

#### **Configuring USB interfaces**

Once installation of Windows USB driver(s) is completed, start up LightJockey and go to the hardware setup Main Menu ->Setup

Click <u>Detect DMX Hardware</u><sup>23</sup> to detect installed DMX hardware (note: performing a hardware detection will disconnect already configured and connected USB interfaces - to reconnect the interfaces, LightJockey must be restarted).

Detected Platform: Windows 200	00	
Hardware Type	Version	Address
LightJockey PCI 2048	1.0	PCISIot# 14
LightJockey USB (3 interfaces)	N/A	N/A
🥒 ОК	X Cancel	

Detecting DMX hardware - multiple USB/DMX interfaces found

Wait for the hardware detection to finish, then select LightJockey USB (<x> interfaces) from the list and click Ok.

Configured Hardware Type LightJockey USB Address N/A Status Not Initialized	Enable DMX in DMX Channels 1x512 Out
Interface	Function
USB/DMX Interface at port 1	DMX Out (link 1)
USB/DMX Interface II - DMX Out at port 2	DMX Dut (link 2)
USB/DMX Interface II - DMX Out at port 3	DMX Dut (link 3)
2 Detect DMX Hardware	The Dev DMX Hardware

Configured hardware list

The hardware setup dialog will now show the configured USB interface(s) - the DMX output is automatically routed to the DMX out interfaces in the order they are detected.

#### Notes on using multiple USB interfaces

When LightJockey connects to a USB interface it makes the connection via a logical port determined by Windows USB subsystem. Windows determines the logical port when the USB device is detected and the logical port has no relation to the physical connection or physical interface. The only time that Windows is guaranteed to assign the same logical port to an interface connected to a given physical connector is when detecting attached interfaces during Windows startup.

This has the implication that in order to ensure that LightJockey routes the DMX data to the same physical USB interface the interfaces should be connected to the same physical USB connector each time. Please follow the guidelines below to ensure that DMX data is routed correctly.

- 1. Install and run LightJockey once to unpack new and updated driver files.
- 2. Shut down the PC.
- 3. Connect all USB interfaces.
- 4. Power up the PC and let Windows start up.

5. If Windows detects new USB devices, install drivers as required by the 'New Hardware Wizard' (new drivers are located in <LightJockeyInstallationFolder>\hardwaredrivers\USB2\'

6. Start LightJockey - If an USB configuration warning appears upon starting LightJockey, select 'Continue with current configuration' (the warning will appear if LightJockey detects a different configuration of USB interfaces).

7. Enter the hardware setup dialog (Setup/Hardware) and click **Detect DMX Hardware**. Select USB interface(s) and click Ok

**Hint**: if the USB interfaces are frequently disconnected from the PC, it is a good idea to label individual interfaces with note telling which connector the interface should be connected to.

#### Interface checking at startup

When configuring USB hardware LightJockey will automatically register which type of interface is connected to which logical port. LightJockey distinguishes between 2 types of DMX-out interfaces ('old' DMX out interface, and newer type II interface).

If there are changes in the way the USB interfaces are connected (e.g. one or more interfaces not found) when LightJockey starts up - a warning will appear listing the currently found interfaces - see USB warnings and errors 29.

#### Interface checking at runtime

During 'runtime', LightJockey monitors the USB interface states. If one or more interfaces suddenly disconnects, LightJockey will show an error dialog - <u>see USB warnings and errors</u> 29.

**Note:** DMX out interfaces status is only checked when there are changes in the DMX output data. Disconnecting a DMX out interface will not provoke an error unless there are changes in DMX data on the relevant DMX link.

See also XLR cable connections 38, USB warnings and errors 29

#### 3.2.3.2 USB/DMX interface warnings and errors



#### **USB Configuration warning (startup)**

USB configuration warning

When configuring USB hardware LightJockey will automatically register which type of interface is connected to which logical port. LightJockey distinguishes between 2 types of DMX-out interfaces (the 'old' DMX interface, and the newer type II interface).

If there are changes in the way the USB interfaces are connected (e.g. one or more interfaces not found) when LightJockey starts up - a warning will appear listing the currently found interfaces.

This dialog will also appear the first time a LightJockey configured to use the USB interface is started after updating from below version 2.5 to version 2.5 or higher - for more details see USB interface update information 3

Re-detect connected USB interfaces - attempt to detect interfaces again.

**Continue with current configuration** - continue with the currently detected interfaces. LightJockey will revert to the original USB configuration when staring up the next time.

**Save and continue with current configuration** - continue with the currently detected interfaces, and save as default USB configuration.

### **USB Connection Error (runtime)**

USB Connection Error				
Interface	Function			
USB/DMX Interface II - DMX Out at port 1	DMX Out (link 1)			
USB/DMX Interface II - DMX Out at port 2	DMX Out (link 2)			
USB/DMX Interface at port 3	DMX Out (link 3) - ERROR !			
ERROR !				
USB Interface Connection Error - Select Option				
Ignore error and continue				
Continue with this configuration (auto-reconnect)				
? Help				

USB connection error

During 'runtime', LightJockey monitors the USB interface states. If one or more interfaces suddenly disconnects, LightJockey will show the error dialog. By leaving the error dialog open and re-inserting the interface it is usually possible to automatically re-connect to the interface again. When attempting to reconnect a disconnected interface - it is very important to reconnect the interface to the same physical USB port as it was disconnected from.

**Note:** DMX out interfaces status is only checked when there are changes in the DMX output data. Disconnecting a DMX out interface will not provoke an error unless there are changes in DMX data on the relevant DMX link.

**Ignore error and continue** - ignore the error and continue. No attempt will be made to reconnect the interface.

**Continue with this configuration (auto reconnect)** - close the error dialog and continue with currently connected interfaces. LightJockey will automatically attempt to reconnect the USB interface if it becomes available.

See also installing and using the USB interface 27

#### 3.2.3.3 USB interface update information

After updating LightJockey configured with the DMX/USB interface from below version 2.5 to version 2.5 or higher the following notification will appear.

Informa	tion	×
٩	USB interface implementation has changed and the USB configuration needs updating. Please verify that USB configuration warning dialog (coming up shortly) shows the correct configuration - Then select "Save and continue with current configuration" to save the new configuration and continue.	
	СК Нер	

#### Update Information

Version 2.5 introduces a new implementation of the USB/DMX interface which changes the way that the USB interface is detected and configured. Once the information dialog is closed (click Ok) the next dialog appears.

USB Interface configuration warning				
Interface	Function			
USB/DMX Interface at port 1	DMX Out (link 1)			
Warning ! Changes detected in USB interface configuration Please select option				
Re-detect USB Interfaces				
Continue with current configuration				
E Save and continue with current configuration				
🥐 Нер				

USB Configuration Warning

If the USB interface is connected, it should appear on the list as shown above. Click **Save and continue with current configuration** to register the USB interface and proceed as normally. Note, clicking **Continue with current configuration** will cause LightJockey not to save the information and to re-launch the information and warning dialogs on next startup.

If the USB interface is not appearing on the list it is probably not connected - click **Continue with current configuration** to re-launch the dialog the next time LightJockey is started - or use the hardware setup dialog to configure LightJockey to use the USB interface (<u>setup -> hardware setup -> DMX hardware</u>  $2^{2}$ ).

See also installing and using the USB/DMX interface 27

#### 3.2.4 Installing the PCI DMX transmitter card

The PCI interface card exists in two versions, the PCI 512 and the PCI 2048.

- The PCI 512 supports one full link of DMX out (512 channels) and one full link of DMX in (512 channels).
- The PCI 2048 supports 4 full links of DMX (2048 channels) and may be configured to drive 4 output links or 3 output links and 1 input link.

The PCI card is supported when operating under Windows 95, 98, ME, 2000 and XP.

Complete instructions for installing the PCI Card are shipped with the card and may also be downloaded from <u>www.martin.com</u> - support section. In order for LightJockey to use card the follow the 3 steps outlined below:

- 1. Install the Windows PCI driver
- 2. Install the LightJockey PCI/ISA driver
- 3. Configure LightJockey to use the card as DMX transmitter.

#### Installing the Windows PCI driver

Before the card can be used a Windows PCI driver must be installed - the installation process is identical for both PCI512 and PCI2048. After installing the Windows driver, a second driver (LightJockey PCI/ISA driver) needs to be installed before LightJockey can communicate with the card (see below) Note that on windows 2000 and XP the login account used must have administrator rights - otherwise the drivers will not install.

- Power off the PC, remove the mains connector, and then install the card in a free PCI slot taking all necessary precautions against static electricity discharges. Switch the PC back on.
- After startup, Windows detects the presence of new card and starts the 'Found new hardware wizard'.
- Use the wizard to locate the **4064PCI.inf** file located in the \HardwareDrivers\PCI\_ISA\ folder. Select the 4064PCI.Inf file and finish the Wizard (If during the installation the Wizard requests a diskette with wdpnp.sys, just click Ok to continue)
- Once the Windows driver has been installed (and Windows possibly restarted), open the device manager to verify that the card has been detected correctly. The card will appear in the device list as Martin PCI4064: DMX PCI Card.

#### Installing the LightJockey Driver

The LightJockey driver used for the PCI card is identical to the driver used for the ISA card a Windows 2000 or XP PC - if the driver is already installed, the following steps can be skipped.

Also as the driver used for the ISA card is a generic Windows driver it may already be installed on the PC to drive other types of (non LightJockey related) hardware. The installer checks to see if the driver is already installed and displays a message accordingly. If the driver is already installed on the PC, it is not necessary to install the driver again.

The installation program for the driver is located in the **<LightJockey>\HardwareDrivers\ISA\_PCI**\ folder.

## In order for the install program to be able to install the driver, the user must be logged in to Windows 2000/XP with administrator rights.

Use Windows explorer to open the folder, then select and double click to run the Installer (Installer.exe) program to install the driver for the PCI card.

If the driver is installed on a Windows 95,98 or ME computer, Windows needs to restart in order for the driver to load - under Windows 2000/XP a restart is not necessary.

Once the driver has been installed (and Windows restarted if needed), click *Locate Card(s)* to verify that all drivers has installed correctly and the card(s) can be found. The list will show all PCI4064 cards (Including versions of the card used by other Martin applications such as Martin Show Designer) as well as any LightJockey ISA at cards installed.

Martin PCI/ISA Driver installation 2.1					
Card Type	Version	Address			
4064/ISA DJ Version Light/lockey PCI2048	1.2 0.5	006000 PCISiot#14			
Ins	tall Driver				
Remove	Carrent Driv	er			
Loc	ate Card(s)				
Ĺ	Close				

LightJockey driver Installation program - listing detected cards

On the LightJockey CD the \HardwareDrivers\ folder is placed in the root folder. This folder is also copied to the hard disk when LightJockey is installed or updated - it can be found in the folder where LightJockey was installed to.

Configuring LightJockey

Once both drivers have been installed and verified, start LightJockey and use the <u>Detect DMX hardware function</u><sup>23</sup> to configure LightJockey to use the new card as DMX transmitter. See <u>Configuring DMX hardware options</u><sup>37</sup> for notes on setup options and <u>XLR Cable Connections</u><sup>38</sup> for information on how to connect the card to the DMX link.

#### Removing and re-installing the LightJockey PCI/ISA driver

IMPORTANT NOTE: The 4064 PCI/ISA driver is a generic windows driver that may be used to drive other types of hardware installed the PC. Removing the driver may cause other hardware to stop working. Do not remove the driver unless you are absolutely sure that it is not needed for other types of hardware.

To remove the driver, start the installer program and click *Remove Current Driver*.

Re-installing the driver is done in two steps. First use the installer to remove the driver. Then close the installer and restart it to install the driver again.

On Windows 95/98/Me it will be necessary to restart between removing and re-installing the driver. Note that in case the diver is used by active applications it will not be removed completely until Windows is restarted. If the driver will not install after being removed (indicated by an error message when trying to install) - restart Windows to remove the driver completely before installing the driver again.

See also XLR cable connections 3, Configuring DMX hardware options 3

#### 3.2.5 Installing the ISA/DMX card

The 4064 ISA card exists in two versions, Club and DJ, and is supported in Windows 95,98,ME, 2000 and XP installations.

Complete instructions for installing the 4064 ISA Card are shipped with the card and may also be downloaded from <u>www.martin.com</u> - support section.

#### Windows 95,98 and ME installation.

No special drivers are required - just install the card and start LightJockey. Then proceed to  $\underline{DMX}$  hardware detection 23.

#### Windows 2000/XP Installation

In order for LightJockey to recognize the card in Windows 2000/XP, a driver must be installed using the ISA/PCI driver installation program .The program is located in the **<LightJockey>\HardwareDrivers\ISA\_PCI\** folder.

# In order for the install program to be able to install the driver, the user must be logged in to Windows 2000/XP with administrator rights.

Use Windows explorer to open the folder, then select and double click to run the Installer (Installer.exe) program to install the driver for the ISA card.

As the driver used for the ISA card is a generic Windows 2000/XP driver it may already be installed on the PC to drive other types of (non LightJockey related) hardware. The installer checks to see if the driver is already installed and displays a message accordingly. If the driver is already installed on the PC, it is not necessary to install the driver again.

Martin PCI/ISA Driv	er installation a	2.1 🔀				
Martin System: Windows 2000 Driver Installed						
Card Type	Version	Address				
4064/ISA DJ Version	1.2	006000				
LightJockey PCI2048	0.5	PCISIot#14				
Ins	tall Driver					
Remove	Current Driv	er				
Loc	ate Card(s)					
j	Close					

ISA/PCI driver installation program - listing detected cards

Click **Install Driver** to install the driver. Once the driver has been installed (only takes a few seconds) - click **Locate Card(s)** to locate any LightJockey 4064 ISA or LightJockey PCI cards installed in the PC.

#### **Configuring LightJockey**

Once the driver has been installed and verified (if necessary), start LightJockey and use the Detect DMX hardware function to configure LightJockey to use the new card as DMX transmitter. See <u>Configuring DMX hardware options</u> for notes on setup options and <u>XLR Cable Connections</u> for instructions on how to connect the card to the serial link.

#### Removing and re-installing the PCI/ISA driver

IMPORTANT NOTE : The PCI/ISA driver is a generic windows driver that may be used to drive other types of hardware in the PC. Removing the driver may cause other types of hardware to stop working. Do not remove the driver unless you are absolutely sure that it is not needed for other types of hardware.

To remove the driver, start the installer program and click *Remove Current Driver*.

Re-installing the driver is done in two steps. First use the installer to remove the driver. Then close the installer and restart it to install the driver again.

On Windows 95/98/Me it will be necessary to restart between removing and re-installing the driver. Note that in case the diver is used by active applications it will not be removed completely until Windows is restarted. If the driver will not install after being removed (indicated by an error message when trying to install) - restart Windows to remove the driver completely before installing the driver again.

#### If LightJockey cannot find the 4064 ISA/DMX card during auto detect

If LightJockey is unable to locate the 4064 card it might be because the address set on the card collides with another piece of hardware installed in the PC, or because Windows already reserves the memory area for other purposes.

Switch off the computer and remove the card. Check with the Windows device manager that other resources do not use the relevant memory block. Change the card's DIP switch settings to another address if necessary (refer to table below or the LightJockey installation instructions).

For Windows 9X installations, be aware that drives such as EMM386.EXE that may be loaded in the config.sys file may use the memory area without showing up in the device manager list. EMM386 is normally not needed for Windows applications so the line may be removed (remember to backup the config.sys file first!).

E	Block	Address Range	Pins On	]	Block		Address Range	Pins On												
	C0	000 <b>C0</b> 000 000 <b>C0</b> FFF	None	1		D0	000 <b>D0</b> 000 000 <b>D0</b> FFF	5												
	C1	000 <b>C1</b> 000 000 <b>C1</b> FFF	1	1		D1	000 <b>D1</b> 000 000 <b>D1</b> FFF	1, 5												
	C2	000 <b>C2</b> 000 000 <b>C2</b> FFF	2	1			D2	000 <b>D2</b> 000 000 <b>D2</b> FFF	2, 5											
	C3	000 <b>C3</b> 000 000 <b>C3</b> FFF	1, 2			D3	000 <b>D3</b> 000 000 <b>D3</b> FFF	1, 2, 5												
	C4	000 <b>C4</b> 000 000 <b>C4</b> FFF	3			D4	000 <b>D4</b> 000 000 <b>D4</b> FFF	3, 5												
	C5	000 <b>C5</b> 000 000 <b>C5</b> FFF	1, 3			D5	000 <b>D5</b> 000 000 <b>D5</b> FFF	1, 3, 5												
0	C6	000 <b>C6</b> 000 000 <b>C6</b> FFF	2, 3	1		D6	000 <b>D6</b> 000 000 <b>D6</b> FFF	2, 3, 5												
SEG	C7	000 <b>C7</b> 000 000 <b>C7</b> FFF	1, 2, 3		SEG	D7	000 <b>D7</b> 000 000 <b>D7</b> FFF	1, 2, 3, 5												
MEN	C8	000 <b>C8</b> 000 000 <b>C8</b> FFF	4							i i					ME	MEN	MEN	D8	000 <b>D8</b> 000 000 <b>D8</b> FFF	4, 5
F	C9	000 <b>C9</b> 000 000 <b>C9</b> FFF	1, 4		F	D9	000 <b>D9</b> 000 000 <b>D9</b> FFF	1, 4, 5												
	CA	000 <b>CA</b> 000 000 <b>CA</b> FFF	2, 4						DA	000 <b>DA</b> 000 000 <b>DA</b> FFF	2, 4, 5									
	CB	000 <b>CB</b> 000 000 <b>CB</b> FFF	1, 2, 4			DB	000 <b>DB</b> 000 000 <b>DB</b> FFF	1, 2, 4, 5												
	СС	000 <b>CC</b> 000 000 <b>CC</b> FFF	3, 4			DC	000DC000 000DCFFF	3, 4, 5												
	CD	000 <b>CD</b> 000 000 <b>CD</b> FFF	1, 3, 4			DD	000 <b>DD</b> 000 000 <b>DD</b> FFF	1, 3, 4, 5												
	CE	000CE000 000CEFFF	2, 3, 4					DE	000 <b>DE</b> 000 000 <b>DE</b> FFF	2, 3, 4, 5										
	CF	000 <b>CF</b> 000 000 <b>CF</b> FFF	1, 2, 3, 4				DF	000 <b>DF</b> 000 000 <b>DF</b> FFF	1, 2, 3, 4,											

4064 DIP Switch settings

#### Hardware failures

A number of reasons may cause LightJockey to report errors on the 4064 card on startup, even if the card was found during the auto detection.

5

If the card does not pass the initial tests a message will be shown with one or more diagnostics messages:

#### Diagnostics messages:

CPU X Located Ok - CPU and memory map was located at the configured memory location. CPU X Not found - CPU and memory map was not located at the configured memory location. The most likely reason is that the DIP switch setting on the card has been changed or that newly configured hardware or other drivers are using the same memory location as the 4064 card. Try another auto detect, if the card is still not found, remove the card and check that the memory location is vacant. Alternatively try another memory area for the 4064 card by changing the DIP switch settings. Read/Write Test Ok - Read/Write test passed.

Read/Write Test Failed - The read/write test to the card's memory failed. A likely reason is that another piece of hardware or a driver is using the same memory space as the 4064 card. Check that the memory area is vacant, or try to re-locate the 4064 card (see above). Another reason may be that the BIOS setting for shadow memory is enabled for the memory area that the 4064 card is using. Memory shadowing will allow the 4064 card to be detected - but the card will not work properly. Make sure to disable memory shadowing in the area that the 4064 card is using. The actual process of disabling shadow memory may vary from PC to PC.

Reset Test Ok - Internal reset test passed.

Reset Test Failed - Internal reset test failed - the card is most likely defect. CPU X Test Ok - Internal test passed. CPU X Failed Test - Internal test failed - the card is most likely defect.

See also XLR cable connections 3, See also Configuring DMX hardware options 3

#### 3.2.6 Installing the PCMCIA DMX interface

#### The PCMCIA interface

The PCMCIA interface is supported in all Windows 9X (including Windows ME) and 2000/XP versions. The card supports 2 DMX links (universes) and may be configured as 2 links with DMX out or one link with DMX out and one with DMX in. A complete installation guide is shipped with the card, and may also be downloaded from <u>www.martin.com</u> - support section.

Drivers are required to operate the interface in both Windows 9X and Windows 2000/XP. The interface has Windows plug and play functionality so to install the required driver, simply start up Windows and insert the card. After a few seconds Windows will report that it has found new hardware and that a driver is required. To install the drivers, follow the steps in the Windows New Hardware Wizard. Note that the interface requires different drivers in the Windows 9X and Windows 2000/XP installations. The Windows 9X drivers are located in the **<LightJockey>\HardwareDrivers\PCMCIA\W9X\** folder while the driver for Windows 2000 and XP is located in the

<LightJockey>\HardwareDrivers\PCMCIA\W2K\ folder. Make sure to select the right driver. Once installation of the driver has been completed start up LightJockey and select the interface from the detect hardware list 23.

#### Using two PCMCIA interfaces

By using two PCMCIA interfaces the DMX capability may can be increased to a total of 4 links. To use a second PCMCIA card it must be a special 'card #2' revision (marked link III-IV) - it is not possible to combine two #1 cards (link I-II).

#### PCMCIA (one card) setup options

Check **Enable DMX in** to enable <u>DMX in [231]</u> on the second link. When DMX in is enabled it is possible to select DMX refresh rate (44 Hz or 22 Hz). With DMX in disabled it is not possible to change refresh rate.

#### PCMCIA (two cards) setup options

Check **Enable DMX in** to enable <u>DMX in</u> [231] on link 4 (marked link 2 on the break out box). When DMX in is enabled it is possible to select DMX refresh rate (44 Hz or 22 Hz) for the 3'rd link (3'rd link only). With DMX in disabled it is not possible to change refresh rate.

#### IMPORTANT

Although the PCMCIA interfaces are 'hot-plug' interfaces (can be removed and inserted while Windows is running) - do not remove the interfaces while LightJockey is running. If removed and re-inserted while LightJockey is running, interfaces will not be re-initialized correctly. To re-initialize the interfaces, LightJockey must be restarted.

See also XLR cable connections 3, Configuring DMX hardware options 3

#### 3.2.7 Installing the ADP (Parallel Port) DMX interface

#### **The DMXADP Interface**

The DMXADP interface connects the PC parallel port (printer port). It also requires external power (using the keyboard connector on the PC and special adapter cables). The interface transmits 512 DMX channels and is not capable of receiving DMX. The DMXADP interface is **not** supported on Windows 2000/XP PCs.

No special drivers are required to use the interface. Connect the interface, start to PC and start LightJockey. If found, the interface will show up on the <u>detect hardware list</u> (23). Select the interface and restart LightJockey to activate the interface. The DMX refresh rate from the interface cannot be changed.
## Notes for laptop users.

Laptops often use different power saving schemes to try to save as much battery power as possible. Disabling or reducing power for the parallel port or the external keyboard connector will cause the DMXADP interface to malfunction. To avoid this it is highly recommended to disable all power saving settings on the laptop.

## If LightJockey cannot find the parallel port adapter during auto detect

To save battery power, most laptops come with an option to save as much power as possible during normal operation. The ADP needs both the external keyboard connector and the parallel port enabled on the PC. By default these are often disabled on laptops.

There is no standard way of telling if the external keyboard and the Parallel port are enabled, since most manufacturers implement their own ways of configuring the PC power-saving options. Checking and changing status may both involve settings in the PC BIOS and in Windows or maybe even a third type of application.

Make sure that the external keyboard is enabled.Make sure that the parallel port is enabled.

# If LightJockey found the parallel port adapter during auto detect, but there is no signal reaching the fixtures.

Again the most likely culprit is the power saving settings on the PC. Make sure that both the parallel port and the external keyboard are enabled. As a last resort try disabling all power saving features on the PC, including all possible settings in the BIOS and Windows.

See also XLR cable connections 3, Configuring DMX hardware options 3

## 3.2.8 Configuring DMX hardware options

## **Interface Setup Options**

After selecting the appropriate interface from the detect hardware list, different settings such as DMXin or variable DMX refresh rate becomes available if supported by the hardware type.

Configu Type Address Status	Light PCI 9 Not 1	lardware Jockey PCI Slot# 8 nitialized	2048	∏ En DMX (	able DMX in Channels	4x512 Out
DMX 0	)utput Hz Hz	Frequency C 30 Hz C 25 Hz	C 20 Hz C 15 Hz	C 10 Hz C 5 Hz		

Options for PCI2048 card

## Changing DMX refresh rate

Normally, the highest possible DMX refresh rate should be selected - it is well within DMX specifications. But in order to drive some (mainly older) DMX equipment that is not capable of receiving DMX with a high refresh rate, some interfaces options implement an option to lower the DMX refresh rate. Note that lowering the refresh rate may cause some fixtures to respond with less smooth movements when using high fade times.

## 4064 ISA DJ Setup options

Check **Enable DMX in** to enable  $\underline{DMX in}^{|23|}$  on the second link. Select between different DMX hardware refresh rates (40,22,12 Hz). Normally 40 Hz should be selected.

## 4064 ISA CLUB Setup options

The Club card may be configured to transmit 4 links (universes) of DMX or use 3 links for transmission and one link for DMX reception.

Check **Enable DMX in** to enable  $\underline{DMX in}^{231}$ . On the actual card the top SUB-D connector is for links 1 and 2 while the lower SUB-D connector is for links 3 and 4 (or link 3 and DMX in). When configured for DMX in, use the SUB-D to male+female XLR in the lower SUB-D connector.

With DMX in enabled it is possible to set the DMX refresh rate on the 3'rd (and 3'rd link only) link (40 Hz,22 Hz and 12 Hz) With DMX in disabled, the refresh rate cannot be changed.

#### PCI 512 Setup options

Check Enable DMX in to enable DMX in 231 on the second link.

Select between different DMX hardware refresh rates (40,35,30,25,20,15,10,5 Hz). Normally 40 Hz should be selected.

#### PCI 2048 Setup options

The PCI 2048 card may be configured to transmit 4 links (universes) of DMX or use 3 links for DMX transmission and one link for DMX reception.

Check **Enable DMX in** to enable <u>DMX in [231]</u>. On the actual card the top SUB-D connector is for links 1 and 2 while the lower SUB-D connector is for links 3 and 4 (or link 3 and DMX in). When configured for DMX in, use the SUB-D to male+female XLR in the lower SUB-D connector.

Select between different DMX hardware refresh rates (40,35,30,25,20,15,10,5 Hz). Normally 40 Hz should be selected.

#### PCMCIA Interface (one card)

Check Enable DMX in to enable DMX in 231 on link 2.

Select between different DMX hardware refresh rates (40 and 22 Hz). Normally 40 Hz should be selected.

## PCMCIA Interface (two cards)

Check Enable DMX in to enable DMX in [231] on link 4.

With DMX in enabled it is possible to set the DMX refresh rate on the 3'rd (and 3'rd link only) link (40 and 22 Hz) - normally 40 Hz should be selected. With DMX in disabled, the refresh rate cannot be changed.

#### ADP (Parallel Port) Setup options

The ADP interface does not support DMX in and it is not possible to change DMX refresh rate.

#### USB DMX-out Setup options

The USB interface does not support DMX in and it is not possible to change DMX refresh rate.

#### Universal USB/DMX interface

Check **Enable DMX** in to enable DMX in recption on the second (leftmost) port of the first interface (the port that will normally output link 2 data when DMX in is disabled). When a port is configured to DMX-in the indicating LED will turn green.

It is not possible to change the DMX refresh rate used by the Universal USB/DMX interface.

## 3.2.9 XLR cable connnections

## Connecting the DMX link(s)

All LightJockey DMX transmitter hardware is configured as pin 1 to shield, pin 2 to cold and pin 3 to hot. See below for notes on 3 to 5 pin XLR converters and phase-reversing cables (used with older Martin fixtures and possibly fixtures from other manufacturers).

Always remember to terminate the end of the DMX links with a 120-ohm terminating plug.

3 Pin to 5 pin XLR converters and phase reversing cables.

5-pin to 3-pin Adaptor		3-pin to 5-pin Adaptor		3-pin to 3-pin Phase-Reversing Adaptor		
Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & \hline 1 \\ 2 & \hline 2 \\ 3 & \hline 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ \end{array} $		1 — 2 — 3 —	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3	$\overset{1}{\swarrow}_{3}^{2}$	
P/N 309160		Construct		P/N 3	809158	

## The 4064 ISA DJ card

The DJ card ships with a SUB-D to XLR cable. Connect to the female XLR for DMX out, and the male XLR for DMX in.

## The 4064 ISA Club card

The Club card ships with 3 SUB-D to XLR cables. The D-SUB to 2 x female XLR should be used in the top SUB-D connector for 2 x DMX out(link 1 and 2). Use the second 2 x female XLR in the lower SUB-D socket if the card is configured with 4 x DMX out(link 3 and 4). Use male+female XLR cable if the card is configured to receive DMX in(link 3 and DMX in).

## The PCI 512 card

The PCI 512 card ships with a SUB-D to XLR cable. Connect to the female XLR for DMX out, and the male XLR for DMX in.

## The PCI 2048 card

The PCI 2048 card ships with 3 SUB-D to XLR cables. The D-SUB to 2 x female XLR should be used in the top SUB-D connector for 2 x DMX out (link 1 and 2). Use the second 2 x female XLR in the lower SUB-D socket if the card is configured with 4 x DMX out (link 3 and 4). Use the male+female XLR cable if the card is configured to receive DMX in (link 3 and DMX in).

## To the DMXADP Interface

Connect a 3 pin XLR to the female XLR output of the interface.

## To the PCMCIA interface

When using 1 PCMCIA interface, DMX outputs and DMX input are located as displayed on the breakout box. When using DMX in, connect the incoming DMX to link 2. When using two PCMCIA interfaces, outputs for link 3 & 4 are located on the breakout box connected to the second PCMCIA card.

## To the USB Interface

Connect the link to the 3 pin XLR on the USB interface.

## To the Universal USB/DMX Interface

Connect the link to one of the two 5 pin XLR ports on the USB interface.

## 3.3 Audio

## 3.3.1 Audio setup

Use the Audio tab to configure and select audio options for LightJockey.

Audio Analyzer (via soundcard) C Disabled C Enabled	CD-Audio (via CD-Rom) C Disabled C Enabled					
<ul> <li>Digital Audio Player</li> <li>Disabled</li> <li>Winamp 2.74+</li> </ul>						
Path to Winamp.exe C:\Program Files\Winamp\winamp.exe						

Audio options

#### The Audio Analyzer

The Audio analyzer program enables LightJockey to use audio input via a sound card to trig sequences in the cue. See <u>using audio in 192</u> and <u>trigging sequences in the cue</u> 144 for more information.

## **CD-Audio**

Enabling CD-Audio allows LightJockey to control a CD-ROM drive for audio CD play back. It also allows LightJockey to take time code from the audio CD to synchronize the cue list to audio CD time code. See <u>Audio CD Control</u> 40 and <u>Using time code in cue lists</u> 179 for more information. Note that in newer Windows versions application control of CD-ROM drives has become... errhhh.. troublesome. If possible, copy the CD tracks to hard disk (use any 'CD ripping' application - for example Windows Media Player to copy the track to hard disk) and use the <u>LightJockey MediaPlayer</u> 183 to playback the digital audio file rather than using the CD directly.

## **Digital Audio Playback**

While not strictly a piece of hardware, LightJockey is able to connect to Winamp for playback of digital audio (MP3, Wav, etc..). The time code from the digital audio may be used to synchronize sound and light in the cue list. Note that LightJockey connects with Winamp 2 (version 2.74) only. See <u>uising Winamp for digital audio using time code in cue lists</u> for more information. In order for LightJockey to automatically start Winamp when required (through in the cue list), the complete

path to the Winamp executable must be entered in the 'Path to Winamp' field. Click and navigate to the Winamp.exe file.

## LightJockey MediaPlayer

The LightJockey MediaPlayer is a separate module distributed with LightJockey that encapsulates core functions of Windows Media Player. LJ MediaPlayer may be used to playback different media file formats, including digital audio and video files. The MediaPlayer requires Windows Media Player version 6.0+ installed on the PC. The LJ MediaPlayer is exclusively used in <u>cue list</u> 169 context and requires no initial configuration. For more details see LightJockey MediaPlayer 183

## 3.3.2 Audio CD control

In order to get access to the audio functions from the CD-ROM drive, the drive must be configured in the <u>hardware setup</u> 22 dialog.

After configuration and a restart of LightJockey, the CD audio control is available via in the cue list tool bar



Audio CD control

The CD control functions like any domestic CD player, play, forward, next track etc. The drag bars may also be used to set the playing position. When the CD time-code is used to drive a <u>cue list rest</u> elapsed disc time is always used.

## Analogue vs. digital playback in Windows 2000 and XP

Windows 2000 and XP offer the option to playback CD audio mode - which may be a great option if there is no analogue connection from the CD/DVD drive to the sound card. The response time from the digital mode driver seems to be much faster than the analogue driver.

However, experience shows that in digital mode the 'true' time code update rate may actually be much slower than in analogue mode - the digital audio driver simply just returns the same time code for sequential time code requests.

The best way to check for the 'real' time code update rate is to open an empty cue list. Then open the time code log panel in CD time code mode, and hold down the [Ctrl] key for about 2-3 seconds to continuously log time codes from the CD drive (\*). Then add the time codes to the cue list and check the time between individual time codes.

(\*) It may be necessary to set keyboard repetition rate to max to log as many time codes as possible.

## **Preferences menu**

View Track Info - Expand the control to show individual track time information.

CD Device Settings, Status Timer Interval - Set a rate between 50ms to 1000 ms or select minimum (fastest) - default value is 100 ms.

Minimum depends on system, but is usually around 5 to 7 ms. The lower the value the more often the time code is read from the CD-ROM, allowing for a more precise time code triggering of the cue list. However some Windows versions/CD-ROM drive combinations take a very long time (25-100+ ms) to return time code for the CD-ROM. Setting a low value on a 'slow' system may slow down the PC a low, even to the point of choking the PC. The caption of the CD control continuously displays the time taken for the last status polling - setting a time polling time at about or lower than the average polling time will cause the system to slow down a lot.

Tests have shown that the way Windows 2000 and XP drives the CD-ROM drive seems much more effective than Windows 9X (although this may not apply to all systems) - if CD audio is a crucial element of a Windows 9X system and response time from the drive is high (50ms+), it may be a good idea to upgrade the PC to Windows 2000 or XP.

## Commands

Even though Microsoft has published a command interface for use of CD-ROM, not all Windows versions/drive combinations seem to work according to the command set - if the drive doesn't work as expected try set or clear the following options (by default all options are on).

Use Stop as Pause Command - The control issues a stop rather than a pause command (some drives does not seem to recognize the pause command).

Pause before cuing position - Some drives ignores a position command if they are already playing. Check this option to issue a pause command before re-positioning.

Invalidate Timecode when stopped - some drives return invalid or wrong time code when stopped (which may cause the cue list to behave strangely). Check this option to automatically invalidate time

(set to 0) code when the drive is stopped or paused.

See also audio CD-ROM trouble-shooting 42

## 3.3.3 Audio CD-ROM trouble shooing

## No Disc or Drive Not Ready

No disc is inserted into the CD-ROM Drive or system is still initializing

#### Cannot open drive tray

Some CD-ROM drives will return a tray-open status even when the tray is closed if there is no CD present in the drive. On "Eject" LightJockey will try to "Close the tray that is already closed. Shift click on the eject button to force the tray open if necessary.

## Message: CDROM drive already in use. The drive cannot be shared between applications

Another application is already using the CD-ROM drive. Most likely it is used by the Windows CD -Player (check in the Windows taskbar). Often this will happen when "CD insert notification" is enabled on the CD-ROM drive, auto-starting the Windows CD Player application whenever a new Audio CD is inserted.

There are two ways of fixing this problem. The first fix is to disable the auto insert notification. This may be done by right-clicking on the "my computer" icon on the desktop. Select "properties" and "device manager". Select "properties" for the particular CD-ROM Drive, and disable "auto insert notification" on the "settings" tab. Please note that this will disable the auto-start feature for any CD-ROM.

The second is to remove the file-type association of the audio CD. The exact method may depend somewhat on what version of windows is installed, and what type of desktop manager is used. In general, open any folder and select the "File type" tab. Find the "AudioCD" entries in the "registered file types" and remove the entry.

## Message CD-ROM drive not found

LightJockey cannot detect the presence of a CD-ROM drive - please check Windows installation.

See also audio CD control

## 3.4 MIDI

Select MIDI options from the MIDI tab.

## **MIDI Note Commands**

A number of functions including latching cues or flashing sequences may be remotely controlled via a MIDI interface. To enable MIDI remote control of LightJockey via MIDI, enable the MIDI In function on the MIDI In tab. For more details on the MIDI note implementation see <u>MIDI In</u> [240].

MIDI tab

## **MIDI** Timecode

MIDI time code (MTC) may be used as a time source for <u>cue lists</u> [169]. To enable a MIDI time code interface, select it from the MIDI device list via the lower right-hand corner (Select from list then click **Select Device**). Note that in order for LightJockey to recognize the MIDI device it must be installed with working Windows drivers.

The **MTC Timeout Value** determines the time it takes before an MTC driven cuelist times out after MTC transmission has stopped. Normally, the default value of 0.5 sec is fine, but special circumstances may make it necessary to increase the timeout value.

## 3.5 External control devices

## 2532 Direct Access keyboard

Before the <u>2532 Direct Access</u> <sup>[225]</sup> keyboard may be used with LightJockey it needs to be configured. Enable the 2532 Direct Access and then select the appropriate serial port (COM1-COM4). It is not necessary (or recommended) to enable to enable the 2532 and select a serial port in order to use the 2532 control in virtual mode (using the control without a 2532 physically connected). **NOTE**: The 2532 must have at least version 3.0 software in order to work with LightJockey.

## Martin 2518 (via RS-232)

Connects the <u>Martin 2518 controller via RS-232</u><sup>[242]</sup>. Since the connection is via RS-232 it is possible to connect the 2518 without additional hardware (except an available RS-232 port and suitable cable).

## **MC-X Controller**

As the MC-X controller uses DMX to communicate with LightJockey, it is only useable with an appropriate hardware interface that supports DMX in. Note that if the MC-X interface is enabled, normal DMX in [231] functionality is suspended.

See MC-X Remote Controller 245 for details on setup and use.

## **Fingers for LightJockey**

Fingers 210 connection is enabled and configured from the main menu (Fingers)

See also <u>RS-232 remote interface</u> for controlling LightJockey through a RS-232 connection.

## 4 The LightJockey desktop

## 4.1 Main desktop window



The LightJockey desktop

The LightJockey Desktop is devided into 3 separate areas. At the top (below the main desktop menu) is a tool bar area, in the middle is the fixture area where configured fixtures are illustrated by Icons, and at the bottom is the status bar.

The desktop window it self is an ordinary Windows-style window that may be minimized, maximized or resized at will. On multiple monitor systems the Desktop window can reside on any monitor. Besides the desktop window LightJockey has a number of different dialogs, lists and other types of controls. All these are launched in separate, independent windows (as the fixture controls in the screenshot above) - these windows may be moved freely on the whole Windows desktop, even outside the regular LightJockey desktop, and LightJockey remembers the position where the window was placed the last time and uses this position when the window is opened again (it is possible to set a <u>restriction</u> so) on where the windows are located when re-opened).

On multi-monitor systems, use the extra desktop space to keep the LightJockey desktop on one monitor, or even a par of one monitor, while using some or the rest of the Windows desktop area for the individual control windows.

## Desktop tabs

Fixtures are represented on the desktop by icons that may be placed anywhere on multiple pages or "tabs" This allows fixtures to be organized according to personal preferences. To create or edit tabs, select **tabs** from the popup menu. Create a new tab by clicking add. Edit or delete the tab by selecting the tab from the list, and then click the appropriate button.

## Placing fixture icons on the desktop

When a new fixture has been <u>configured</u> it's icon is not yet assigned to any tab on the desktop. A fixture is not programmable until it has been placed on the desktop - to place the fixture, drag it from the <u>unassigned fixtures list</u> what opens automatically when new fixtures are configured, and drop it on a suitable place on the desktop. Alternatively click **place all** in the menu to place all unassigned fixtures on the current tab.

## Moving fixture icons

Select **Icons** -> **Move all** from the desktop popup menu. This will switch all icons into move mode. It is now possible to move the icons around on the current tab by dragging the icon to the new position. Icons in move mode cannot be selected for programming, so once the icons are placed deselect **move all** again on the desktop menu.

## To place a fixture icon on a specific tab

If the fixture is still in the <u>unassigned fixures list</u> [54], activate the tab, and drag the fixture onto the desktop. To move a fixture from one tab to the other, right-click the fixture icon to unassign the icon. The unassigned window will automatically open up. Activate the relevant tab and drag the fixture to the desktop.

See also <u>configuring the desktop</u> 45, <u>desktop main menu</u> 47, <u>selecting fixtures</u> 80, <u>tool and status bars</u> 55, <u>fixture icon popup</u> 59

## 4.2 Configuring the desktop

Right-click on an empty spot the desktop to access the desktop popup menu.

<b>Desktop</b>	popu	p menu
----------------	------	--------

Select All Programmed	
Deselect odd fixtures	
Deselect even fixtures	
Fixture Groups	
Icons	×
Desktop	۲
Help	

Desktop popup menu

Select All Programmed - selects all fixtures programmed in the current sequence/scene. Requires Show programmed fixtures option enabled (see below). Deselect Odd Fixtures - deselects all fixtures with odd fixture number Deselect Even Fixtures - deselects all fixtures with even fixture number Fixture Groups - opens the fixture groups addition dialog.

```
See also selecting fixtures
```

## Icons Menu Style(..) Move All Auto Arrange(..) Show Programmed Fixtures Unassign Icons

Icons menu

Style - this option selects between two different styles of fixture icons:

Fixed Size : All Icons have the same base size.

Image Size : Icons are sized according to the size of the image assigned to the fixture icon and icon caption (fixture user name).

Move all - toggles all fixture icons between move mode (gray caption) and normal mode. For arranging the icons on the desktop, see below. When in move mode the icons cannot be used for fixture selection.

Auto-arrange lcons- this will auto arrange all the fixture icons on the current tab, according to fixture type or fixture number.

Show Programmed Fixtures - with this option enabled each fixture icon will show a colored rectangle when the fixture is programmed (scene/sequence contains data) in the current sequence. Green if the

fixture is programmed in the current scene, and cyan if the fixture as been programmed in any other scene in the current sequence. The function is off by default. Note that checking the sequence for programmed status runs in a separate low priority process, so especially for larger sequences or very busy systems, the status may take a few seconds to update.



Fixture programmed in current scene



Fixture programmed in current sequence

Unassign Icons - unassign all icons on the current tab, or just the selected of icons.

Desktop	
<u>I</u> abs()	
<u>G</u> rid()	
[mage()	



Tabs - use this dialog to create, rename or delete  $\frac{\text{desktop tabs}}{\text{desktop tabs}}$ . Grid - use a grid to assist in positioning fixture icons on the desktop.

III Desktop Grid
🔽 Use Grid
Grid V-Size 20
Grid H-Size 16
<ul> <li>Snap Fixture Icons to Grid</li> <li>Snap Icon Center</li> <li>Snap Icon Left/Top</li> </ul>
✓ <u>□</u> k

Desktop grid dialog

Image - It is possible to use bitmaps (pictures) as wallpaper on the desktop. Click Image, locate the required bitmap then click Ok. Note that only standard Windows bitmap files (.bmp files) may be used. Also note that large images may requires a lot of CPU time when re-drawing and may slow down the GUI of LightJockey considerably. Use the image dialog to clear an earlier assigned image and to set the following image options:

Stretch Image - sizes the image so that it fills up the desktop.

Center Image - centers the image on the desktop. Does not resize image.

Note: It is not possible to show wallpaper image and the grid at the same time.



Custom wallpaper image

See also fixture icon popup 59

## 4.3 Desktop main menu

System menu - see <u>system menu</u> Setup menu - see <u>setup menu</u> View menu - see <u>view menu</u> Giffline-Visualizer menu - see <u>Offline Visualizer</u> and <u>settings</u> for <u>Capture</u> ink - only visible when a Capture link is configured. Fingers - configuration and settings for <u>Fingers</u> Generics - provides access to the <u>generic DMX control</u> and <u>setimes</u> - only visible if at least one Generic fixture has been configured LJ-Manager - access configuration for the LJ <u>Manager</u> plug in. Download - create program data for <u>2510</u> and <u>2518</u> Setup <u>125</u> dialog.

## 4.3.1 Main system menu

The System menu is located on the desktop main menu.



Main system menu

User Libraries - used to create and select userlibraries. See <u>user libraries</u> Delete Files- used to delete multiple data files. See <u>deleting multiple data files</u> Restore Program Data - see <u>using the data restore option</u> restore data set has previously been created. Auto Strike Lamps - start auto-strike lamp cycle - see <u>startup options</u> Restart LightJockey - closes down LightJockey and restarts a new session.

## 4.3.1.1 Deleting multiple data files

From the main desktop menu select **System -> delete files**. The following file types may be deleted (select from menu):

- Sequence Files
- Cue Files
- cue list Files
- Background cue files
- Generic DMX Macros

## Selecting and deleting files

şdiş.			_			
Na -	Sequence Nate	Type	Scener	Modified	Inthe	1
<b>U</b> )	Law York Torre		1	201108-0221-14	Yes	
0.2	Robus (118 dopp)		1	1011198-2209-22	Nes .	
ωц.	Fea ST Exceed approx.			20110015-0012	139	
004.	Isour (78 letely out		1	1911-06-2008-25	Nes.	
0.5	priors SEE as no reference		- 1	1013-38.215313	Yes	
006	kg/4 511 1001:		1	19111-08 22 59 50	Yei	
0.7	an 218 cown pics	_		2211382223236	104	
0.0	ed W.F. andore 1		- 1	1811-96 23 38 02	100	
003	e35/0m/t1			1011-08-23 26 51	191	
919	Lipk stabilities		- 1	1011-00210125	MQ	
	pot al conte conten		-	31132210134	1	1
91÷	\$160.20L			11111111111		+
912	ed 5/2 priordd			101110222212	<u></u>	
11.	1070000			10000	128-	+
<u>19</u>	Bod 118 200			101120100	122	
	print state and result			TRATE OF COMPANY AND	1.00	
÷.	to be a second second		-		1000	
A 5	and a Coll triangle			10110-0010-00-00	N.	
60.3.	plan the compa			10110-00110-001-00	1000	
÷.,	And he can be		- 2		1.1	2
	Salez, (J	Dear/H 🔂 🕂		Delete (10) Secure	CH + .	3
-	(institute second all a	Mak Depart Convers	-			

Delete sequence files dialog

Select one or more files to delete by highlighting the files in the list. Use **Select All** or **Clear All** to select all files or clear all selections.

Once the files are marked, delete the files by clicking Delete.

## **Checking Sequences**

The Delete Sequences dialog contains an option to check if the sequence files are used in any cues. To check through sequences, click **Check Used Sequences**. Used sequences are marked with a 'Yes' in the rightmost column and unused sequences are marked with a 'No'. When the sequences have been checked (may take a little time), click **Mark Unused Sequences** to highlight unused sequences only.

## 4.3.1.2 Using the data restore option

LightJockey has the capability of backing up the contents of a single users library and on demand restore the backed up users library to the exact same contents as when the backup was created. The backup data may be password protected so that the backup data can only be created by authorized personnel. The backup data is stored locally on the PC hard disk.

This backup function is not intended as a general method to backup and restore data from LightJockey, but rather targeted towards installation types such as fixed installations in clubs where inexperienced users have access to various settings and programming. The option offers a quick method for the inexperienced user to restore LightJockey to the exact point at where the backup was created without having to locate individual backup files.

## Creating the backup data



Create restore data dialog

To create the backup data set, open the system preferences dialog, **setup** -> **preferences** -> **system** and select the **Data Restore** tab. Then click **Create Restore Data**. A complete snapshot of the current settings and user library contents is now created and stored for later retrieval.

Once a restore data set has been created, access to the dialog may be password protected, see below.

**Password Protecting the Backup Data** 

0001

Password dialog

When a backup data set has been created, the create data dialog may be password protected so that only authorized personnel has access to modify the backup data. To set or change a password click **New Password**. Make sure to enter the exact same password twice, and then click **Ok**. Back in the Create Restore Data dialog check the **Password Protect Restore File** option. The access to the Create Restore Data dialog is now password protected. A new restore data set cannot be created without entering the password.

## Restoring the backup data

. .

. .

In order restore a previously created data set, select **System** -> **Restore Program Data**. Note that the option is only available in the menu if a data set has been created. Accept the LightJockey restart prompt. Upon restarting LightJockey restores the user library data from the restore data set.

## WARNING Any data existing in the user library to be restored is deleted before the restore is performed.

Error	×
8	Restore data file seems to be corrupt - do you wish to abort the data restore process ? (Aborting will delete the corrupt data file - restore will not be possible)
	<u>Y</u> es <u>No</u> <u>H</u> elp

After restart LightJockey will attempt to restore the data found in the restore data file. If the data restore file is found to be corrupt this error dialog will appear, offering an option to abort the restore operation. Note that aborting the operation will delete the restore data file.

See also backup & restore

## 4.3.2 Main setup menu

The main setup menu has a number of sub-menus that facilitates settings of various options and settings. The menu is located in the LightJockey desktop main menu 47.

Fixture Configuration	
Hardware Setup	
Global Patch	
Preferences	•
Hotkeys	•
Help	

Main setup menu

Fixture Configuration - dialog for setting up the fixtures to be controlled by LightJockey. See fixture configuration

Hardware Setup - dialog for selecting and configuring hardware options. See <u>hardware setup</u> 22 Global Patch - dialog for modifying the default source of DMX output data. See <u>global patch</u> 201 Preferences - dialog for setting system preferences. See <u>preferences -> system</u> 50, preferences -> start up 52 and preferences -> default DMX output 53

Hotkeys - dialog for modifying hotkey setup and global enable/disable of hotkeys. See hotkeys 203

## 4.3.2.1 System preferences

The system preferences dialog allow settings of various <u>user library</u>  $\boxed{100}$  or system wide options. The access is through the main menu, select **Setup** -> **Preferences** -> **System**.

🚆 System Preferences				×		
Help						
Quick Save/Load	Externa	Links	Data Restore			
System Settings			Warnings	_ L		
Enable bitmap cache						
Allow freeze output						
Allow sequence blind mod	e					
Allow offline switch						
Allow fature solo selection						
Open controls on LightJoc	kev deskto	20				
Dpen controls on Window	s desktop					
Start LightJockey on seco	ndary mon	itor				
Restore LightJockey desktop on startup (Size/Position)						
	эк 📗	X Cancel				
			-			

System Preferences dialog

#### System Settings tab

Enable bitmap cache - enabling this function will give an increased performance when drawing controls, but it also uses Windows system resources which may be limited on some systems; especially Windows 9X or ME. If only one instance of the LightJockey application is running, this will not be a problem, but if Windows throws up a warning that system resources are getting low, make sure to deselect this option.

Allow freeze output - enables or disables the users access to the <u>freeze output</u> function. Allow sequence blind mode - enables or disables the <u>sequence blind mode</u> 129

Allow offline switch - enables or disables the On/Offline switch 198

Allow fixture solo selection - enables or disables the <u>fixture solo</u> selection function Open controls on Windows desktop - normally most controls retain their last position when re-opened. When this option is enabled, all controls are forced to open within the boundaries of the Windows desktop. Checking this option ensures that if controls have been placed outside the visible area of the Windows desktop (e.g. when lowering the video resolution) they will become visible when re-opening. **Note for multi-monitor systems:** Windows desktop is defined as the upper left corner of the primary display to the lower right corner of the last display. However, if monitors are driven in different screen resolutions, the desktop height (or width if displays are vertically configured) is defined as the height (or width) of the primary display. This may cause problems if secondary displays are driven at a resolution different from the primary displays - in this case it is probably the best to disable the option. Open controls on LightJockey desktop - when this option is enabled, all controls open within the boundaries of the LightJockey desktop [44]. Use this option if controls have been placed outside the visible area of the Windows desktop (e.g. when lowering the video resolution).

Start LightJockey on Secondary Monitor - check this option to force LightJockey to start up on the secondary monitor in a multi monitor system. Setting is ignored if only one monitor is detected. Restore LightJockey desktop on startup (Size/Position) - when checked, the LightJockey desktop will default to the same size and position and size it had when LightJockey was previously closed down. If not enabled LJ will maximize on the designated monitor.

## Warnings tab

Sequence/Cue Modified - enable to prompt a confirmation box every time before a modified sequence or cue is overwritten by a clear or load command. Note that the cue modified warning will not be shown if the cue was loaded as a transparent cue 149.



Overwrite Sequence/Cue - enable to prompt a confirmation box each time before a saving on top of an already saved sequence or cue.



Show Blackout Warning - enable this to show a warning when blackout or fade-in or fade-out is active. Click **Cancel** on the warning dialog to restore from blackout or fade modes.



Show Freeze Warning - when enabled, a warning is shown when DMX output is frozen 198.



Show Offline Warning - when enabled, a warning is shown when DMX output is offline 1981.



Confirm Close Program - enable this to show a confirmation dialog when LightJockey is closed.

Quick Save/Load tab - enable sequence/cue/cue list quick save/load.

When quick save/load is enabled, right-clicking will re-save the current sequence, cue or cuelist without using the save dialog (it requires that the sequence, cue or cuelist has previously been saved - if not, the case the save dialog will appear as usual).

Likewise right-clicking on any will re-load the current sequence, cue or cuelist (only if a previously saved sequence or cue or cuelist is currently loaded)

#### **External Links tab**

External links - external links allows LightJockey to talk to other Martin Windows applications. Normally, if not instructed otherwise, leave these options off.

The external links will only be enabled if transmitter hardware is detected.

Enable Offline Visualizer - enables communication to Offline Visualizer 284 - there is normally no reason to disable this setting other than for trouble shooting purposes. If the option is grayed out it means that LightJockey cannot locate the Offline Visualizer installation.

Enable link to Sandnet - enables routing of DMX data through Sandnet (tm). Note that this option requires that LightJockey DMX hardware is installed and configured as well as appropriate Sandnet hardware and/or software. More information about Sandnet can (at the time of writing this) be found at <a href="http://www.sandsys.com">http://www.sandsys.com</a>

Enable link to Capture - enables communication with the Capture Visualization application running on the same or another networked PC - see interfacing with Capture 286 for more information

Data Restore tab - see using the data restore option 48

## 4.3.2.2 Startup options

To access the startup dialog, select **Setup/Preferences/Startup** from the desktop main menu 4.

Startup Option	15			X
Help Auto LampOn				
C None	C 2 Minute	\$	C 4 Min	utes
C 1 minute	③ 3 Minute	s	C 5 Min	utes
Load on startup				
Sequence # 0	006	Select	Clear	🔽 Run
Cue #		Select	Clear	
Cuelist #		Select	Clear	☐ Run
BG Cue #		Select	Clear	
Application Run Minimized Show Notes on	Startup			
Auto Launch Progra	ms			
D: \LJ22B2Large\Dr D: \LJ22B2Large\LJ	xInEmulator.exe _RS232.exe			
	🗸 Ok	🗙 Can	cel	

Startup options dialog

Auto Lamp-On - enabling this option will configure LightJockey to startup with a lamp-on cycle, sending lamp-on commands to all fixtures that support a lamp-on command. Lamp-on commands are sent to one fixture at a time with a delay of approx. 1 second to avoid a surge on the power line. Set the duration of the power-on cycle to 1 to 5 minutes. If none of the configured fixtures support lamp-on, the cycle will be aborted. The power-on cycle will run before any auto-start programs are executed. During the lamp on cycle a window will appear on the desktop, displaying the lamp-on cycle progress. The cycle may be aborted at any point by clicking **Stop**. The auto-lamp on command is also available under the desktop main system menu. When started from here cycle will continue until canceled.

Fixture#	FixtureType	Action	4
1	RS918-S		
2	RS918-S		
3	RS918-S		
4	RS918-S	Lamp On	
5	RS918-S		
6	RS918-S		
7	RS918-S		
-			_

Auto lamp-on cycle

Load On Startup (programs auto-start) - these options enables LightJockey to automatically launch a specific sequence, cue, cue list or background cue (BG cue) on startup. Click the relevant **Select** button to select the sequence, cue, cue list or background cue to auto-start. Sequences and cue lists requires a check mark in the **Run** check box to execute after load, else they will remain static. Run Minimized - check to automatically to minimize LightJockey after start up as soon as all initializations are done. This setting is useful if LightJockey has to run silently in the background with other applications.

Show notes on startup - when enabled the built-in note pad will (Main Menu -> View -> Notes) automatically be displayed when LightJockey starts up.

Auto Launch Programs - use this option to automatically launch external support programs as LightJockey starts up. Click **Browse** to specify which programs to be launched. An example of a support program that must be launched this way is the <u>RS-232 remote</u><sup>246</sup> program.

To clear a program from the list, highlight it, right click and **select delete** entry from the popup menu. During startup LightJockey will make no attempt to check if the program is already running, neither will the program automatically be shut down when LightJockey shuts down. If the file launched is not an executable, eg. \*.exe - it is up to the user to make sure that the data file is properly associated with an executable. For example to launch an MP3 file, the .MP3 extension must be properly associated with a program to playback MP3 files. If, for some reason, an automatically launched program causes LightJockey to crash or lockup before the entry can be removed from the list, the program entries may be manually removed from the startup.ini file located in the LightJockey installation folder.

## 4.3.2.3 Default DMX output

By default LightJockey defaults to a value of 0 for all DMX output channels when they are not programmed - some fixture profiles may cause other default values to be used. By customizing the default values, it is often easier to create a good basis for programming. The new defaults may contain values causes a fixtures to home (center) on pan and tilt, or opens the shutter on fixtures equipped with separate shutter and dimmer, so it won't be necessary both to open shutters and set intensity values when programming. It may also be used to set a pre-heat value for fixtures running via dimmer packs.

Use Current Scene - this option will record the output from the current scene. If values have already been recorded for default output they will be included in the new default output, unless overwritten by the contents of scene. This makes it possible to modify the default output just by programming the modifications into the scene and then select 'use current scene'. Note : The default output cannot contain presets or pan/tilt macros, if presets are present an error message will be displayed and the new values will not be recorded.

Clear Default Output - this will reset the default output to all 0 values.

## 4.3.3 Main view menu

The menu is located under the desktop main menu 47.



Main view menu

Toolbars - use this submenu to toggle visibility of the various tool bars and the status bar. Controls - use this submenu to display specific controls if the corresponding tool bar is not visible. Unassigned Fixtures - use this to show the list of unassigned fixtures [54] if the list was previously closed (unassigned fixtures are fixtures which icons have not yet been placed on the desktop) Notes - this will show a handy little notepad - the notes are saved in the current user library and can be recalled at any time by selecting this menu item or by hotkey [205].

DMX Output - See DMX output monitor

Windows System Memory - displays information regarding Windows system memory. Used for trouble shooting.

## 4.3.3.1 The unassigned fixtures list

When new fixtures have been configured using the fixture configuration dialog, a fixture icon representing the individual fixture must be placed on the <u>LightJockey desktop</u> 44. Until the icon has been placed, the fixture cannot be accessed from the desktop. When closing the fixture configuration dialog, new fixtures are placed in a unassigned fixtures list. A dialog containing the list is automatically displayed after configuration. The dialog may also be opened via **View** -> **Unassigned Fixtures**.

🥐 U	nassigned Fixture	5	×				
Unas	sign All <u>H</u> elp						
No	FixtureType	Address	Usemame				
4	CX2	1:013	CX2				
5	MAC 250KR	1:017	MAC 250KR				
6	MAC 250KR	1:031	MAC 250KR				
7	MAC 250KR	1:045	MAC 250KR				
8	MAC 250KR	1:059	MAC 250KR				
9	MAC 250KR	1:073	MAC 250KR				
10	MAC 250KR	1:087	MAC 250KR				
11	ING200	1:101	ING200				
12	518	1:107	518				
	Move Icons Auto Place All						

Unassigned fixtures list

To place individual fixture icons on the desktop, drag the fixture from the list and drop it on the desktop. **Move Icons** will automatically switch fixture icons in and out of <u>icon move mode</u>. Click **Unassign All** to move remove all fixture icons from the desktop to unassigned list. **Click Autoplace All** to place all icons on the current desktop tab ordered either by fixture type or fixture number.

## 4.4 Tool- and status-bars



The LightJockey desktop contains up to 4 tool bars with buttons for quick access to various functions. There is also a statusbar with status information.

The <u>sequence/cue tool bar</u> [55] has functions relating to the <u>current sequence and the current cue</u> [15]. The <u>cue list tool bar</u> [56] has functions relating to the cue list, background cue and external control options such as <u>DMX in</u> [237], <u>MIDI</u> [240], <u>Audio CD</u> [40] and the <u>2532 Direct Access</u> [225] controller. The <u>Offline Visualizer tool bar</u> [57] contains functions related to the <u>Offline Visualizer</u> [57]. The <u>fixture tool bar</u> [57] contains functions related to individual fixtures or groups of fixtures. Finally the <u>status bar</u> [58] contains various status information. Any of the tool bars and status bar may be hidden to save desktop space, see main view menu [54]

## 4.4.1 Sequence/cue tool bar

The left part of the tool bar contains buttons and information related to the current sequence, while the right half contains buttons and information relating to the current cue.

## Sequence tool bar

SEQ 918 shutter chase Current Sequence	1 🗶 🗶 3:4
--	-----------

*Current sequence* displays the name of the current sequence (if any). The background turns yellow if the sequence is 'active' (contains data). If the current sequence is empty, the background color is gray.

Click seq to view the sequence control
Click to clear the current sequence (see <u>sequence control</u> $124$ ).
Click to bring up the save sequence dialog 125.

Click to open the list of sequences (127) (to access previously saved sequences)

The tool bar also displays the current scene number in the current sequence, in the form of X:Y, where X is the current scene number and Y the last scene number. If the sequence is empty, the display shows '1:1'.

Cue tool bar

Cue HouseLights -	Current	🔽 Cue	71	Æ	
Cue   Hodochighto	Cue	LG Cue	لك		<u> </u>

*Current cue* displays the name of the current cue (if any). The background turns yellow if the cue is 'active' or modified (contains data). If the current cue is empty, a gray background is used.

Click  $\boxed{\mathbf{Q} \, \mathrm{Cue}}$  to view the <u>cue control</u>  $\boxed{132}$ .



Click 👛 to bring up the save cue dialog 🖽.

Click Loget the list of cues [137] (to browse existing cues or load a previously saved cue)

See also tool- and status-bars 5

## 4.4.2 Cue list tool bar

The left part of the tool bar contains buttons and information related to the current <u>cue list</u> while the right part contains a button for the <u>background cue</u>, the <u>statics control</u>, audio CD control as well as buttons for other, external control options.

## The cue list tool bar

C-L ThunderStrike
-------------------

*Current Cue List* displays the name of the current <u>cue list</u> (if any). The background turns yellow if the cue list is 'active' (executing) - if a gray background color is used.

Click	to view the cue	list ontrol 169.
-------	-----------------	------------------

Click L to clear the *current cue list* (see <u>cue list control</u> 169).

Click Lobring up the save cue list dialog 178.

Click Loget the list of cue lists 176.

## The bcue button

Click Background Cue to open the background cue control 167. If a background cue is active, the 'LED' is green, if not the 'LED' is red

## The statics control button

Click <u>Statics</u> to open the <u>statics control</u> 189. If one or more static entries are active, the 'LED' is green, if not the LED is red.

## Audio CD control

Click to access the <u>audio CD control</u>. The button is not enabled (grayed out) unless the LightJockey has been <u>configured</u> to use a CD-ROM Drive.

## The external control buttons

Click to access the MC-X setup dialog 245

Click to access the <u>2518/RS232 control</u> [242] (note, the 2518 must have been <u>configured</u> [43] first)

Click to access the DMX in setup 231

Click to view the <u>MIDI in control</u><sup>24</sup> (must be <u>configured</u><sup>42</sup> first)

Click to view the <u>2532 direct access control</u> [228]

See also tool- and status-bars 5

## 4.4.3 LightJockey Offline Visualizer tool bar

The Offline Visualizer tool bar contains a button to launch/enable/disable the Offline Visualizer as well as buttons to control various Offline Visualizer camera functions directly from LightJockey.

orv	Disable	×	٠	+	+	¥	+	Full	Undo	Redo	Defau	lt	•

LightJockey Offline Visualizer tool bar

The first button changes between **Launch** (start Offline Visualizer), **Disable** (hide) and **Enable** (show if hidden).



The last box contains the Offline Visualizer user camera list with cameras previously saved in the Offline Visualizer scene. Views may be selected via this list or via hotkeys 205.

## 4.4.4 Fixture tool bar

The fixture tool bar contains buttons to access fixture controls, buttons for fixture selection and selection modes as well as buttons for special controls such as smoke control or the global master intensity control.

Fixture Controls	Fxixture Selection	Special Controls		
M + E O N 22 H Y O 22	🖺 All None Inclusive 📢 🕨 Solo 🌉	🗨 Orlino 🛞 💷 💻 🖬		

## **Fixture control selection**



Click icons to access the individual <u>fixture controls</u>  $\mathbb{P}^2$ . Note that none of these buttons will be enabled until at least one fixture is <u>selected</u>  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

Right-click a button to open the corresponding control and close the other fixture controls automatically (useful on a smaller desktop setup).

Click controls as a shortcut to show or hide all fixture controls (except extended controls) with one click.

## **Fixture selection buttons**

Displays the <u>fixture group</u> and selection window.

All None Inclusive These buttons effects the desktop fixture selection and.

Selects previous or next fixture respectively - see next/previous fixture and

Solo Selects fixture solo 200 Mode

## Follow spot button

toggles follow spot settings

## **Special controls buttons**

Online / Offline see OffLine/OnLine switch
see freeze output
see smoke control 122
see <u>blackout</u>
see master intensity

See also tool- and status-bars 55

## 4.4.5 Status bar

The status bar is located below the main desktop. It displays the current time, system and system memory status and the current level of the <u>master intensity control</u> 195. The bar also shows if the current sequence, cue or cue list have been modified. Finally the trig information from the <u>Audio Analyzer</u> 192 is duplicated on the status bar.

12:59:17	Running	79%	Master	100%	Seq. Modified	Cue Modified	CueList Modified	Trig	
Status	bar								

## Memory status

Windows utilizes both physical memory (RAM) and virtual memory (hard disk). Accessing information in the physical memory is magnitudes faster than accessing information

The indicator shows the percentage of used memory out of the total physical and virtual memory available as reported back from Windows.

The % indication is not an absolute indicator; as more memory is needed Windows will automatically reduce memory allocation for other functions or applications, typically by reducing the disk cache size.

The color of the memory 'bar' indicates the amount of free physical memory left.

Green indicates more than 3 Megabytes physical memory free.

Yellow indicates between 2 and 3 Megabytes free physical memory free.

Orange indicates between 1 and 2 Megabytes free physical memory free.

Red indicates less than 1 Megabyte physical memory free.

As long as the indicator stays in green everything is fine. When the indicator goes through yellow and orange, it indicates that there might be a slight loss of performance as there is little physical memory left. A red indicator means very little or no physical memory free, probably causing a pretty poor performance. it is still perfectly possible to run LightJockey even if the bar is red, as long as Windows supplies enough virtual memory (and it usually does) - just expect for slower performance.

## 4.5 Fixture icon popup

To access this menu right-click on any of the fixture icons on the desktop.

Select All Programmed of this typ Select All of this type Deselect All of this type	e
Clear This Fixture Clear Selected Fixtures	
Fixture Info Fixture Notes DMX Output	
Fixture Configuration Global Patch Customize Fixture	
Fixture Icon	•
Help	

Fixture icon popup

Select All programmed of this type - selects all fixtures of this type that are programmed in the current scene. This function requires that the <u>Show programmed fixtures</u> option is enabled.

Select All of this Type - Deselect All of this Type - selects or de-selects all fixtures of the same type as the 'clicked' fixture. The 'clicked' fixture automatically becomes <u>master fixture</u> when this function is used.

Clear This Fixture - Clear Selected Fixtures - when clicked all fixture parameters are set to  $\underline{off}$  and the current scene in the <u>current sequence</u> 124.

Output generated by <u>default DMX output</u> [53], <u>statics</u> [189], the <u>current cue</u> [132] or <u>background cue</u> [167] is not affected.

Fixture Info - opens the fixture info panel



The info panel shows the fixtures DMX address and <u>intensity group</u> [195]. If the profile contains DIPswitch information the dipswitch shows the settings according to DMX address.

Fixture Notes - shows the fixture profile notes (same notes as shown in the <u>fixture configuration</u> (a) DMX Output - opens the <u>DMX output monitor</u> (a) aligned with the fixtures DMX address. Fixture Configuration - opens the <u>fixture configuration dialog</u> (a) with the fixture already selected. Global Patch - opens the <u>global patch dialog</u> (a) aligned on the fixtures DMX address. Define Fixture Profile - opens the fixture profile dialog. This option is only available for <u>user definable fixtures</u> (247).

Customize Fixture - opens the customize fixture palette related built-in fixture profiles related built-in f

## Fixture Icon Menu



Unassign Icon - select to de-assign the icon from the current tab. The fixture will go back into the <u>unassigned fixtures list</u> and can be re-placed on another tab. See <u>configuring the desktop</u>  $45^{\circ}$ . Move Icon - toggles the Icons 'movement' mode on and off. See <u>configuring the desktop</u>  $45^{\circ}$ . Align Icon - select the align command from the sub menu. The command will align the icons of all <u>selected fixtures</u> to the current icon, e.g. selecting **Icon Right** will align the right side of all selected icons to the current icon. Note, alignment will not work on icons that are in 'move' mode.

## 4.6 DMX output monitor

Open the monitor from desktop main menu -> view -> DMX Output 47

This window shows the actual DMX values output from LightJockey. To align the view with a particular fixture, right click the fixture icon and select "DMX Output" from the popup menu.



DMX output monitor

## **Preferences menu**

Highlight value changes - channels with changing values display values in red Highlight used channels - channels that are in use by at least one fixture shows with gray background Highlight selected Master fixture - channels in use by the master fixture is displayed with a green background

Autoscroll to master fixture channels - the DMX monitor automatically scrolls to bring the channels of the master fixture into view

Enable value overwrite - see below

## Color scheme (background)

Gray background: DMX channel is used by at least one configured fixture White background: DMX channel not used by any configured fixture Green background: DMX channel used by <u>selected master fixture</u>

## **Color scheme (text)**

Black text: unchanged DMX value (since the dialog was opened) Red text: DMX value changed (since the dialog was opened) Green text: DMX value overwritten

## **Control channel function**

Highlight a specific output channel (click it's value) to see it's control function which is displayed in the status bar at the bottom of the dialog.

Ini DM	Min DMX Output Monitor								×		
Preferences Iools Help											
	+0	+1	+2	+3	+4	+5	+6	+7	+8	+9	
911	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
921	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
931	0	0	0	0	0	4	o local	and all	0	0	
941	0	0	0	0	0	d	elect 0	ed ch	anne	0	_
951	0	Con	trol fu	notion	0	0	0	0	0	0	
961	0	- Curi	V V	0	<u> </u>	0	0	0	0	0	
971	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	•
DMX Ad	dress	: 913	Used	by (8)	) RS91	8; Int	ensity				11.

## **Overwriting the DMX output values**

<b>thei</b> DM	IX Oul	tput I	Monit	or								×
Prefer	ences	Too	ls He	.lp								
	+0	+1	+2	+3	+4	+5	+6	+7	+8	+9		
1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
21	0	0	0	0	0	0	90	Verw	ite DI	X		
31	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	outpu	it valu	e s		-
41	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	U	U	U		
51	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
61	101	101	101	101	101	101	101	101	101	101		
71	228	228	228	228	228	228	228	228	228	228		
81	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		$\land$
91	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-0		22
101	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Cle	ar val	uep_	_	
111	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	- Or	erwni	<del>e</del> )	-	Clr
												11.

Value overwrite enabled

The DMX output monitor allows DMX output values to be overwritten directly, without the need to configure a fixture first. The output value is written directly to the DMX channel without regards to any patches made with the <u>global patch dialog</u> and <u>source</u>. DMX output value overwriting must be enabled from the *Preferences menu*. To overwrite DMX output values, select (highlight) the relevant DMX channel(s) and use either the virtual fader or value field to enter/modify the DMX value. Click **CLR** to remove value overwrite on the selected channels. DMX output channels that has their value overwritten displays the value in green text.

**Note**: The DMX output can only be overwritten this way as long as the DMX output monitor is open and DMX value overwriting is enabled. As soon as the monitor dialog is closed, the DMX values will revert to non-overwritten values.

## Searching DMX output channels

The DMX output monitor contains a tool that can be used to search for a specific DMX channel by sending specific DMX values to specific channels in a search pattern. The tool is handy when trying to locate DMX equipment that is connected and addressed but not yet configured and the address has not been noted down. The tool uses a binary search algorithm that is capable of locating a specific channel out of 2048 channels in a maximum of 11 'tries'. Click Tools in the menu to open the search channel dialog and setup a channel search pattern.



Search channel dialog

During the search 'DMX on' and 'DMX off' values are sent to the channels in the search pattern. Modify the DMX off and DMX on values value if necessary.

## Setting up the search pattern

Un-check include link 1-4 to exclude fixtures on any specific link from the search. Un-check exclude configured channels to include channels that are already in use by configured fixtures. Default options will search on all 4 output links but exclude channels already used by configured channels.

## Click Start to start the search

The search algorithm first applies the on value to all channels in the search pattern to check that the device is included in the pattern at all. Subsequent searches will apply the on value to half the channels in the search pattern and for each search iteration the number of channels in the search pattern is halved according to the answer in the search prompt.

Confirm		×
Search Channe Is chan	ing pattern o al(s) 14 to 12 mel on now 7	of 123 channels. 25 set to on.
Yes	No	Cancel

Search channel prompt

Click yes if the channel is on - no if the channel is off.

## 5 User libraries

## 5.1 User libraries

A user library contain all data that may be modified by the user, except for a few installation wide data files such as hardware setup parameters. Using different libraries means that individual setups and programs may be kept totally separate. Changing to a different user library requires a restart of LightJockey.

After start up, LightJockey displays the current user library in the caption of the main window.

## The LightJockey - Club version (User lib: Default)

<u>S</u>ystem S<u>e</u>tup <u>V</u>iew <u>O</u>ff-Line <u>H</u>elp

Main window caption. Current user library is "Default".

It is not possible to share or import data from different libraries. It is not advisable to manually copy or move files from Windows explorer. The different data structures of LightJockey are often very

dependent on each other, and may not function if copied from different libraries. In any case don't ever copy or move files while LightJockey is running - if, in special cases, it is necessary to copy or move files, make sure that LightJockey is closed down first.

The User Library dialog is accessed from the main system menu (System -> User libraries..).

🖃 User Librarie	22		×
Library Name	Path	Date	
Default	D:\MARTIN\LIGHTJOCKEY\Use	23-06-99	Gelect User Library
Techno setup	D:\MARTIN\LIGHTJOCKEY\Use	02-07-99	
Test library	D:\MARTIN\LIGHTJOCKEY\Use	09-08-99	Create New Library
Dance setup	D:\MARTIN\LIGHTJOCKEY\Use	09-08-99	
Stage setup	D:\MARTIN\LIGHTJOCKEY\Use.	11-08-99	Delete Library
			Rename Library
			👖 <u>C</u> lose
Current User Libr	ary is "Default"		

The user library dialog

The leftmost column of the list shows the (user-selectable) name of the library. The middle column shows the Windows folder path while the rightmost column shows the creation date of the library.

## The Default Library

The default user library is a special user library. It cannot be renamed or deleted. If the default library is not present at startup, LightJockey will automatically create a new default library. Upon starting up after initial installation LightJockey will always use the default library - further libraries must be created by the user.

## Creating a new user library

To create a new library, click Create New Library - this will prompt a new dialog.

🚅 Enter User Library Name
Help
Library Name New Library
Copy files from current library
🗸 OK 🛛 🗶 Cancel

New user library dialog

Type the new name of the new library. Check **copy files** to automaticallyl copy all data files from the current to the new library, esentially creating a copy of the current library.

## Switching to a different user library.

Highlight the library in the list and click **Select User Library**. In order to load the information from the newly selected library, LightJockey needs to restart. Answer yes at the prompt to change the library, or no to cancel.

## Deleting a user library.

To delete a user library, highlight the library in the list and click **Delete Library**. Note that it is not possible to delete the current library.

## Renaming a library.

Highlight the library in the list and click **Rename Library**.

## Moving user libraries between PCs

To move an entire library from one PC to another use the built in <u>backup/restore</u> for function.

## Starting LightJockey in a specific user library

LightJockey may be started up in a specific user library by adding a parameter to the startup command (Windows shortcut). The syntax is <LightJockey> <U:[userlib\_name]> where userlib\_name is the name of the folder where the specific user library is located. Use the information displayed in the user library dialog to see the path where the individual user libraries are located.

When specifying the name only the 'last folder name' should be used, examples: **LightJockey U:user0001** - will start LightJockey in the user library located in <LJinstallation>\user\user0001

**LightJockey U:Default** - will start LightJockey in the default user library located in <LJinstallation>\user\default

Note that some Windows versions may require the path a and name of the LightJockey executable to be enclosed in quotes, eg:

Target: "C:\Program Files\Martin Professional\Martin LightJockey\LightJockey.exe" U:user002

Martin LightJockey - JPs Lib Properties
General Shortcut Compatibility
Martin LightJockey - JPs Lib
Target type: Application
Target location: Martin LightJockey
Iarget: \Martin LightJockey\LightJockey.exe" U:user002
Start in: m Files\Martin Professional\Martin LightJockey\"
Shortcut key: None
Bun: Normal window
Comment:
End Target Qhange Icon Advanced
OK Cancel Apply

Modifying a Windows shortcut to LightJockey

See also backup & restore 64, using the data restore option 48

## 5.2 Backup & restore

LightJockey implements a function to backup and restore data from individual <u>user libraries</u>  $|d^2|$  - it does not implement functions to backup or restore the entire installation. To backup a complete installation it is a good idea to use an application such as Winzip <u>www.winzip.com</u> to compress the backup into one file or use the backup/restore function built into some versions of Windows. Note that restoring from a backup <u>completely replaces</u> the existing contents of the user library.

## **Creating a backup**

Select (highlight) the user library to backup from the list in the <u>user libraries dialog</u> of the current library make sure to close all LightJockey dialogs before backup - a number of data files may not be properly updated until the corresponding dialogs are closed. Alternatively close down LightJockey and re-start to make sure all relevant data has been saved.

Help			
Library Name	Path	Date A	The Constitution
JuliusTest	D:YLJ_W2KVUserVUser0004V	10-01-01	the second cost
JeanLuc	D: VLI_W2K/User/User0003/	25-05-00	Canada New J Poster
M041 2518	D: \LJ_W2K\User\User0002\	6/6/2001 -	
All Fodures	D:VLI_W2KVUser/User00011	25-10-99	Deleta Lecara
SK Sture 3.12	D: VLJ_W2KVUser\SK.Sturn 3.12\	30.11.00	
MX4 2518	D. VLJ_W2KVUser/ShowtimeM044	13/03/	Al General France
M041 2518	D:\LJ_W2K\User\ShowtimeM0Cl\	6/8/2001	No.
Ryans	D:VLI_W2KVUser\Ryans\	14-06-00	
Default Nightshilt	D: VLJ_W2KVUser/NightShit/	8-9-00	😤 Backup Library
LightTone	D. LJ_W2KVUser/LightTone/	28/09/99	tal -
Frhavn	D:YLI_W2KYUser/Fihavn/	15-11-00	Restore Library
Default	D.YLJ_W2KYUser/Default/	07-09-00	
Cals	D:VLI_W2KVUser\Carb\	10/24/99	Core
All Fotures	D:VLJ_W2KVUserVAlFixA	25-10-99 💌 🚽	

Selecting a user library for backup (User library dialog)

Library Marrie	Defect		
Library Name	D-VLL W2KVIser/Default\		
Backup Time	10-08-01 16:12:55		
Notes			
write	some miormanye backu	b notes nere	
Done - back	up file size is 107 KB - Compression ratio is 1:31		

Backup dialog

The backup dialog includes a small note pad to add notes to the backup file - the notes are embedded into the backup file and can be used as reference when later searching through backup files. Click **Create Backup File** to start creation of the backup file. The backup procedure will collect and compress the entire contents and structure of the selected user library into one backup file. Once the file has been created save it using the standard Windows file dialog.

## Using floppy disks for backup files

The backup file is saved as one large file, and it is the users responsibility that the media to which the backup file is saved has sufficiently space to hold the file. However since the backup file is compressed (often exceeding an 1:30 compression) most backup files will easily fit on a single floppy disk. As floppy diskettes are not really known for their reliability, at least make sure that the diskette is properly formatted before using it. If the backup is important or is to be stored for later, make several identical backups to several diskettes rather than just relying on one diskette backup.

## **Restoring to a user library**

A backup file can only be restored into an existing user library - to restore a backup to a new user library, create a new, empty library first. **Note:** restoring a backup file to a library, will completely replace the existing contents of the library. To restore from a backup file, select (highlight) the user library to restore to in the user library dialog - then click **Restore Library**.

Restave User Likewy		13
Backup Files	Backup specificatio	Ins
Factor File Location	Restore Deckup Res to Default Nightshift Target Library Park D:NLJ_W2R/UpperVisionel	u1
Backup File	Exclup File Notes Critical Line Notes	
faere p	🕱 Rodox Library	Deve

Restore user library dialog

Use drive and folder selectors to navigate to the drive and folder where the backup file is placed. Select the backup file from the backup file list (the list will show all backup files in the selected folder). When a backup file is selected, the embedded notes (if any) are displayed in notes field. Click **Restore Library** to start restoring data to the user library. Note, if data is restored to the current, active user library LightJockey will automatically restart after files have been restored.

## Using backup files in different installations

Backup files may be used to transfer the contents of user libraries from one LightJockey installation to the other - just make sure that the target installation is of the same or newer version as the one used to generate the backup. Restoring a data file to an older LightJockey version may not work correctly.

See also using the data restore option 48, user libraries 62

## 6 Fixture configuration

## 6.1 Fixture configuration

Before LightJockey can control a DMX fixture, the fixture's profile 18 or 'personality' must be added to LightJockey's fixture configuration. The fixture configuration contains a list of all the fixtures that LightJockey is currently set up to control and contains information about the individual fixtures capabilities, DMX address 21 and other optional settings.

To access the fixture configuration dialog, select **Setup** -> **Fixture configuration** from the main menu. Alternatively, right click any fixture icon on the desktop and select **Fixture Configuration** from the popup menu.

Fi	ature Configuration						×
Func	fubort Managementer Bab						
_	Fistu	e Configurat	ion		_	Fisture	: Setting:
No	Fodure Type	DNX:Addr	Special L	loer Name		DMCLink: DMCAd	diess
56	Robe DubScan 250 CT	2 123 128	0	346-250			
57	Robe Funky	2 129 131	F	unky		1 2 3 4	-
58	Robe Fusion	2 132/134	F	usion			
59	Robe DubSp Einsteine o	onfigu	ration	b 250		Calcule	Ne Address
60	Robe DubSp FIXIULE C	onigu	ratior	p 250			
61	Robe Dub/w	Ŭ		p 250		Invert Pan	I onore Blackout
62	Robe DubW	liet		p 250		Invest Tit	Longer Examination
63	Advanced Li	not		NED		Suma B	and an and a second second
64	Cheuvel Legend 1500 MR ILS	2176-182	L	eg 150LS		Eivtura	cottings
65	Chauvet Mini Legend ILS	2183-187		finLegLS	- 11	Extended	seungs
66	Chauvel Mini Legend Wash ILS	2188-194		(Legiw/ah/LS		Poster of the	
67	Terbly Flash 5751-16bit	2 195 210	1	ebly 575	-	25-1	
68	Martin MAC 250 Krypton [16 Bit]	2.217-230		(AC 250KR		( Uear	Fwilwe Settings
69	Martin MAC 1200 (mode 2/4)	2.231-244		(AC1200		The second second	The Party of the same line of
70	Martin & Channel DMKS witch	2.211-216	5	WITCH6		r2 Finues contigured	rez UNIS Addresses Used
71	Martin Ego X4	2.245-250	E	gal (4		1 Berrow	Salacted Extens(c)
72	Matin Roboscan 518 (mode 3)		5	18		g namore :	
	Ava	ilable Profile				LJ Profile Notes 0/V Pr	ofile Notes
B-6	Clay Paky				*	Built-in Profile	
₽-6	Generic			_			
8-6	∋Jean Avroli	able r	vrofilo	~	_	Roboscan 518 Hotes	
8.6	⇒Mantin <mark>/^\VdII</mark>	able	TOIL	5		L	
	— 6 Channel DM					Personality for Mode 3, 16 bit	Pen/Tit - Tracking
1.8	- 🗁 Acrobat	list				Due GLe	in the set
	Acrobat	not				PL432 Junper Profile	notes
	Acrobat, Extended D	MC				P. Mary	
1 8	🗈 🍛 Alien 05					Future Stand, alone modes up	a shaffer channel (spacial)
	Alien 05, DHX Node	1				I THE PARTY HOLE OF	a maker conservat(aproces)
	Alies 05 DHX Hode	2					
	Allen 02	-				1	
	Atomic 2000 Color (4 Ch.	Semilari			+	Profile uses 5	DMX addresses
_	Printing 3000 Color 14 Ch	- Jensten		1	-		1 1
		-					A 11-11

Fixture configuration dialog

The fixture configuration dialog is divided into 4 different areas:

Fixture Configuration - a list containing the current configuration.

Fixture settings - individual fixture settings such as <u>DMX address</u> or pan/tilt options. Available profiles - the list of available fixture profiles. The profiles are arranged according to manufacturer, click the 'cross' symbol to the left of the manufacturer name to expand the list of available fixtures under the manufacturer heading. Available profiles for unlisted manufacturer's fixtures can be found under 'other'.

Profile notes - notes included in the profile selected in the available profiles list. Offline Visualizer profile notes are only available if the Offline Visualizer is currently running and the LightJockey profile is linked to an existing Offline Visualizer profile.

## Built-in vs. user defined fixture profiles

LightJockey implements two different types of fixture profiles - built-in profiles and user defined profiles.

## **Built-in profiles**

The built-in profiles are usually used for Martin fixtures but also includes a number of generic profiles (see below). Built-in profiles are hard-coded into the LightJockey program code and cannot be modified by the user, although some built-in profiles allows for some degree of customization (see <u>customizing palette controls</u>). New built-in profiles, or updates to existing built-in profiles requires an update of LightJockey itself.

## User defined profiles

User defined profiles are based on a profile framework where attributes and capabilities of the fixture are described in external data files. Using the <u>generic fixture profile editor</u><sup>[256]</sup>, it is possible for the enduser to modify existing profiles or write custom fixture profiles. The profiles may be exported for use in other LightJockey installations - indeed many of the user defined profiles supplied with LightJockey is created by end-users. Most non-Martin fixture profiles are supplied as user defined profiles. Unlike the built-in profiles, user defined profiles may be updated without updating LightJockey itself. The latest collection of user defined profiles can be found and downloaded from the Internet at <a href="http://www.martin.com/service/Software/controller/LJ/list.asp">http://www.martin.com/service/Software/controller/LJ/list.asp</a>

## **Special Profiles**

While most profiles are listed under specific fixture manufacturers, a number of profiles are listed as 'Generic' profiles.

#### Generic DMX control profiles

Generic DMX profiles are profiles that do not relate to specific fixture models. Use these profiles to control 'generic' fixtures such as dimmer or switch packs. There are also generic profiles for controlling DMX smoke machines or hazers as well as packs of RGB fixtures (e.g. LED banks). See also aeneric DMX profiles 84

## User defined profiles

The profiles listed under User Definable manufacturer are 'empty' profiles that can be used as a starting point for creating a new profile (see user definable fixtures  $|247\rangle$ ).

## **Other Profiles**

Profiles with an unlisted manufacturer (or no manufacturer information) or for a specialized purpose are listed under the Other heading.

**Find profile** 

Find profile	X
Ro	Q Eind
Manufacturer	Fixture
Acme	Acme MH-640B The Rover
American DJ	American DJ DJ Roller
American DJ	American DJ Roller Tron
American DJ	American DJ Scan Tron
American DJ	American DJ Megastrobe
American DJ	American DJ Obitron
Areana Microh	Areana Microh MH 660
Chauvet	Chauvet Gyro
Chauvet	Chauvet Aurora DMX
Chauvet	Chauvet Mushroom DMX
Clay Paky	Clay Paky Astroaggi Power
Clay Paky	Clay Paky StageProfile1200 💌

Find profile dialog

Use the find profile dialog (click **Find** below the list of available profiles) to search the available profiles for a specific name or part of name. Enter the phrase to search for then click **Find**. The find dialog searches both on manufacturer and fixture name and is not case sensitive.

## No suitable profile found - what to do?

LightJockey does not ship with a profile for every fixture type in the world - there is a chance that there is no matching LightJockey profile for a fixture amongst the available profiles.

•Check if the profile has been added after the release of the LightJockey version running was made look for profile updates at http://www.martin.com/service/Software/controller/LJ/list.asp

•Ask at the LightJockey end-user forum on the Internet (www.martin.com/forum) - maybe someone have already made a suitable profile or will help making one. Make sure to post as much information as possible, manufacturer, model, preferred DMX mode, relevant web site information etc. •In case of a new Martin fixture, odds are that it will first be included in a LightJockey beta release see LightJockey end-user forum for latest beta release notes.

•Create new profile - see defining the generic fixture 2 profile 256

•As a last resort, use a Generic DMX profile to control the fixture.

Not: user defined profiles exported at from other installations must be imported to the current installation before they can be used. See importing user defined fixture profiles and for more details.

## Adding profiles to the configuration Selecting the right profile

As many new fixtures have several DMX modes available which may be selected on the fixture itself (e.g. 8 or 16 bit pan/tilt modes), make sure to read the individual fixture profile notes (LJ profile notes tab). The profile author has usually included notes that says which mode the profile is designed to

operate with. It may be necessary to change the mode on the fixture itself if a suitable profile is not available but a profile for another mode is.

To add a profile to the configuration, first locate the it in the available profiles list, then drag it to an empty slot in the fixture configuration list (or to an already occupied slot to replace the current profile). To add multiple profiles at once, highlight the profile then click **Add Fixture(s)** and use the add fixtures dialog to add one or more profiles.

Add Fixture (s)	×			
American DJ DJ Scan 250				
Number of fixtures to add 1	÷			
Start from Fixture number 1	÷			
<ul> <li>Overwrite existing fixtures</li> <li>Add at unused positions only</li> </ul>				
V OK X Cancel				

Add fixtures dialog

## Removing fixtures from the configuration

To remove one or more fixtures from the configuration, highlight the profile(s) in the Fixture configuration list and click **Remove Selected Fixture(s)**.

## Setting individual fixture information

Each of the configured fixtures has a number of individual options. Select one or more fixtures in the configuration list to set the individual options.



Individual fixture settings

## Fixture DMX address

As a minimum the fixture's <u>DMX start address</u> where the associated profile specifies addressing through a DIP switch. Please refer to the fixtures documentation on how to set the DMX start address on the fixture is connected for the fixture is connected to.

## **IMPORTANT!**

When programming fixtures in LightJockey, the 'programs' and settings such as preset position data are stored in data files according to the fixtures DMX address. If the DMX address is changed for an already programmed fixture it will invalidate the programs - changing the DMX address for a fixture will prompt a warning if the configuration was previously been saved. To change the DMX address for an already configured/programmed fixture use the copy from fixture function (see below).

When new fixtures are configured re-using a fixture number previously used by another fixture, by

default, the program 'data space' for the new fixture will be cleared and re-initialized when saving the configuration. To retain data, for example when replacing one fixture with another very similar fixture, make sure to enable **Prompt for clear data for new fixtures** in the preferences menu (see *clear fixture data* below). If not enabled, programmed data will be cleared without warning when the configuration is saved.

## Calculating addresses

Clicking **Calculate address** will open a dialog to calculate possible start addresses for the fixtures selected in the configuration list. The calculation is based on addresses already in use by other fixtures as well as the number of addresses used by the fixture profiles with the following exceptions: •Patches created with the global patch tool [20] will not be taken into account.

•<u>user definable colors scrollers</u><sup>25</sup> that needs a separate address for the scroller unit The address for the color scroller is not taken into account, and might be overwritten.

•<u>Scanner 1 profiles</u><sup>[248]</sup>. If the actual fixture profile takes up less than the 8 of channels used by the scanner 1 profile, the free channels are not re-used when calculating addressing.

🖬 Calculate addr	esses			×
	No	Fixture	Address	*
Link 1	01	Martin MAC 250 Krypton [1	1:001-014	
🗌 Link 2	02	Martin MAC 250 Krypton [1	1:015-028	
🖵 Link 3	03	Martin MAC 250 Krypton [1	1:029-042	
Link 4	04	Martin MAC 250 Krypton [1	1:043-056	
	05	Martin MAC 250 Krypton [1	1:057-070	
Any	06	Martin MAC 250 Krypton [1	1:071-084	-1
	07	Martin MAC 250 Knowless (1	1-006.000	-
Eind Addresses		V DK 🗙 Canc	el	

Calculate address dialog

## Pan/Tilt options

Only available for fixtures with pan/tilt control. Check to invert control of pan or tilt or swap pan and tilt. The pan and tilt inverting and swapping is performed by LightJockey just before pan and tilt DMX values are transmitted to the fixture - setting any of these switches does not affect the contents of programmed positions.

## Intensity control options

Not all options are available for all profiles. **Ignore Blackout** - Fixture ignores <u>blackout</u> [195] commands **Ignore Grand Master** - Fixture ignores <u>Grand Master</u> [195] settings **Link Strobe/Grand Master** - Fixture stops strobing when <u>grand master or group sub master</u> [195] is at 0

#### Fixture User name

Use for an individual description of the fixture - the user name is used as caption on the fixture icon on the desktop.

#### Saving the configuration

Any changes made to the configuration are temporary and will not take effect until the configuration is saved (click save). Upon saving the modified configuration, LightJockey will check the new configuration for potential problems (such as overlapping DMX addresses or a missing DMX start address). If a potential problem is found a <u>warning list</u> will be shown - to save the configuration regardless of warnings click **Save Anyway**.

## **Advanced Options**

#### DMX address range limit

By default, it is only possible to set a fixtures DMX address within the range supported by the installed and configured DMX transmitter hardware, e.g. a single USB/DMX interface allows fixture addressing on link 1 only. If no hardware is configured all 4 links are available for addressing. In some instances it may be useful to address fixtures outside the address space supported by installed DMX hardware -

the **Preferences** -> **Disable Hardware address range check** will temporarily disable the hardware range check and allow addressing on all 4 links regardless of configured transmitter hardware.

## Copy from fixture

Use the **copy from fixture** function to copy all programmed data from one fixture to another fixture of identical type (profile). The copy from fixture function only works if the configuration has been saved first and only for <u>identical fixture profiles</u> that has been assigned a valid DMX address. The **copy from fixture function** should also be used to change the DMX address of an already programmed fixture. See <u>copy from fixture</u> [72] for more details

## Clear fixture data

By default, when a configuration including new fixtures is saved, LightJockey will prompt for "Clear data for new fixtures" before saving. Clearing the data space for newly configured fixtures will ensure that no 'garbage data' is present in data files from the previous configuration. Normally data for a new should be cleared (re-initialized), but in some circumstances, such as when reconfiguring a fixture with a very similar profile using the same DMX address space it may make sense not to clear data for the new fixtures - in this case click cancel when the prompt appears. Data may be cleared for individual fixtures after the configuration has been saved by highlighting the fixture in the configuration list, right-click and then select **Clear Fixture Data** from the popup menu. See <u>clear fixture data</u>  $\boxed{73}$  for more details.

The import menu - see importing user defined fixture profiles 280

## The preferences menu

The entries in the preferences/warnings menu can be used to enable or disable different warnings when saving a modified configuration.

## Warnings - enable or disable warnings

Prompt for clear new fixtures - when checked the user will always be prompted to clear data for newly configured fixtures.

Always apply default DMX values - when checked, default DMX values for new/modified fixtures will be applied automatically. If unchecked, the user will be prompted to apply default DMX data (see applying default DMX values to new fixtures 74).

Disable hardware address range check - enable to be able to address a fixture on any of the 4 links regardless of DMX hardware. This setting is temporary.

## The print menu

The configuration may be sent either directly to a printer or exported to a text file for import and beautification in any type of word processing application.

## 6.2 Configuration warnings

Before saving the configuration LightJockey will check for the following potential errors in the configurations:

Fixtures # XX has no DMX address - while not a critical error, LightJockey will not attempt to control fixtures without a valid DMX address. Furthermore it is not really possible define  $\frac{\text{fixture profiles}}{247}$  unless the configured fixture has a valid DMX address.

Fixture #XX has invalid DMX address - the DMX address given to the fixture is invalid. Usually it is because there is not enough DMX addresses left to contain all the fixtures control channels. DMX address L:AAA is used by more than one fixture - two or more fixtures are using the same DMX control channel - while this may be intentional it usually an error. Note that overlapping addresses may lead to errors in internal control channel patching.



configuration warnings To save the configuration regardless of the warnings click **Save Anyway** 

## 6.3 Copy from fixture

From the fixture configuration dialog it is possible to copy the entire programmed contents from another fixture if the two fixtures are of an identical type (profile). The configuration must be saved before a *copy from fixture* can be performed. To copy contents from one fixture to another, select the target fixture (the fixture to copy to), right-click and select **Copy From Fixture** from the popup menu.

Select source fixture						
Help						
No	Fixture User Name					
1	Front 518					
2	Front 518					
3	Front 518					
4	Front 518					
5	Rear 518					
6	Rear 518					
7	Rear 518					
	🗸 ОК	🗙 Cancel				

Copy from source fixtures list

A list of possible source fixtures will be displayed in a list. Select the source fixture and click Ok.

Copy Fixture	×
Help	
Copy From #7 MAC2000	
Image: Copy Sequence Data           Image: Copy Presets           Image: Copy Setup           Image: Copy Generic Macros           Image: Copy Misc Data	
ОК	🗶 Cancel

Copy filter

Now select what to copy from the source fixture (normally all options should be checked) Copy Sequence Data - copies all data in all sequences from the source fixture. Copy Presets - copies all preset data from the source fixture.
Copy Setup - copies all setup specific data (except DMX address) from source fixture. Copy Generic Macros - copies contents of <u>generic DMX macros</u> from source to target fixture. Copy Misc Data - copies what doesn't fit in the previous categories (e.g. default DMX output) It is not possible to copy to multiple target fixtures in one operation, fixtures must be copied individually. Also note that for <u>user definable color scrollers</u> solve the intensity information will be copied, the color information will not be copied.

## **Notes/Hints**

## Changing a fixtures DMX address

The *copy from fixture* function may also be useful to move an already programmed fixture's DMX address. To move a fixtures DMX address do the following:

Configure a new fixture of identical type and apply an unused DMX address (range) to the new fixture. Save the configuration. Copy the contents from the 'old' fixture to the new fixture. Change the old fixture's DMX address. Copy the contents from the new fixture to the old fixture and then remove the new fixture.

The copy function may also be used to build an entire library of sequences for various fixture configurations. Build a sequence library by programming sequences for one of each (or more) of the relevant fixture types. In the actual installation, copy sequence and preset data to each of the fixtures configured for the rental job. Although all the fixtures will contain the exact same data as their respective source fixture it may give a quicker starting point for the end-users than starting from scratch.

# 6.4 Clear fixture data

The clear data dialog will be shown automatically to clear data for new configured fixtures (unless it has been disabled in the preferences menu in the <u>fixture configuration dialog</u> 66)



Clear data prompt

When configuring a new fixture and re-using a DMX address range that has been used by a previously configured fixture, sequences and presets and other programming elements will contain data that will most likely appear as garbage for the newly configured fixture. To clear all sequences, presets, and other programmable data so that the new fixture receives default data only, activate **Clear Fixture Data**.

To manually clear one or more fixtures, select the fixture from list of configured fixtures. Right-click the line and select **Clear Fixture Data** from the popup menu. Note that it is not possible to select this option for a newly configured fixture before a valid DMX address has been assigned to the fixture and the configuration has been saved. It is possible to clear data for multiple fixtures by selecting all the relevant fixtures before right-clicking.

Hel	Elear Fixture Data D		×
বাবাব	Clear Sequence Data Clear Preset Data Clear Macro Data Clear Misc Data		
	<b>●</b> OK	🗶 Cancel	

Clear fixture data dialog.

 Clear Sequence Data
 Clears all data in all programmed sequences.

 Clear Presets
 Clears all preset data.

 Clear Macro Data
 Clears contents of generic DMX

 Clear Misc Data
 Clears data that does not fit in the 2 previous categories (e.g. default DMX values or contents of static entries)

Note that the clear data operation is irreversible - once cleared it is not possible to restore the cleared data.

Also note that for <u>user definable color crollers</u> [255] only the intensity information will be cleared, the color information will not be affected.

See also copy from fixture 72

# 6.5 Applying default DMX to new fixtures

Normally LightJockey assumes a default value of 0 for all DMX control channels. However a some fixtures may implement DMX protocols where 0 values may have unwanted side effects, such as switching off discharge lamps, also some profiles includes defaults such as default pan/tilt in 'home' position.

LightJockey will automatically apply default DMX values to new fixtures when saving the configuration, unless disabled in the preferences menu of the <u>fixture configuration dialog</u> - when automatic apply is disabled the following dialog will appear when saving a configuration that contains new fixtures.

Confirm		¢
?	Apply Default DMX values to new/modified fixtures ?	
	Yes No Help	

Apply Default DMX prompt

Click Yes to the "Apply Default DMX values to new/modified fixtures" dialog when saving the new configuration to automatically apply default DMX values to newly configured fixtures.

See also the user definable fixtures profiles [247], special tab [274], default DMX output [53]

# 6.6 Controlling older Martin fixtures via Martin/DMX interface

Many of the older Martin fixtures do not support the DMX protocol directly. To control these fixtures from LightJockey it is necessary to use a Martin DMX interface in between LightJockey and the fixtures. The interface translates from the DMX protocol signal sent from LightJockey to the Martin protocol used by the fixtures. More information (documentation) about the interface is available on the Martin Service Web page at <a href="http://www.martin.com">www.martin.com</a>

There are a couple of issues related to the control of fixtures via the DMX interface. First of all, there is an important difference in how the Martin protocol and the DMX protocol implemented in LightJockey works. In LightJockey, slow movements and transitions are usually done by 'fading' values from start-point to end-point. The fixtures calculate a suitable speed using the in-between points sent by LightJockey. See <u>basic programming terms and elements</u>

The Martin Protocol is a vector protocol - it works by specifying an 'end-point' and a fixed speed - the point and speed are taken directly by the fixture, and there are no connections between the distance and speed and the time taken to move the effect. This means that moving an effect a long distance takes longer time than moving it a short distance, when using the same fixed speed. If transitions are programmed as faded transitions, the fixtures running off Martin protocol will not calculate a suitable speed based on the in-between points - they will simply move to the in-between points with the fixed speed, often causing jerky movements. The effect of this is that unlike the fixtures running directly off DMX, it is not possible for LightJockey to control the physical transitions via fade times will most likely cause jerky movements. This is also the case with the movement macros.

The best way to program the fixtures with slow movements and transitions is to use the speed controls implemented in the profile - note that the speeds implemented often controls two or more effects at a time.

Fixture Type	DIP switch value (6 pin DIP)
RoboColor MSD 200	1
RoboColor (1st version)	2
RoboColor II	3
RoboScan 804/805	5
RoboScan 1004/1005	6
RoboScan 1016	7
RoboScan 1020	10
RoboScan Pro 218	11
RoboScan Pro 1220	12
RoboScan Pro 1220 II	13
RoboScan Pro 1220 IIR	14
RoboZap	15
RoboZap MSR 1200	16
Centrepiece	17

When addressing fixtures, do remember that the DMX interface can only be set at odd start addresses (1,3,5 etc..).

DMX/Martin interface, product settings (6 pin DIP)

				#0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1		1	1
	Switz	h Sa	tting	#0	0	0	0	0				0	-	-		-	-	-		-
DIP	owite	ai de	ung	#7	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1
	0 =	OFF		#6	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1
	1 =	ON		#5	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1
#1	#2	#3	#4																	
0	0	0	0		1	33	65	97	129	161	193	225	257	289	321	353	385	417	449	481
1	0	0	0		3	35	67	99	131	163	195	227	259	291	323	355	387	419	451	483
0	1	0	0		5	37	69	101	133	165	197	229	261	293	325	357	389	421	453	485
1	1	0	0		7	39	71	103	135	167	199	231	263	295	327	359	391	423	455	487
0	0	1	0		9	41	73	105	137	169	201	233	265	297	329	361	393	425	457	489
1	0	1	0		11	43	75	107	139	171	203	235	267	299	331	363	395	427	459	491
0	1	1	0		13	45	77	109	141	173	205	237	269	301	333	365	397	429	461	493
1	1	1	0		15	47	79	111	143	175	207	239	271	303	335	367	399	431	463	495
0	0	0	1		17	49	81	113	145	177	209	241	273	305	337	369	401	433	465	497
1	0	0	1		19	51	83	115	147	179	211	243	275	307	339	371	403	435	467	499
0	1	0	1		21	53	85	117	149	181	213	245	277	309	341	373	405	437	469	501
1	1	0	1		23	55	87	119	151	183	215	247	279	311	343	375	407	439	471	503
0	0	1	1		25	57	89	121	153	185	217	249	281	313	345	377	409	441	473	505
1	0	1	1		27	59	91	123	155	187	219	251	283	315	347	379	411	443	475	507
0	1	1	1		29	61	93	125	157	189	221	253	285	317	349	381	413	445	477	509
1	1	1	1		31	63	95	127	159	191	223	255	287	319	351	383	415	447	479	511

DMX/Martin interface, address settings (10 pin DIP)

## **10 Pin DIP Switch**

Pins 1-8 : Address Pin 9 : Termination (on = termination on) Pin10 : DMX Mode (off = reduced DMX mode, on = full DMX mode)

# 6.7 Customizing built-in fixture profiles

## **Profile types**

LightJockey contains 2 different types of fixture profiles; user defined profiles and built-in profiles. Builtin profiles are mainly used for Martin fixtures. The palettes and functions of user defined profiles are defined through a special configuration dialog (see <u>user definable fixtures profiles</u> 247). The functions of a built in profile can not be modified, for several profiles however it is possible to customize the palettes (e.g. after replacing gobos in the fixture) as well as the default link to an Offline Visualizer profile (see below).

## Customizing palette for built-in profiles

Note: Any changes to the default fixture palette will NOT be reproduced in the Offline Visualizer. The changes only occurs in the fixture controls in LightJockey. See below for how to link a different Offline Visualizer profile to the built in fixture profile.

Most of the <u>built-in fixture profiles</u> 18 uses palettes for easy selection of effects like <u>colors</u> 108 or <u>gobos</u> 111.



MAC 500 color control with default palette

one output
Fixture Configuration
Global Patch
Customize Fixture

To customize color, gobo and effect palettes for a built-in profile, right click the fixture icon on the desktop and select **Customize Fixture** from the popup menu to open the Palette Configuration dialog. Note that not all built-in profiles support the customize Option.

Fixture	31 Martin MAC 500 (mode 2/4-SCR	IL)	
Color 1	Offine Vizualizer Color 2 Gobo 1 Gobo 2 Effects 1		Copy from Source Eixture
Slot# 1 2 3 4 5 6	RG8 Bitmap RGB Color	Palette items	Geor Entry      Gobo/Effects Bitmaps      Golor Bitmaps      Color RGB Values
7 8 9 10 Bit	Source-Images/Colors/Purple 502 Source-Images/Colors/Pitue 101 Source-Images/Colors/Pitu 312 Source-Images/Colors/Cyan 401		Apply X Cancel

Palette configuration dialog

The palette configuration dialog lists each of the possible fixture palettes on an individual tab, e.g. color (wheel) 1 or gobo (wheel) 2. Each line in the list corresponds to one 'effect', e.g. first color on color wheel 1. Each effect may be represented either by a 'pure color' or by a bitmap but not both. When a color is assigned to an effect the color is shown in the *RGB* column, while a bitmap is shown as a filename in the *Bitmap* column. If a bitmap file is assigned but does exist the filename is displayed in *red* to indicate that the file is missing.

LightJockey already supplies a number of bitmaps for colors, gobos and effects - it is also possible (and fairly simple) to design new bitmaps. See <u>creating custom palette bitmaps</u> 279.

## Assigning a Color to an effect

To assign a color value to an effect, highlight the effect corresponding line and click **Color RGB Values**. Use the standard Windows color dialog to select a color for the effect.

### Assigning a bitmap to an effect

To assign a bitmap to an effect, click either Gobo/Effects Bitmaps or Color Bitmaps.



Select Bitmaps dialog

From the <u>select bitmap dialog</u>, drag the bitmap to the line representing the effect. Alternatively highlight the line corresponding to the effect, then double click the bitmap in the select bitmap dialog.

## **Default Palettes**

All built-in fixtures have default palettes assigned to them when the fixture is configured. To restore all the palettes to default values select **Default all Palettes** from the options menu. To default single palettes (the one on the 'active' tab) select **Default Palette** from the options menu.

### **Copying Palettes from other fixtures**

To copy one or more palettes from another fixture, click Copy from Source Fixture.

🦧 Сору	n Copy Palettes from 🛛 🔀							
Help								
Copy Selections								
Color 1 Color 2 Select All								
E Gobo 1 E Gobo 2								
ET Eller	1 El Ellert None							
I∧ Fliec	IST LIERSSZ CONCENTION							
Source Fixtures								
Fixture#	Fixture Type							
1	Roboscan Pro 918 (mode 2/4)							
2	Roboscan Pro 918 (mode 2/4)							
3	Roboscan 918 (mode 2/4-SCRL)							
4	Roboscan 918 (mode 2/4-SCRL)							
6	MAC 500 (mode 2/4)							
7	MAC 500 (mode 2/4)							
8	MAC 500 (mode 2/4-SCRL)							
10	MAC 2000 (16 Bit)							
11	MAC 2000 (16 Bit)							
☐ Same	Same Fixture Type Only							
	CK X Cancel							

Copy palette dialog

Use the Copy Palette dialog to select the source fixtures and copy one or more palettes from the source fixture. Finally, to assign the new palettes to the fixture click **Apply**.

To define palettes for user defined fixture profiles see user definable fixture profiles 247

## Modifying the Offline Visualizer profile link

Note: The Offline Visualizer must me running to

Built in fixture profiles with Offline Visualizer support contains a link to a specific Offline Visualizer fixture profile. Miost built in fixtures has the option of modifying the default link. To modify, e.g. to a profile with a different set of gobos, open the customize dialog and select the **Offline Visualizer** tab.

aptions Help	iter er dietter			2
Fixture#33 Ma	artin MAC 500 (mod	e 2/4-SCRL)		
mages Offine V	fizualizer			
Manufacturer	Fixture Model	Fixture Mode		
Martin	MAC 500 SCRL	Mode 3	Clear Selection	
Manufacturer	Selected O	N profile ode	-	
Martin	MAC 500	Mode 1	100	
Martin	MAC 500	Mode 2	100	
Martin	MAC 500	Mode 3	889	
Martin	MAC 500	Mode 4		
Martin	Augusta har on	ode 1	_	
Martin	Available O/	/ profiles ode 2		
Martin	MAC 500 SC	RL Mode 3		
Martin	MAC 500 SC	RL Mode 4	100	
Martin	MAC 550	16bk	-	
No notes in OV file Profile History: 07 May 2004 Mo Marker change	e dified by Ofer Brum. d. Points to AC outlet.		-	Apply X Cancel

Modifying the Offline Visualizer link

Note that the Offline Visualizer itself must be running to extract the list of available profiles. Select the new Offline Visualizer profile to link to from the list of available profiles.

To modify the Offline Visualizer link for user defined fixture profiles see user definable fixture profiles [247]

# 6.7.1 The select bitmap dialog

Get Gobo	/Elfects Bitm	ар	×
Help			
Consecution of the local distribution of the	HOCO	100040	
		6	
412			
STACET	ABSTRACTO		
	Bitmaps	5	
		1025	
AKKUW	A60.0.02	ALONIC	
-		obo/Eff	oct
			eur
ATCASC 507	No.	Bitmap	<u>s</u> j
None-but	-	come o o o o	
	Color Di	mon	
日本		imaps	
REL ibro	vio alus	BIGSTAR	
	nes		
		174 04	
Librated		- 1/4 000	PPS
CP CP	4475		9
FUNC			
GENIUS			
HES		-1 A	20202

The select bitmap dialog

The select bitmaps dialog is used to assign bitmaps to <u>palette controls</u> when creating fixture palettes for <u>user defined profiles</u> and <u>color Bitmaps</u> and <u>color Bitmaps</u>. Click the corresponding button to change the view between gobo/effect bitmaps and color bitmaps. LightJockey organizes the bitmaps into different libraries. Libraries are listed below the bitmaps. To see bitmaps in a particular library only, click on the library name in the list. To see all available bitmaps click **All**.

To assign a bitmap to a Palette Value, drag the bitmap directly to the line in the list representing the palette value. Alternatively, highlight the line in the list, then double click the bitmap to associate. Note: when assigning a bitmap by double clicking, the list automatically advances to the next item until the last item is reached.

# 7 Controlling and programming fixtures

# 7.1 Selecting fixtures for control and programming

# 7.1.1 Selecting fixtures on the desktop

Fixtures configured for control are represented on the LightJockey desktop 4 by fixture icons



Fixture icons on desktop

## **Fixture selection**

There several different ways to select fixtures from desktop in order to activate them for programming. Select by clicking icons - click with the left mouse button on the fixture icon on the desktop. This fixture now becomes the "Master fixture". By subsequently clicking on other fixture icons, these will be selected as well.

Rubber band selection - another method is "rubber banding" a number of fixtures in one go. Do this by holding the left mouse button down and drag a dotted square to include the fixtures to be selected. Fixture de-selection - to de-select the fixtures either left click on individual icons or "rubber band" an empty piece of desktop to deselect all fixtures.

Fixtures may also be selected through the fixture groups all dialog.

## **Selection modes and filters**

Inclusive / Exclusive

This button, located on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> and duplicated in the <u>fixture groups dialog</u> at the switch between selecting single (solo select) or multiple fixtures. Clicking the button toggles between inclusive and exclusive modes. When in **Inclusive** mode, selecting new fixtures will add the fixture to the current selection. When in **Exclusive** mode, selecting a fixture (or group of fixtures) will deselect all other fixtures. This allows selection of one fixture at a time, just by clicking the fixture icon. This function may also be assigned to a keyboard hotkey and to the fixture.



These buttons, also located on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> 57, selects and de-selects all fixtures respectively.

See also next/previous fixture [81], fixture solo 200]

### Master and slave fixtures Fixture

A fixture selection may be in one of 3 different states:

(8) MAC500

Unselected fixture - blue icon caption.



Master fixture (bright red icon caption)

When in master mode all <u>fixture controls</u> will relate to that particular fixture type. The fixture controls displays the functions that are currently relevant for the selected fixture type and the values programmed for the particular fixture. Although it is possible to select different types of fixtures it is not possible to access functions that are not supported by the current master fixture. For example, it is not possible to select the gobo control while a RoboColor II (which has no gobos) is selected as master. Only one fixture can be master fixture at any time.



Slave fixture (dark red icon caption)

Selected fixtures which are not selected as master are slave fixtures. Slave fixture means that it follows the master fixtures values when these are changed on the fixture controls. e.g. when 4 Roboscan 918 fixtures are selected, 1 as master, the other 3 as slaves, setting the master to red on color wheel 1 will automatically set the color to red for all 4 fixtures.

### **Programming selected fixtures**

Once fixtures are selected, they can be controlled and programmed via their respective <u>fixture controls</u> [92]. Certain programmable effects are <u>cross-fixture type compatible</u> [22], this means that changes to the master will also change the slave fixtures even if they are not of the same type as the master fixture.

See also configuring the desktop 45, fixture icon popup 59

## 7.1.2 Next/previous fixture selection

The Next and Previous buttons on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> may be used to select the previous or next fixture respectively. Selecting fixtures this way is mainly useful during sequence programming where there is a need to adjust fixtures one at a time. The next/previous functions may also be assigned to keyboard hotkeys 203.

### **Default selection**

By default the buttons select the previous or next fixture based on the icon's fixture number. The new fixture is selected as master while all other fixtures are de-selected. The new fixture selected will always be next or previous fixture in relation to the current <u>master</u> fixture. If no fixtures are selected, **next fixture** will select the fixture with the lowest fixture number, while **previous fixture** will select the fixture number.

## **Custom order selection**

The order of selection may be customized. To open the custom selection dialog, right-click either of the two buttons, or select the dialog via the **Setup** -> **Preferences** -> **Previous/Next Fixture Selection**.



Previous/Next fixture custom selection

Enable next/previous buttons - use this switch to show or hide the buttons on the tool bar. Only select same type as Master Fixture - When enabled, only fixtures of the same type as the Master structure will be selected as next fixture.

**Selection Tabs** 

Any Tab - selects the fixture from any tab. Same as Master - selects the fixture only if placed on the same tab as the Master fixture.

Current tab - selects the fixture if it is placed on the current tab only.

## Selection Order

Fixture Number - uses the fixtures number as base for selection Custom Order - uses a custom selection order (see below)

N.	Turne	Eidung Marris
NO	Type	Poture Name
	Selection Break	
6	Martin MAC 250 Krypton (16 Bit)	MAC 250KR
7	Martin MAC 250 Krypton (16 Bit)	MAC 250KR
8	Martin MAC 250 Krypton (16 Bit)	MAC 250KR
9	Martin MAC 250 Krypton (16 Bit)	MAC 250KR
10	Martin MAC 250 Krypton (16 Bit)	MAC 250KR
	Selection Break	
3	Martin CX-2	C/2
4	Martin CX-2	02
	Selection Break	
18	Martin Wizard	WIZARD
	Auto-add Master Fix	ture

Previous/next custom order dialog

Open the selection order list by selecting **Custom Order**, or by selecting **Set Custom Order** from the menu. The Custom Order allows precise control over the fixture selection order. When selecting Custom order, the *Only select same type as Master Fixture* and any tab restriction will be disabled.

To add fixtures to the order of selection, enable the **Auto-add Master Fixture** button, and select the fixtures to add to the list by clicking the fixture icons one by one. Alternatively, select the required fixture as Master fixture, and right-click the list to insert or add the fixture to the list. Fixtures may be removed from the list by highlighting the line(s) and **selecting remove fixture** or **remove lines** from the right-click popup menu. Use the **Clear All** function in the preferences menu to clear all entries into the list.

Selection breaks may be inserted or added to the list by selecting a line and right-clicking. Inserting or adding a *Selection Break* creates a 'break' in the next/previous selections. In the example above, the break after fixture number 8, means that when fixture 8 is selected as master, clicking **next fixture** the selection will loop back to fixture number 5 since this is the first fixture in the block contained by the two breaks. Likewise when fixture number 5 is selected, clicking **previous fixture** will loop the selection to fixture number 9 as this is the last fixture in the block.

# 7.1.3 Fixture groups

Click the fixture groups icon on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> of to access the fixture group dialog.



Fixture group dialog

Select or de-select a group of fixtures or individual fixtures by clicking on the corresponding line in the group view. LightJockey will automatically build fixture groups by placing all the fixtures of the same type into groups. Disable **Preferences** -> **Show system groups** in the menu to hide system groups

Fixtures in the list may be listed by profile name or user name. By default profile names are used; select **Preferences** -> **Show user names** to switch to user name display. User names for individual fixtures are changed via the <u>fixture configuration dialog</u> .

## **Custom fixture groups**

To create custom fixture groups select "Add Group" from the menu. Name the group then click "Ok". The new group will now appear in the group window. To assign fixtures to the group, first <u>select the fixtures</u> and the right-click on the line with the newly created group and select **Add selected fixtures to group** from the popup menu. The maximum number of user defined groups is limited to 99.



Custom fixture group right-click popup



The fixture groups can be expanded to show individual fixtures by clicking on the double arrows to the left in the list. Collapse the list by clicking on the arrows again.

Select All and De-select All selects and de-selects all fixtures respectively.

Selection Mode: Inclusive/Exclusive - the lower, leftmost button in the window toggles between inclusive and exclusive selection mode. Inclusive mode means that more than one group or fixture may be selected at a time. In Exclusive mode, fixtures already selected are automatically de selected before the new selection is applied. the function of this button may be assigned to a keyboard hotkey 203. The selection mode is also available from the fixture tool bar 57.

Selection Filter: All/Odd/Even - use the selection filter (click button to change) to set a filter for fixture selection/de-selection via the group window. All selects/deselects all relevant fixtures - Odd selects/deselects fixtures with odd fixture number and Even selects/deselects fixtures with even fixture number.

### Fixture group hotkeys

It is possible to assign selection of the first 10 user-defined fixture groups to keyboard hotkeys 205.

# 7.2 Using generic DMX profiles

## 7.2.1 Generic DMX profiles

The Generic DMX fixture profile allows control and programming of DMX effects that does not have a suitable LightJockey profile. Although a generic profile is not really that usable for programming intelligent fixtures it may be used as a last resort control if no suitable profile is available. The profiles are mainly used for controlling 'channel devices' such as dimmer or switch packs or DMX controllable smoke machines or stroboscopes.

The Generic fixture profile comes in 3 flavors: Level and Switch controls and specialized controls. All generic controls implement 8 bit control channels.

The specialized profiles contains controls for RGB Packs which are profiles for controlling devices consisting of multiple RGB elements (typically LED fixtures); other specialized profiles are for controlling strobes, smoke machines or hazers.

The control is accessed from the levels/extended icon and the <u>fixture tool bar</u> and the <u>RGB pack color control</u> and the <u>RGB pack color control control</u>

### **Generic dimmer control**

Use the generic dimmer profile to control 'level devices' such as dimmer packs. These profiles can be found under the **Generic** heading in the <u>fixture configuration dialog</u> 6. A number of profiles with different capacities (from 1 to 32 channels) are supplied - select a profile that matches or has a higher channel count than the device to control. Note that to control devices of more than 32 channels, several profiles may be configured and addressed in continuously in the DMX address space.



Level control (8 channel profile)

To program the control drag click the virtual faders to the desired values. Use the **Preferences** menu to change the value format displayed on the fader between % (0-FF) values or digital values (0-255). To set the value for all channels simultaneously (8+ channel controls only) - right-click any fader and check **All** on the popup menu. Disable **All** to control channels individually. The control may be customized to display a user defined label for each of the control channels (see below). Use the the generic DMX control some or all of the channels allocated to level controls without going through individual fixture profiles.

See also fade state buttons 93

### **Generic switch pack control**

الله Switch x 8 🔀 🔀								
UserPale	UserPalette Eades Help							
Neon 1	Neon 2	Neon 3	Neon 4	Flash1	Flash2	Aux1	Aux2	
		<b>•</b>		<b>•</b>	•		<b>•</b>	
Snap	Snap	Off	Snap	Off	Off	Snap	Off	

Switch control (8 channel profile)

The switch is a specialized version of the level control and has only two states: on and off. Click the on/off button to change the state - off is represented with DMX value 0 and on is represented with DMX value 255. Also, the switch control doesn't allow the <u>fade state</u>  $\boxed{93}$  to be set to fade. Channels controlled by a switch control will not scale under control of the <u>grand master</u>  $\boxed{195}$  or sub-master - programmed on values will remain unaffected until the Grand Master or relevant sub-master reaches a value of 0 where the output of programmed channels will modified to off (value = 0).

## **Customizing the generic DMX control**

Cha	anne	l Config	uration	×				
He	lp							
Fix Na DM	Fixture (2) Generic Channel label Name DMX8 DMXAddress 1/38							
	h#	Capt	GM Control					
1		Yellow	Yes	Channel Caption Tellow				
2		Yellow	Yes					
3		Red	Yes	Enable Grand Master Control				
4		Red	Yes					
5		Blue	Yes	Disable Grand Master Control				
6		Blue	Yes	Disable diana master constan				
7		Strobe	Yes					
8		CH8	Yes	Cancel				

Channel configuration dialog

To customize the channel labels for each of the control channels, right-click the fixture icon on the desktop, then from the popup menu select **Define Fixture Profile**. From the channel configuration dialog it is also possible to disable <u>Grand Master</u> for individual channels. By default, all generic DMX channels are affected by the Grand Master. Use the dialog to disable the Grand Master for individual channels.

See also fade state buttons 93

## 7.2.2 The generic DMX control



The generic DMX control

The Generic DMX Control may be used to program Generic DMX channels across multiple <u>generic DMX fixture profiles</u> [34]. This control is very useful when programming a large number of generic channels where specific values has to be programmed into specific channels. The control contains a map of all DMX channels controlled by generic DMX profiles and also features a keyboard command interface for fast programming of DMX values. The control adds data into the current scene in the <u>current sequence</u> [124] like any other <u>fixture control</u> [92] except that it is not related to a master fixture or other selected fixture icons. To make the Generic DMX control available, at least one generic DMX profile must have been <u>configured</u> [66] first.

When available, the control is accessed from the desktop main menu (**Generics**) or by assigning a <u>hotkey</u> to toggle the control on and off.

### Programming the DMX channels with the mouse

To program channels with the mouse, select (highlight) relevant channels in the map grid and use the level fader and <u>off/snap/fade buttons</u> to program the channels. The level fader will act on all selected channels, and the <u>fade state</u> so f each channel will default to fade (unless already programmed as snap). The number of selected channels is displayed in the top right corner above the group list - use the clear button to deselect all channels.

The <u>fade state</u> state s

#### Absolute vs. relative mode

When in absolute mode, all selected channels are set to the exact value of the level fader. In relative movement the values of the selected channels are increased or decreased with the same amount as the level fader is changed; e.g. if the level fader is increased with 10%, all selected channel have their value increased by 10%. Values for all channels are capped at 0 and 255. Use the *absolute* and *relative* buttons to change the mode.

### Keyboard shortcuts

By default a number of keyboard keys are mapped as shortcuts to the level fader - note that the keys will only work if they are not used as <u>hotkeys</u> 203.

[Cursor Up]: Increases level by 1 unit (% or 8-bit value) [Cursor Dn]: decreases level by 1 unit (% or 8-bit value) [Page Up]: Increases level by 10 units (% or 8-bit value) [Page Dn]: decreases level by 1 unit (% or 8-bit value) [Home]: sets level to full (100% or 255) [End]: sets level to 0

## **Grouping Channels**

### Creating and modifying groups

It is possible to group channels for faster selection. A maximum of 32 groups may be created and each channel may be assigned to any group.

To create a group, right-click the *Group list* then select **Create New Group** from the popup menu. To rename or delete an already existing group, right click the group name, and select **Rename** or **Delete** as appropriate from the popup menu.

### Assigning Channels to Groups

To assign channels to a group, select the channels, then [Shift]-Right click the Group in the group list, and select **Set Group to Selected** or **Add Selected to Group** from the popup menu. To remove channels from a group, select the channels, then select **Remove Selected from Group** from the popup menu.

## **Customizing the Generic DMX Control**

The control can be resized by dragging any of its corners, the channel grid will automatically resize to fit the available space. Use the preferences menu to show or hide the group list and level fader respectively. If neither is visible, the channel grid resizes itself to fill out the whole control (the keyboard command interface is still available even if the level fader is hidden).

### Customizing the Grid

From the Preferences menu use the **Grid Preferences** menu to customize the grid cell-size, color scheme and the font used in the grid.



Grid customization dialogs

#### **Hiding Channels**

By default all Generic DMX fixture channels are mapped in the Generic DMX control. Channels may be removed from the map (hidden) by highlighting the relevant channels and then selecting **Hide Selected Channels** from the options menu to remove the selected channels from the map. The number of hidden channels will be noted in the window caption of the Generic Control. Click **Show All Channels** to make all channels visible again.

## **Options Menu**

Delete All Groups - deletes all groups Clear All Groups - clears all groups without deleting the groups Hide Selected Channels - hide selected channels. Show All Channels - show all channels.

## **Preferences Menu**

View Group List - toggles visibility of the group list View Level Fader - toggles visibility of the level fader Use % Values - when enabled all level values are displayed and programmed as % values (0-100%), when disabled all level values are displayed and programmed as 8 bit values (0-255)

#### **Grid Preferences**

Auto Set Matrix Size - When disabled the channel matrix does not automatically resize when the control is resized

Mouse Select Rectangles - When enabled the mouse selects cells in the grid in spread-sheet style (rectangles), when disabled the mouse selects by 'painting' cells.

Auto-Scroll to first selected channel - when selected, the grid will always automatically scroll to first selected channel whenever selections are changed.

Grid Size, Grid Font, Grid Colors - see Customizing the Grid above.

### **Keyboard Preferences**

Show Command Line - toggles the visibility of the command line (see below) Lock Cursor keys to grid - locks the keyboard cursor keys to selecting cells in the grid (should not be used together with the command line interface).

Empty Command Clears Selection - When enabled, an empty command line followed by [Return] clears the channel selection.

#### The keyboard command interface

In addition to the mouse programming interface, the generic DMX control also implements a keyboardoriented command interface. The keyboard interfaces uses the command line below the channel map. The command interface may be enabled or disabled using the **show command-line** option in the preferences -> keyboard preferences menu. The command interface implements a quick way to access and program channels, and to minimize the number of keystrokes it uses different symbols for various functions:

Note that in order to be able to accept keyboard commands the generic control must have the Windows focus (must be the active window) and the keys must not already be assigned as standard <u>hotkey functions</u> 2033. When the [Enter] key is pressed, the command line is automatically cleared. Use the Recall button to recall the last command non-empty command line (if any).

## Selecting or de selecting channels

To select a (highlight) channel simply type in the cannel number followed by [Return]. To select multiple channels, use a + between channels, e.g.; 1+3+5 selects channels 1,3 and 5. To add channels to the current selection, precede the first channel with the + operator, e.g.: +1+3+5 adds channels 1,3 and 5 to the current selection. If there is no + operator, the current selection will be cleared before selecting the new channels.

- To deselect channels, precede the channel with a -, e.g.: -1-3-5 will deselect channels 1,3 and 5 from the current selection.
- To select a channel range use / between low and high channel number, e.g. 45/77 selects channels 45 through to 77.
- The select (+), deselect (-) and through (/) operators may be combined, e.g. the command: 1/10-4/6+12 selects channels 1,2,3,7,8,9,10 and 12.

### Selecting groups

To select groups rather than single channels use the #[group no] symbol, e.g.: #1 selects all channels in group 1. The +, -, and / operators may be used the same way as when used with single channels. When using the / operator, do not add a second # to the second group number, e.g.: #1/5 selects groups 1 through 5 while #1/#5 is considered an input error. Note that the '.' or ',' keys present on the numerical keypad of most full-size PC keyboards may be used for the # symbol as well.

### Setting levels

To set the value of the selected channels, use the @ operator. For example, the command @10 sets the value of all selected channels to 10 (% or 8-bit value, see later). Use the + or - operators to set the values relatively, e.g.: @+10 will increase the level value for all selected channels, @-25 will decrease the value for all selected channels with 25. Note that the \* key present on most numerical keypads on full-size PC keyboards may be for the @ symbol as well.

### **Setting Fade States**

Use o or O to set the state to Off for selected channels. Use f or F to set the state to Fade for selected channels. Use s or S to set the state to Snap for selected channels.

### Special key combinations

## selects all channels. @ @ programs all channels to the following value. [Return] on a blank command line deselects all channels (may be disabled, see preferences menu)

### Combining multiple commands

Since the whole command line is not evaluated before the [Enter] key is pressed, multiple commands may be given in the same line, e.g: **#1/3F@50-#2@+10 [Enter]** selects groups 1 through 3, sets the fade states to Snap, then programs the level to 50, deselects group 2, and finally increases the level of the channels in the remaining groups (1 and 3) by 10.

## 7.2.3 The RGB pack color control

The RGB pack profile is designed to control packs of RGB only devices - typically devices that consist of a number of Red, Green and Blue LED modules.

Each of the 'pack' profiles implements a number of individual RGB devices in one profile. The fixture profiles can be found under the Generic manufacturer heading in the <u>fixture configuration dialog</u> (6). Depending of the number of RGB modules, the profile may use up to 30 contiguous DMX channels and expects device control channels being mapped as Red, Green and Blue intensity controls (in that order) for each RGB module (Red, Green, Blue, Red, Green, Blue, Red...etc - a different control channel layout may be patched via the <u>global patch dialog</u> (201).



Fixture Icon - RGB Pack x10

Colors								×
Palette Preferer	nces <u>F</u> ades <u>H</u> e	эlр						
Unit 1	Unit 2	Unit 3	Unit 4	Unit 5	-	•	<b></b>	
o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o	dual RGB fi status pane	xtures 0 0	S 255 S 255 S 28 128	S 255 S 255 S 128	234 V 234	0 RGB <u>'alues</u>	255	HSV Values
Unit 6	Unit 7	Unit 8	Unit 9	Unit 10	<b>_</b>	•	<b>V</b>	
S 255 S 0 S 255	S 255 S 128 S 0	S 255 S 0 S 0	S 0 S 0 S 128	S         234           S         0           S         255	Snap 3	Snap S Co	olor Dialog	
					All		None	Update

The RGB pack color control

The color control consists of two parts - status panels for each of the (up to) 10 individual RGB modules and a programming panel to the right.



RGB fixture status panel

The RGB module panels displays the current programming status for each of the individual RGB modules. Each panel shows the current DMX values for the red, green and blue control channels both as a graphical bar and as numeric values. The panel also shows the color resulting from mixing the Red, Green and Blue colors - note that the color is a theoretical estimate and the actual color from the device may look different.

### Selecting the RGB fixtures for programming

Enable programming of individual RGB fixtures by enabling one or more status panels - click the individual fixtures status panels to toggle enabled/disabled state, [Ctrl]-click to enable a single fixture only. Enable fixtures have their caption highlighted in red just as fixture icons on the desktop.

## The programming panel

When at least one status panel is enabled, program the RGB fixtures using the programming panel. By default the programming panel remains hidden as long as no panels are enabled (check preferences - > Always show programming panel to keep visible all the time). The programming panel interacts with enabled panels only. The programming panel has controls for individual programming of each of the 3 red green and blue control channels, as well as a controls for hue, saturation and value (HSV) which affects two or more control channels at a time. Hint: to program pure white using the HSV controls, push saturation to full white and use value to set intensity.

When using the control panel to program - ALL fixtures represented by the enabled status panels are programmed. Click **All** to select all status panels - click **None** to deselect all status panels. Right click a on panel and select **Update** to transfer contents of the control panel to the panel ; click the **Update** button to update all selected panels with the values and fade states contained in the programming panel.

Double click a panel (or right click the panel and select **Get color** from the popup menu) to transfer the contents of the panel to the control panel.

Click **Color Dialog** to select a color value using the built-in Windows color picker to select an RGB value directly (there is no feedback from the dialog to the fixtures - the color is not applied before approved by clicking Ok).

## **Customizing panel captions**

RGBPac	k configuration 🛛 🗵
Help	
23: RG	B Pack x 10
RGBx1	0
DMX a	ddress: 1/303
	Panel Caption
Unit 1	Unit 1
Unit 2	Unit 2
Unit 3	Unit 3
Unit 4	Unit 4
Unit 5	Unit 5
Unit 6	Unit 6
Unit 7	Unit 7
Unit 8	Unit 8
Unit 9	Unit 9
Unit 10	Unit 10
	OK X Cancel

RGB pack configuration dialog

The captions of each of the individual fixture panels may be customized for better identification. To do so, right click the fixture icon on the desktop and select **Define Fixture Profile** from the popup menu. Use the RGB pack configuration dialog to set captions of the individual panels.

## **RGB** Palette

Click **Palette -> RGB Palette** on the RGB control menu to access the built in RGB palette (select **Userpalette** to access the <u>standard user palette</u> for color controls). Note that RGB palette may not be available for all types of RGB controlled fixtures.



The RGB palette

Unlike the standard user palette which contains and assigns color values to the RGB pack control as one unit, the RGB palette is used to assign color values to individual RGB panels. The palette is user definable and may contain different palette types, each type in its own folder. To apply a color entry from the palette, enable one or more panels and double click the color. Alternatively enable **browse** from the preferences menu to apply a color from the palette just by highlighting it.



Adding an entry to the palette

To add an entry to the RGB palette, right click a status panel containing the color and select **Add color** to **RGB palette** from the popup menu; this will open the RGB palette with an extra panel. Select the palette type from the Type drop down box (or type in a new designation for the type), and type the color name in the name field. To delete an entry right click and select **Delete entry** from the popup menu. Deleting a folder containing multiple entries deletes all entries in that folder.

To if a particular color is already included in the RGB palette, right click the status panel and select **Find color in RGB** palette. Note that the function will find he fist entry of a given color only (the same color value may exist with different type and or name).

See also fade state buttons 93

# 7.3 Fixture controls

All types of fixture effect control are included in the following control groups:



Each fixture control consist of one or more control elements

# 7.3.1 Fade state buttons

Off

The fade state buttons together with scene and fade times 22 to control the dynamic transitions of the programmable effects. Each DMX channel programmable by the control, has an associated fade state button.



Different effects will default to either snap or fade, however the fade state can be changed by clicking on the fade state button; note that left and right-clicking on the button cycles the off, snap and fade states differently. It may not be possible to set the state to fade for certain effects.

This effect will not be included in the scene.

**Snap** The value will snap, effectively move as fast as physically possible from its current position to this programmed position (unless the effect is slowed down by a separate speed control value)

**Fade** The effect will be moved from its current position to the new position in a timed fade. A timed fade means that DMX values will be calculated in a way moves the effect at a certain speed to reach the target. The time, and thus the speed, is determined by the current scene and fade time  $2^{2}$ . Note that the default scene fade time is 0.05 seconds - this value is interpreted as a snap by the DMX output engine, so in order to have effects fading,

the scene fade time must be changed from 0.05 seconds to something higher using the <u>sequence control</u> 124. Note that all effects programmed to fade in the same scene will use the same scene fade time, the fade time is not individual from effect to effect.

To understand how snap and fade works, it is probably easiest to look at the <u>DMX output monitor</u>  $\overrightarrow{\text{loot}}$ . Select a single fixture, and default all values for the fixture (clear the current sequence and cue). Open the DMX output monitor by right-clicking on the fixture icon and select **DMX Output**. Select a simple effect such as intensity or color and write two scenes that moves this effect from one position to another. Try experimenting with snap and fade settings and different scene and fade times.

**Multiple function buttons** 



Mac 500 Gobo Control - multiple functions to one fade state button.

One fade state button may control more than just one effect - actually, a normally fade state button controls the transition of one DMX channel, for certain multi channel functions it may control the fade

state of more than one channel.

A fixture may also have more than one function on the same DMX control channel. This means that the same fade state button determines the transition for all of the effects on that channel. e.g. the MAC 500-S fixed gobo has 3 functions allocated to the same channel: gobo selection, wheel scroll and gobo shake. Since these are all controlled via the same control channel, It is not possible to program transitions for these effects individually.



Roboscan 518 - linked fade buttons

Sometimes when fixtures contain different types of functions on the same DMX channel, the functions are split on to different fixture controls - however the corresponding fade state buttons on each of the controls are linked (in fact programming the same DMX channel transition). In this case it is not possible to use individual fade state on the different effects. Also, usually the functions themselves are exclusive, for example on the Roboscan 518 it is not possible to program a strobe AND a lamp command into the same scene, as they use the same DMX channel for the commands.

## 7.3.2 Fixture control elements





Drag bar control

The drag control is used to select one out of a range of values (for example to select intensity value). To set a value left-click anywhere on the bar, and hold the mouse button to drag the value left and right in the control. Left-click on either the two arrow buttons to modify the values in small steps, or right-click the buttons to set min or max values respectively. Usually the control is organized so that values that result in lower or slower effect are to the left (low values) and higher or faster values to the right. Note that even though the bar may display the selected the value in percentages, it does not necessarily mean that these values have the same physical effect across fixture types. For example 50% gobo rotation speed on a MAC 500 is **NOT** the same speed as 50% on a Roboscan 1220.

## **Scroll Controls**

Scroll controls are used to select effects with an 'image' effects such as colours, gobos and prisms. Scroll controls are often combined with palette controls.



Gobo scroll control

These buttons operates much like buttons a CD player, click on this button to shift the effect one complete 'effect' (e.g. one complete gobo).

Clicking these buttons decrements or increments the corresponding DMX control channel by one. For example, when programming a color wheel it will only move a small amount compared to a complete color using the 'complete effect' buttons. Use these buttons to achieve split effects for fixtures that includes this option in the DMX protocol (not all fixtures support split effects).



Programming split colors

Scroll controls are only available for built-in fixture profiles.

## **Palette controls**

Palette controls are used to select effects such as colors, gobos or prisms directly, to select the effect left-click on the icon. Note that palette controls may be hidden via the local control preferences menu to reduce the overall size of the fixture control.





Effect palette

## **Special controls**

Some fixture controls include special function controls. The special functions calls up predefined functions that are built into in the fixture. These functions are usually dynamic effects such as pulse effects, or relies on the fixture to call up random values such as a random CMY value. Special controls are only available for built-in fixture profiles.

Intensity Pulse	Pulse Open	Pul	se Close			Puls	e Off	
Random Pulse	Open Fast	Op	en Slow	Clos	se Fa	ast	Close S	low
Random Strobe	Strobe Slow		Strobe	e Med		Ś	Strobe Fa	st

Mac 500 intensity control - special controls section



The special control section may be shown or hidden from the local control preferences menu.

See also fade state buttons 93

## 7.3.3 User palettes

The user palettes are accessible from the menu of most of the fixture controls (except lamp control, and pan/tilt controls) and offer a quick way of assigning predetermined values to the fixture controls. Note that the user palettes may not be available for fixture types.

ΗU	ser Color Palett	e X
Help		
No	Name	
01	All White	
02	All Blue	
03	All Green	
04	Al Yelow	
05	All Red	
-		
5 Er	ntries	A Save
~		6 oure
0	Master Fixture Selected Fixtures	🔶 Assign
0	All Fixtures	<b>⊒→</b> ∰ Clear

User color palette

When using palettes please observe the following:

1. When assigning a user palette entry to a fixture the actual values are assigned, not a reference. This means that if a palette entry is changed - this change will <u>not</u> affect scenes and sequences already programmed with the old values.

2. The fade state of each of the effects is saved together with the actual values. When applying the palette values, only entries with a <u>fade state</u> of fade or snap will be applied. This way it is possible to create palettes covering a sub-set of the palette functions, making it possible to create combinations of palette entries of same type; for example separate entries for iris and for focus even though they both are beam controls.

3. Palettes must be manually updated when new fixtures are added or modified in the fixture configuration.

#### Fixture selection filter

Use the fixture selection buttons in the lower left to decide which fixtures to include when creating, modifying or applying palette entries:

Master fixture - applies values to the entry for the master fixture only Selected fixtures - applies values for all selected fixtures All Fixtures - applies values for all fixtures

## Creating and modifying user palette entries

Program the contents of a user palette entry in the current scene and click **Save**. To modify an existing entry, highlight it first before saving. In the save dialog, click **Save as New** to save as a new entry, or **Save** to modify an existing entry.

#### Using palette entries

To apply a palette entry to one or more fixtures, first select the fixtures then either highlight the entry and click **Assign**, or simply double click the entry. Note that the fixture selection filter is also applied when assigning palette entries.

#### Clear

Clicking the **Clear** button will clear values from selected fixtures if the values are <u>identical</u> with the values contained in the palette entry.

## 7.3.4 Intensity control

## 7.3.4.1 Intensity controls for built in profiles

Click the Intensity icon on the <u>Fixture tool bar</u> to access the fixture intensity control.

🔺 Inter	nsity										×
UserPale	tte	Preferences	<u>F</u> ades	Help							
Sean		Shutter	Closed		Intensity Pulse	Pulse Open	Pulse Close		Puls	e Off	►
anap	•	Strobe 1	00,0%		Random Pulse	Open Fast	Open Slow	Close	e Fast	Close S	Slow
Fade	٩	Intensity	100,0%		Random Strobe	Strobe Slov	N Strol	e Med		Strobe Fa	st

Example MAC500/Roboscan 918 intensity control displaying special functions

An intensity control usually contains a shutter button, a strobe and an intensity drag bar. The shutter button controls the fixture shutter (light on/off), while the intensity bar controls the actual intensity of the light output. Note that not all fixtures have separate shutter and intensity controls, and some fixtures do not have any intensity controls at all (e.g. Roboscan 812 that uses color and gobo wheels to obtain a blackout). However with fixtures implementing both a shutter and an intensity control, the shutter must be opened in addition to the intensity setting to enable any light output (hint: the default DMX output stroke frequency.

Note that shutter, intensity and strobe controls are compatible across fixture types.



Intensity control with lamp on/off

Some intensity controls may implement lamp controls to control power to a fixture equipped with a halogen lamp. Do **NOT** confuse this with the lamp control 13 that is for discharge lamps only.

The <u>special functions controls</u> seen in the above example may be shown or hidden from the local preferences menu.

See also <u>fade state buttons</u>, <u>fixture control elements</u>, <u>Intensity controls for user defined profiles</u>,

## 7.3.4.2 Intensity controls for user defined profiles

Click the Intensity icon On the Fixture tool bar 57 to open to the fixture Intensity control.



Intensity control

An intensity control may contain a shutter button and drag bars for strobe and intensity drag. The actual controls depends on the <u>user defined profile</u>  $2^{(247)}$ . Some profiles may not have intensity functions at all, while other fixtures may combine controls on the same channel making it impossible to program effects individually. Use the shutter button to open and close the fixtures shutter (light on / off) - note that some fixtures may not have separate shutter and emulates shutter with the gobo or color wheel. Use the strobe drag bar to program the strobe speed from minimum to maximum frequency - some fixtures may not implement a separate mechanical strobe but use the gobo or color wheel to strobe. Use the intensity drag bar to program the intensity level for the fixture.

See also fade state buttons [93], fixture control elements [94] and intensity controls for built in fixtures [96]

# 7.3.5 Movement and position control

#### 7.3.5.1 Position control

#### **Pan/tilt control**

**Important note: Mouse vs. touch devices for position control:** In order to obtain the maximum resolution for fixture pan/tilt positions, the pan/tilt grid implements a special interpretation of normal mouse commands so the virtual size of the grid may be extended to a maximum size of 65536 x 65536 (representing full 16 bit pan/tilt resolution). The special interpretation involves a programmatically reset of the mouse cursor position each time the mouse is moved. This approach does not t work very well with touch devices where the cursor position (e.g. the users finger) cannot be reset by LJ.

To make the position grid work with touch devices, select **Preferences** -> **Left-Click Mode** -> **Touch** from the position control menu. To switch back to normal mouse mode, select **Preferences** -> **Left-Click Mode** -> **Mouse**. Note that touch mode, can also be used with a mouse device - a touch device is not a requirement for using touch mode. For more details on touch control, see below.

🔁 Movement 16 Bit			×
Presets Preferences Fade	s <u>M</u> acro <u>(</u>	<u>) p</u> tions <u>H</u> el	P
		L. Position Pr	eset 🛛
	Mo	vement	Clear
Movement N			
		Absolute	Position
Position Presets List		🔒 Pan	🔒 Tilt
Absolute	Relative	Resolu	tion 32
Swi	itch		
Dep (Till)	Desition	4	
Panylin	Position	🔶 🔣	¥ →
Coordinate	s or		
Preset Nar	me		
-16256 : 17120	Clr Macro	Pan Fade	Tilt Fade

Typical pan/tilt position control

The picture shows a typical position control with pan/tilt control for fixtures such as scanners with a mirror, or moving yoke fixtures. The primary control is the position grid. The dot represents the absolute pan and tilt position of the mirror or yoke.

-32768 : -32768	Clr Macro	Pan Off	Tit Off
Fade	MSpeed 95		►

Mspeed control

Some fixture profiles implement an extra 'speed' control on the position control. The exact function of the speed parameter depends entirely on the fixture itself, different fixtures may use the parameter in different ways (e.g. slow or fast at low values).

#### Adjusting the position of one or more fixtures

To adjust the position of one or more fixtures, select the fixtures, then in the grid left-click and drag the white dot to the desired position.



It is also possible to move the pan and tilt by using the arrow buttons in the lower right side of the control. Click and hold a button to move the fixture in one direction to a given direction.

Click **home** . to center the fixtures position.

# 🔒 Pan 🛛 🔒 Tilt

The two buttons marked pan lock and tilt lock will lock the and tilt positions respectively. When locked the position can be moved in one plane only.

## Resolution 32

Use the "Resolution" drag control to adjust the fineness of the position controls. The less the delta value, the less the position will change when dragging in the position grid, or when clicking the arrow buttons.

Click Cir Macro to clear an active movement macro 102.

## Left-click options

Use the preferences menu to select one of two left-click modes: **Mouse Mode** (default) - select this mode when using a mouse or trackball type device to control position. **Touch mode** - select this mode when working with a touch type device.

## **Touch Mode**

When in left-click touch mode, there are two distinct operation modes. Direct mode or 'joystick' mode. The two modes are toggled between by clicking the Dir/Joy button located next to the 'arrow' buttons.



Position grid, joystick mode

## **Direct Mode**

When in Direct Mode (Dir), the pan/tilt is set according to the position in the grid - resolution factor is ignored.

Joystick Mode

In Joystick mode, the pan/tilt position is continuously modified as long as the device is 'activated' The distance from center is combined with the resolution parameter to define a 'speed' of position change - the direction of change is given by the direction of the 'line'. The direction/speed is illustrated by a 'joystick' superimposed on the pan/tilt grid.

Note: Joystick mode has nothing to do with a physical joystick. The position grid cannot use an attached Joystick to control position.

## **Right-click options**

Use the preferences menu to select one of two right-click modes. Goto Position (default mode) - the 'dot' jumps to the position where the cursor is located. Note that relative movement (see below) does not work with goto position. Lock Cursor in Grid - the mouse cursor locks to the 'dot' until the next mouse click (handy option when using the <u>follow spot</u> for a position).Note: that if **Left-click Touch** mode is selected, all right-clicks will be Goto Position regardless of setting.

## **Position presets**



Apply or clear presets Click **Apply** to the currently selected preset, clear to clear any assigned preset - see position presets

## Absolute positioning vs. Relative movement

Absolute Position Relative Movement

Use the absolute/relative button to toggle between 'Absolute Position' and 'Relative Movement' mode. When in absolute position mode all selected fixtures are programmed with the same position information (e.g. pan, tilt = -1234,1234). In relative movement mode all selected fixtures are programmed with the same relative movement distance. This means that if the pan position of the master fixture is moved 50 positions to the left, all selected fixtures are programmed to move the position 50 positions to the left. The relative mode may be used to keep beams together, or held in a specific pattern, when moving multiple fixtures around, although the usefulness depends on the fixtures position and where the pan and tilt is pointed. See also <u>follow spot function</u> [198]. Right-clicking on the position grid or clicking the home button always uses absolute position mode.

### Notes on relative movement

Since fixtures with 8-bit pan/tilt has much less resolution on pan and tilt positions than 16-bit fixtures, moving both 8- and 16-bit fixtures in relative mode in a 16-bit position control (16-bit fixture as master fixture) does not work properly. Small movement values are simply rounded off and possibly ignored when sent to 8-bit fixtures. To move 8- and 16-bit fixtures together in relative mode, make sure an 8-bit fixture is selected as master fixture.



The position options control

Mirror Pan - the pan position is mirrored over the vertical centerline (pan = 0) on the position grid. Mirror Tilt - the tilt position is mirrored over the horizontal centerline (tilt = 0) on the position grid. Swap Pan / Tilt - the fixture's pan and tilt coordinates are swapped. Pan 360 - may be used to program fixtures with more than a 360° pan range (moving yoke fixtures) - clicking the button will, if possible move pan a full 360 degree rotation. Fan Out - see position fan out

See also movement macro engine 1021, position fan out 1011 and non pan/tilt movement controls 107

## 7.3.5.2 Position fan out

Fan Out				×
Options He	lp	Fixture Selection Or	der	
•.	• .	Apply Values by C Fixture Number C Icon Proizontal Position C Icon Vertical Position C Lustom C Center Delta on Home	Fix# 1 2 3 4 5	User Name 518 518 518 518 518 518 518 518
•	Detta Pan 95	► ← Spread		Custom Selections
-	Detta Titt 86	Figure Spread	8	

Fan out dialog

Select **Options** -> **Fan Out** from the position control's she menu to open the fan out dialog.

The fan out dialog is used to set various fan-out patterns quickly in installations where fixtures are hanging symmetrically. The fan out tool works by modifying pan and tilt values on all selected fixtures in the current scene by symmetrical amounts. To create a fan out pattern, select two or more fixtures and drag the delta pan and delta tilt bars to set the range of the fan out. If an odd fixture number is selected, the 'middle' fixture will act as a center for the pan and tilt fan-outs respectively. If an even number of fixtures is selected, the pattern will form around a 'virtual' center fixture.

Enable Center Delta on Home to default the middle fixture's pan and tilt to the home position.

The spread functions are used to spread the pan and tilt over a 'physical' range. It works by distributing the pan and tilt delta from the actual position of the first and last fixture in the selection order. The effectively of the spread function depends very much on the actual physical locations of the fixtures.

## **Custom order**

The order of which the pan and tilt delta values are applied to the fixtures may be changed in the *apply values by* selections. Using the custom options opens up a list where the fixture order may be customized. To add a fixture to the list, select the fixture icon. To remove a fixture from the list, deselect the fixture icon. The selection order may be changed further, by dragging the lines around in the list. Custom selections may be saved for later use.





Click save to re-save an existing selection or save new to save the current selection as a new custom

selection. Previously saved selection are available from the selection box in the lower right hand corner of the control.



Click to clear the current selection.

Click to delete the selection.

## 7.3.5.3 Movement macros

## 7.3.5.3.1 Movement macro engine

LightJockey features a built-in engine for automatic generation of pan and tilt movements. To access the movement macro control, select **Macros** in the pan/tilt position control select **Macros** menu.

🕀 Movement Macro		×		
Eades Preferences Auto delay Bézier Shapes Help				
	Snap	Macro Type System Ellipse 2		
	Snap	Pan Amplitude 127		
	Snap	🔊 💽 🔺 🛛 Pan Cycle: 6,83 sec 🕞		
	Snap	Tilt Amplitude 127		
	Snap	🔊 💽 🔺 🛛 Tilt Cycle: 5,39 sec 🕞		
Macro Fixture	Snap	d Delay 0,0%		
Clear Image	Off	Tweak 0,0%		

Movement macro control

The major difference between the movement macros and normal position programming using the <u>pan and tilt position control</u> is that the a movement macro is a continuous dynamic movement on pan and tilt contained in one static scene, for example continuous movement in a circle or a figure eight. A movement macro overlays the programmed pan and tilt, so it is possible to move the macro figure around by modifying the regular pan and tilt positions.

To stop a macro from executing in the current scene, set the <u>fade state</u> of the macro type to off, select **No Macro** from the drop down or click **Cir Macro** on the position control to clear the macro settings from the current scene.

## Macro display window.

The the left side of the control displays a real time representation of the progression of the macro by tracing the fixtures pan and tilt coordinates. The display tracks the macro of current master fixture only. To show the position for all selected fixtures, enable **preferences** -> **Show all selected fixtures** - non master fixtures **a** positions are displayed as red dots.

Macro - traces the pan/tilt values generated by the macro.

Fixture - traces the pan/tilt position of the fixture(s) with the macro overlaying current pan/tilt position Clear Image - Clears and restarts the tracing.

## Macro Type

This list contains the possible macro types. There are 6 different system macros built into LightJockey. System macros are all based on variations of continuously repeating variations of sine and cosine curves. To create a new, user defined macro shape, select **Bézier Shapes** from the menu.

### **Macro parameters**

Pan Amplitude - this parameter controls the amount of amplitude applied to the pan parameter. The higher the value, the further the pan will be moved by the macro.

Pan Cycle (time) - this parameter controls the 'speed' at which macro executes for pan control. The value displayed is the time taken for one cycles of the macro. Pan and tilt cycle times are combined into one common cycle time control for ellipse and stepped ellipse macros.

Tilt Amplitude - this parameter controls the amount of amplitude applied to the tilt parameter. The higher the value, the further the tilt will be moved by the macro.

Tilt Cycle (time) - this parameter controls the 'speed' at macro executes for tilt control. The value displayed is the time taken for one cycle of the macro.

Macro Step size (Stepped Ellipse Macro only) - the Macro Step size parameter regulates the 'coarseness' of the macro by reducing the number of positions contained in the macro. Altering the macro step size does not change the macro cycle time. The higher the step value the coarser the macro appears - at step size 512 the ellipse only contains 8 pan and tilt positions. Reducing the number of points may cause slower moving fixtures to 'perform better' on faster ellipse macros. The actual 'look' of the macro depends on the fixture used as well as the combination of cycle time, amplitude and step size - some fixtures may not show any improvement at all. Since a high step size combined with a low speed (high cycle time) produces a very pronounced stepped movement, the stepped ellipse macro may also be used to produce 'special effects'.

Delay - this will 'delay' the fixtures position in the macro cycle. Assign individual delays to fixtures performing the same macro for a more varied look. See below for a detailed explanation, also see auto-delay 104.

Tweak - this will tweak the macro a little (by tweaking the phase of one axis) - the result depends on the actual macro and the other parameter settings.

Auto Delay - click the <u>auto-delay dialog</u> 104 (in the menu) to systematically apply delays to several fixtures.

See also generic DMX macros

## 7.3.5.3.2 Bézier shapes

Select **Bézier Shapes** from the menu on the <u>movement macro dialog</u> |102| to extend the dialog with the Bézier shape editor (the editor will also automatically be displayed if a Bézier shape is selected from the macro types drop down).



Bézier shape editor

A Bézier shape macro is a kind of macro where the shape is defined by generating a number of positions from lines between points. Bézier shape macros can be created, modified, saved and retrieved by the user. To create a new shape, click **Bézier Shape** in the menu and select **New Shape** - the movement macro control is now displaying the Bézier shapes editor (on the right) with the default diamond shape in it. The shape has a number of 'points' - the square points are called *nodes*, the round ones are *handles*, there are two handles for each node. It is very easy to re-define the shape simply by dragging the nodes or handles around, manipulating it into another shape. Right-clicking either of the nodes (the square ones) or somewhere on the grid gives several further manipulation methods. It is possible to add or remove nodes, rotate and zoom the shape, etc. It is also possible to straighten elements between nodes by making them into lines, or re-convert them into curves again.

When the Bézier macro is modified the system re-calculates the array values on the fly. Note that the values are calculated with a fixed amount of points between nodes - this means that the time taken for the macro to move between nodes are the same, regardless of the distance involved. This means that a fixture will move slower between nodes that have a short path between them, and faster if the path is longer.

To the macro engine, there is really no difference between the system macros and the Bézier macros, both are still represented as two sets of values, one for pan and one for tilt and the cycle time and amplitude parameters applie to the Bézier shape macros as well as the regular system macros.

### Saving a new shape

Save the current shape by selecting **Save shape** or **Save as new shape** from the **Bézier Shapes** menu.

#### Using an existing shape

To use an already existing shape simply select it from the Macro type drop down list.

### **Deleting shapes**

Delete Shapes from the **Bézier Shapes** menu. Select **Delete Shape** to delete the current shape and **Delete Shapes** to delete multiple shapes at once.

## 7.3.5.3.3 Auto delay control

The auto delay function is accessible from the menu of the movement macro control 102.

🌻 Pan/Tilt Macro Auto Delay	×
Help	
Delay Style	
C Linear C Circular	C Segments C Random
Max Delay 256 🚔 Circular Fixtu	re Count 6 🚔 Segments 6 🚔
Delay Order	
Fixture Number	C Fixture Number - Reversed
C Icon Horizontal Position	C Icon Horizontal Position - Reversed
C Icon Vertical Position	C I con Vertical Position - Reversed
6 Fixtures Selected	🗸 Apply

Auto delay dialog

The auto delay works by automatically and systematically applying a delay value for the <u>movement macro</u> 102 to each selected fixture. To apply a delay to a range of fixtures, simply <u>select</u> 102 to each selected fixture. To apply a delay to a range of fixtures, simply <u>select</u> 102 the fixtures on the desktop. While the delays will normally be a part of the same sequence that contains the other macro parameters, they don't have to be - they can part of another sequence in the cue. When applying the delays, use the Macro Control to visualize the result - check **Track All Selected Fixtures** in the preferences menu.

### **Max Delay**

The delays applied to the fixtures are normally spread over a range of 0% to almost 100% (100% is identical to 0%). Use the Max Delay parameter to limit the maximum delay applied. The Max delay values ranges from 1 to 256, 256 represents the maximum delay, 128 represents a maximum 50% delay, etc. Lower the Max Delay value to generate **Follow the Leader** type of effects.



## **Delay Style**

Linear delay is applied to the fixtures in a linear fashion, ranging from 0% to 100%. For example if a linear delay (max = 255) is applied to 4 fixtures the following delays are applied: Fixture 1: delay 0% - of Max Delay. Fixture 2: delay 25% - of Max Delay Fixture 3: delay 50% - of Max Delay

Fixture 4: delay 75% - of Max Delay

The linear delay ensures that two fixtures will never get the same delay value.

Circular delay means that the fixtures are applied a linear delay in a circular (repeating) pattern. Use the **circular fixture count** value to indicate how many fixtures in the pattern. For example if a circular delay is applied to 6 fixtures with a fixture count of 3 the following delays are applied :

Fixture 1: delay 0% - of Max Delay Fixture 2: delay 33% - of Max Delay Fixture 3: delay 66% - of Max Delay Fixture 4: delay 0% - of Max Delay (repeating the pattern) Fixture 5: delay 33% - of Max Delay Fixture 6: delay 66% - of Max Delay

Segments applies the delay to the fixtures in segments. This usually means that two more fixtures in the delay order (see later) will get the same delay. The function will divide the fixtures into the number of segments indicated in the **segments** value, so if 6 fixtures are applied a segmented delay with a segment count of 3, the following delays are applied to the fixtures:

Fixture 1: delay 0% - of Max Delay Fixture 2: delay 0% - of Max Delay Fixture 3: delay 33% - of Max Delay Fixture 4: delay 33% - of Max Delay Fixture 5: delay 66% - of Max Delay Fixture 6: delay 66% - of Max Delay Random delay is applied to the fixtures randomly (taking the Max Delay value into account).

## **Delay Order**

Use delay order to in which order the delay values are applied to the fixtures. The order can be either by fixture number or fixture icon horizontal or vertical position.

## 7.3.5.4 Position presets

## What is a position preset

Presets, are also known as 'preset focus' (position focus, not optical focus). Scenes containing presets for effects contain references rather than an absolute 'physical' values. The result generated by the sequences depends on the actual contents of the reference, not the absolute contents of the scene. LightJockey implements presets for pan/tilt positions only. The maximum number of position presets that can be created is 99.

### Example of using presets:

When programming for a band on tour, it is often useful to use presets for beam positions rather than absolute pan/tilt values via the pan/tilt position control. For example, when lighting the drummer, create and use a preset rather than moving the pan and tilt values directly to the drummer position in every relevant scene. Later, when in another venue, or when the drummer position or the fixtures are physically moved, simply change the values that are contained in the preset; now all every scene where the 'drummer' preset is used will automatically use the new physical values. Without presets every fixture in every scene that lights the drummer will have to be modified one by one. Also, since it is possible to name a preset, it is often much faster to apply named positions to fixtures, rather than have to move them one by one to the desired position. It is not necessary to move fixtures to the same physical position in a preset, a preset could easily contain a for example beam fan pattern. It is also possible to use different presets for different fixtures on the same scene, for example 2 fixtures on preset 'drummer', and 2 on preset 'lead vocal.

## **Using position presets**

The position preset dialog is accessed through the **Preset** menu on the pan/tilt position control

+‡+ Positi	on Presets 🛛 💌				
Preference	es <u>H</u> clp				
Preset#	Preset Name				
001	Drums				
002	Lead G · solo 1				
003	Michael				
004	Brass				
005	Brass Solo				
006	Lead G - solo 2				
007	Michael front stage				
.008	Lead G				
8 Presets					
	🛎 Save Preset				
C Master Fixture					
<ul> <li>Selected Fixtures</li> </ul>					
C All Fixtures ☐→					

Position preset dialog

## **Creating and editing presets**

Before any presets can be applied to fixtures, they must be created first. Create a preset by moving the individual fixtures to the desired position and click **Save Preset** (hint : give the preset a good name that identifies that position clearly - this will save time later when editing presets). The saved preset will now be displayed in the list. When saving a <u>new preset</u>, a value will be saved for all fixtures - fixtures excluded by the fixture selection (see below) will save the default top/left pan/tilt position. When <u>editing an existing preset</u> the fixture selection will decide for which fixtures the preset is modified.

```
Master fixture
Selected Fixtures
All Fixtures
```

This will modify values for the  $\underline{master}|\mathfrak{s}|$  fixture only This will modify values for all selected fixtures.

This will modify values for all fixtures.

## Make sure that the correct preset is selected in the preset list before re-saving the preset.

## **Applying presets to fixtures**

There are two methods to apply existing presets to fixtures.



Applying presets from the pan/tilt control

The first method is to open the preset dialog, and high-light a preset in the list, and then use the apply button on the <u>pan/tilt control</u>. This will apply the preset to all <u>selected</u> fixtures. The second method is to select highlight the preset line in the preset list, and then click **Apply**. Or simply double-click the preset line. When using the dialog the local selection filter is used:

Master fixture Selected Fixtures All Fixtures This will apply the preset to the master fixture only. This will apply the preset to the selected fixtures. This will apply the preset to all fixtures



Once a preset has been to a fixture applied, the pan/tilt coordinates in the bottom of the position control will be replaced by the preset name.

## **Clearing presets**

There are several ways to clear an applied preset. The easiest is to select **Clear** on the position control, this will 'dissolve' the preset into the pan and tilt values contained in the preset. Alternatively click **Clear** on the preset list, and set the fixture selection accordingly. Finally, any changes in pan and tilt values in the position control, will clear automatically clear the preset and replace the preset with the physical pan and tilt values.

### **Deleting presets**

To delete a preset, right-click the preset in the list and select **Delete preset**. Note that it is possible to delete a preset that is all ready in use in sequences.

### **Auto Apply Preset**

The preferences menu contains an option to automatically apply the preset to the fixtures when saving the preset. Saving with this option enabled is identical to first saving the preset, and then clicking **Apply** on the preset list.

## 7.3.5.5 Non pan/tilt movement controls

A number of built in fixture profiles implements movement controls that aren't really traditional pan tilt controls. Examples are Martin Wizard, SynchroZap or Centerpiece. Although accessed the same way as the pan/tilt position control, they do not include options such as <u>position presets</u> and <u>position presets</u>. Often the controls are used to set continuous movement such as rotation of the mirror drum of the Martin Wizard as well as a static position such as the swivel position of the Wizard's mirror drum.



# 7.3.6 Color control

## 7.3.6.1 Color controls for built in profiles

Click the color icon icon fixture tool bar access the fixture color control.



Color control for Roboscan 1220 CMYR with two color wheels, wheel scroll and CMY color mixing The control implements two methods for selecting a color. Use the scroll control at the select a color.

Click to select next or previous colors on the wheel. Click to position the color wheel between colors for a split color effect use the split buttons (not all fixtures allow selection of split colors)

Alternatively, use the <u>color palette</u> [94] to select colors directly by clicking on the color icons.

## Color palette

To make a control take up less desktop space, the color palette may be hidden by de-selecting **Preferences** -> **Show palette** on the main control.
Color:		8
UserPalete Preferences Eades Help		
- I I - F		
I- H F		
Crit 4 Strobe Ott +	1	

Color controls for multi-head fixtures

RoboColor multi-head mode

- Color	\$				×
UserPale	tte Preferences	Eades Help			
OH	< I<	H F	0#	◄ Strobe	• Off

RoboColor single-head mode

Controls for fixtures with multiple heads such as the Martin RoboColors may be switched between single and multi head mode by setting **Preferences** -> **Show all heads**. When in single head mode only one control/palette appears and all heads are automatically synchronized during programming.

### **CMY Color Mixing**

Colors		×
UserPalette	Preferences Eades Help	
Fade	<ul> <li>Cyan 69,0%</li> </ul>	
Fade	<ul> <li>▲ Magenta 39,2%</li> </ul>	
Fade	✓ Yellow 45,1% ►	
		internet in the second

CMY controls

Use the drag bars to set cyan, magenta, and yellow saturation.

### **CMY Mixing Palette**

The mixing palette consists of 3 primary mix buttons, a color picker and a resulting mix color indicator. Use the three buttons to right of the CMY drag to select the primary color mix to work in cyan/magenta, yellow/magenta or cyan/yellow. Use the color picker to select a mix by dragging the mouse around the picker while holding down the left mouse button. Example: to select an orange color, select the Yellow/Magenta button and drag the mouse in the color picker to the right hand side of the box until the required orange color is found.

### **Other Color Controls**

Some profiles implements other color options as well as selecting colors - the options depend on the actual capabilities of the fixture.





Continuous rotation of the color wheel (scroll)

Use the control to set the scroll direction and speed. Not all fixtures may allow the wheel to scroll both ways.

Special Color Functions



MAC 2000 special color functions

Fixtures may implement special commands such as random color selection or random CMY. When used, LightJockey instructs the fixture to use build in effects. The special commands section may be shown or hidden by checking or un-checking **preferences** -> **Show Special** the menu.

### Fixture trigged colors

The command sets the fixture to control the color wheel in either auto or sound trigged mode, other control attributes (movement, gobos) are not affected. The actual mode is usually programmed via the <u>extended controls</u> [117]. If neither auto or music trig has been programmed, the button displays a ? indicating an unselected trig mode.



Fixture trigged: auto, sound, unselected

See also <u>color controls for user defined profiles</u> [110], <u>fade state buttons</u> [33], <u>fixture control elements</u> [34], <u>customizing palettes</u> [76]

### 7.3.6.2 Color controls for user defined profiles

Click the color icon 🛄 on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> 🖬 to access the fixture color control.



Color control for user defined profile

The actual contents of a color control depends on the <u>user defined profile</u> [256]. The control usually implements both drag bars for programming of DMX values directly and palette buttons for direct color selection (see <u>fixture control elements</u> [94]). The drag controls and palette buttons may affect one or more DMX control channels. Some controls may also implement palette buttons for color related functions such as color wheel scroll. ; functions like these may often be tweaked (e.g. the speed of the cobo wheel scroll) by adjusting the value using the corresponding drag bar. Note that the control may implement control of more than one color wheel.

### **CMY and RGB Controls**



CMY control with CMY color picker

Use the drag bars to program cyan/magenta/yellow saturation or red/green/blue saturation

respectively.

### CMY color picker

Profiles for fixtures with CMY color mixing may also implement a CMY mixing palette. The mixing palette consists of 3 primary mix buttons, a color picker and a resulting mix color indicator. Use the three buttons to right of the CMY drag bars to select the primary color mix to work in cyan/magenta, yellow/magenta or cyan/yellow. Use the color picker to select a mix by dragging the mouse around the picker while holding down the left mouse button.

Example: to select an orange color, select the Yellow/Magenta button and drag the mouse in the color picker to the right hand side of the box until the required orange color is obtained.

**HSV** controls



RGB control with HSV control bars

Fixtures with RGB control may color selection implement Hue, Saturation and Value control bars (or just the Hue control bar for fixtures with independent intensity control). Note that setting RGB values through HSV controls sets fade state for all 3 RGB channels.

See also <u>fade state buttons</u>, <u>user definable fixtures</u>, <u>fixture control elements</u>, <u>color controls for built-in fixtures</u>

### 7.3.7 Gobo control

7.3.7.1 Gobo controls for built in profiles

Click  $\square$  on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> [57] to access the fixture gobo controls.

### **Controlling static gobos**



MX-4 with one static gobo wheel

The control implements two methods for selecting a Gobo. Using the scroll control 94 : Click

to select a full gobo or to position the gobo wheel between gobos for a split gobo effect. Note that not all fixtures may allow split gobo positions.



Alternatively, use the <u>gobo palette</u> at to select gobos directly by clicking on the individual gobo icons. The gobo palette may be hidden by un-checking **preferences** -> **show palette** in the controls preferences menu - check **show palette** to make the palette visible again.

### **Rotating Gobos**

				Gobo Index	►
Snap	Index Gobo Modelte Gobo	Fade	6	Gobo Rotation	►

MAC500/Roboscan 918 Rotating gobo controls

Select rotating gobos the same way as selecting fixed gobos, using either the scroll control or the gobo palette.

### Gobo Indexing



If the fixture is capable of indexing the gobo use the index drag bar to set the actual gobo index. For profiles with 16-bit gobo index, hold down [Shift] and [Ctrl] keys to increase the changes in index when

clicking the \_\_\_\_\_buttons.

### Gobo Rotation



Use the rotation control to set rotation direction using the CW and CCW buttons and speed using the drag bar.

### Rotating gobo mode



Profiles may often use the same control channel for rotation and indexing parameters. In this case it is not possible to program individual rotation and indexing parameters in the same scene (it would also not make much sense) - setting a rotation value effects the index value and changing the index value effects the rotation values. The actual response from the fixture (rotation or index) is determined by the rotation mode setting. Use the rotation mode buttons to select mode - note that it is usually not possible to rotate the first open gobo.

### **Other Gobo Controls**

Some fixtures offer other gobo options as well as selecting or rotating gobos.



Gobo shake, the fixture 'shakes' the gobo wheel around the selected gobo. Use the "gobo shake" control to enable and adjust the speed of the gobo shake. Note that the fixture may not implement gobo shake on all selectable gobos.



Continuous rotation of the gobo wheel. Use the control to set the scroll direction and speed. Not all

fixtures with gobo wheel scroll may allow the wheel to scroll both ways.



Gobo swing instructs the fixture to 'swing' the selected gobo (rotate the gobo wheel back and forth). Use the control to set the swing speed and amplitude.

### **Special Gobo functions**

Some fixtures may implement uncommon special functions. Check Show Special in the gobo controls preferences menu to see any special functions. Un-check Show Special to hide any special functions.



MiniMac profile random gobo settings

### **Fixture Trigged Gobos**

Available on the Martin MX/CX series. The command sets the fixture to control the gobo wheel in either auto or sound trigged mode, other control attributes (movement, colors) are not affected. The actual mode is programmed via extended controls [117]. If neither auto or music trig has been programmed, the button displays a ? indicating an unselected trig mode.



Fixture trigged: auto, sound, unselected

See also gobo controls for user defined profiles [113], fade state buttons [93], fixture control elements [94], customizing palettes 76

#### 7.3.7.2 Gobo controls for user defined profiles



The actual contents of the gobo control depends entirely on the user defined profile  $|247\rangle$ . The control usually implements both drag bars for programming of DMX values directly and palette buttons for direct gobo selection. The drag controls and palette buttons may affect one or more DMX control channels. Drag controls are also often used to control functions such as gobo rotation or indexing, or gobo wheel scroll. Some controls may also implement palette buttons for gobo related functions such as gobo wheel scroll; functions like these may often be tweaked (e.g. the speed of the gobo wheel scroll) by adjusting the value using the corresponding drag bar. Note that the control may implement

Stor

control of more than one gobo wheel.

See also gobo controls for built in profiles [11], fade state buttons [93], fixture control elements [94], customizing palettes [76]

### 7.3.8 Beam control

### 7.3.8.1 Beam controls for built in fixtures

Click on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> to open the beam control. The beam control is used to control beam-related effects such as focus, zoom, iris, beam shapers and frost effects.

Beam		×
<u>U</u> serPalette	Preferences Eades Help	
Off	Iris 0,0%	•
Off A	Focus 0,0%	÷

MAC500 beam Control

Beam								×
UserPalet	te E	peferences Eades Help						
Of		inis 0,0%	•	liis Pulse	Open	Core	< Pulse	011
OH I	10	Focus 0,0%		Random I to Pulse	Open Fast	Open Slow	Close Fast	Close Slow
OH I		Zoon 0,0%						
04		Frost 0,0%						

MAC 2000 beam control with iris pulse control

Use the drag bars to set the effect values. The profile may implement <u>special functions controls</u> to access effects such as automated iris pulse.

See also fade state buttons [93], fixture control elements [94], beam controls for user defined profiles [114]

### 7.3.8.2 Beam controls for user defined profiles

Click  $\sum$  on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> 57 to open the beam control.



Beam control

The beam control is used to control beam effects such as focus, zoom, iris, beam shapers and frost effects; The actual contents of the control depends on the <u>user defined profile</u> 256. Use the drag bars to set values for the individual effects.

See also <u>fade state buttons</u> [33], <u>user definable fixtures</u> [247], <u>fixture control elements</u> [347], <u>beam controls for built in profiles</u> [114]

### 7.3.9 Effect control

### 7.3.9.1 Effect controls for built in profiles

Click on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> to access the effects control. Effect controls typically controls effects such as prisms in scanners or moving heads or various rotating effects in intelligent club/DJ effects.

Sta	tic	eff	ect	ts

💥 Effect	ts 🔀	
<u>U</u> serPalet	tte <u>P</u> references <u>F</u> ades <u>H</u> elp	
Off		

Roboscan 518 with one static effect wheel

Use the <u>scroll control</u> of to select an effect: click **I** to select a full effect, and **I** to position the effect wheel between effects for a split effect. Not all fixtures may allow split effect positions.



Alternatively, use the <u>palette</u> at to select effects directly by clicking on the individual effect icons. The effect palette may be hidden by un-checking **show palette** in the control preferences menu - check **show palette** to make the palette visible.

### **Controls for a single effect**

瓣 Effec	ts				×
UserPale	tte Ead	es <u>H</u> elp			
Snap	•	୬(୯	•	30,0%	►

Mac 500 Effect Control (single prism)

Some fixtures such as the MAC 500 implement a single effect only. In this case click the 'effect button' to enable or disable the effect.



MAC 2000 rotating effects control

Select rotating effects the same way as selecting fixed effects, using either the scroll control or the effect palette.

### Effect indexing



If the fixture is capable of indexing the effect use the index drag bar to set the actual index. On fixtures with 16-bit effect index, hold down [Shift] and [Ctrl] keys to increase the changes in index when clicking

the \_\_\_\_\_ buttons.

# Effect rotation

Use the rotation control to set rotation direction using the CW and CCW buttons and speed using the drag bar.

### Rotation mode

Index Rotate

Fixtures may often use the same control channel for rotation and indexing parameters. In this case it is not possible to program individual rotation and indexing parameters in the same scene (it would also not make much sense) - setting a rotation value effects the index value and changing the index value effects the rotation values. The actual response from the fixture (rotation or index) is determined by the rotation mode setting. Use the rotation mode buttons to select mode - note that it is usually not possible to rotate the first open effect.

Other e	effect types		
💥 Effec	ts		
<u>U</u> serPale	tte <u>F</u> ades <u>H</u> elp		
Snap	• • •	41,8%	Þ
_			_

68.1

Punisher effect control

Snap

Some effect controls may control other types of effects as well. In the above example the effect control is used to set the rotation direction and speed, as well as the shaking effect of the Punisher mirror parabola.



Some fixtures may implement <u>special controls</u>, such as macros or random functions. Check **Show Special** in the effect controls preferences menu to see any special functions. Un-check **Show Special** to hide any special functions.

See also <u>fade state buttons</u>, <u>fixture control elements</u>, <u>customizing palettes</u>, <u>effect controls for user defined profiles</u>

### 7.3.9.2 Effect controls for user defined profiles

Click on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> to open to the Effects control. Effect controls typically controls effects such as prisms in scanners or moving heads and various rotating effects in intelligent club/DJ effects.



The actual contents of the effect control depends entirely on the <u>user defined profile</u> <sup>[247]</sup>. The control usually implements both drag bars for programming of DMX values directly and palette buttons for direct effect selection. The drag controls and palette buttons may affect one or more DMX control channels. Drag controls are also often used to control functions such as prism rotation or indexing, or effect wheel scroll. Some controls may also implement palette buttons for effect related functions such as effect wheel scroll. Note that the control may implement control of more than one effect wheel or type of effect.

See also <u>fade state buttons</u> [93], <u>fixture control elements</u> [94], <u>customizing palettes</u> [76], effect controls for built in profiles [115]

### 7.3.10 Extended controls

### 7.3.10.1 Extended controls for built in profiles

Click extended controls from on <u>fixture tool bar</u> to access extended controls (Note: for <u>generic DMX fixture profiles</u> and <u>user definable profiles</u> this will access the <u>extended level controls</u> [118]).

Besides a programmable fixture reset, the extended controls may include functions that takes influences several types of programmable effects. Not all fixtures implements extended controls.



Programmable reset control

This function is almost identical to the reset function on the <u>fixture tool bar</u>  $[5^{+}]$  - however, when used, the reset command becomes part of the current scene. This may be useful when the fixtures are running unattended but within reach of an audience which may be touching mirrors etc. Take care not to program resets into sequences by mistake - use the fixture tool bar icon for regular resets. See also resetting fixtures, built in profiles  $12^{-}$ 



Fixture stand alone control

Some fixtures may support activation of stand-alone mode via DMX. In stand alone mode it is the fixture that performs via internal firmware programming and while in stand alone mode any other commands sent from the controller are ignored. Stand alone mode offers no possibility of synchronization from the controller. Sound stand-alone will use the internal microphone of the fixture as source. Note that activating stand-alone commands oftens overwrite other commands such as lamp and reset commands since the commands may use the same control channel.

Speed controls			
Pan/Tilt Settings		Effects Settings	
Tracking     Speed		C Tracking	
C Normal		C Shortcuts Disabled	
C Fast	Slw	C Shortcuts Enabled	136
C B/O while moving	-	C B/O while moving	-

Roboscan 918-S speed controls

The extended speed controls are split into two types:

### Pan/tilt settings

These settings only have an effect on pan and tilt.

Tracking - with this setting the fixture will calculate a movement speed according to the DMX signal received from the LightJockey. This means that a 5 second movement fade will move the pan and tilt to the new position in 5 seconds.

Speed - this assigns a specific *speed* to the fixture. The fixture will move pan and tilt with that constant speed regardless of the fades rates calculated in LightJockey. Use the fader on the right to assign the speed value.

Normal mode - this will override the fast setting in the fixture and force normal mode.

Fast mode - this will override the normal setting in the fixture and force fast mode.

B/O while moving - this will prompt the fixture to shut off the light while the pan and tilt is moving to a new position. This should not be used when moving pan and tilt in slow fading scenes.

### **Effect Settings**

These settings will usually have effect on any other effect (color, gobo, intensity etc). Tracking - the fixture will calculate effect speeds according to the DMX signals received from LightJockey. This means that for example that a color change programmed as a 5 second fade will take 5 seconds.

Speed - this will assign a specific fixed speed to all effects. They will no longer move according to any fades programmed into scenes. Use the fader on the right to assign the speed value. In certain instances this is the only way to control speeds on some effects (e.g. gobo shake speed on the RoboScan 918-S or MAC 500-S).

Shortcuts Disabled - this will override the shortcut enabled setting in the fixture.

Shortcuts Enabled - this will override the shortcut disabled setting in the fixture.

B/O When Moving - when enabled the fixture will cut off the light output while effects are moving, for example to hide a shift from one gobo to another.

### Shortcuts

Some fixtures implement a shortcut feature. Shortcut means that the fixture will use the shortest/fastest route to the new effect position. For example on a color wheel, when shortcut is disabled, the fixture will go the 'long way' from the first to the last color. If shortcut is enabled, the fixture will move the 'shortest' distance (the other way around).

See also <u>fade state buttons</u> at <u>fixture control elements</u> at <u>extended controls for user defined profiles</u> at <u>state buttons</u> at <u>state buttons at <u>state butt</u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u></u>

### 7.3.10.2 Extended controls for user defined profiles

Click extended controls III from on fixture tool bar 57 to access extended controls. The extended

controls are used for controlling functions that does not fit well into the predefined fixture functions such as color or gobo palettes. The control mimics a standard 8-bit DMX fader layout (DMX channel based, values from 0 to 255). Since the control doesn't really reflect the effect it is often necessary to refer to the fixture DMX protocol when using the extended controls (note: some profiles have DMX values documented in profile notes).



Example of extended control for user defined profile (barn door control)

See also fade state buttons 33, extended controls for built in profiles 117

### 7.3.11 Lamp controls

### 7.3.11.1 Lamp controls for built in fixtures

The lamp control is accessed by clicking on the <u>fixture tool bar</u>. The control is only available for fixtures with discharge lamps. Use the <u>intensity control</u> is to control lamp power to fixtures with halogen lamps. Since discharge lamps often take several minutes to re-strike and frequent re-striking wears out the lamp faster, it is not advisable to power off the lamps just to re-strike a few minutes later.



Lamp control for built-in profile

Click to program a lamp strike command. Note: some Martin fixtures are capable of measuring the time between when the lamp was powered off and the strike command. If this time is less than the lamp cool down time (typically 3-6 minutes) the fixture will refuse to strike the lamp. In this case the fixture may display a display message such as "HOT" in the display.

Click to program a lamp off command. Many fixtures require that the lamp-off command is left 'active' for at least 5 seconds or more before actually powering off the lamp.

The lamp commands often use the same control address as shutter and strobe commands so when programming a lamp commands sequences into a cue, make sure that no other sequence with higher priority overwrites the commands.

### Lamp off Warning

Both lamp strike and lamp off commands are programmed into the scene, so be careful not to unintentionally include a lamp off into the current sequence.

When lamp off command is selected a warning dialog is shown - click yes to confirm the command.

Confirm				×
?	Lamp Power Off (Warning : this comm	nand will be s	tored in the cu	rrent scene)
	Yes	Cancel	Help	

Lamp off warning

Many newer fixtures that are equipped with a display have the capability of disabling lamp off commands via DMX. This is to avoid sending a lamp off by mistake, when using a conventional DMX console without fixture profiles. Refer to the fixture documentation for how to enable the lamp on and off commands.

See also fade state buttons [93], fixture control elements [94], lamp controls for user defined profiles [120]

### 7.3.11.2 Lamp controls for user defined profiles

The lamp control is accessed by clicking the lamp icon in the fixture tool bar in the control is only available for fixtures that support either lamp on or off commands or both. The command is stored as part of the current scene, this means that if the sequence is saved and later used, this command will power off the lamp. Powering off discharge lamps usually means that they will have to cool down before being able to re-strike. Typically this will take 3 to 8 minutes.

Striking the lamps often will cause a significantly lower lamp life-time, so only power off lamps when necessary.



Lamp control for user defined profiles

See also fade state buttons [93], lamp controls for built in profiles [119]

### 7.3.12 Reset control

### 7.3.12.1 Resetting fixtures, built in profiles

A reset command instructs the fixture to re-align their mechanical parts to the default position and possibly also it's internal 'logic'. While resetting, fixtures will not respond to any commands.

### Immediate reset command

For most built in profiles there are two ways to send a reset command to the fixture. Send an

immediate reset command by selecting the relevant fixtures, then click Solution on the fixture tool bar solution.



Programmable reset control

To include a reset command in a scene see <u>extended controls for built in profiles</u> [11]. Note that when a reset command is programmed the following warning will appear - click yes to include the reset command.



Programmable reset warning

See also resetting fixtures, user defined profiles 121

### 7.3.12.2 Resetting fixtures, user defined profiles

A reset command instructs the fixture to re-align their mechanical parts to the default position and possibly also it's internal 'logic'. While resetting, fixtures will not respond to any commands. Note that not all fixtures and profiles support reset commands through DMX (please refer to fixtures documentation).

### Immediate reset command

Send an immediate reset command by selecting the relevant fixtures, then click Solution on the fixture tool bar. The immediate reset command does not get stored in any sequence.

### Programmable reset command

To include a reset command in a scene, use one of the control channels usually exposed in <u>extended controls for user defined profiles</u> 118 - please refer to fixture protocol documentation for exact control channel and DMX value for reset command.

See also resetting fixtures, built in profiles 120

# 8 Smoke machines and hazers

# 8.1 Controlling DMX smoke machines and hazers

DMX smoke machines and hazers may be controlled from LightJockey either via generic smoke machine/hazer profiles or via built-in profiles for specific products. These profiles are automatically linked to the <u>smoke control</u> 12 - to control smoke machines or hazers without linking to the smoke control, use a suitable <u>generic DMX profile</u> 1. Note that output (smoke for smoke machine profiles, haze and fan levels higher than 0 for hazer profiles) generated by the smoke control always overrides values programmed into scenes. If the smoke control is generating output the profiles smoke machine / hazer control will automatically flash a Smoke control active! or Haze control active! warning to indicate that the current output is generated by the smoke control rather than the individual profile control.

Note that some smoke machines/hazers may have special functions allocated to control channels which may cause unwanted side effects when using the smoke/hazer control - please refer to specific product documentation.

### **Generic profiles**

### Generic DMX Smoke machine profile

The profile can be found under the Generic heading in the <u>fixture configuration</u> and dialog.



Generic smoke machine icon and control

The profile implements control for single channel DMX smoke machines. In order to work with this profile the smoke machine must have zero output at DMX value 0 and full output at DMX value 255. Note that the level of smoke on some smoke machines may not correspond to the level indicated on the 'smoke level' bar. Also, some smoke machines may switch off the heater when DMX value 0 is received, to keep the heater on at all times a default DMX value may be set via default DMX output [53].

### Generic DMX Hazer profile

This profile implements control for DMX controlled hazers. The profile can be found under the Generic heading in the <u>fixture configuration</u> dialog



Generic hazer icon and control

The profile uses two DMX channels - the first channel is assigned to control the haze output level (values 0-255), the second to control the speed of the fan (values 0-255). Hazers may be controlled with this profile if they have a compatible protocol (output level on first DMX channel, fan on second channel and no more than 2 DMX channels total) or by patching control channels using the global patch dialog 201.

### **Build in profiles**

Built in profiles, such as the profile for Jem ZR 24/7 Hazer allows more precise control over special functions such as auto fan selection. The control values generated by the <u>smoke control</u> are automatically converted/scaled to match the products valid control value ranges to avoid unwanted side effects by calling up special functions.



Control for Jem ZR 24/7 hazer

# 8.2 The smoke control

The smoke control is accessible via on the <u>fixture tool bar</u>. The smoke control allows immediate control of DMX compatible smoke machines and hazers independently of programming. To utilize the smoke control the smoke machine(s) or hazer(s) must be configured using the <u>DMX smoke machine or DMX hazer</u> with the smoke control takes control of all DMX smoke machines or hazers that are configured using these profiles. Once configured, the smoke machine or hazer can be programmed as any other fixture, or it may be controlled independently via the smoke control overriding any programs.

Note that with some built-in profiles such as Jem Roadie X-treme, smoke level and output is controlled via the smoke control, while fan level is controlled by the hazer control - please refer to

fixture notes 59.



The smoke control

### **Smoke machine control**

The Smoke control has two parts - the left part controls smoke machines by emulating a smoke machine remote control - the right side is used to set a continuous level of haze on a DMX hazer without the need to program the smoke level into scenes or the <u>default DMX output</u> [53].

Smoke Button - clicking and holding **Smoke** will instruct the smoke machines to smoke for as long as it is held down.

### Using the timer

Timer - enables and disables smoke controls automatic cycle function.

Cycle - the cycle time is represented by the cycle fader and has 32 different levels, ranging from 5 seconds to 60 minutes. When the timer is enabled, the control will repeat the cycle continuously. Duration - the duration fader sets the length of time in which the smoke machine is instructed to smoke once every cycle, at the end of the cycle.

Level - the level fader represents the output level at which the smoke machine is instructed to smoke. Reset- Clicking **Reset** resets the cycle time, and restart the cycle.

The small vertical bar in the right hand side of the smoke control illustrates the cycle time (total height), the duration (white part of the bar) and the elapsed cycle time (red line). During activation of smoke output, either via the smoke button or via the timer function, any smoke levels programmed into scenes will be overridden.

### **Haze Control**

The haze control may be used to set an output and fan level on a DMX hazer without the need to program the level into scenes. The hazer controls does not use the timer function, the output and fan levels set are always active and are sent continuously to the hazer. The level and fan values will override any levels programmed into scenes as soon as the output level or fan level is set above 0.

### Preferences menu

View haze control - view or hide the haze controls (hiding does not disable the haze controls). Enable timer on startup - the smoke timer will be activated as soon as LightJockey starts up. Reset cycle on smoke- clicking **Smoke** will automatically reset the cycle time.

Smoke button use level - the output generated by clicking **smoke** is identical to the level set with the level fader. If this option is disabled the smoke machine will be instructed to smoke with max output (DMX value 255) when the smoke button is pressed.

Smoke button toggle X seconds -- these options makes it possible to output smoke for a longer time using the **Smoke** button without holding down the mouse button. For example if the 'Smoke button toggle 4-5 seconds' option is selected the button will stay pressed for another 4-5 seconds after the mouse button is released. This option only works when clicking the smoke button directly, not when the smoke button is activated through hotkey [205] or via the 2532 or DMX-in.

# 9 The sequence control

### 9.1 The sequence control

The sequence control is used to program and execute the <u>current sequence</u> 18. To open the



The sequence control

### Saving and loading sequences

Lo open the <u>save sequence dialog</u> العامي to open the <u>save sequence dialog</u> العام.

Click to open the List of sequences 12. Use this list to select an already existing sequence to load into the current sequence 18.

### New sequence

Click

Click Let to clear the current sequence and create a new, empty sequence. If the current sequence is not saved before a new sequence is created, it will be lost.

### **Deleting sequence files**

To an delete an existing sequence file, see <u>list of sequences</u> 127 or <u>deleting multiple data files</u> 48. Note: Save, load and new icons are all duplicated on the <u>sequence/cue tool bar</u> 55.

### Adding, inserting and deleting scenes

Click **to** add another scene to the end of the sequence. The content of the current scene is copied to the new scene. The maximum number of scenes in a sequence is 999.

Click to open up the insert scene dialog 128

Click to open up the <u>delete scenes dialog</u> [129]

### **Previous and next scene**

Previous and next scene are only enabled if the sequence has more than one scene. Click to go to the previous or next scene in the current sequence. Upon reaching the first or last scene the sequence will loop to 'the other end'. Alternatively, right-click the button to go directly to the first or last scene of the sequence.

### Sequence playback

These buttons will execute (playback) the sequence either in reverse or forward. The playback will use the programmed <u>scene and fade times</u> (see below). It is possible to disable the use if fade time when using the playback function (see below). During playback the elapsed scene and

fade times are illustrated by these lines

. The blue line illustrates the elapsed scene time,

the red line illustrates the elapsed fade time.



Use these controls to change the scene and fade time for the current scene. Use the up/down buttons to change the times, or type the time directly (click the field to activate, then type the new value). It is possible to assign an individual scene and fade time to each scene. For new sequences, the default scene and fade times defaults to 1.00 seconds and 0.05 seconds respectively.

Use the following options when setting scene and sequence times: Synchronize scene and fade time - this will synchronize the scene and fade time so they are identical. Global Scene Time - this will cause all scenes to use the same scene time. Global Fade Time - this will cause all scenes to use the same fade time.



This menu option will toggle between 'enable fade' and 'disable fade'.

When fade is **enabled**, using playback or previous/next buttons, the sequence will execute using the programmed fade time. When fade is **disabled**, all effects will snap to the new position, regardless of fade time and fade state. This option often makes it faster to browse through a sequence with long fade times since it is not necessary to wait for the fade to complete before evaluating the scene contents. Note that the fade disable is only effective the sequence control while editing. As soon as the sequence becomes part of a cue, it will use the programmed fade time and effect fades.

Click Store to switch the sequence control into blind mode - see sequence blind mode field for details.

### Add To current cue



This button will add the sequence to the current cue, provided there is enough free slots left in the  $\underline{\text{cue control}}$  (132). As the cue relates to sequence numbers, this button will only be enabled if the sequence has been previously saved (saving the sequence assigns a number to new sequences).

### **Snapshot**

Select Snapshot from the menu to record current DMX output values to the current scene or sequence - see <u>Snapshot and recording from DMX output</u> from the details.

See also basic programming terms and elements 18

### 9.2 Save sequence dialog

The save sequence dialog is accessed by clicking 2 located on the sequence/cue tool bar so and on the sequence control 124.



Save sequence dialog

Seq #	Sequence Name	Sequence Type	
0035	FX 918 move screen	<none></none>	۲

Seq # - a number that is used to uniquely identify the sequence. The number is applied to the sequence when saving the sequence for the first time, so for a new sequence this field will be blank until the sequence is saved. It is not possible for users to modify the sequence number. Sequence name - this is the sequence name that is used through out LightJockey. The name can be changed at any point, providing that the sequence is re-saved after the name has been changed. Since the sequence number uniquely identifies the sequence, the name has no other function than identifying the sequence to the user.

Sequence Type - it is possible to assign a pre-defined sequence type to the sequence. Currently the sequence type is reserved for future use and has no effect, other than being able to act as a sort key in the list of available sequences 127.

Click Save as New Sequence to save the current sequence to a new sequence file (and assign a new sequence number). Both new sequences and sequences that has previously been saved may be saved as new a sequence. If an already existing sequence is saved as a new sequence, the old, original sequence is left intact (much like saving a document with a new filename in a word processor).

Click <u>Save Sequence</u> to re-save a sequence that has previously been saved. Saving the sequence will overwrite the contents of the original sequence.

### **Save options**

Clear after Save	Create <u>n</u> ew Cue
📕 🖾 Add Sequence to Current Cue	Autosave Current Cu

Clear after Save - enabling this option to automatically clear the contents of the current sequence after it has been saved. This is the same as selecting <u>new sequence</u> 124 after the sequence is saved. Add Sequence to Current Cue - this option will add the sequence to the current cue after the sequence has been saved. The sequence is only added once so if it already is part of the current cue, it will not be added a second time. Check **Show Add to Cue Slot** in the preference menu to force the sequence to be added to a specific slot in the <u>cue control</u> 132. When enabled the sequence will be added to the cure in the selected slot number, unless it is already part of the current cue. Select the slot from the drop down list to the right. The list contains a *default* option for the default sequence slot, and entries for the 12 individual slots in the cue control. Note that the cue slot names are <u>user definable</u> 143. If the option is disabled the sequence will always be added in the default slot.

	CINIE/	
Add to Cue in Slot	Movement	•
Clear after Save	Create new Cue	

Adding the sequence to the cue in a specific slot

Create New Cue - this will automatically create a new cue when the sequence is saved and add the sequence to the cue. The cue will be given the name of the sequence. Use this option (and auto save current cue) as a time saver when writing sequences that are the basis of a cue, or when writing cues that only consists of one sequence.

Autosave Current Cue - this will automatically save the current cue after the sequence is saved.

### **Preferences Menu**

Auto Close - When enabled the dialog closes automatically when the sequence is saved. Save on [Enter] - When checked the [Enter] key on the keyboard acts as hotkey for the Save and Save New buttons.

Quicksave use Save Options - when checked, <u>quick-saving</u> by the sequence uses the various save options (clear, add etc.). If not checked, save options are ignored.

Show 'Add to Cue Slot' - shows the *add to cue in slot* list (see above)

See also <u>sequence control</u> 124, <u>system preferences</u> 50 (quick save options).

### 9.3 List of sequences

The *list of sequences* contains all previously saved sequences. The list is opened by clicking located on the left hand side of the <u>sequence/cue tool bar</u> for the <u>sequence control</u> 124. Use the list to select sequences for various purposes including loading into the current sequence and adding a sequence to a cue.

Preferences Help						
Seq No	Sequence Name	Types	Scenes	Modified		
0001	Light 918 100%	Intensity Snap	1	10-12-98 15:04:40		
0002	focus 918 open	Beam Snap	1	10-12-98 15:04:55		
0003	Pos 918 spread screen	Movement Snap	1	10-12-98 15:05:02		
0004	focus 918 totalv out	Beam Fade	1	10-12-98 15:05:08		
0005	prism 918 in no rotation	Effects Snap	1	10-12-98 15:05:16		
0006	light 518 100%	Intensity Snap	1	10-12-98 15:05:20		
0007	pos 518 screen prism	Movement Fade	1	10-12-98 15:05:25		
8000	col 918 rainbow 1	Color/Multil Snap	1	10-12-98 15:05:31		
0009	col 518 multi 1	Color/Multil Snap	1	10-12-98 15:05:37		
0010	Light 918 518 100%	Intensity Snap	1	10-12-98 15:05:42		
0011	pos all center screen	Movement Fade	1	10-12-98 15:05:47		

### List of sequences

### **Preferences menu**

There are several ways select sequences from the list. Sequences in the list may also be selected directly to various targets depending on options set in the **preferences** menu.

### Drag Mode

This is the default mode for the sequence list. When in this mode it is possible to load the sequence into the current sequence in the following ways:

- 1. Drag the sequence from the list to an empty spot on the desktop.
- 2. Right-click the sequence line and select "Edit Sequence" from the popup menu.
- 3. Double-click the sequence line
- 4. Highlight the sequence line and press [Enter] on the keyboard.

In general, when in drag mode, sequences can be dragged from this list to their intended targets, possible targets includes the <u>cue control</u> (132), where sequences may be placed in cue slots by dragging them from the list to the cue control.

For certain purposes (for example when selecting a sequence for auto startup), the list contains an Ok button. To select the sequence, highlight it and click Ok.

Browse to Edit - This will load the highlighted sequence into the current sequence without double click or [Enter]. Use the mouse or keyboard to highlight the sequence lines. When using the keyboard, the window must have focus for the keys to work.

Browse to Cue - This will move the highlighted sequence into the cue, provided there is enough free slots. To move the sequence into a specific slot in the cue, highlight the slot in the cue and then browse the sequences.

### Columns

By default, the displays the following information about each sequence:

Seq No The unique number that identifies the sequence.

Sequence Name The name given to the sequence by the user.

TypesThe sequence type assigned to the sequence. See save sequence dialogScenesThe number of scenes in the sequence.

Modified The time of the last modification to the sequence.

The Preferences menu contains options to hide or show any of these columns. If the user does not need all information, hiding some of the columns may free space on the desktop (Preferences -> Columns)

Default visible columns - sets visible columns to default width

Default view - sets default columns and default width

### **Sorting Sequences**

It is possible to sort the list by the contents in each the columns. Click on the column header to sort the list in ascending order according to the column contents.

### Sequence popup menu.

Right-click on any line containing a sequence to bring up the menu:

Edit sequence - load the sequence file into the <u>current sequence</u> 18.

Add Sequence To Cue - adds the sequence to the current cue.

Add to BG Cue - add the sequence to the current <u>background cue</u> [167]. If all slots are filled in the background cue the sequence will overwrite the sequence in the last slot.

Add to 2510 list - This option is only available if the 2510 list control is open.

Delete the sequence file - deletes the sequence file. To delete multiple sequences at once, select **System -> Delete Files -> Sequences** from the main desktop menu 47.

### 9.4 Inserting scenes

Click \_\_\_\_ on the sequence control 124 to open the insert scene dialog.

🛃 Insert Scene(s) before cur	rent scene 🛛 🗶
Preferences Help	
Copy current scene	Number of scenes 1
Insert from current sequent	ce from 1 to 5
• Copy from Sequenc	from 1 to 1
Select seq 🖄	
🗸 ОК	X Cancel

Insert scene(s) dialog

The insert scene implements the following options for inserting new scenes (before the current scenes) into the sequence:

Copy current scene - this will insert one or more new scenes before the current scene, and copy the content of the current scene to the new scene(s). Use **Number of Scenes** to specify the number of scenes to insert.

Insert from current sequence from scene - this will copy and insert a number of existing scenes from the current sequence and insert them before the current scene. Use **from** and **to** to specify which scenes to copy. An example: a sequence consisting of 10 scenes and the current scene is 6. Inserting

scene 1 to 3 from the current sequence, will insert a copy of scene 1 to 3 before scene 6 extending the sequence to 13 scenes in total.

Copy from Sequence, copies scenes from another sequence. Click **Select seq** to select which sequence to copy scenes from and specify the scene numbers to copy using **from** and **to**.

### Preferences Menu

Ok on [Enter] - this option lets the [Enter] key on the keyboard act as a hot-key for the Ok-button.

### 9.5 Deleting scenes

Click  $\boxed{124}$  on the sequence control 124 to open the delete scenes dialog.

Delete Scene(s)	×			
Preferences Help				
Delete scene 22 to scene 23				
🗸 ОК	🗶 Cancel			

Delete scenes dialog

Use the fields to determine which scenes to delete (from - to) from the sequence. Since the current sequence always contains at least one scene, deleting all scenes, resets the current sequence to one scene with default (all off) output.

### **Preferences Menu**

Ok on [Enter] - This option lets the [Enter] key on the keyboard act as a hot-key for the Ok-button.

### 9.6 Sequence blind mode

The sequence blind mode is activated via 12 on the <u>sequence control</u> [124]. By default the access to Sequence Blind mode is disabled, but may be enabled by checking **Allow Sequence Blind Mode** option in the <u>System preferences dialog</u> [56].

SEQ All Macro

Background color indicating blind mode

When sequence blind mode is enabled the field containing the sequence name in the sequence/cue tool bar turns orange as a reminder. With the sequence is in blind mode, the output generated by the current sequence will not be part of the final output. Cues and background cues will continue to generate output. When the blind mode is disabled, the current sequence will again contribute to the final output.Sequence blind mode has several purposes. It is possible to program and edit sequences without changing the output (useful for rehearsals). It also is possible to change several parameters on several fixtures and enable the changes only when disabling blind mode; sort of a Go command. When entering blind mode the current contents (if any) of the current scene will be copied to a special buffer that will be made part of the output. This allows the user to enter and exit blind mode without the entire contents of the scene being removed whenever entering blind mode. The buffer is cleared when exiting blind mode. If a sequence that is part of the current cue is loaded to the editor while in blind mode, the contents buffer will automatically change to reflect the contents of the sequence being loaded so that the current cue will remain 'intact'.

This buffering may be disabled by deselecting the **Keep Contents When Entering Blind Mode** switch in the preferences menu on the sequence control 124.

See also sequence control 124, freeze output 198, Offline/Online switch 198

# 9.7 Snapshot and recording from DMX output

Using snapshot and real-time recording to capture the current DMX output and convert it into static scenes in the current sequence. Select **Snapshot** from the sequence control menu to open the dialog.

The Snapshot from DMX Out	×
Help	
Record Selected Fixtures On Record values different from Record channels patched fro	ly default only m DMX in only Record as Fade
record as snap;	necoru as rade
🛱 Static Snapshot	Clear current scene
Auto add scene to sequence	
Sample Rate 2 scenes/ sec	Scenes (total) 10
້ໝ Record F	Realtime
Sync start with Sequence pl	ayback
Total sample time: 5,00 sec	

Snapshot/real-time recording dialog

### **Filters and options**

Record Selected Fixtures Only - record values for fixtures that are selected - if not checked, all values (all DMX control channels) for all fixtures are recorded.

Record values different from default values only - only record DMX output value (DMX control channels), if the value is different from the <u>default DMX</u> s output value. Record channels patched from DMX in only - only record values for channels that has DMX-in as

source (see <u>Global Patch</u><sup>201</sup>).

Record as Snap - Set <u>fade state</u> [93] for recorded values to Snap. Record as Fade - Set <u>fade state</u> [93] for recorded values to Fade.

The filters and options applies both to static snapshots and real time recording (see below).

### Static snapshots

Click the Static Snapshot button to capture the current DMX output to the current scene. Values already programmed into the scene will be overwritten unless they are filtered out by the filter options. Clear Current Scene - click to clear the contents in the current scene. The clear function is filtered the same way as snapshot, except for the default value on function (which is ignored) Auto add scene - automatically adds a new scene to sequence after taking the snapshot. **Hint:** 

To take several snapshots from a static scene containing pan/tilt positions and pan/tilt macros, first save the 'source' scene as a sequence (source sequence). Next, execute the sequence in the <u>background cue</u> for control. Since the output from the background cue has higher priority than the active sequence, the pan/tilt macro values from the source sequence will not be merged with the new pan/tilt positions from the snapshot contained in the current scene. Recording multiple snapshots from a pan/tilt macro may be a quick way of generating a sequence with pseudo random pan/tilt positions, especially if the sequence is used in random trig mode in the cue.

### **Real-time recording**

The real-time recording options first captures and records individual scenes from the output in real time and then combines the captured scenes into one multi-scene sequence. The function is especially useful to create sequences for downloads to the 2510 playback controller, or to create very long fade times (60 sec+) by recording a dedicated sequence. Note that the snapshot/recording dialog must

remain open while sampling.

Sample rate - select the sample rate from the sample rate drop down box, the sample rate ranges in discrete steps from 1 scene/second to 20 scenes/second.

Scenes (total) - the total number of scenes to be recorded - the maximum value is 999 and the minimum value is 2. The total recording time, which is a combination between sample rate and total number of scenes, is indicated at the bottom of the dialog.

**Record Realtime** - Click to start recording - the progress bar at the bottom illustrates remaining recording time. Once the specified scenes are recorded, a new dialog will appear. Click **Yes** to convert the recording to a sequence. **Note**: the new sequence created will overwrite the contents of the current sequence so if the DMX output created is generated by the current sequence it may be a good idea to save the source sequence before recording.

Sync start with Sequence playback - use this option to synchronize the start of recording with the start of sequence playback. First enable the option, then click **Record Realtime**. Finally, click either playback button on the sequence control <sup>124</sup> to start simultaneous sequence playback and recording.

To record even more complex setups (e.g. using cues and generic DMX macros) setup the 'program' in a cue list and add a hotkey function (e.g. Sequence playback fwd) to start recording. Note that the cue list may add a slight delay between commands, so it may be a good idea to record one or two extra scenes so that the first couple of scenes can be deleted once the new sequence has been created.

### Tips:

### **Recording macros**

To record a pan/tilt macro or Generic DMX macro, the total recording time should be as close as possible to the macro cycle time. When using different cycle times, the shorter time(s) should be a fraction of the longest cycle time (e.g. 1/2 or 1/3 of the longest cycle time). This way the resulting sequence always contains the entire macro cycle. There is no difference between recording a macro with a short cycle time with a fast sample rate and recording the same macro with a long cycle time and a lower sample rate.

### Recording sequences for the 2510

Since the 2510 playback controller cannot fade DMX values or play back sequences containing macros, real-time recorded sequences containing many scenes can be used to emulate these functions in the 2510. To re-produce a smooth movement originally made through a fade or macro the sequence should be recorded with a fairly high sample rate (2-10 scenes pr second or even 20 scenes pr second) and the scene time of the sequence should be fairly short. The high sample rate and short scene time in combination will emulate the real-time DMX calculations usually made by LightJockey in the 2510. The actual sample rate and scene time needed depends a lot on what type of fixture is being used as well as individual fixture effects.

### Creating sequences with long fades

Normally, scene fade times are restricted to 60 seconds. If very long fade times are required (e.g. 60 minutes) use the record real-time function to break the transition up into multiple scenes. Example, making a fade lasting one hour:

First prepare the sequence containing the fade (e.g. a CMY from 0% saturation to 100% saturation). Set the scene and fade times to 6 seconds.

Next set the real time recording sample rate to 10 scenes pr second and the total number of scenes to 60 (or 20 scenes pr second and 120 scenes for double resolution). Record and convert to a sequence using the sync with sequence playback option. Set the sequence scene time to 60 seconds (or 30 if recorded with double resolution). The total sequence now contains the entire transition and plays back in one hour.

Depending on type of effect and fixture used, it may be necessary to increase the resolution to avoid visible 'bumps' when a DMX new value is sent to the fixture. 20 scenes/second, 256 scenes total and a scene/fade time of 12.8 seconds will create a sequence containing all values in a 8-bit control channel fade from 0 to 100%. Use scene time to control the sequence playback time (a scene time of 14 seconds with 256 scenes makes the time for one sequence loop very close to one hour).

### 9.8 Sequence fades

While not strictly part of the <u>sequence control</u> [124], the sequence fades control offers the possibility of modifying the fixtures fade state on a more global sequence level than just using the fade state button for each effect (control channel). The control is accessible from the **fades** menu of most

fixture controls 927.					
Set Fade Status	×				
Help					
✓ Intensity     ✓ Movement     ✓ Movement Macro     ✓ Color     ✓ Gobo     ✓ Beam     ✓ Effects     ✓ Level/Extended	Fade Status C All Off C All Snap C All Fade C Off → Snap C Off → Fade C Snap → Off C Snap → Fade C Fade → Off C Fade → Snap				
<b></b> (	ок				

The sequence fade state control

The fade control works the following way. LightJockey assigns a control type attribute to each of the fixtures control channels. The type of fixture control on which the control channel has its main function (e.g. a color-type control channel or a beam-type control channel) determines the value of this attribute.

Use the fade control to change the fade state of all the <u>selected</u> and fixtures. To change the fade state in all the scenes in the sequence, check the *All Scenes* box. For example to change the pan/tilt fade state from fade to snap for a number of fixtures in all scenes in the sequence, check the *Movement* box, the *All Scenes* box and the *Fade* -> *Snap box*. Then Click Ok.

The control may also be used to 'remove' certain effects from a sequence. For example check the *Intensity* box and the *All Off* box to remove intensity commands from all the selected fixtures. Note that the control does not actually remove the programmed values, it just changes the fade state. Re-applying a snap or fade state will make the programmed values 'active' again.

### Notes

Since each control channel is assigned one attribute value only, the fade control may not have obvious functions for multi function channels. A good example is the reset command or stand-alone commands for Martin fixtures. These commands are usually programmed on the same control channel as shutter and lamp commands. Since shutter commands are typical intensity commands the control channel has been given the attribute value of *intensity*, rather than the *level / extended* attribute. This means that setting the level/extended fade state to off does not affect these commands, even if they are placed on the extended fixture control.

For <u>user definable fixture profiles</u> 1247 the control channel attributes are applied in the following prioritized order (last has priority): Movement/position, beam, effects, level (extended), intensity, gobo, color

# 10 The cue control

### 10.1 The cue control

The cue control is opened by clicking \_\_\_\_\_ on the right hand side of the sequence/cue tool bar [55].

No Sequence	Туре	Scene	ST	FT	Status	Loop	Trig
				8:00			
		1:20	1-00	0.05		Fwd	Auto
0004 wild?		s I rig	MOC	tes	Disabled	Fwd	
0006 all move	and the second second	Static	1:00	0.05	Stop	Fwd	Auto
0016 method Seq	uence Slotj	Static	1:00	0:05	Stop	Fund	Auto
0008 all color step		1:21	1:00	0.05	Enable	e/Disa	able
0027 slow preset move	Tria luta	1:5	15:00	15:00		Fwd	Auto
Trig Manual chase whi	ing Auto	Stop	/Run	0.05		Fwd	Auto
ing mandal	Sequences	51800	1:00	105	Stop	Fwd	Auto
Sequences a		6:7	1:00	0.05		Fwd	Auto
0046 518 lash		State	1:00	15	Stop	Fwd	Auto
AARA I AARIII		1.5	1.00	200		End	Auto

The cue control

The cue control is used to construct and execute cues that contains up to 12 sequences to execute in parallel. The cue control implements options to manipulate sequence timings, loop options and movement macro scaling. The cue control is also be used to launch <u>background cues</u>  $16^{-1}$  or <u>generic DMX macros</u>  $15^{-3}$ .

The state and contents of the cue control can be saved to a data file - the saved file can then be reloaded from the list of cues. A saved data file is refereed to as 'a cue'. The cue control and associated cue files are the principal 'play-back' method in LightJockey. A large number of cue control functions and options are available as keyboard hotkeys 205 or via remote controls such as DMX in 231 or the 2532 direct access controller 225.

### Adding sequences to a cue

There are several ways of assigning a sequence to each of the 12 sequence slots. From the list of sequences  $12^{7}$ :

- 1. Drag and drop the already saved sequence from the list into the cue slot (*drag mode must be* selected in the preference menu on the list of sequences).
- 2. Right-Click the sequence line in the list and select **add sequence to cue** (this will only work if there is a free slot for the sequence).
- 3. Enable the **Browse to Cue** function in list of sequences preferences menu and click the sequence to add.

### From the save sequence dialog 125:

Enable the **Add Sequence to Current Cue** switch - this will automatically add the sequence to the cue when the sequence is saved (provided there is a free slot for the sequence). If the sequence is already part of the cue, it will not be added a second time.

### **Removing sequences**

To remove one or more sequences from the cue, select the slots, right-click and select **Clear Slot(s)** from the popup menu.

### Rearranging sequences within the cue

To rearrange the order of the sequences simply drag the sequence to a different slot (note that *drag sequences* in the preferences menu must be enabled, otherwise dragging of sequences is disabled within the cue control). Dragging a sequence to a different slot prompts a popup menu the following options:

Move Sequence - will move the sequence to the target slot.

Swap Sequences - will swap the two sequences, if the target slot is already used.

Copy Sequence - will copy the sequence line into the target slot.

See <u>cue control columns</u> for an explanation on the individual columns of the cue control and <u>cue control columns and slot colors</u> [142] for an explanation on the different colors used to indicate the

different states of sequences in the cue.

#### Sequence slot priorities

Since it is perfectly possible to write several sequences that addresses the same fixture/effect; and to include these sequences in the same cue - the cue has a simple sequence priority system: The higher the slot number, the higher the output priority

Example: A sequence in slot 1 addresses a fixture color wheel and sends it to red. Another sequence in slot 2 also addresses the same fixture and color wheel but sends it to vellow. Since slot 2 has priority over slot 1 the resulting output will send the color to yellow.

The priority system works on individual DMX control channels so it is perfectly possible (and often desirable) to access individual effects on a fixture from different sequences in the cue.

### Triaging sequences in the cue

Once placed in a sequence slot, a sequence containing more than one scene is trigged (advanced to the next scene) using one of 3 different trig sources:

Auto-trig - sequence is trigged automatically using the preprogrammed scene time Manual trig - sequence is only trigged by a user action

Audio trig - sequence is trigged by an audio trig from the audio analyzer [192]

For more details on trig options see trigging sequences in the cue 144. For further options on sequence timings and sequence loop options see Advanced Cue Options below.

### **Cue control functions**

Click Select All to select (highlight) all sequences in the cue. If one or more sequences are already selected, click to de-select all sequences.



Click either icon to manually trig sequences within the cue (see trigging sequences in the cue 144)

uto stop a sequence or restart a stopped sequence. A stopped sequence will not trig on Click any trig source. If no sequences are highlighted all sequences will be stopped or started when the button is clicked. The stop status is NOT saved with the cue.

Click to set the trig mode of the sequences (Auto trig, Manual trig and Audio Trig). See Õ trigging sequences in the cue



Enables/Disables sequences.

Disabled sequences do not contribute to the output of the cue. The state is saved with the cue, and will be used the next time the cue is loaded, providing Preferences -> Cue Preferences -> Restore Sequence Enabled State is enabled.

It is also possible to enable/disable sequences remotely for example by using DMX in, keyboard hotkeys or the 2532 direct access.

### New cue

Click L to clear the current cue. If the current cue is not saved before it is cleared it will be lost.

### Saving and loading cues



Click this to bring up the save cue dialog 136.

Click this to bring up the list of cues 13. Use this list to select an existing cue and load into the cue control. See also transparent cues 149.

### Advanced cue options

The advanced options panel at the bottom of the cue control contains several advanced tools to manipulate the cue. The panel may be hidden or displayed from the Preferences/View menu (see below).

Click to access the <u>cue time control</u>

Click to access the sequence slot loop options [145]

Click to access the <u>cue macro control</u>

### Launching background cues from the cue control

BGCue 📃 02 Bar Slow Color Scroll 🥤

Add a <u>background cue</u> 167 to be automatically launched when the cue is loaded, by dragging the background cue from the <u>list of background cues</u> 169 to the background cue field in the cue control.

Click BGCue to toggle the background cue control

Click 📃 to toggle the list of background cues

Click use to clear the background cue from the cue.

### Launching generic DMX macros from the cue control

🔃 📃 🔣 0001 Intensity Sine Macros 👘

Add a Generic DMX macro to be automatically launched when a cue is loaded by dragging the macro from the list of generic DMX macros 166.

Click 🛄 to toggle the generic DMX macro editor 156

Click do toggle the list of generic DMX macros 168.

Click Loggle the current generic DMX macro on/off.

Click to remove the generic DMX macro from the cue.

### Cue control preferences menu

View Preferences

Columns - Show or hide the individual columns in the cue control View Advanced Options - View or hide the advanced options panel

### Sequence Slot Preferences

Drag Sequences - Enable/disable internal drag of sequences.

Use Status Colors - By default the different lines in the cue control are color coded according to the status of the individual sequence. Colors may be hard to read on some displays (e.g. Laptop displays). Use this switch to disable the color-coding of the lines. It may be necessary to reload the cue in order to get all lines updated. See <u>cue control columns and slot colors</u> [142] for an explanation on the different colors used to indicate the different states of sequences in the cue.

Double-click to edit Sequence - With this option enabled, double clicking a sequence in the cue will place it into the sequence editor 124.

Sequence Slot Labels - See sequence Slot Labels 143

### Sequence Flash Preferences

Latch Flash Sequence - Check this option to keep flashed sequences latched. A latched sequence will not disappear like a normal flashed sequence. To clear the latched sequence either flash the sequence a second time, or use the *Release Latched Flash* hotkey 205.

Release Flash on Load - Checking this option will automatically release any flash sequence on load of a new sequence.

### Sequence Trig Preferences

Hotkey Trig Changes Sequence Direction - When enabled, <u>hotkey</u><sup>205</sup> trigs (e.g. trig bounce slot#) will change the <u>sequence loop direction</u><sup>145</sup> according to the direction given by the hotkey trig. Note that

manual trigged sequences in chase mode will always change the trig direction according to the latest hotkey press.

**Cue Preferences** 

Disable BG Cue Latch - Disables the ability to latch background cues from the cue Release Current Sequence on Load - When enabled, the current sequence is automatically cleared whenever a new cue is loaded (disable the <u>sequence changed warning</u> to avoid warnings when the sequence is cleared)

Restore Sequence Enabled State - restores the sequence enabled/disabled state as set when the cue was saved

Save Chase Times - chase times for manually trigged sequences are saved with the cue, see trigging sequences in the cue 144

Disable Fade Times in Chase Mode - sequences in chase mode have their <u>fade times</u> at disabled, effectively <u>snapping</u> at leffects, see <u>trigging Sequences in the cue</u> 44.

Allow Remote Enable/Disable - when this option is disabled, remote sequence on/off commands (e.g. via DMX in [231]) are not accepted by the cue control.

Restore Macro Control Values - this option must be enabled to restore saved <u>macro control</u> values when reloading the cue. If not checked saved values are ignored when loading the cue.

Show Scene time as BPM - when enabled, scene time is displayed as BPM (beats pr minute) rather than the usual time format.

Transparent Cues - see transparent cues 149 Sequence Intensities - see sequence intensities 150

See also <u>background cues</u><sup>167</sup>, <u>transparent cues</u><sup>149</sup>, <u>sequence intensities</u><sup>150</sup>, <u>cue-builder</u><sup>150</sup>, <u>generic DMX macros</u><sup>153</sup>

### 10.2 Save cue dialog

This dialog is used when saving a cue. The dialog is opened when clicking blocated on right hand side of the sequence/cue tool [55] bar and in the cue control [132].

📕 Save Cue		×
Preferences Help		
Cue # Cue Name		Que Type
0014 Blue Leave	8	<none></none>
Save as Transp Save Macro Cor Clear after Save	arent Cue Add to C htrol Values MAC 20	Cuepage
进 Save Cue	📕 Save New Cue	😹 Save as Cue#
Sava aug dial	00	

Save cue dialog



Cue # - a number that is used to uniquely identify the cue. The number is applied by the LightJockey when saving the cue for the first time, so for a new cue this field will be blank until the cue is saved. Cue name - this is a name for the cue that will be used through out LightJockey. The name can be changed at any point, providing that the cue is saved after the name has been changed. The name has no other function than identifying the cue to the user.

Cue Type - It is possible to assign a pre-defined cue type to the cue. Currently the cue type is reserved for future use.

Save as Transparent Cue - when checked the cue is saved as a transparent cue 149.

Save Macro Control Values - when checked the <u>cue macro control</u> values are saved with the cue. Clear after Save - when checked the cue is automatically cleared after being saved. Add To Cuepage - automatically add the cue to a specific page in the list of cues [137]. If a cue is already present on a page (when re-saved) it will not be added a second time; if it is present on a different page than the one specified it will not be removed from the original page.

Click Save New Cue to save the current cue to a new cue file (and assign a new cue number). Both new cues and cues that has previously been saved may be saved as new a cue. If an already existing cue is saved as a new cue, the old, original cue is left intact (much like saving a document with a new filename in a word processor).

Click <u>Save Cue</u> to re-save a cue that has previously been saved. Saving the cue will overwrite the contents of the original cue file.

Click Save As Cue# to save the current cue to be saved with a specific cue number of the users choice through the save as Cue# dialog.



Save as Cue# dialog

Clicking **Save As Cue #** brings up the save as cue dialog. Type the new cue number in the Cue# field if an existing cue is already registered with that cue number, the name of the cue will show up in the cue name field. **Warning** : If a cue using this number ready exists, saving the current cue will overwrite the existing cue with the current cue - there will be no further warnings if an already existing cue is overwritten.

### **Preferences Menu**

Auto Close - this option will close the save dialog automatically when the cue is saved. Save on [Enter] - this option will allow the [Enter] key on the keyboard to act as a hot-key for the **Save Cue** and **Save as New Cue** buttons.

### 10.3 List of cues

Use this list to retrieve previously saved cues or to drag cues to various configuration settings (do not confuse the list of cues with <u>cue lists</u> 169).

The list is opened by clicking on the 2 icon on the right hand side of the sequence/cue tool bar stress or the cue control 132.

🗋 Sel	lect Cue [Don't leave me]						2
Option	s Preferences Pages Hels		12323232	111111111111	1131313131	323232323	10101000
	Global Lat of Cu	es	Stars	the literation	I Stavey	Abell	ABBA pet
Cuell	Con Name	Interdied a	Don't	nave me		La	ud Steer
0001	Global List o	<mark>f Cues</mark> यु	Cuel	Cuel	e Pag	ies –	
0003 0004 0005 0005 0007 0008 0009 0010 0011	Don't Leave Me This Way 1 Come to the island Sitois estatan Everybody Blues R. /m to exited initio 1 Stajin alive ABBAO2 blue 1 ABBAO2 blue 1 ABBAO2 blue 1 ABBAO2 blue 1 ABBAO2 blue 1 ABBAO2 blue 1 ABBAO3 Boom 3	19-05-00 22 17 53 18-05-00 22 12 06 18-05-00 22 12 06 19-05-00 22 19 13 19-05-00 22 22 43 14-05-00 12 27 06 10-03-00 16 22 09 10-03-00 16 22 09 10-03-00 16 22 09 10-03-00 16 23 09 10-03-00 16 20 05 10-03-00 16 05 10-03-000 16 05 10-03-000 16 05 10-03-000 16 05 10-03-0	0003 0051 0052 0054 0055 0057 0053	Dan't Leave M Dan't Leave M Dan't Leave M Dan't Leave M Dan't Leave M Dan't Leave M	e Thi Way e Thi Way e Thi Way e Thi Way e Thi Way e Thi Way e Thi Way	1 2 3 4 6 7 9	
0013 0014 0015 0016 0017 0018 0019	ABBAD vergang traine 5 ABBAD gimme gimme 5 ABBAD gimme gimme 6 ABBAD vergang Volkez 7 ABBAD vergang Volkez 7 ABBA10 Dancing Queen 10 ABBA11 Oregang Take 11 ABBA12 Take a 12	11 02:00 11:22816 20:05:00 02:10:17 20:05:00 22:47:43 20:05:00 22:44:39 20:05:00 02:144:39 20:05:00 02:08:04 (9:05:00 27:32:30		Splitte (resiz	er e)		
Cue #		14-Go 4 Go	+	+	+	+	🛉 Go

The list of cues

The list contains two sections - the global cue list and the cue pages. The global list contains all previously saved cues, while the cue pages contains user defined pages with any of the cues from the global list in any order. By default the control defaults to showing the global list only. Make the global list and cue pages sections visible by checking **View Global List** and **View Cue Pages** respectively in the preferences menu. To hide either section, un-check the respective view from in menu - note that one of the two sections are always showing. When both the gobal list and the cue pages are showing, the two sections can be horizontally resized by dragging the vertical splitter between the two sections.

See <u>cue pages</u> 140 for information on how to configure use the cue page section.

The global list of cues				
🚨 Sel	ect Cue [Don't leave me]	Current Dese	×	
Options	<u>Preferences</u> Pages <u>H</u> elp	Current Page		
	Global List of Du	les		
Cue#	Cue Name	Modified	-	
0001	Mary Lou Foxtrot	19-05-00 22:25:21		
0002	Single	19.05.00 22:27:23		
0003	Don't Leave Me This Way 1	19-05-00 22:17:53		
0004	Come to my island	08-09-00 22:12:06		
0005	Gloria estafan	08-09-00 22:17:00	100	
0006	Everybody Blues Br.	19-05-00 22:19:13	100	
0007	Transparent Cues (color co	oded) 5-00 22:22:48	100	
8000	Stayin alive	14-05-00 01:27:06	100	
0009	ABBA01 blue 1	10-10-00 15:13:57	100	
0010	ABBA02 blue+random str 2	10-10-00 15:14:03	100	
0011	ABBA03 Boom 3	25-09-99 01:20:51	100	
0012	ABBA04 overgang 4	17-06-00 17:36:58		
0013	ABBA05 voorstuk gimme 5	01-02-00 16:28:16	100	
0014	ABBA06 gimme gimme 6	20-05-00 02:10:17		
0015	ABBA07 overgang Voulez. 7	20-05-00 23:47:43	100	
0016	ABBA08 Voulez, 8	30-07-00 15:08:07		
0017	ABBA10 Dancing Queen 10	02-09 Selected		
0010	APPA11 Overgang Take 11	20.05 Cue(s) Go	100	
Obrail	Augura ake a. 12 Cuer	G0 19-00 21.38.30	100	
0020	ABBA13 intro S.O.S. 13	85-09-00 21:13 4		
00004	AD244000 44	100 00 00 10 M		
Cue #	12	📥 Go 🔺	Go	

The global cue list

The Global list of cues is a list containing all previously saved cues. It is also possible to delete individual cue files from the list.

### List Columns

The list contains three columns, the cue# which is a unique identifier for each cue, the cue name and a modified date. The columns may be individually horizontally resized by dragging the splitter between each column header. Alternatively use **Preferences -> Global List Preferences -> Columns** to hide one or more columns. The global list may be sorted according to each column by clicking on the respective column header.

#### Transparent cues

By default the list displays <u>transparent cues</u> using a blue color code (normal cues are drawn in black) - to disable the color coding and mark transparent cues with a preceding (T), un-check **Use Color Code for Transparent Cues** in the preferences menu.

### Loading and editing cues

### Loading a cue

There are a number of different ways to load a cue back into the <u>cue control</u> 132 from the global cue list.

The simplest is to double click the line in the global list containing the cue. Alternatively a cue may be loaded by highlighting the line and then:

1. press the [Enter] key (this option may be disabled, see later)

- 2. right click the line and select load cue from the popup menu
- 3. use a keyboard hotkey (see later)
- 4. click selected cues GO (up arrow)
- 5. type the cue number in the call by cue# field and press [Enter] or click **Cue# Go** (left arrow)
- 6. load the cue directly (using browse mode, see later)
- 7. drag the line on to the desktop or the cue control

### **Editing a cue**

To edit a cue, highlight the line, right-click and select **Edit Cue**. When editing a cue, the cue is retrieved to the cue control much like the load command. However, any <u>sequence link options</u> retrieved in the cue are not actually performed - linking cues are stopped at the end of the loops without linking the next cue.

### Loading multiple cues

Loading several cues in one go only makes good sense if all (but possibly the first cue to load) of the cues to load are <u>transparent cues</u> [149] - however there is no built-in check that this is actually the case. Loading multiple non-transparent cues will just result in the last cue being executed. **Note : if multiple cues are loaded the warning on cue changed option is temporarily disabled.** To load multiple cues, make sure that the **Enable Multi-Cue Load** option is enabled (preferences menu). First highlight the cues, then select a load option as when loading a single cue (except for the double click, or browse). Note that it is not possible to load multiple cues are loaded and evaluated in a top to bottom order. Alternatively, type the cue numbers into the Cue# field. Separate the cue numbers with a '+', e.g. 1+2+3 loads cues 1,2 and 3.

### **Deleting cues**

Highlight the cues to delete - then right-click and select **Delete Cue(s)** from the popup menu. Warning - deleted cues are gone for good.

### Useful Hotkeys for the global list

A number of keyboard hotkey functions may be helpful when working with the global list of cues - see hotkeys 203 for an explanation of how to assign hotkeys to functions.

### Toggle List of Cues - toggles the list of cues on and off.

Load Selected Cue (Global List) - loads the selected cue from the global cue list, regardless if the list has Window focus (the [Enter] key only works if the global list has focus).

Focus Cue# Selection - shows the list of cues if necessary and forces windows focus to the cue# selection field. This is a useful option if cues are usually selected via the cue# entry. If for example, the 'c' key is assigned to this function, precede all cue number entries with a 'c' (e.g. 'c123') to make sure that the cue# entry gets focus.

It is also possible to assign specific cues directly to a hotkey - see hotkeys 203.

### The preferences menu

View Global List & View Cue Pages - used to show or hide the global list and cue pages respectively. Global List preferences & Cue Pages preferences - used to set preferences for the global list and cue pages respectively.

Load cue on [Enter] - by default highlighting a line in the global cue list or one of the cue pages and then pressing enter will load the cue. This behavior may be disabled by un-checking this option. Browse Mode - check **Browse Cues** in the preferences menu to switch to browse mode. When in browse mode the cue is automatically loaded as soon as the line is highlighted, either by clicking on the line or using the keyboard cursor keys. When browse mode is enabled it works both in the global list and on the cue pages.

Enable multi-Cue Load - used to enable or disable loading of multiple cues. The option also enables or disables multi-cue load from cue pages.

Use Color Code for Transparent Cues - when checked, transparent cues are shown in blue to distinguish them from non-transparent cues. When un-checked, the names of the transparent cues are

preceded with a (T).

### The global list preferences

The global list preferences menu is a sub-menu to the main preferences menu, use it to set preferences for the global list.

View Global Cue# Entry - When checked the call by Cue# field is visible at the bottom of the list. Uncheck to hide the entry.

Track Active Cue - When checked the global cue list automatically tracks the active cue in the global cue list when ever a new cue is loaded (e.g. by the a cue list or hotkey)

Columns - Use this sub menu to hide columns or set the global list to the default view.

Sort Order - Use to set sort order for the global list. This sub menu may also be used to sort the list according to the cues transparent status.

Cue pages preferences - see cue pages 140

### 10.3.1 Cue pages

The cue pages are a part of the <u>list of cues</u> [13<sup>5</sup>] and represent user defined lists of existing cues. Because of the more structured approach using pages, the cue page section often offer a better alternative to manually driven cue-lists. Note that the maximum number of pages is limited to 255. See <u>list of cues</u> [13<sup>7</sup>] for general list of cue configuration options and notes. Different pages are located on individual 'tabs'. There are always at least one cue page available. The actual page setup may be saved and then retrieved at a later point by selecting **Save Page Setup** or **Load Page Setup** from the options menu.



Cue pages (view cue pages only)

### **Managing pages**

Using the pages sub-menu

The pages sub-menu, right-click anywhere on the cue page list, and select pages from the popup menu.

Add New Page - adds a new page to the end of the pages list Insert New Page - the insert command inserts a new page right before the current page. Delete Current Page - deletes the current page Edit Current Page Name - opens a dialog to edit the name of the current page

Clear Current Page - removes all cue from the current page.

### Using the pages menu

Add New Page - adds a new page (same as the pages sub-menu).

Re-order Pages - use customize the order of pages - use drag and drop to re-order the pages in the

Re-order Cue Pages dialog. Clear All Pages - clears all contents of existing pages. Delete All Pages - deletes all existing pages.

### Adding cues to pages

Cues are added to the cue pages from the <u>Global list of cues</u> [137]; when adding cues make sure that both the global list and cue pages are visible (check both view entries in the preferences menu). The same cue may be added any number of times to any pages, even added several times to the same page - practical when setting up a 'sequential' list re-using the same cue several times. Add cues to the current page by dragging them from the global list (highlight several cues before dragging to add multiple cues at once). Alternatively, highlight the cue(s) in the global list, right-click one of the highlighted cues and select **Add cues to Page** from the popup menu. To insert the selected cues before another cue on the page list, highlight the cue on the page list first, then select **Insert cues on Page** from the popup menu. To remove cues from the cue page, highlight the cues, right click and select **Clear Selected cues**.

### **Re-arranging cues in page lists**

Re-arrange the cues on the individual simply by dragging them around in the list. To avoid unintended re-ordering of lists, The list may be **locked**, by checking **Lock Page Lists** in the list right-click popup menu. Highlight lines and then use standard cut, copy & paste operations to copy or move cues around on the same page or even to different pages.

### **Cue pages preferences**

Access the cue pages preferences menu through the preferences menu.

MultiLine Page Tabs - check to enable multi-line page tabs. If unchecked the page tabs will be forced onto one line, showing as many tabs as the width allows.

Staying Alive ABBA set Don't leave me I'll survive

### Single line tabs

Circular Page Selection - when checked, page selection (see later) is circular: selecting next page from the last page automatically swaps to the first page, and selecting previous page from the first page swaps to the last page.

Automatic Page Change - when checked, selecting next and previous cue (see later) will automatically change page to next or previous page respectively if necessary.

### Maneuvering the cue pages

Maneuver between pages either by selecting the page directly on the tab or by using the previous and next buttons located at the bottom of the page list. Right-click previous or next buttons to go straight to the first or last page respectively. It is also possible to assign keyboard hotkeys for previous and next page selection (see later).

### Selecting and loading cues

Cues can be loaded from the cue pages much like from the global cue list (double click, browse mode, right-click and select load, select and load using the go button, etc).

### Previous/next cue buttons

Alternatively use the previous/next cue buttons at the bottom of the list to load the previous or next cue on the page respectively. If no cue is selected on the current page, the last or first cue is automatically selected. Right-click the previous/next buttons to select the last or first cue line directly **without** actually latching the cue.

If the cues are normally executed in a sequential order, check **Automatic Page Change** in the cue pages preferences menu for automatic change of page after the last or first cue on the page. If unchecked the page will not be changed automatically.

### Useful hotkeys for the cue pages

A number of keyboard hotkey functions may be helpful when working with the cue pages - see  $hotkeys^{203}$  for an explanation of how to assign hotkeys to functions.

Toggle List of Cues - toggles the list of cues on and off.

Load Selected Cue (Cue Pages) - loads the selected cue(s) of the current cue page, regardless if the page has Window focus (the [Enter] key only works if the page has focus).

Previous/Next Cue Page - selects previous or next cue page respectively.

Cue Page Latch Previous/Next Cue - Loads the previous or next cue on the page.

Cue Page Select Previous/Next Cue - Selects the previous cue on the page but does not load the cue. It is also possible to assign a specific cue directly to a hotkey - see <u>hotkeys</u><sup>203</sup>.

### Useful DMX in functions for the cue pages

There's also a number of useful <u>DMX in and postions</u> if LightJockey is primarily run remotely from a DMX console. The options makes it fairly simple to create 'sequential' pages, e.g. pages for different songs at live performances.

Latch Current Cue from Page - Latches the currently selected cue on the page.

Previous/Next Cue Page - selects the previous or next cue page.

Latch Previous/Next Cue from Page - latches the previous or next cue from the cue page.

Select Previous/Next Cue from Page - selects but do not latch the previous or next cue from the cue page.

### **10.4** Cue control columns and slot colors



Slots on/off state buttons

Use the on/off buttons to the left of the sequence slots to enable and disable individual sequences in the cue. When a slot is disabled it the sequence is still a part of the cue but it has no effect on the output generated by the cue. The default state for a sequence is the enabled state and the button is green and in raised state - when a sequence is disabled the button is red and depressed. The sequence state can be toggled by clicking on the button or by using the keyboard hotkeys 203.

### Columns

No	Sequence	Туре	Scene	ST	FT	Status	Loop	Trig

No - this column contains the sequence number. The cue uses the sequence number as reference to the sequence, so all changes to a sequence are automatically carried over to the cue. Sequence - this column contains the name of the sequence (if any).

Type - This column contains the sequence type (if any). Currently the sequence type has no effect but is reserved for future use.

Scene - this shows the current scene of the sequence in the slot in the form X:Y where X is the current scene, and Y the maximum number of scenes in the sequence. If the sequence only contains one scene this field will read static.

ST - short for scene time. This shows the scene time for the current scene in the sequence. Unless the time has been scaled by the cue time control (see later) this will be the scene timed that was originally saved with the sequence.

FT - sort for fade time. This shows the fade time for the current scene in the sequence. Unless the time has been scaled by the cue time control (see later) this will be the fade timed that was originally

saved with the sequence.

Status - this column shows the current status of the sequence slot. If a sequence is present and the status field is empty it means that the sequence is executing the current scene. See below for an explanation of the different states.

Loop - the cue also allows different types of loop control settings for each sequence in the cue (see sequence slot loop options [145]).

If no loop options has been set the default value of this field is *fwd* which indicates that the sequence runs in a default loop, first to last scene, then loop to first scene again.

Trig - this field shows the trig source of the sequence (see trigging sequences in the cue 144)

### Status of individual sequence slots in the cue

Stop - means that the sequence has stopped executing either through user intervention using the stop button, or simply because the sequence is static and already has executed it's scene. The sequence will also stop if the loop options has identical first and last scenes (see later). Disabled - the sequence is disabled.

Error - An error has occurred. The most likely error is that the sequence file has been erased after the cue was saved with the sequence number. In this case the sequence name will read 'load error'. Edit - The sequence is currently being edited. When the sequence is being edited it is temporarily taken out of the cue output. The sequence state will revert to normal when the current sequence is cleared again. The reason for this state is to avoid that a sequence being edited contributes to the cue with the 'old' sequence contents (the contents is not really changed until the sequence is saved) during editing.

Out - The sequence has terminated its loop conditions and is now 'out' - see Sequence slot loop options

Link - The sequence has terminated its loop conditions and is set to link to another cue - see sequence slot loop options 145

### Slot color codes

Note: the use of status colors may be disabled through the <u>cue control</u> 132 preferences menu

**Black** is used to indicate that the sequence is running normally.

Maroon is used to indicate a static sequence or a sequence that has stopped.

**Red** Indicates Error, such as referencing a sequence that does not exist, or to indicate that a manual sequence is in <u>chase mode</u> 144.

Gray is used to indicate a disabled sequence.

Blue is used to indicate a sequence that is currently being edited

Green is used to indcate a 'link-cue' sequence in edit mode.

# **10.5 Modifying sequence slot labels**

👩 CUE [0000 No name]						
Options Preferences Help						
	No	Sequence	So			
_ 1		(Intensity)				
2		(Color)				
3		(Gobo)				
4		(Movement)				
5		(Beam)				
6		(Effects)				
7						

### Sequence slot labels

To facilitate systematic cue programming the individual sequence slots of the cue may be labeled. Note that the slot label is only visible in the cue control when the sequence slot is empty. To label a slot, select **Sequence Slot Labels** from the preferences menu in the <u>cue control</u> 132.

Help	Jence Slot Labels X
Slot #1	Intensity
Slot #2	Color
Slot #3	Gobo
Slot #4	Movement
Slot #5	Beam
Slot #6	Effects
Slot #7	
Slot #8	
Slot #9	
Slot #10	
Slot #11	
Slot #12	

### Sequence slot label dialog

The label is also used for reference in the <u>save sequence dialog</u> 125, if the **Show Add to Cue Slot** option is selected.

### 10.6 Trigging sequences in the cue

Trig is the term that describes the 'action' that causes a sequence in to progress to a new scene. Sequences with only one scene cannot be trigged (such sequences are termed static sequences). The LightJockey supports three modes of trigging sequences: **Automatic** trig using internal clock and scene time, **Manual** trig requiring input from the user, and **Audio** trig - which requires audio input via a Windows compatible sound card (see <u>using audio input</u> 192).

The auto and audio trig-modes may be combined with any of the <u>loop options</u> [145], e.g. bounce or random. In manual trig mode the new scene is selected by the manual trig method (forward,reverse,random).



Trigmode buttons (auto, manual, audio)

These buttons are used to select the trig method of the sequence(s). Highlight the sequence(s) in the cue control and click to select the trig mode.

The assigned trig mode is displayed in the <u>trig column</u> 142 of the cue control.

### Manual trig mode

When in manual trig mode the sequence must be trigged by the user in order for the sequence to change to the new scene.



Click any of these buttons to trig sequences in manual trig mode. Sequences may be trigged in reverse, forward or random direction. If no sequences are high-lighted in the cue control, all manual sequences in the cue will be trigged - otherwise only selected manual sequences are trigged. The functions of these buttons are also available as keyboard hotkeys as well as keyboard hotkeys for trigging individual sequence slots.

### Chasing sequences

Manual Trigged sequences in Chase Mode

The Chase Man button is used to switch manually trigged sequences in and out of chase mode. When in chase mode, a manual sequence switches into a special form of auto trig mode. The trig time of the sequence is determined by the user, by using the time between the last two clicks on any of the manual trig buttons or hotkeys. The scene fade time is set to the same value as the chase time unless the *Disable Fade Time in Chase Mode* option in the cue preference menu is checked. When fade time
is disabled all effects in chased sequences will be snapped. The chase rate is not affected by the <u>cue time control</u>. If the **Chase Man** button is disabled all chasing sequences switches back in to manual trig mode. Note that current chase rates are only saved with the cue if *Save Chase Times* is enabled in the cue control preferences menu and the **Chase Man** button is enabled.

#### Using global chase rate

Enable Sequence Trig Preferences / Use global chase rate in the cue control preferences menu to force all manually trigged sequences to chase to a global chase rate. The global chase rate is set the same way as chase rates for individual sequences (see above) but carries over when a new cue is loaded, effectively ignoring any previously saved chase times.

When the option is enabled and a new cue is loaded all manually trigged sequences will automatically be chased using the global chase rate, making it possible to 'follow a beat' using chases over multiple cues.

#### Automatic trig mode

Sequences in Auto trig mode will be trigged using the internal clock. By default sequences are trigged using the programmed scene times. The scene times may be modified (scaled) on the fly by using the <u>cue time control</u> [147].

The may be used to trig sequences in auto-trig mode manually.

Open the loop options dialog by clicking  $\Omega$  on the cue control 132.

#### Audio trig mode

Sequences in audio-trig mode will synchronize trigs to the dynamics of the music- see (see using audio input [192]).

### **10.7** Sequence slot loop options

Loop Options X Help Trig Options (Audio/Manual Trig Only) 🧮 Trig on load Scenes pr Trig Audio-Trigs/Trig 1 (Audio Trig Only) Loop Direction Forward Reverse C Bounce C Random Scene Limits Last Scene First Scene Loops End Loop Action 0 Stop on scene Goto Scene 0 Select Cue C Link to Cue Sequence out Default Loop Settings

Loop options dialog

By default a (non static) sequence in the cue control will execute from the first to the last scene and then loop back to first scene again in an endless loop. The loop options dialog may be used to modify the trig and loop behavior for the sequences in the cue.

#### **Sequence trig options**

Scenes / Trig - indicates how many scenes the sequence executes when a manual or audio trig occurs. Note that scenes automatically following the first scene trigged are executed in auto trig mode, using the sequences pre-programmed scene and fade times. Also the sequence executes the 'extra' scenes in forward direction regardless of the sequence loop settings (see below). This setting has no effect if the sequence is in auto-trig mode. Default value is 1 (1 scene pr. trig)

Trig on Load - This option forces the sequence to 'trig' when the cue is loaded (without any trig actually occurring) - the option only has an effect if the scenes/trig value is higher than one.

**Tip**: One use of the scenes/trig option is a quick flash type effect for manual or audio trigged sequences. For example to program an audio trigged intensity *flash* effect, create a simple two-scene sequence. First scene should contain a blackout while the second scene should contain an *intensity-on* scene. Set fade and scene times to a low value. Add the sequence to a cue, and set the scenes/trig option to 2 scenes pr. trig and the sequence to manual or audio trig mode. When the cue is loaded it will include the sequence executing scene 1. When the sequence is trigged it will fire scene 2, automatically followed by scene 1, hence creating an automatic flash effect. Note that the sequence will not respond to a new trig before both scenes have executed (using auto time). Experiment with different scene/fade times and fade/snap states to obtain different types of flashes. To create an audio-trigged *flash chase*, just add more alternating *off* and *on* scenes to the sequence.

Audio-Trigs / Trig - indicates how many audio trigs that should occur before the sequence actually trigs a new scene. This setting is ignored if the sequence is in auto or manual mode.

#### **Sequence loop directions**

The first set of options dictates the direction of the loop.

Forward - the default loop direction.

Reverse - execute the sequence backwards.

Bounce - execute the sequence from first to last scene, then 'bounce' back from last to first scene. I.E : 1->2->3->4->3->-2->1->2 etc.

Random - select a random scene from the sequence.

**Tip**: The random scene option is actually a nice option when programming for clubs and dance venues where precise looks are not that important. When two or more sequences in the cue use the random scene mode they will combine to create randomly selected looks, but still within the 'style' programmed into the sequence. For example, a sequence may contain 10 different warm color combinations; another sequence could contain 10 different gobo selections, while a third could contain 10 different movement patterns. This would potentially give 10\*10\*10 = 1000! different looks - all from the same cue.

#### Limits

The limit options enable the user to limit the sequence to a certain scene interval by specifying a first and last scene.

It also allows for finite number of loops. When the number of loops is set it is possible to set an end loop action (see below).

Note that it is not possible to limit the number of loops for a sequence in random scene mode. **Tip**: When programming cues that are to be executed in a specific order (e.g. via the <u>cue list</u> [169]) it is often much easier to program transitions in the same sequence, even if the different elements goes into different cues. Use the first/last scene and loop count to 'clip' the sequence into the single transition elements in the cue. For example:

•Cue 1: sequence scene 1 to 3, 1 loop (and stop)

•Cue 2: sequence scene 4, 1 loop (static)

•Cue 3: sequence scene 5-7, default loop (unlimited loops) etc.

#### **End loop actions**

If the Loop count is set to a finite number, it is possible to define what should happen to the once the sequence has executed all the loops.

Stop on scene - the sequence stops on the last scene. The sequence maintains the output of the last scene.

Sequence out - the sequence disables itself - no longer contributing to the output of the cue. Goto scene- jumps to a specified scene within the same sequence and stop there.

Link to cue - load and execute another cue. Click **Select Cue** to select the cue to link to. To avoid that the cue is performing the actual link while editing the cue - use the <u>edit cue</u> 137 option to load the cue, rather than the 'Load Cue' when loading the cue for editing.

## 10.8 Cue time control



The cue time control

The cue time control allows the user to alter the 'dynamic' expression of a cue by scaling the scene and fade times of the individual sequences in the cue much like x-fade speed/time on conventional consoles. The scaling method means that the time control will also work with sequences with different scene times. By using the sequence cue time control is it often possible to re-use sequences in different contexts simply by slowing down or speed up the sequences in the particular cue. The cue time control consists of 13 virtual faders. The first fader controls the overall cue, while the next 12 control the individual sequence slots. It is not possible to set times for sequence slots that does not have a sequence assigned (indicated by a light gray background color). The cue time itself (controlled by the first fader) is an easy way to modify the overall dynamic expression of the cue of on the fly. By default, all cue and sequence times are set to the default CUE time. Using the default time means that the sequences will play back with the scene and fade times they were programmed with. It is possible to scale the sequences scene and fade times by using the fader for the individual sequences. The possible scaling ranges from 1% to 999% - 100% represents the original times (no scaling) and is equivalent to CUE. In order to change and synchronize more than one sequence in the cue, select the sequences by highlighting the lines in the cue control. Note that scaling will not make the sequence exceed the 60 second scene/fade time limit.

The cue time (the first fader) has overall control over all the sequences in the cue. However the cue time fader will only control the sequences that are not already controlled by the individual time faders (time for the individual sequences must be '**CUE'**). The times scales values set with the cue time control are saved together with the cue.

A scaling control for <u>movement macros</u> 102 may be linked to the main cue time fader as well (see <u>cue macro control</u> 148).

### Controlling cue times from external control sources

It is possible to override the cue time values from an external control source such as DMX-in or Fingers. This may transfer control from on-screen, virtual faders to real physical faders on a console. Using the cue time control preferences menu (**override options**) the override may be set to work on changes only (1,2,3) - default setting is on changes only (1). Overriding **on changes only** means that cue time parameters are only changed if there is an actual change in the incoming DMX values - this allows the cue to load with it's pre-programmed timing parameters, and only change the timing if an actual DMX in change occurs. The selections 1, 2 and 3 indicates that a change of 1,2 or 3 DMX values must occur before the timings are changed. Use 2 or 3 for consoles with unstable fader decoding. Selecting **Always** means that the timing parameters are always overwritten by the incoming DMX values.

Note that an incoming DMX value of 0 automatically selects the per-programmed timing for the cue (time fader is marked '**CUE**').

### 10.9 Cue macro control

Access the cue macro control by clicking rot the cue control.



The cue macro control

The cue macro control is used to scale the amplitude and speed parameters on any <u>movement macros</u> active in sequences in the cue. The control will not affect macros active in the <u>background cue</u> or in the current sequence. The macro control has two faders - one to scale the macro amplitudes (pan and tilt amplitude) and one to scale the macro speeds. The speed fader may be linked to other functions (see later).

By default the faders scales the amplitude and speeds from 0% to 100%, where100% means that the macros run as programmed. Setting the amplitude scale to 0% effectively disables the macros and the fixtures will move to the programmed pan/tilt positions. Setting the speed scale to 0% will stop the macro from running but still include the macro's pan and tilt into the final fixture positions. From the preferences menu it is possible to set the fader range from 1%-999% - values above 100% will scale the macro's amplitude and speeds above the programmed values. Note that the values will never exceed the maximum value 127 for amplitude or speed, but may scale down to a value of 0 as scaled values goes below 1. The function of both the amplitude and speed faders may be remote controlled via DMX in [23].

In order to save the Macro Control values together with the actual cue, check *Save Macro Control Values* in the <u>save cue dialog</u> when saving the cue. Also, make sure that the *Restore Macro Control Values* in the <u>cue control</u> when saving the cue preferences is checked, otherwise the values are ignored when reloading the cue.

#### Linking the speed fader

#### Linking speed to amplitude

Via the preference menu, the speed fader may be linked to the amplitude fader. When speed is linked to amplitude, only one fader is visible, making control with a mouse easier as one fader will control both the amplitude and speed.



Speed fader linked to amplitude fader

Linking speed to cue time - The speed fader may also be linked to the <u>cue time control</u> [147] - when linked to the cue time, the cue time fader will control the speed, scaling the speed value from 1% to 999%. When the speed is linked to the cue time control, only the amplitude fader is available. Fade out, Fade in buttons - These buttons will 'fade' the position of the faders in and out at in predetermined time. The actual time is selected from the fade time list below the buttons.

Macros Off, Macros On - These works the same way as the fade buttons, except that the transition is instant (equals a fade time of 0).

Freeze - this button freezes the macro in place (the macro doesn't 'advance') - the effect is identical to setting the speed scale to a value of 0%.

Macro fade, on/off and freeze buttons may be assigned to hotkeys 205 or 2532 direct access 225 keys.

#### **The Preferences menu**

Fader Range - selects between 0%-100% and 1% to 999% ranges.

Speed Fader Link - Used to link the speed fader other functions.

Allow Fader preset - When disabled, clicking any of the faders will cancel any fade out or fade in or off state and activate the faders. When enabled it is possible to preset the faders values with the mouse while the macros are fading or off.

Show Values as % - Show the values as %-values or as numerical values.

### 10.10 Transparent cues

Normally when loading a cue, the contents of the cue will replace the entire contents of the cue control (often a different cue). This means that slots not used in the newly loaded cue will 'overwrite' slots in the previous cue with an empty slot. When a cue is loaded in transparent mode, only slots containing sequences will overwrite the slots from the previous cue. This means that if a cue containing sequences in slot 1,2 and 3 is loaded transparently, it will leave any contents existing into slots 4 to 12. Using transparent cues effectively requires some pre-planning. One way of using transparent cues to good advantage is to keep individual groups of fixtures in single sequences, and use specific slots in the cue for these groups. This way a new cue containing a sequence for a particular group of fixtures only can be loaded into the existing cue, without 'disturbing' all other fixtures running in other sequences.

When <u>saving</u> a cue, it may be saved as a transparent cue. This means that under default circumstances (see below), the cue, when loaded, will load as a transparent cue.

불 Save Cue		×		
Preferences He	Saving as			
Cue # Cue Nam	Transparent Cue	Cue Type		
0005 Stage star	1944	<none></none>		
Save as Trans	parent Cue			
📕 Save Cue	😕 Save New Cue	불 Save as Cue#		

Saving as transparent cue

The <u>cue control</u> has a set of switches in the **Preferences -> Transparent Cues** menu that dictates the way transparent and non-transparent cues are loaded.

Use transparent cues - cues are loaded transparently only when previously saved as a transparent cue.

Force transparent cues - all cues are loaded transparently. Ignore transparent cues - no cues are loaded transparently.

When programming transparent cues it may be useful to enable the *Show Add to Cue Slot* in the preferences menu of the <u>save sequence dialog</u> to add the sequence to a specific slot.

See also cue control 132

### **10.11 Sequence intensities**

The sequence intensity function is only available as a function through DMX in 23 or via <u>Fingers for LightJockey</u> 20. Each sequence slot in the cue may be assigned a DMX or in channel or Fingers fader that modifies the programmed intensity values of each of the fixtures in the sequence loaded into the sequence slot. The function only modifies 'active' intensity values (<u>fade state</u> 3) must be either snap or fade), and the modification is proportional to the programmed value (Sequence intensity at 25% means output at 25% of programmed value). The function does not modify the programmed fade state, fade time or other components of the sequence. If one or more, but not all Sequence intensities (1-12) have been assigned, LightJockey considers the

remaining sequence slots to be set at a sequence intensity value of 100% (see below). While the Sequence intensity works independently from the <u>master intensity</u> <sup>[23</sup><sup>†</sup>] control, any modification to global intensities by the Grand Master or sub-masters still applies to the final intensity output.

Sequence Intensities operate in one of 3 modes. The mode is selected from the **Preferences Menu** of the <u>cue control</u> [132]. The mode applies to all sequence intensities (1-12).

Default - In default mode the cue is evaluated as usual with the sequence in the highest number slot having highest priority. The final intensity of individual fixtures is determined by the highest priority sequence with 'active' intensity information for the particular fixtures *modified* by the assigned sequence intensity.

Use HTP - In HTP mode, the highest intensity value in *any* sequence with an active intensity component is used for the final output. This includes any sequences slots that are not directly modified by sequence intensity - these will always force the fixture to use programmed intensity (100%). Use LoTP - in LoTP mode - the lowest modified intensity value of any sequence is used. Sequences that do not contain 'active' intensity values do not contribute to the lowest value.

Note that for HTP/LoTP calculations, it is the programmed scene value modified by the sequence intensity value that is used to determine which sequence generates the intensity output - not the value generated by an eventual fade programmed into the sequence; e.g. programmed value of 100% will be calculated as 100% even if the momentary output generated by the sequence is only 50% due to an active fade in the sequence.

	Fixture 1	Fixture 2	Fixture 3	Fixture 4	Seq. Int.
Seq #1	-	100%	50%	10%	30%
Seq #2	100%	-	-	-	40%
Seq #3	30%	50%	-	50%	50%
-	-	-	-	-	-
Default	30% x 50%	50% x 50%	50% x 30%	50% x 50%	
HTP	100% x 40%	100% x 30%	50% x 30%	50% x 50%	
LoTP	30% x 50%	50% x 50%	50% x 30%	10% x 30%	

A few examples - the % values represent intensity values programmed in the sequences, - represents no intensity value programmed. S.I. represents the Sequence Intensity value:

### **10.12** The cue builder

The cue builder control is a tool to pre-build the contents of a cue, before transferring the contents to the current cue. The cue builder is usually used to build cues on the fly while the current cue is running. The Control is opened from the **Cue-Builder** menu in the <u>cue control</u> [132] or via <u>hotkey</u> [205].



Cue builder control

The cue builder consists of two parts, the cue preset part and the cue stack part. The two parts may work together and combine into a final cue or as separate controls. **Important:** To avoid confusion, when the capture commands (see below) are enabled, the cue builder is **ONLY** active as long as the control is visible. When the control is closed, capturing is disabled and cue builder functions (including hotkey access) are no longer accessible

### **View Options**

Use the Preferences/View menu to enable or disable the cue preset or cue stack respectively. The cue preset

The cue preset part mimics the actual cue control as it has the same 12 sequence slots as the cue control. Preset the cue by dragging sequences from the <u>list of sequences</u> [127] to one of the 12 slots in the cue preset (or use the capture function - see below). Then click **GO** (or assign a hotkey to the GO button function) to latch all the sequences to the current cue. Note that the cue preset only offers a few possibilities to preset the behavior of the sequences. For example, it is not possible to set any of the loop options from the cue preset. To preset cues with the more complex options use the cue stack instead.

Sequence On/Off - Each sequence slot has an on/off button on the left side. Use this to preset the sequence to on or off state.

Get Cue - Click Get Cue to transfer sequences from the current cue to the cue preset.

Trig Options - Highlight sequences, and click either of the trig buttons 2 2 to pre-select the sequence trig method 44 (auto, manual or audio). Right-click the trig buttons to set all sequences to that particular trig-mode.

Clear Seq - Highlight sequences and click **Clear Seq** to clear the highlighted slots - right-click **Clear Seq** to clear all slots.

Alternatively, right-click any slot and select the *Clear Selected Sequence* or *Clear All Sequences* from the popup menu

Clear Cue on Go - When enabled the current cue is automatically cleared before the sequences are latched. When disabled, the cue is not cleared before the sequences are latched. GO - Click GO to transfer the pre-set sequences to the current cue.

#### The cue stack

The cue stack allows the user to pre-select multiple existing cues and latch these to the current cue simultaneously. Cues are added to the stack by dragging them from the <u>list of cues</u> 137 (or by using the capture option, see later). The content of the stack is then transferred to the current cue by a single GO command.

Since the cue stack transfers cues rather than sequences, it is possible, using the cue stack' to build a cue that contains sequences with any of the options available to cue control (e.g. loop or timing controls). Transferring multiple <u>non-transparent</u> cues doesn't really make sense (they would just overwrite each other), so only one non-transparent cue is allowed in the stack - adding a second non-transparent cue to the cue stack simply replaces the existing cue.

There is no limit to the number of transparent cues that can be added, but the same transparent cue can only be added to the stack once.

Since the cues in the stack are always added to the current cue from the top of the stack, the order of the cues in the stack is significant. If the stack contains a non-transparent cue, it will automatically be located at the top of the stack (if it was added to the current cue after a number of non-transparent cues, it would just overwrite these cues). The order of non-transparent cues in the stack may be re-arranged by drag and drop.

Clear Stack - click to clear the entire contents of the stack. To remove individual cues, highlight the cues, right-click and select remove from the popup menu.

Clear Cue on Go - when enabled the current cue is cleared before the cues from the stack are applied. Note that if the stack contains a non-transparent cue the current cue will be cleared automatically by the non-transparent cue. The cues in the stack are transferred to the current cue from the top of the stack.

#### **Capture Buttons**

Enable the capture buttons to capture *load sequence* (do not confuse with sequence flash) and load *cue commands* to the preset cue and cue stack respectively. The respective capture commands are only active if the cue builder control is open and the cue preset and cue stack are visible.

Capturing Load Sequences commands - Sequences are automatically added to the cue preset in as high a priority position as possible. If there are no free slots in the preset it will replace the sequence in slot 12.

Capturing Load Cue commands - Cues are automatically added to the stack in the order they are loaded. Only one non-transparent cue may exist in the stack. Attempting to load another non-transparent cues will replace the existing transparent cue. Attempting to add the same cue twice by capturing the load command will remove the cue from the stack.

**Notes**: The cue stack capture command is primarily useful for installations using remote access such as the 2532 to load cues. Using cue stack capture allows the user to build the cue stack from cues using the 2532 load cue commands.

#### **Preferences Menu**

View Menu Default View - resize the cue builder to default size. Cue Preset - enable or disable the cue preset Cue Stack - enable or disable the cue stack

#### Cue Preset Menu

Default Enable Sequence Capture - enable the sequence capture by default.

Force Sequence Reload - if disabled, sequences transferred to the current cue will not restart if the slot in the current cue is already occupied by the same sequence. If enabled, the sequence will always restart regardless of the contents on the cue.

Auto Clear Sequences on Go - all sequences are cleared from the cue preset when the GO command is executed.

#### Cue Stack Menu

Default Enable Cue Capture - enable cue capture by default.

Auto Clear Stack on Go - the cue stack is automatically cleared when a GO command is executed. View Cue Stack in Cue Preset - when enabled, the resulting contents (sequences in the resulting cue) of the cue stack are automatically added to the cue-preset. If a GO command is issued for the cuepreset, these sequences are included in the sequences that are transferred to the current cue. Note that it is not possible to change trig modes for the sequences from the cue stack in the cue-preset. When disabled, the cue stack sequences are not transferred to the cue preset. This function is primarily useful as pre-view for users that uses the cue stack only. Use Color Code for Transparent Cues - when enabled, transparent cues in the cue stack are shown in blue in the cue stack (non-transparent cues are shown in black).

### 11 The generic DMX macro

### 11.1 Generic DMX macros

Using generic DMX macros effectively requires a good understanding of how the DMX protocol works, both in general as well as for individual fixtures. Without this knowledge it is quite easy to program undesired side effects such as fixture reset or even lamp off by mistake.

The generic macros are not intended as a replacement or substitute for <u>Movement macros</u> [10<sup>2</sup>]. The movement macro connects pan and tilt DMX values together in a way that makes it easy to create dynamic figures such as circles, ellipses or figures of eights. However the Generic DMX macro does have more flexibility in terms of macro types and delay functionality than the movement macro - for example to run two different macros (or delays) on pan and tilt respectively use the generic DMX macro macro rather than the movement macro.

Although the generic DMX macros have some similarities with the movement macros they are quite a different in most respects. First of all the generic macros can affect any DMX control channel, not just pan/tilt channels. Secondly they are not part of scenes like the movement macros, but instead they are an individual type of programming element much like <u>background cues</u> [167] or <u>statics</u> [189]. Generic DMX macros are launched as part of a <u>cue</u> [132]. Each macro holds information for all DMX control channels across all configured fixtures - the same macro entry can contain different macro shapes and parameters for any individual DMX control channel - pan/tilt macros use the same macro type for both pan and tilt.

#### **Macro shapes**

The generic macros are implemented using different pre-defined 'shapes' - e.g. a sine wave, to 'modulate' a reference value to generate a final DMX output for individual DMX control channels. On the graphical macro representation below, the Y-axis represents the macro DMX values and the X-axis represents how the macro value is changing in time. The horizontal cyan line represents a 'reference' value of 0. Macros can contain both positive (above the reference) and negative (below the reference line) values as (A) or positive values only as (B)- when executing, the macro will simply add the positive values to the reference DMX value, and subtract the negative values from the reference DMX value. The different macro shapes can be used to program different types of effects - some are suited to slow smooth transitions while other are suited to faster snappier chase-type of effect.



Macro shapes - graphical representation (the generic macro editor)

The reference value used is either the combined output of all other programming elements (the current sequence, cue, statics, etc.) - or a base value contained in the macro it self - using the first method, the final output generated by the macro depends entirely on the contribution from the other elements, while the latter method ensures a predictable output value. The values generated by the macro ranges from -255(at max negative) to 255 (at max positive) - these values are normally scaled by an amplitude factor to remain within a 'sensible' range - in any case the final DMX output values are automatically limited to 0 to 255.

#### **Macro Parameters**

Each macro can be manipulated by 4 parameters.

Positive amplitude - scaling of the positive (the part above the 0-line) part of the macro. Negative amplitude - scaling of the negative (below the 0-line) part of the macro. Both amplitudes can be set at a value between -255 and 255; assigning negative value to any of the two the amplitudes has the effect of 'mirroring' the relevant part across the 0-value line.

Cycle time - determines how fast the macro 'executes' one cycle. Direction - determines in which 'direction' the macro executes.

#### **Examples**

#### Example: using a macro shape with positive values only

The Roboscan 918 has intensity control on control channel offset 1 (offsets starting at 0) with min/max intensity settings at DMX values 0 and 255 respectively.

By assigning a 2\*Sine macro shape (essentially the first half of a full sine wave) and a maximum positive amplitude (255) to the channel, this macro will automatically generate values between 0 and 255 thus instruct the 918 to raise and lower the intensity from min to max and back to min again following the and half sine wave shape in time. The macro values will combine with either the base value of the macro or the value generated by the other program elements



(A) If reference value is 0 all the time, the result will be that the fixture will perform exactly as programmed by the macro.

(B) If the reference value is kept at 255 the resulting combined values will range from 255 to 512. Since 255 is absolute the maximum DMX value, the final output will automatically be cut at 255 - resulting in no changes in the fixture intensity at all.

(C) If the reference value is kept at 128, all combined values above 255 will still be cut at 255 so the intensity of the 918 will be at max for most of the time and only drop to a minimum value of 128 (approx. 50% intensity) when the macro contributes with a 0 value.

(D) As (C) but by scaling the macro with positive amplitude of 127 rather than 255 it is still possible to 'contain' the macro shape within the 0-255-value range. In this case the 918 will be programmed to an intensity level between 50% and full, following the half sine shape.

#### Example: using a macro shape with positive and negative values

The Roboscan 918 controls color wheel 1 on control channel offset 2 with the following values (for the lower part of the DMX value interval).

DMX-Value	Color
0	open white
16	blue 111
32	red 301
48	magenta 507
64	green 202
80	yellow 604
96	purple 502

112	blue 101
128	pink 312
144	cyan 401

Each full color position is exactly 16 DMX values apart.



(A) Sine macro shape - reference value at 0 (*open white*) and a positive amplitude at 32 - in the first half of the macro the 918 will move from *open white* to *Red 301* and back to *open white* again passing *Blue 111* both ways - in the second half it will remain at *open white* (since values are cut at 0).

(B) Reference value at 48, positive **and** negative amplitudes at 32 - the 918 will now oscillate smoothly around the base value (48 = Magenta 507) - in the first part of the macro it will move from *Magenta 507* towards *Yellow 604* (48+32=80) and back again - on the last half it will move from *Magenta 507* towards *Blue 111*(48-32=16) and back again.

(C) Same as (B) but with a different type of macro shape (2/3 Square) - the transitions between the different colors are no longer smooth (as in the sine shape) but snaps between Yellow 604, Magenta 507 and Blue 111 without ever transmitting DMX values in between these 3 values.

#### **Macro Delays**

While several fixtures performing the exact same macro shape may look good in some instances it is usually when adding various amounts of delay to individual channels that the macros really makes an impact.

#### Channel Macro Index and delays

The macro engine calculates the macro value for a specific channel according to the channels *channel macro index* or position, in the macro cycle - on the graphical macro display the index value is represented by the position of the dot on the x-axis. Each macro shape contains 8192 discrete values describing the shape, which means that the *channel macro index* can have a value between 0 and 8191. Each macro value represents a specific point and value in the macro shape. As the macro executes the *channel macro index* is incremented or decremented according to the programmed macro cycle time and direction - the index value is automatically 'looped back' into the 0-8191 interval when the 'outer' extremes of 0 or 8191 are reached.

As each individual channels *macro index* is incremented or decremented according to cycle time and direction, running different cycle times or macro directions may cause individual *indexes* to become unsynchronized when selecting new macros.

The *channel macro index* can be programmed to reset for the affected channels when a new macro is launched in the cue or when *Restart Macro* is clicked in the Generic Macro Editor (this resets *index values* for all channels).

Specifying a delay for a channel simply subtracts the delay value (ranging from 0 to 8191) from the current *channel macro index*. By programming the same shape and parameters to a number of channels, but assigning a different delay value to each channel, the channels will 'position themselves differently in the macro shape by subtracting the individual delay values from the *channel macro index* which is usually identical for all channels.



Macro delays

In the figure above, the dots represents different channels all running the same shape and parameters but with different delays. Delays can be spread over the whole macro shape (A) or set closer together for a 'follow the leader' type of effect.

#### **Programming 16 bit control channels**

The Generic DMX Macro differentiates between 8-bit control channels and 16-bit control channels. Macro shapes and parameters assigned to 16-bit MSB control channels are used to generate values for both MSB and LSB channels utilizing the far superior resolution in DMX values offered by 16-bit control. It is not possible to assign macro shapes or parameters to 16-bit LSB control channels.

For further information on programming macros see the generic DMX macro editor 156

See also movement macros 102, generic DMX macro editor 156

### 11.2 The Generic DMX macro editor

Before programming generic macros for the first time, please read the generic DMX macros 153

section. The generic DMX macro editor is opened by clicking 🛄 in the <u>cue control</u> ाउटे or by <u>hotkey</u> 20ही.

Generic Macro Editor	10	ale k								×
Options Breferences H	Nþ									
Visualization	Paramet	ers De	slays Dela	Order		Built-in s	hapes	User-s	hapes 📗	
Sine Cycle time: 10.2 jeconds Mar/Marx: -186/186	Macro B	Angle Par Clatime	e 0 ÷ vde 106 Macro famete 102 sec	Cit Cit Stricel	Set Set Set	2'Sine 2'Sine 2'Sine 1/3'Hal 2/3'Hal 2/3'Sin 1/2'Sin 1/3'Sin 1/4'Sin	a M a L a Sire e e	acro ists		•
Track Of: Track Fet. Macro Out Feture Out	Reptart n Macro Pi	alamete	Cue load Update	Enable	d d	1/8 Sine 2 Sine 3	2			-
Of: Function		Out	Macro	Base	Amp+	Amp-	Dir	Time	Delay	
0 Shutter/Stobe/Res 1 Intensity 2 Cyan 3 Magenta 4 Yaliwa	et/Lanp	Fi	sine xture (	0 Channe		196	>	10.2	0	
5 CTC		1	LI	st						
Fature Type MAC2000					Fadu	re Count	12	Channel	Count 1	2
Select all De-s	elect al	Clear	Offset(s)	Clear fotu	re(s)	Restat	Mace	o Dis	able Mac	101
😹 Save Macro	,		🙇 Loi	ed Macro			0	New Ma	C10	

The generic DMX macro editor

#### The Macro Editor

The Generic Macro editor is used to program the <u>generic DMX macro</u> <sup>153</sup> entries in the <u>cue control</u> <sup>132</sup>. The editor is split into 4 different parts plus a command panel with often-used commands.

#### Macro Shapes List

The Macro list on the far right contains the available macro shapes - note that before a specific macro

shape can be assigned to fixture control channels at least one fixture and at least one DMX control channel must be selected. For a more detailed description see <u>macro shapes lists</u>

#### Visualization & tracking

The Visualization and tracking panel visualizes the current macro by showing the graphical shape of the macro and tracking the resulting DMX values of the affected fixtures/DMX channels. For a more detailed description see <u>macro visualization and tracking panel</u> [159].

#### Fixture Channel List

The Fixture Channel list allows selection and programming of one or more DMX channels of the selected fixtures. The list also shows the programmed macros and associated parameters for each channel (offset) for the selected master fixture.

For a more detailed description see fixture channel list

#### **Macro Parameters**

The Macro parameter panel contains the various parameters that will effect the execution of the programmed macro. For a more detailed description see generic DMX macro parameters [161]

#### Selecting which fixtures/channels to program

Select the fixture(s) to program by selecting the fixture icons on the desktop as usual. When one or more fixtures are selected on the desktop, the available DMX control channels of the selected <u>master fixture</u> are shown in the fixture channel list. Note that it is only possible to program one type of fixture at a time, much like programming for example color settings using the regular <u>fixture color control</u> 108.

#### Selecting the macro type

To program a macro or edit macro parameters for one or more fixture channels, simply highlight the line(s) representing the DMX control channels (note that channel offset value starts at 0 not 1). Once one or more channels are highlighted select the macro shape to use from the macro list by clicking it (double click if already highlighted). Once the macro has been selected, use the controls on the parameters panel to set the associated macro parameters and delays.

#### Setting macro parameters

See <u>Generic macro parameters</u> 16<sup>1</sup> for more information on the individual macro parameters. See <u>Generic macro delays</u> 16<sup>3</sup> for more information on delay settings. Note: It is not possible to program parameters before a macro shape has been assigned to the control channel; before setting any parameters make sure that a shape is selected.

Use the first tab on the macro parameter panel to set the following parameter values: Base Value - set a value between 0 and 255, select 'Off' to disable the use of base values for the programmed macro.

Positive Amplitude - use the negative amplitude drag bar to set the amplitude for positive parts of the macro shape. Right click on the bar for a popup menu with often-used values.

Negative Amplitude - use the negative amplitude drag bar to set the amplitude for negative parts of the macro shape. Right click on the bar for a popup menu with often-used values.

Cycle Time - use the cycle time drag bar to set the time for a complete macro cycle.

Direction - use the direction arrows to set the macro execution direction to left, right or bounce which automatically changes direction on the left or right 'bounds'.

Delays - use the controls on the two last tabs on the parameter panel to set delay style, order and values for the selected channels.

#### The command panel

The command panel contains buttons for often-used functions such as multiple channel selection and saving and loading macros.

Select All - click to select all DMX channels in the Fixture channel list, and Deselect all to deselect all channels. Selecting all channels for a fixture is primarily useful when programming generic DMX controls, for example a dimmer pack running par lamps controlled with a single

#### generic DMX fixture profile 84.

Clear Offset(s) - click to clear all macro parameters from the selected channels - click Clear Fixture(s) to clear all channels for all selected fixtures.

Restart Macro - click to reset the channel macro index to 0 for all fixtures (see

<u>Generic DMX Macros</u> [153] - delays section, for on an introduction to *channel macro index* and delays). Disable Macros - click to disable **ALL** macros running - this includes any macro running from the cue. This function is especially handy when retrieving the base and amplitude values from the current sequence.

#### Saveing and loading macros

Click Save Macro to save the macro using the <u>Save Macro dialog</u> [165]. Make sure to give the macro a descriptive name before saving it. Note, if <u>macro quick save</u> [56] is enabled, the macro may be re-saved without using the save dialog, just by right-clicking **Save Macro**. Once a macro has been saved it can be launched from any cue simply by adding the macro from the <u>Select macro list</u> [166] to the Generic Macro slot in the <u>cue control</u> [132].

Click Load Macro to open the list of previously saved macros [168]. To load a macro to the macro editor, either drag it from the list to an empty spot on the desktop, or right click the macro in the list and select **edit macro** from the popup menu. Note, if <u>macro quick load</u> [50] is enabled, the current macro may be re-loaded from file without using the macro list, just by right-clicking **Load Macro**.

New Macro to clear the contents of the macro editor.

#### Preferences Menu

Click

Clear Macro on Editor Close - automatically clear the macro editor when it is closed - default is checked.

Slow Macrodisplay Update - lowers the update rate of the graphical macro display - recommended setting on slower PCs.

See also movement macros 102, generic macro delays 163

### 11.3 The macro shapes lists

There are two macro shapes lists available. A list of built-in macro shapes, and a list of user-defined macro shapes.

Built-in shapes	User-shapes	
2°Sine		
2"Sine^2		
2"Sine^4		
2°Sine^8		
1/3 Half Sine		
2/3 Half Sine		
2/3 Sine		
Sine		
1/2 Sine		
1/3 Sine		
1/4 Sine		
1/8 Sine		
2"Sine^2		1
Sine^3		-



#### The built in macro shapes list

The built-in Macro shapes list contains a number of predefined macro shapes. These macro shapes cannot be modified. To assign a shape to one or more fixtures/DMX channels, first select the fixture icons on the desktop. Next, highlight the channels in the Fixture Channel list. Finally, select (highlight) the macro shape in the shapes list (if the shape is already selected but not assigned, double click to

force assignment). The different types of shapes in combination with <u>delays</u> [163] and macro cycle time can be used for a wide variety of effects. As different fixture types allocate different functions on different DMX control channels in different ways, there aren't really any rules for applying shapes to DMX control channels. Experiment a lot, and check the fixtures DMX protocol for possible pitfalls (such as programming an unintended fixture reset). Shapes such as *Sine* macros are typically used for slow smooth effects, while shapes such as *Square* or *Stair* generates snap-type effects. Most shapes exists in several versions, for example the sine shape exists as a *sine*, 1/2 *sine*, 1/3 *sine*, 1/4 *sine*, 1/8 *sine*. Use the *Sine* shape for a continuous effect, and the 1/X *Sine* shapes in combination with delays for chase effects.

#### The user-defined macro shapes list

There is currently no editing facilities for user defined macros available within LightJockey. The tab is reserved for later use.

### 11.4 Macro visualization and tracking panel

The Visualization and Tracking panel is used to visualize the currently selected macro shape and parameters. The panel has two basic modes of operation: Macro visualization (Macro out) and Fixture Output Visualization (Fixture Out). The panel also may also visualize the DMX values transmitted by fixtures in either Offset Tracking mode (Track Ofs) or Fixture tracking mode (Track Fixt.). The name of the current selected macro shape is displayed below the tracking panel together with the programmed macro cycle time and min/max DMX values generated by the macro. To monitor the macro shape and parameters for a particular fixture/channel, select the fixture on the desktop, then highlight the channel in the Fixture Channel List [16].

Note: 16 -bit LSB control channels are not shown on the tracking panels.



Macro visualization (Macro Out button)

In *Macro out* mode the panel displays the macro shape and amplitude parameters without regards to other DMX values generated for the DMX channel that is being monitored. The original macro shape is shown as a gray line while the resulting macro after applying positive and negative amplitudes is shown as a white line (note, default amplitude values are zero - use the amplitude drag bars to set amplitude values). The horizontal cyan line represents the 0-point - values above the line are positive (1 to 255 that are added to the DMX output value) while values below the line are negative (1 to 255 that are subtracted from the DMX output value). By setting amplitude values less than 0 (negative amplitude values), the macro shape will be mirrored over the 0-point reference line so that positive values become negative values and negative values become positive.

Note that the Min/Max values generated by the macro shape/amplitude combination is displayed below the macro image.

### **Fixture output**



Fixture output visualization (Fixture Out button)

In *Fixture Out* mode the display changes to show the resulting DMX output values after the value is generated by combining macro with the reference value. The basic macro shape is still shown in gray, while the white line now represents the resulting, combined DMX output value. The top horizontal cyan line represents the absolute maximum DMX output value at 255, while the bottom cyan horizontal line represents the absolute minimum DMX output value at 0 (the center cyan line is for 50% reference). If the reference value is a static macro base value [16] the base value is shown as an orange line - if the macro base value is disabled, the reference value is shown as a green line.

Note that the Min/Max DMX values generated by the macro shape combined with the current reference value is displayed below the macro image.

#### Fixture DMX value tracking



Fixture DMX channel tracing

The current DMX output value may be tracked for multiple or individual fixtures by enabling **Track Ofs** or **Track Fixt**. In **Track Ofs** mode the panel tracks the selected channel (offset) in the fixture channel list across selected fixtures (master fixture value is shown as a white dot, slave fixtures are shown as red dots). In **Track Fixture** mode the panel tracks channels for the selected fixture only - select (highlight) the channels to display in the fixture channel list.

**Track Fixture** mode is primarily useful when applying macros to several of the fixtures control channels - for example chasing macro channels on a <u>generic DMX fixture profile</u> or when creating effects that uses multiple fixture control channels such as CMY rainbow effects.

Note : The value tracking only shows values for fixture types identical to the selected master fixture.

Ofs	Function	Out	Macro	Base	Amp+	Amp-	Dir	Time	Delay
0	Shutter/Strobe/Reset/Lamp	0							
1	Intensity	0							
2	Color1 Wheel	0							
3	Color2 Wheel	0							
4	R-Gobo Wheel	0							
5	R-Gobo Pos/Speed	0							
6	F-Gobo Wheel	0 /	16-bit MSB	contro	l chan	nel			
7	Focus	8		-	-	_			
8	lris 🦯	0	Log	0	255	255		0.0	0
9	Prism 🖌	0							
10	Pan MSB (16 bit MSB)	249	Sine	128	127	127	>	16.8	0
11	Pan LSB (16 bit LSB) 🚤	222	N/A						
12	Tilt MSB (16 bit MSB)	0	16-b	it LSB (	control	chanr	hel		
13	Tilt LSB (16 bit LSB)	0	N/A						
14	Dan /Till Coord	0							

The fixture channel list

The fixture channel list is used to select fixture DMX control channels to program as well as monitor values for already programmed channels. Select (highlight) one or more control channels in the list to program.

**Note:** The channel list represents how the fixtures control channels are mapped internally. For userdefined profiles with 16-bit control channels (pan/tilt) this may not necessarily be identical to the way the final output is patched (see <u>global patch</u> or <u>DMX output monitor</u> for properly patched DMX out data)

### List Columns

Ofs - DMX Control channel offset - note first offset is 0 (not 1)

Function - Contains a description of the control channel. Note that for user defined fixture profiles, the column contains what ever the original profile author decided to enter as channel description (which may be nothing at all). 16-bit control channels are marked as MSB or LSB control channels - It is not possible to assign Macro shapes or parameters to LSB control channels - LightJockey automatically utilizes the superior value resolution offered by 16-bit parameters and splits the MSB/LSB parts automatically.

Out - This column shows the current DMX output value.

Macro - The macro column displays the programmed macro shape.

Base - The base column shows the programmed base value - if the base value is disabled the value is displayed as off.

Amp+ - Displays the programmed positive amplitude.

Amp- - Displays the programmed negative amplitude.

Dir - Displays programmed direction. > Indicates forward direction, < indicates reverse direction and <> indicates a bounce.

Time - Shows the programmed Macro Cycle time

Delay - Shows the programmed delay. Maximum delay value is 8191.

### 11.6 Generic macro parameters

See also <u>generic macro delays</u> Besides the macro shape the generic DMX macro engine also associates a number of parameters with each DMX control channel.



Setting macro parameters (parameters tab)

Click **set** to force the displayed parameters to selected fixtures - useful for example when updating fixtures that are selected as slave fixtures after the values have been set - or to synchronize parameters for multiple fixtures.

#### **Base value**

When a macro is programmed it may contain a base value (default is base-value enabled, value = 0). When a base value is selected the macro engine will automatically use the base value as reference value when adding and subtracting values from the macro. When base values are disabled, the macro engine will add or subtract values *from whatever DMX value is generated by other programming elements*. The base value may be disabled for the macro by clicking **Off**. Right clicking the base value field brings up a popup menu with often used values.

The advantage of programming a base values is that the resulting DMX output is predictable since it always combines with the static base value. Disabling the base value allows much more flexibility in the combined DMX value output - for example, a macro that 'oscillates' around a color on a fixtures color wheel can be combined with a multi-scene sequence that has different color wheel positions in each scene. The result is that the color wheel 'oscillates' around different colors depending on the actual scene of the sequence. The disadvantage to disabling the base value is that some combinations of DMX values may actually lead to very undesirable effects, such as fixture reset or lamp off.

#### Positive and negative amplitudes

The positive and negative amplitudes dictate the 'vertical size' of the macro shape - or in other words how much the macro shape is amplified. The macro shape contains values ranging from -1 through 0 to 1, so the amplitude values translates directly into DMX min/max values generated by the macro - e.g. a positive amplitude of 45 will add a maximum of 45 to the output value (when the shape is at max value). Note that when the amplitudes are negative, the shape is mirrored across the shape 0-value line basically inverting the shape.



(A) 2\*Sine shape - positive amplitude = 255

(B) 2\*Sine shape - positive amplitude = -255 (shape inverted)

- (C) Sine shape Positive and Negative amplitudes = 255
- (D) Sine shape Positive and Negative amplitudes = -255 (shape inverted)

#### Macro cycle time

The macro cycle time determines how fast the macro shape is 'traveled through'. The time interval ranges from 0.4 seconds to 595 seconds (approx 10 minutes). That the distribution of cycle times is not linear, the 'resolution' is much higher at lower time values. Note that the default value is 0, which

means that the macro is static.

#### **Macro direction**

Use the direction arrows to set the 'travel' direction of the macro (best seen when tracking offset values). The bounce direction will automatically bounce the macro off either. Note that delay values are not considered when bouncing the macro.

#### Restart macro on cue load

When enabled loading the macro in a cue will automatically restart the affected channels - for more details see <u>Generic DMX Macros</u><sup>153</sup>, Channel Macro Index and delays. Note that the option will only restart the macro channel indexes when the macro is actually loaded as part of a cue - not when the macro is added to a cue, neither when the macro is loaded into the editor.

#### Macro parameter update

When disabled, manipulated parameters are not actually programmed - disable to select different macro shapes and amplitudes without actually effecting the selected fixtures.

### 11.7 Generic macro delays

See <u>generic DMX macro</u> for details on delay and channel macro index. The macro delays and delay order parameters are set on two different tabs.

Parameters D	elays Delay Order
Delay (selected	i offsets) 0 = 0
Auto Delay Valu Use full dela Auto-apply o	es 0 10 8191
Auto Delay St C Linear C Circular	vie C Segments C Random
	Apply Auto Delay

Setting macro delays (delays tab)

#### Manually setting delay values Delay (selected offsets).

Use this field to manually set the delay for one or more control channel offsets selected in the <u>fixture channel list</u> (16). Maximum delay value is 8191. Right click the field to select often-used delay values (expressed in percentages) from a popup menu. Note that the option to set the delay value manually is disabled if *Auto-apply delays* (see below) is checked.

#### **Calculated delay values**

Usually, it is a lot easier to let the macro engine calculate delay values than setting them manually. Auto Delay Values From/To- enter delay start and end values in these fields and click **Apply Auto Delay** to calculate new delay values (or check **Auto Apply Delays**). Max delay value is 8191 - if the end delay value is less than the start value, the engine will apply delays in the range of: start value->8191->0->end value. Right click the fields to select often-used delay values (expressed in percentages) from a popup menu.

Use Full Delay cycle values - when checked, the engine will always distribute the full delay range (0-8191) over the selected fixtures, still taking the *from value* into account. Checking this option will disable the *Auto Delay To* field.

Auto apply delays - check this to automatically let any changes in delay parameters take effect immediately. If not checked, it is necessary to click **Apply Auto Delay** to apply the changes.

#### **Auto Delay Style**

The auto delay can be calculated and applied in a number of different ways (delay styles). Note that the

order in which the delays are applied to the fixtures and channels is determined by settings on the **Delay Order** tab (see below).

Linear delay (default) The delay range (from -> to) is applied in a linear fashion with delays spread evenly between the selected fixtures. For example: From/To = 0/8191; 10 fixtures selected. Fixture 1: delay = 0% Fixture 2: delay = 10% Fixture 3: delay = 20% ...

Fixture 8: delay = 80% Fixture 9: delay = 90%

#### Circular

The selected fixtures are split in to a number of groups (set the circular group count on the Delay Order tab) - and the delay range is then distributed evenly over the fixtures in each group. For example: From/To = 0/8191; 12 fixtures selected; circular groups count = 3 (4 fixtures in each group): (Group 1) Fixture 1: delay = 0%Fixture 2: delay = 25%Fixture 3: delay = 50%Fixture 4: delay = 75%(Group 2) Fixture 5: delay = 0%Fixture 6: delay = 25%Fixture 7: delay = 50%Fixture 8: delay = 75%(Group 3) Fixture 9: delay = 0%Fixture 10: delay = 25%Fixture 11: delay = 50%Fixture 12: delay = 75%

#### Segments

The selected fixtures are split in to a number of groups (set the segment group count on the Delay Order tab) - and the delay range is then distributed by evenly over each group so that each fixture in the same group gets the same delay. For example:

From/To = 0/8191; 12 fixtures selected; segment groups count = 4 (3 fixtures in each group): (Group 1) Fixture 1,2,3: delay = 0% (Group 2)

Fixture 4,5,6: delay = 25% (Group 3) Fixture 7,8,9: delay =50% (Group 4) Fixture 10,12,12: delay =75%

#### Random

The delay applied is a random figure within the from/to range.

When applying a random delay to multiple offsets of the same fixtures, use the Random Delay setting in the preferences menu to select between random delay *By Offset* (all offsets gets individual, random delays) or random delay *By Fixture* (identical, random delays are applied to the fixture for all selected offsets).



Delay order tab

The order in which the auto delay is applied to fixtures is determined by the order selected in the delay order box.

Fixture Number / Reversed - the delay is applied in fixture number order (low to high) or in reverse order (high to Low).

Icon horizontal Position/Reversed - the delay is applied according to the fixture icon horizontal position (left to right) or in reverse order (right to left)

Icon vertical Position/Reversed - the delay is applied according to the fixture icon vertical position (top to bottom) or in reverse order (bottom to top).

Invert Channel Order - normally, when assigning delays to multiple channels within the same fixture, delays are assigned to individual channels from top to bottom. Check *Invert Channel Order* to assign the delays from bottom to top.

Circular Groups Count - sets the Circular Groups count - see Auto Delay Style above. Segment Groups Count - sets the Segments Groups count - see Auto Delay Style above.

### 11.8 Save macro dialog



Macro# - each generic macro is identified by a unique number. Macro Name - Macro name/description.

Click **Save** to (re-) save the current macro using the same macro number (is only enabled if the macro has been previously saved)

Click **Save New** to save the current macro using a new (free) macro number.

Click **Save as Macro#** to save the macro with a specific macro number. The maximum macro number is 9999.

Check *Clear Macro editor after save* to automatically clear the macro editor after the macro has been saved.

Check Add macro to cue to automatically add the saved macro to the <u>cue control macro slot</u> [132]. Check Create New Cue to auto save the current cue as new cue.

Check Autosave Current Cue to automatically save the current cue (unless Create New Cue is checked this will re-save the current cue)

#### **Preferences menu**

Auto Close - automatically closes the save dialog when a macro has been saved. Save on Enter - saves the macro by pressing [enter] on the keyboard when typing the macro name.

### 11.9 Select macro list

Click Load Macro on the generic DMX macro editor to open the select macro list. Use list to select previously saved macros for either editing or to include the macro in a cue.

😫 Sele	ct Macro	×
Preferen	nces Help	
No	Macro Name	
0001	M2K Intensity Delayed Sine	
0002	M2K Intensity Delayed Sine v.	
0003	518 Sine Gobo Chase	
0004	518 Square Intensity Chase	
0005	518 Sine Intensity chase	

Select macro list

#### **Editing a macro**

To edit an existing macro highlight right click the entry in the list. From the popup menu select **Edit Macro**. The <u>macro editor</u> [156] will automatically open if not opened already. Alternatively, drag the line to the already opened Macro Editor, or to an empty spot on the desktop. Also, if neither browse options in the preferences menu (see below) are enabled, double clicking the line will send the macro to the editor.

#### Adding a macro to the cue

To add a macro to the cue - drag it from the list to the macro slot in the <u>cue control</u>  $13^{2}$ . Alternatively, right click the line and select **Add Macro to Cue**.

#### **Delete macro file**

To delete a macro, right click the line and select **Delete Macro File** from the popup.

#### **Preferences**

Browse to editor - When enabled, the selected macro is loaded directly into the macro editor right away. Use this option to browse through previously saved macros quickly. Browse to Cue - When enabled, the selected macro is added directly into the cue right away. Use this option to browse through previously saved macros quickly.

See also generic DMX macro editor 156

# 12 The background cue

### 12.1 Using the background cue

Click <u>Backgound Cue</u> on the <u>cue list tool bar</u> to open the background cue control. Note that the 'LED' on the button changes it's color to green if any sequences are 'active' in the background cue. A red 'LED' means no sequences are active.

The background cue is a construction quite similar to the <u>cue</u>  $\boxed{132}$  as it allows multiple sequences to be executed in parallel independently of other sequences also executing. The background cue holds up to 5 sequences but does not offer most of the sequence loop- and trig options that regular cue does: for example. any sequence that is a part of the background cue will always execute in a forward direction. The background cue also differs from the regular cue as the output from the sequences contained in the background cue has higher priority than both the contents of the regular cue and the <u>current sequence</u>  $\boxed{124}$ . This enables the background cue to run sequences that are always 'On' independently of any modifications being done to the current sequence or cue. As with the regular cue, the higher the number of the slot in the background cue the higher the priority of the sequence in the background cue. The total number of background cues is limited to 99.

Note that fixtures programmed in the sequences running in the background cue are still controlled by <u>blackout</u> [195] and <u>master intensity</u> [195] controls. To make specific fixtures (e.g. house lights) totally independent of the blackout and master intensity controls, enable the **Ignore Blackout** and **Ignore Master Intensity** switches in the <u>Fixture configuration</u> [66] for the relevant fixtures. Alternatively, assign the fixtures in question to a separate <u>intensity sub-master</u> [195] and make this sub-master independent of the intensity Master; this way it is still possible to regulate the intensity of those fixtures.

e Ba	d Background Cue								
Prefer	rences <u>H</u>	elp							
	Seq No	Sequence Name	Scene	Mode					
11	0004	Lite on	1:1						
2	0002	2 Step Macro	1:2						
3	0003	Color Chase	5:9						
5	0001	Shutter Chase	1:8						
	C 🗏 🖄 🗊 01 Wild Bar Liphts								

The background cue control

#### Assigning sequences to the background cue

To assign a sequence to the background cue, drag the it from the <u>list of sequences</u>  $12^{7}$  to a slot in the background cue control. Alternatively right click the sequence in the list of sequences and select **add to BG Cue** 

#### Removing sequences from the background cue

To clear one or more slots in the background cue, highlight the slot, right-click then select **Clear Sequence(s)**.

#### Clearing and saving the background cue

1

Click to clear the contents of the current background cue.

Click to open the save background cue dialog.



#### The save background cue dialog

Click the **save** to re-save an existing background cue or the **save new** to save the current background cue as a new background cue.

#### Loading background cues

داندk to open the <u>list of background c</u>ues الفا

103 C400 Orange chase	Û	03 C400 Orange chase
-----------------------	---	----------------------

Previously saved background cues are also selectable from the selection drop down box in the lower right hand corner of the background cue control. In order to restore the sequence slot state (on or off) that the background cue was saved with, make sure that **Preferences** -> **Restore Sequence On/Off State** is enabled. If disabled the background cue will always load with all slots enabled. A background cue may also be automatically as part of a cue.

#### **Deleting background cue files**

Click to delete the current background cue file. To delete multiple background cue files, use <u>deleting multiple data files</u> and select and right-click in the <u>list of background cues</u> and select **Delete background Cue Files** from the popup menu.

#### Selecting sequence trig mode

Right-click the sequence slot to access the Sequence Mode dialog to set the sequence mode. The following trig modes are possible for sequences in the background cue:

Auto trigged - default mode. Uses the preprogrammed scene and fade times.

Audio trigged - using trig information from the <u>Audio Analyzer</u> and the sequences preprogrammed scene and fade times.

No-Loop Mode - same as auto trigged but the sequence doesn't loop after the last scene.

When sequences are set to Audio trigged or No-Loop mode, an indication (A and -L respectively) will appear in the mode column of the background cue control.

BG Cue - Sequence Mode	×					
Seq 0001 Lite on						
T Audio Trigged T No Loop						
Cancel						

The Sequence Mode dialog

#### Transparent background cues

Like the ordinary cue the background cue implements <u>transparency</u> 14). Normally, when loading a background cue, each of the background cues slots will be overwritten by the contents of the loaded background cue - even if the slots in the new cue has no sequence assigned. However, when a background cue is saved as a transparent cue, on reloading, empty slots will <u>not</u> overwrite existing sequences. To save a background cue as transparent - check '**Save as Transparent BGCue**' in the save dialog. In the background cue drop down list, transparent background cues display a **(T)** in front of the background cue name.

See also <u>cue control</u> [132]

### 12.2 List of background cues

Call up the list by clicking the icon on the <u>background cue control</u> a - or by assigning a <u>hotkey</u> ab.

🚨 Se	🔒 Select Background Cue 🛛 🛛 🛛					
Prefer	ences <u>H</u> elp					
BG#	Background Cue					
0001	House Lights - Afternoon					
0002	House Lights - Nights					
0003	House Lights - Closing					
0004	Bar Red Wash					
0005	Bar Blue Wash					
0006	Bar Green Wash					
0007	Stage Fiber curtain					
0008	Entrance On					

List of background cues

This list contains all previously saved background cues. Use this list to select and load a background cue (a background cue may also be loaded using the drop down list on the <u>background cue control</u> [167]). The list also acts as source for drag and drop operations for background cues.

#### Loading background cues

To load the background cue either double click the line containing the cue, or highlight the line and use the [Enter] key on the keyboard. A background cue may also be loaded by dragging it to the desktop.

#### **Deleting background cue files**

Highlight the lines containing the background cues to be deleted, then right click and select **Delete Background Cue Files** from the popup menu.

#### **Preferences Menu**

Use Color Code for Transparent Cues - when enabled transparent background will be shown in blue, when disabled transparent cue names will be pre-fixed with a (T) Follow Active BG-Cue - when enabled the active background cue will be automatically selected in the drop down list.

### **13** The cue list control

### 13.1 The cue list control

The cue list control is opened by clicking used to execute cues in a pre-defined order from top to bottom. The cue list may be driven manually (using a 'Go' to advance the cue list), by 'elapsed time' (using a specific wait time), by PC-Clock (24 hour clock) or by external time code in form of time code from Audio CD, Digital audio or video (e.g. MP3 or MPG files) or MIDI time code and SMPTE. The cue list has two states, the passive *edit* state and the active *playback* state. When active, the contents of the cue list is locked and cannot be modified.

		Command	Parameter	Cue/Trig	Comment/Exe Parameter	CD Stop
	Auto	0		0001 Intro	Start	CD Die Euro T
	Auto	CD Play Track	Track#1	0002 Intro Preset	Command	CD Play Flom 1
	Auto	CD Play Time	00.26:18		Commanu	Wak CD
	Auto	0			Donal 🔨	
	Auto	Wait for CD at	00.31.69	0003 Intro Color Fade 1	Dip De la lier	
5	Auto	Wait for CD at	00.32.34	0003 Intro Color Fade 1		
1	Auto	Wath	- CO. 11	Fade 2		and the second s
1	Auto	Waith	Cuell	SE Fade 2		
	Auto	Watte		Fade 2		
0	Auto		esruon	nmands		
1	Auto	Wait for CD at	00:35:41	0003 Intro Color Fade 1	Dio Dio	
2	Auto	Wait for CD at	00:36:04	0003 Intro Color Fade 1		
3	Auto	Wait for CD at	00.36.65	0004 Intro Color Fade 2		14 34
4	Auto	Wait for CD at	00:37:57	0004 Intro Color Fade 2		
5	Auto	Wait for CD at	00:38:47	0004 Intro Color Fade 2		133 Lines
6	Auto	0				Elapsed 00:00:0
7	Auto	Wait for CD at	00.39.11	0003 Intro Color Fade 1	Dio Dio	Internal Data of the
8	Auto	Wait for CD at	00.39.48	0003 Intro Color Fade 1		1 1 8 1
		a start and a	0.0 10.01	AAAAAA AAA AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	-	

The cue list control, edit mode

#### The cue list control

The cue list control consists of 3 parts, the cue list itself (with lines containing commands and various functions), the edit panel below the cue list and the command panel to the right of the cue list. The edit and command panels may be hidden (from the preferences/view menu); an option, which may be handy to save space on the desktop once the cue list has been programmed.

#### The cue list

The cue list it self is represented by a list of lines that may one of a number of 'active' or 'passive' commands. Active commands are commands that, for example, instructs the CD-ROM drive to play a certain track, while a passive command could be a wait command, that simply waits until a certain condition is met - e.g. the time code has passed 1:00:00. Each line may also contain an instruction to latch or trig sequences in a cue.

#### **Cue list columns**

L # - cue list line number

Adv - advance method (manual or automatic)

Command - contains the command for the line, for example a wait command

Parameter - contains parameters for the command, for example a specific time code

Cue/Trig - contains cue number or instructs the cue control to trig certain sequences in the cue.

Comments/EXE Parameter - user comments or parameters for external applications.

#### Adding, inserting and removing lines in the cue list

Click to add one more lines to the cue list (there is no practical limit to the number of lines in a single cue list) - right click the button to add 10 lines at a time.

Click to insert a new empty line before the selected line in the cue list - right click the button to insert 10 lines at a time.

Click

to delete the selected lines in the list.

#### **Rearranging lines in the cue list**

Lines may be rearranged in the cue list by simple drag and drop operations. Select one or more lines and drag them to the desired location. Note that when dropped on an existing line the dragged lines will be inserted above the line on which they are dropped. Drag lines below the list to move to the end of the list. It is also possible to rearrange the lines by selecting standard Cut, Copy & Paste operations from the right click popup menu. For example, to copy the 5 top lines to the bottom of the list, highlight the 5 lines, right click and select copy. Then right click at the bottom of the list (or deselect all highlighted lines), right click and select paste. If lines are pasted 'on top' of a highlighted line they are inserted before the highlight.

#### Clearing, saving and loading cue lists

Click Light to clear the current cue list and start a new cue list.

Click Los save the current cue list 176.

Click to open the list of previously saved cue lists 176. Select the cue list to load into the cue list control.

Note that these buttons are duplicated on the <u>cue list tool bar</u> 56.

To delete a single cue list file, right click the cue list in the list of cue lists and **select delete cue list** file. **To** delete multiple cue list files, use the delete cue list files dialog (main menu/system/delete files).

#### Importing other cue lists into the current cue list

To import a previously saved cue list into the current cue list, drag it from the list of previously saved cue lists and onto the cue list lines - this will insert the imported cue list before the line it is dropped on. To add the imported cue list to the end of the list, drag the cue list to an empty line below the current cue list.

#### Manual vs. automatic line advance



Cue list Go/Back buttons

Each line in the cue list may be set to either manual or automatic advance (default is automatic). To change one or more lines, highlight, right click and select **Set Advance Mode** from the popup menu. The difference between a manual and automatic line is that the manual line waits for a user input (Go command) before performing the commands or latching the cues in the line. Also, if a line is set to manual advance certain commands (e.g. wait time code commands) are ignored (see commands). The Go command may be set by clicking **GO !** (only enabled if the cue list is active and waiting for a go command). Unless the cue list is waiting for a Go command on the first line, it is also possible to issue a **Back** command that will cause the cue list jump back one line.

A few cue list commands are ignored if the advance mode is Manual, see <u>cue list commands</u> 177.

Both the Go and Back commands are available through  $Hotkeys^{203}$ , DMX in 231, MIDI in 240 commands or by assigning the function to the 2532 direct access controller 225.

Manual and automatic advances may be mixed freely within the cue list; it is perfectly possible to 'interrupt' a mainly automatic cue list (e.g. time code driven) by one or more manual lines to wait for a user input. Likewise a mainly manual cue list may include a number of automatic advance lines, for example to latch a number of cues with specific timing by a single Go command. When an active cue list is waiting for a manual go, it is possible to jump directly to a different line by right-clicking the desired line and selecting **Jump to this** from the popup menu.

#### Assigning commands to lines

To assign a specific command to one or more lines, highlight the line(s), right click and select the command from one of the submenu's on the popup menu.



Selecting commands from popup menu

Once a command has been used it will appear on the 'recent commands list' on the command panel. The buttons stores the 8 commands that have been most recently used. Clicking a command button is similar to selecting the command from the popup menu. Right click the button to clear the command from the recent commands list. To remove commands from one or more cue list lines, highlight the lines, right click and select **Clear/Clear Command** (*Clear line* clears the whole line). See <u>cue list commands</u> [177] for details on individual commands and parameters.

#### Assigning parameters to commands

Most commands require a parameter to function, i.e. a 'CD Play Track' requires a track parameter (track number) or a 'Wait for CD at' command requires a time code to wait for. Once a command has been set on a line the required parameters (and comments) may be set via the edit panel at the bottom of the control. To edit the parameters, highlight the required line(s) and edit the parameters. If several lines are highlighted, only lines with identical commands will have their parameters changed.



Editing a CD wait time

See <u>cue list commands</u> [177] for details on individual commands and parameters.

#### Assigning cues to lines

Assign a cue to be latched by the cue list line simply by dragging it from the <u>list of cues</u> to the cue list line. To add the same cue to multiple lines, load the cue then highlight the lines and select **Set Current Cue** from the right click popup menu.

Both <u>transparent</u> and non-transparent cues can be assigned to a line. To latch multiple cues (one non-transparent, the rest transparent) to the same time code (or by the use of a single Go command), simply add multiple lines with auto advance and without any time code or other commands. Remember that non-transparent cues overwrite all slots in the cue control so make sure to add the non-transparent cue BEFORE the transparent cues.

1	Auto	CD Play Track	Track#1	
2	Auto	Wait for CD at	00:03:00	0015 Non-Transparent Cue
3	Auto	$\diamond$		0012 Transparent due 1
4	Auto	$\langle \rangle$		0013 Transparent Cue 2
5	Auto	$\diamond$		0014 Transparent Cue 3
6	Auto	Wait for CD at	00:04:00	0016 Another Cue
-				

Latching multiple cues

#### **Trigging sequences in cues**

Rather than having a line latch a cue, the cue list may trig one or more sequences in the cue. Highlight the relevant line (s) and select **Set Cure Trig** from the right click popup menu. Select one or more of the 12 sequence slots to be trigged - when the line is executes each of the sequences will be trigged exactly once, regardless of programmed trig method (auto, manual, audio). The sequence will be trigged in the programmed <u>loop direction</u> 145. It is not possible to have a line latch a cue and trig the cue at the same time.



Setting cue trigs

To remove cues or trig commands from one or more lines, highlight the lines, right click and select **Clear/Clear Cue/Trig** (*Clear line* clears the whole line).

**Tip**: When using trig from the cue list, make sure to either set the sequence to manual trig in the cue, or alternatively give it a very long scene time when programming the sequence and then select auto trig in the cue. If the sequence is set to manual trig, make sure to disable **Chase Man** in the cue control otherwise the sequence will start chasing after the first two trigs.

#### Adding/editing comments

The final column is used for comments or for <u>external program parameters</u> [183]. To set or edit a comment, highlight the line(s), and edit the comment via the comment field on the edit panel.

#### Starting and executing the cue list



An active (running) cue list

🐺 Top 🐥 Run To start the cue list, click or Clicking Top will start the cue list executing from the first line, while clicking Run will start the cue list executing from the selected (highlighted) line in the cue list. While a cue list is active the Top/Run buttons are both replaced by a **STOP** button. Click this to stop the cue list from executing. While active, it is not possible change any of the cue list lines, and it is not possible to add, insert or delete any lines in the cue list. To modify the cue list, it must be stopped first (click STOP). Alternatively the cue list can be started from the right click popup menu, where **Run** from top and Run from line have same functions as the Top and Run buttons. "Run to line" has a different function - see below. It is also possible to start the cue list by right clicking one of the mark buttons (see below), or via hotkey functions 205 During cue list execution the 'active' and 'next' lines are highlighted in gray and blue respectively. The active line (gray) is the line that has previusly executed; e.g. if the line contains a cue command this cue has been loaded in the cue control, while the the next line (blue) is the line waiting to execute (for example waiting for a specific time code or manual go command).

#### Preferences Menu

View, Default Columns - Resizes the list columns to default sizes. View, Edit panel - toggles the edit panel on and off. View, Command panel - toggles the command panel on and off. Use color codes - toggles color codes on and off. When color codes are enabled, different types of commands and parameters are shown in different colors.

Ignore first Wait Elapsed on run - when enabled, the cue list will ignore the first wait elapsed command if started with a run command. When programming, enable this to avoid having to wait for the first elapsed time before the cue is latched.

Load Cue on double click - when enabled, double clicking a line containing a cue loads the cue into the cue control. Use to load cues directly from the cue list without enabling cue browsing.

Stop Audio/Media Playback when Cuelist stops - automatically stops audio or media file playback started by the cue list when the cue list stops; either when the cue list runs out or is stopped manually. Automatic Cue Update on Run - When this option is enabled the cue list control will automatically try to locate and launch the relevant cues that are located before the line that is used as start point for the run command. This option is only useful when working with transparent cues runs of rule list. The cue list control will search and launch cues after the following rules: Launch the latest previous non-transparent cue, and then launch any transparent cues between the non-transparent cue and the 'run-line'.

Auto seek audio tracks/media file on Run - When enabled, the cue list control will automatically perform load, seek and play commands on audio an track if the run command is executed on a wait time code line.

MIDI Timecode, stop list on Timecode timeout - automatically stops the cue list when reception of MIDI time code stops.

MIDI Timecode, Restart List on Timecode Timeout - automatically restarts the cue list when reception of MIDI time code stops. Enable this option to slave the cue list after an external MTC/SMPTE device in continuous loops (e.g. from a laser disc player).

Autosave Cuelist on Exit - automatically save the cue list when LightJockey is closed down. An auto save cue list may be re-loaded via Options/Load Autosave. Note that only the most recent auto save is available for reload (and only if the auto save option is enabled).

#### **Other cue list functions**

#### Run to line (right click popup menu ->run..)

Using this command causes the cue control to be updated with the contents as if the cuelist has been executed until (and including) the specific cuelist line. The function is handy when loading transparent cues in the cuelist since the contents of the cue control depends on previously sequentially loaded (transparent) cues. The function ignores all other types of commands than cue commands.

U	s	in	q	m	a	r	ks
			~				

Тор	1	2	
Run	3	4	

The 4 mark buttons

The cue list control contains 4 mark buttons (1-4). These buttons may be used as shortcuts to specific lines in the cue list. To mark a specific line, highlight it, right click and select **Set Mark** from the popup menu. Once a line has been marked, click the corresponding mark button to jump to that line. If the button is right clicked the cue list will start executing at this line (identical to highlighting the line, and then click **Run**) - as the mark functions are also available as <u>hotkey functions</u> and the marks as shortcuts can be a considerable time saver when programming cue lists. Note that the marks refer to line numbers only, so if lines are inserted or deleted before the mark they will no longer point to the same line.

The Lock button Lock When the lock button is enabled, the cue list control will try keep the 'currently active' line in the center of the scrolling list when executing the cue list. The button has no function when the cue list is not running.

The Browse button Browse When the browse button is enabled, the cue list control will launch and trig cues from the cue list when individual lines are highlighted. This is a handy option when browsing through the cue list manually. Disable to avoid that the cue list launches and trigs cues.

Enable "Load cue on double click" in the preferences menu to load cues from the cue list without enabling cue browsing.

#### Offset Time code function

It may sometimes be necessary to offset all or a portion of the time codes in the cue list, e.g. if the audio track is moved to a different media (from one CD to another). To offset time codes, highlight the relevant lines (possibly the whole cue list), right click then select offset time code from the popup menu. The 5 offset options will offset Digital Audio time codes, Media player time codes, CD time codes, MIDI time code and PC time (clock) respectively.



Offsetting CD time code

Set the required time code offset by entering the offset values in the corresponding fields. Click **Check Changes**, to check if offsetting will lead to overflow or underflow in the resulting time codes - overflow is when a time code is larger than the permitted values (e.g. 25 hours, 10 minutes on PC clock), underflow is when time codes are below the permitted values (e.g. negative hour value on PC clock). If an offset is applied with resulting overflow or underflow values the resulting time codes are automatically adjusted to maximum or minimum values, e.g. -01:00:00 is adjusted to 00:00:00. Check **Adjust Wait times Only**, to adjust wait times only. If unchecked all relevant time code commands are adjusted (e.g. play or seek commands). When offsetting MIDI time code, make sure to select the correct frame rate, otherwise the offset may be wrongly calculated using too few or too many frames.

#### Sorting wait times

Lines in the cue list may be sorted by wait times (ascending order only). Highlight the lines to sort, right click, and select **Sort Wait Times** - then select the type of wait time to sort: Digital Audio wait time, Media Player wait time, CD wait time or MIDI wait time.

Note that the following restrictions apply to lines being sorted:

- 1. Selection must not be fragmented (selected lines must be one continuous block).
- 2. Selected lines must not contain other commands than a Wait of the selected type (e.g. wait CD).

#### **Converting old-style cue lists**

LightJockey version 1.08 build 2 implements a new cue list engine adding new functionality to the cue lists. These changes require a new file format that is not compatible with previous versions. To manually update a cue list created with previous LightJockey versions, select **Import Old Format Cuelist** from the Options menu. Select the cue list file to import from the file dialog. On import, the cue list will automatically be converted to the new format - remember to re-save the cue list in the new format.

#### **IMPORTANT NOTE**

If any of the old cue lists have been programmed to link to other cue lists it is vital that the new cue lists are saved with the same cue list number as the old cue lists. Use **Save as Cuelist#** in the <u>save cue list dialog</u> 176 to ensure that the cue lists are saved with the required number (find the old cue list number from the filename when importing).

See also <u>cue list commands</u> [177], <u>using time code in cue lists</u> [178], <u>MIDI/SMPTE time code</u> [182], <u>using Winamp for digital audio playback</u> [186], <u>using the LightJockey Mediaplayer</u> [183], <u>launching external programs from the cue list</u> [183]

### 13.2 Save cue list dialog

This dialog is used when saving a cue list. The dialog is opened when clicking icons located on right hand side of the cue list tool bar bar or in the cue list control ref.

🗏 Save Cuelist 🛛 🛛 🔀					
Preferences Help					
List# Cuelist Name					
1 Bitter	Sweet				
🛎 Save	🖄 Save New	🖄 Save as Cuelist#			

Save cue list dialog

List # - This is a number that is used to uniquely identify the cue list. The LightJockey applies the number when saving the cue list for the first time, so for a new cue list this field will be blank until the cue list is saved.

Cuelist Name - This is the name for the cue list that will be used through out LightJockey. The name can be changed at any point, providing that the cue list is saved after the name has been changed. The name has no other function than identifying the cue list to the user.

Click Save New to save the current cue list as a new cue list file (giving it a new cue list number). If a previously saved cue list is saved as a new cue list, the old file is left intact.

Click Save to re-save the current cue list. The option is only available if the cue list has been previously saved and thus given a cue list number. Saving the cue list will overwrite the contents of the previous save.

Click Save as Cuelist# to save the current with a specific cue list number. Use the following dialog to specify the cue list number.

📕 Save as Cuelist# 🛛 💌						
CueList# CueList Name						
1	BitterSweet					
🗏 Save 🛛 🗶 Cancel						
	- Acres	~				

Save cue list as dialog

Note that if an existing cue list has the same number as specified it will be overwritten by the new save.

#### **Preferences Menu**

Auto Close - This option will close the save dialog automatically when the cue list is saved. Save on [Enter] - Check this option to make the [Enter] key act as hotkey for the **Save** button.

### 13.3 List of cue lists

Click Land located on the cue list tool bar set or the cue list control real to open the list with previously saved cue lists.

🔁 Select Cuelist					
Help					
No	Name	Lines	Modified	-	
0001	Manual Cuelist	11	21-06-2004		
0003	EraseMe	48	21-06-2004		
0004	test	11	21-06-2004		
0005	TestCL	11	21-06-2004		
0006	CD Test	11	21-06-2004		
0007	Abba3	25	21-06-2004		
0009	1-10	10	21-06-2004		
0011	MTC Test	12	21-06-2004	-	
0012	Madianlause Tast	7	21.06.2004	•	

List of cue lists

To load a previously saved cue list into the <u>cue list control</u> (16), double click the cue list in the list or right click the line and select **Load Cuelist**. To sort the list by the contents of any column, click the column header. To delete a cue list file, highlight the list right-click and select **Delete Cuelist File** from the popup menu.

Dedicated <u>hotkey functions</u> <sup>203</sup> are available for next, previous and start functions.

### 13.4 Cue list commands

Assign commands to the cue list by highlighting one or more lines, then right click and then select the command from the popup menu.



Selecting commands from popup menu

Most commands have specialized parameters associated - to set or edit the parameters, highlight the line(s) and modify the parameters through the edit panel.



Editing command parameters

#### Audio CD Commands and parameters

The CD commands are used to control the audio CD playback via <u>CD-ROM drive</u>  $|4\delta$ . Wait CD - Instructs the cue list to wait for a specific time code from the Audio CD. Parameters are Minutes (0-99), Seconds (0-59) and Frames (0-74). Command is ignored in Manual Mode. CD Play From Track - Instructs the CD-ROM drive to start playback from a given track. Parameter is

track number (1-99). CD Play From Time - Instructs the CD-ROM drive to start playback from a given time code (e.g. in the middle of a track). Parameters are Minutes (0-99), Seconds (0-59) and Frames (0-74). CD Stop - Instructs the CD-ROM drive to stop playback. No parameters.

#### **DA Commands (Digital Audio Commands)**

Commands associated to Digital Audio played back via Winamp 1881.

Wait DA - Instructs the cue list to wait for a specific time code. Parameters are Hours (0-23), Minutes (0-59), Seconds (0-59) and Frames (0-99). Command is ignored in Manual Mode.

Play DA File - Loads and plays Digital Audio file. Parameter is filename - click \_\_\_\_\_ on the edit panel to open the file dialog and select the file.

Cue DA File - Loads audio file but do not start playback. Parameter is filename.

DA Stop - Stops playback of audio file. No parameters.

Seek DA - Seeks to a position in the audio file. Parameters are Hours (0-23), Minutes (0-59), Seconds (0-59) and Frames (0-99). To start playback within a track at a given time code, cue the audio file, then seek the time code and finally add a DA Play command.

DA Play - Instructs Winamp to (re-)start playback - usually used after a cue or seek command. DA Timecode Factor - Used to modify time code from Winamp due to a Winamp time code inconsistency - see Winamp time code issues

#### **Mediaplayer Commands**

Commands associated to digital media files played back via <u>LightJockey Mediaplayer</u><sup>183</sup> MP load file - Load a media file - either a Mediaplayer Playback file or a media file. Parameter is

filename - click \_\_\_\_\_\_ on the edit panel to open the file dialog and select the file. Note that loading an actual media file may take several seconds. The cue list will wait for a maximum of 5 seconds for the file to load before proceeding to the next cue list line. If a longer wait is required add a wait real-time command after the cue file command.

MP Play - Play the loaded media file from its current position

MP Seek - Seek to a specific location within the loaded media file. Parameters are Hours (0-23), Minutes (0-59), Seconds (0-59) and Frames (0-99). Note that seeking into a media file (especially digital video files) may take several seconds. Note that it may take the Mediaplayer several seconds to 'catch up' in audio and video after the seek command has completed. The cue list will wait for a maximum of 5 seconds for the seek command to complete before re proceeding to the next cue list line. If a longer wait is required add a wait real-time command after the seek command. MP Stop - Stop playback and set position to beginning of file

MP Pause - Pause playback.

MP Wait - Instructs the cue list to wait for a specific time code to be returned from the Mediaplayer. Parameters are Hours (0-23), Minutes (0-59), Seconds (0-59) and Frames (0-74). Command is ignored in Manual Mode.

MP Close Clip - Stop and clear the current media clip.

Mediaplayer/MP Start - Start the Light Jockey Mediaplayer.

Mediaplayer/MP Close - Close the LightJockey Mediaplayer.

#### MTC (MIDI Time code) Commands

See also using time code in cue lists 179

Wait MTC - Instructs the cue list to wait for a specific MIDI Time code. Parameters are Hours (0-23), Minutes (0-59), Seconds (0-59) and Frames (0-23,24 or 29 depending on MTC format). This command is ignored in Manual Mode.

Autoseek MTC - Special MTC command, see Using Time code in cue lists 179. This command is ignored in Manual Mode.

#### **PC Time Commands**

Time code commands using the internal PC clock.

Wait Elapsed - Instructs the cue list to wait for a specific amount of time to pass. Parameters are Minutes (0-99), Seconds (0-59) and frames (0-99). Command is ignored in Manual Advance Mode. Wait PC-Clock - Waits for the PC clock to reach a specific time. The time code is based on a 24-hour clock. Parameters are Hour (0-23), Minutes (0-59) and seconds (0-59). Command is ignored in Manual Advance Mode. Advance Mode.

Wait Date-Change - Waits for the PC date to change - use when PC-Clock timing crosses midnight (00:00:00).

For more advanced scheduling functions (such as running different cue lists according to calendar or day of week) see LJ Manager 288.

#### Other Commands - command popup menu

Goto Line# - Instructs the cue list to jump to a specific line within the cue list itself. The command is really only useful at the end of a cue list for automatic restart. Parameter is line number. If the line parameter is higher than the number of lines in the list, the goto command is ignored. Execute File - Launches an external program. See

Launching External programs from the cue list 183. Parameters are filename and command parameters for the external program.

Set Current Cue - Sets the cue parameter of the highlighted line(s) to the current cue (if any). Set Cue Trig - Trigs one or more sequences in the cue (see <u>cue list Control</u> 169)

Hotkey Command - Executes a hotkey command 205. Select the command to execute via the Select button on the command edit panel.

Command		<u>Comment</u>
Fade In 2 Sec	Select	Global Fade in

#### Executing a hotkey command from the cue list

**Note** : not all hotkey commands makes sense in a cue list context - especially 'flash' functions which will only execute the first part of the action (usually some kind of on function) - User discretion required.

#### **Other Commands**

Flash Sequence - This command is not found on the popup menu. To add a flash sequence command simply drag and drop the sequence from the list of <u>sequences</u> [127]. The sequence is flashed in the cue control context, so only one sequence may be flashed at any given time. Use the duration parameter to set the duration of the flash (max 99.9 seconds) - when the specified time has elapsed the flashed sequence is automatically removed.

Load background cue - This command is not found on the popup menu. To instruct the cue list to load a <u>background cue</u> 167 simply drag the background cue from the <u>list of background cue</u> 167 to the required line in the cue list. Alternatively, call up a regular <u>cue</u> 132 that includes a background cue. Link Cuelist - This command is not found on the popup menu. A cue lists may be instructed to link to another cue list by dragging the cuelist to link to from the <u>list of cue lists</u> 176 to the required line in the current cuelist. Then, when prompted select link from the cue list link or import dialog. Remember to save the cuelist before starting, as any changes are lost when linking to a different cue list.

### 13.5 Using time code in cue lists

Cue lists are often used to synchronize lights to music. The synchronization is obtained by utilizing time code from playback media. Currently LightJockey supports the following types of time code:

Audio CD time code, when the audio CD is played in the CD-ROM drive. MTC (MIDI time code) - MIDI time code also includes SMPTE using a suitable SMPTE to MTC interface.

**Windows media time code** - time code returned from playback of Windows media files including digital audio and video files using the built-in LightJockey MediaPlayer

**Digital audio files using Winamp for playback**. Winamp supports a wide number of Digital audio formats including MP3, WMA, MID (MIDI) and WAV (wave file format), note that LightJockey can only interface with Winamp series 2 from version 2.74 and it has been found that there are potentially <u>serious issues</u> with time code consistency from Winamp. The Winamp interface is mainly for backwards compatibility, and it is strongly suggested to use LightJockey Mediaplayer to playback digital audio and video.

Program the cue list to wait for a specific time code, by using a <u>wait command</u> [177] from the relevant source (e.g. **Wait CD** from the <u>CD commands</u> [177]). To edit a time code, highlight the line and edit the time code via the edit panel.

#### Audio CD via built in CD player using CD-ROM drive, see also audio CD control

The time code from an Audio CD uses the time code embedded in the CD audio track, and is based on

elapsed disc time in the form of Minutes:Seconds:Frames.

The number of frames pr second is defined as 75. Use the <u>cue list commands</u>  $17^{1}$  to start and stop playback from the Audio CD.

#### MTC (MIDI time code) and SMPTE via MIDI interface, See also MIDI/SMPTE time code

Use a PC/MIDI interface (or sound card with MIDI capabilities) to interface to MIDI/SMPTE timecode devices.

MIDI time code is actually a subset of SMPTE time code embedded in the MIDI protocol, To utilize a SMPTE time code source the interface must be able to convert SMPTE to MTC. An example of such an interface is MIDISPORT 8X8S from MidiMan (<u>www.midiman.net</u>). MTC is based on a 24 hour clock with Hours:Minutes:Seconds:Frames. The number of frames depends on the actual variant of MTC/SMPTE used by the source:

24 fps (frames 0-23)

25 fps (frames 024)

30 fps - drop frame (0-29 frames, two 'dropped' every 1 minute)

30 fps (frames 0-29)

Make sure to select the correct frame setting when editing MIDI time code. The cue list has a <u>special command</u> for MTC, the **AutoSeek MTC** command. When this command is placed at the very top of the cue list and the cue list is activated with a **start from top** command, it will cause the cue list to jump to the closest matching wait MTC line upon re-reception of time code. This command is mainly useful when programming cue lists.

The source of the MIDI time code must be configured via the hardware setup dialog 42.

#### **Digital audio files using Winamp for playback**, see also <u>using Winamp for digital audio</u> [188] NOTE : Current versions of Winamp have a problem with time code consistency (see <u>Winamp time code issues</u> [187]). This problem may make Winamp unsuitable for projects requiring tight time code synchronization.

LightJockey implements a command and time code interface to Winamp. Winamp is NOT distributed together with LightJockey but must be acquired separately. Winamp supports a wide variety of digital audio formats, including MP1, MP2, MP3, WMA (Windows Media Audio files), WAV (wave files), CDA (Audio CD tracks) and more. LightJockey 'remote controls' Winamp and receives time code back to use in the cue list during audio playback. Winamp uses the same time format for all types of digital audio, regardless of media (hard disk / Audio CD). The time format used by the interface always elapsed track time in the form of Hours:Minutes:Seconds:Frames (0-99).

# Windows media files using LightJockey Mediaplayer for playback, see also LightJockey Mediaplayer 183

Using LightJockey Mediaplayer, which in turn uses Windows Media Player functions, a wide variety of media files including digital audio and video formats may be played on the PC and the time code from these files may be used to synchronize the lighting. The time format returned the Mediaplayer is elapsed time in the form of Hours:Minutes:Seconds:Frames (0-99)

#### **Displaying time code**

When using time code, the cue list control will show the currently received time code (including elapsed time, and PC clock) below the actual list. Click the relevant button to change the source of the time code being displayed (certain time codes are unavailable unless a suitable interface has been configured. When the cue list is running, the control will automatically switch to the relevant time code display (e.g. when waiting for a CD time code, it will automatically switch to display time code from the CD).

۲	MID	ш	8	٢	Ö
Log		Current		00:00:	23:60

The cue list time code controls

#### The log time code control

While it is possible to enter time codes manually through the edit panel, it is often much easier to log
time code directly, e.g. while listening to audio track playback. To log time code entries, display the

required time code source in the cue list control, and then click \_\_\_\_\_\_\_. This opens the Log time code control.

Log CD Timecode IX Preferences Help							
🚯 Log [Ctrl]							
029 Logs Total							
Stort Elapsed 00:00:00							
Enable Cue Logging							
🗍 🖸 Qlear Logs							
금,순 <u>A</u> dd Logs							
∃r⊂ Insert Logs							
Apply Logs							

The log time code control

🚯 Log [Ctrl]

Click **Los Los Los Los** to log the current time code. One entry is logged for each click. To use the keyboard rather than the mouse to log time codes, the [CTRL] will act as a hotkey when the log control has focus. Alternatively a regular <u>hotkey</u> be configured - this hotkey works regardless of focus, (but only if the log control is open).

Click <u>Clear Logs</u> to clear the current batch of logs (the total number of logs is shown below the log button).

Click <u>Add Logs</u> to add the logged time code to the end of the cue list - new lines are automatically created.

Click Insert Logs to insert the logged time codes above the selected line in the cue list - new lines are automatically created.

Click <u>Apply Logs</u> to apply the logged time codes to the highlighted lines in the cue list (the first log is applied to the highlighted line with the lowest number). Use this method when re-logging time codes rather than editing them manually.

Start Elapsed - only selectable when Elapsed PC Time has been selected as source on the cue list Control. Click to restart the elapsed clock timer.

Enable Cue Logging - when this button is enabled, each time a cue is loaded (from the list of cues, via the 2532, MIDI or DMX-in or via hotkeys) the cue number is logged together with the time code. Note that logging will only occur if the log control is open. When the logs are assigned to the list, the logged cues are applied as well.

#### **Preferences Menu**

Auto-Insert Empty Lines - automatically inserts an extra empty line after each time code when the logs are assigned to the cue list.

Auto-Clear Logs - logs are automatically cleared after add, insert or apply.

See also cue list control 169, cue list commands 177

### 13.6 MIDI/SMPTE time code

MIDI Time code may be used as a trigging source for the cue list. Basically MIDI Time code (MTC) is SMPTE time code embedded in the MIDI protocol and should not be confused with MIDI Clock, MIDI Tempo or MIDI song pointers (which are not supported by LightJockey). To interface LightJockey to an MTC source, either use a MIDI interface and connect to a source transmitting regular MIDI time code, or for SMPTE sources, an interface that converts SMPTE to MTC (see reference below). Note that LightJockey only supports time code transmitted by quarter frame time code, not time code transmitted by MIDI SysEx Messages.

The source of the MIDI time code must be configured via the <u>hardware setup dialog</u>  $42^{\circ}$ .

#### **Reference Interface**

The LightJockey implementation has been written and tested with a MIDISPORT 8X8S from MidiMan. This interface is an external 19" rack-mount and connects to the PC either with USB or standard RS232. The interface converts SMPTE time code to MIDI time code and has provisions for striping SMPTE code to an audio media as well. The interface automatically recognizes the SMPTE frame type received. The interface also has 8 MIDI channels out and 8 MIDI channels in. See more details at www.midiman.net (link valid at the time of writing).

#### Notes on SMPTE frame types

SMPTE time code (and thus MIDI time code) exists in a number of variations that varies in the number of frames that are transmitted pr second).

SMPTE to MTC interfaces should by itself be capable of auto detecting the received SMPTE frame type and embed this information in the MTC. However, if this not the case, make sure that to match the maximum frame number in the cue list entries does not differ from the number of frames in the actual time code or the cue list will not synchronize properly.

SMPTE formats includes 24 fps (frames 0-23) 25 fps (frames 024) 30 fps - drop frame (0-29 frames, two 'dropped' every 1 minute) 30 fps (frames 0-29)

#### Notes on SMPTE to MIDI time code

The conversion from a SMPTE source to MIDI time code has two effects. The full SMPTE time code is broken down into 8 separate MIDI messages, and 4 MIDI messages are sent pr SMPTE frame received. This effectively halves the resolution of the converted time code since a total of 8 messages (two SMPTE frames) are needed. For this reason, if possible, select the highest possible frame rate when striping the media with time code.

Subsequently, the conversion also means that upon completion of the 8 messages LightJockey is notified 2 frames later than the actual SMPTE time code is received by the interface. This is not a problem if the time-codes are logged directly from the interface since the 'delay' is constant. However, if programming entries from a SMPTE time code reference, remember to subtract 2 frames from each time code entry.

#### **Preferences menu**

MIDI Timecode

MTC Timeout -> Stop List on Timecode time-out - with this option enabled the cue list will stop executing if the MIDI time code times out. Note that a timing threshold for timeout can be set in the hardware configuration 42.

MTC Timeout -> Restart List on Timecode time-out - to have the cue list automatically restart when the time code transmission is stopped, check this option. Use this option to avoid having to manually restart the cue list when the time code is terminated and then restarted.

This option should also be used if the time-code is paused and resumed during the execution of the cue list - in this case, make sure to add an 'AutoSeek MTC' command at the top of the cue list. This will ensure that the cue list continues at the appropriate line when the time-code is resumed. MTC Timeout -> Ignore Timecode time-out - With this option enabled, the cue list ignores any timeouts on the MTC stream.

Sync Frames - enable sync frames to skip a number of time code frames from the time code source before 'locking' on to the time code. Some time code sources may require a one or more complete time codes before they start to transmit 'correct' time code. Incorrect time code may cause a waiting cue list to execute one or more incorrect commands.

See also using time code in cue lists 179, cue list commands 177

### 13.7 Launching external programs from the cue list

Use the <u>execute file command</u> in the cue list to launch external programs. External programs could in principle be anything, for example digital video viewers, but will most likely be a custom made program for specific requirements.

The program may be launched with a number of parameters such as a filename or special command switches. Parameters are entered in the column normally used for comments, so when using the execute command it is NOT possible to use comments on that particular line. Since LightJockey doesn't know anything about the external programs, what they do or how they behave, there are a couple of considerations to consider when launching external programs.

The program must be able to take all settings and commands through the parameters (or by saving specific setups that are automatically recalled when the program is launched). It is not possible to communicate with the program from LightJockey. If the program is repeatedly launched (for example by a looping cuelist), the program must be able to handle this by not launching a second instance if it is already running. If the program is re-launched in a new instance, it will eventually suffocate the PC when too many instances are running. The entire path for the executable including the name of the executable cannot exceed 127 characters. The total length of the parameters cannot exceed 40 characters.

### 13.8 Using the LightJockey MediaPlayer



LightJockey Mediaplayer

The LightJockey Mediaplayer is a separate application which utilizes Windows Media Player (tm) to play a multitude of digital media files including digital audio (MP3, WMA etc) or digital video (MPG,AVI, etc) files - note that the LightJockey Mediaplayer will not play any other formats not supported by the installed Windows Media Player (see below). Note that Since the application uses Windows Media Player functions it must be installed on the PC for the LightJockey Mediaplayer to work. At the time of writing, the newest version of the Windows Media Player can be downloaded from

http://www.microsoft.com/windows/windowsmedia/download. The LightJockey Mediaplayer is used from the <u>cuelist</u> where it can be programmed to play back media files and send back time code to the cue list for synchronization between media file and lights.

#### **Media File Formats**

Since the LightJockey Mediaplayer uses the functions of Windows Media Player it is capable of playing all media file formats that the Windows Media Player can with the exception of CD audio. For playback of audio CDs use the built in Audio CD player 40.

There are however a number of pitfalls when using digital media files. First of all, Windows Media Player may not directly support specific encoding formats (Codecs) - although sometimes a solution to running specific formats may be found from 3rd party providers (often free on the Internet). Also on multi-monitor systems, the Media Player may be capable of playing a video clip on the primary monitor but not on the secondary monitor, or only play the file on the secondary monitor with very poor performance. Another thing to look out for is Media License system recently introduced by Microsoft - the license system may prohibit playback of certain files on other PCs that they were originally 'licensed' to (for example when using the Media Player to record tracks from and audio CD to the PC in WMA format). Also there may be a time limit associated with the file so it may only be used for a certain period. Finally be careful using media files with variable bit rate - the Media Player may not be consistent in time codes when comparing the time code returned after playing the file from start to a certain point and seeking to that point; the Mediaplayer may return a different time code for the same physical file location depending on how it got there.

#### Media files and playback files

The Mediaplayer works with two different types of files: Media files, which are the basic digital video or audio files, and playback files which are files that contains the name of a media file plus some extra playback information about playback window position and size that may be useful when the Mediaplayer is programmed via the cue list - see more below.



#### **Using the Mediaplayer**

To open the LightJockey Mediaplayer, click in the <u>cue list control</u>. By default the MediaPlayer user interface is divided into 3 distinct areas, the **Main Menu**, the **Video** area and the **Playback Controls**. If using the Mediaplayer for audio playback only, the window may be resized to take up as little space as possible (see below). The Mediaplayer doesn't have a normal windows caption bar to move the window around - to move the window around simply click the video area (or to the right of the main menu) and drag the window to the required position. To resize the window - hold down [Shift], then click and drag the window.

#### Main Menu

Note that most of the commands in the main menu are also available from a popup menu that appears when right-clicking in the video area - use this popup menu when the control areas are toggled off.

#### File

Load Media File - load a media file Save Playback Definition - save a playback definition. Load Playback Definition - load a playback definition. Recent Media file - pick from the 5 most recently loaded media files. Recent Media file - pick from the 5 most recently loaded playback files. Exit - close the Mediaplayer.

#### Preferences

Start up/Display Size - use to select the default window size and position on startup. Check 'Custom Size' to start up using the same position and size as the window had when the MediaPlayer was used the last time. Select 'Full Screen' to start up in full screen mode, for multi-monitor a systems specific monitor may be specified as well.

Show Controls - when disabled the main menu and playback controls will not be visible on startup (use the right click popup for most commands).

Stay on Top - check the Mediaplayer to stay on top of other Windows (requires a restart of the Mediaplayer).

Minimum Size - resize to minimum hiding the video area; a useful setting when the Mediaplayer is used for playback of audio files only.

Default Size - resize to a size of 320x200 pixels.

Media Clip size - resize the video area to the original size of the video clip (especially useful when in no-controls mode).

#### **Playback File**

Use this menu to program settings for a playback file.

Use current settings - use the current settings for the playback file.

Show Controls - check to show the main menu and playback controls; uncheck to hide menu and controls.

Loop Playback - instructs the MediaPlayer to loop the media clip indefinitely. The only way to stop a looped playback from the cue list is by an explicit <u>MP Stop command</u>  $\overline{177}$ .

Custom Display Size - use the same window position and size as when the playback file was saved. FullScreen display - use a full screen window.

FullScreen Monitor - select monitor for full screen window.

Save Playback Definition - Save the current playback definition.

Load Playback Definition - Load a playback definition.

#### The Playback controls



The playback controls are (in order): Play, Pause, Stop, Fast rewind, Fast Forward, Frame back and Frame forward. Note that not all digital media formats support frame forward and back commands (the frame buttons will be disabled). The play and pause commands are duplicated on the video area popup menu.

The media time code is in the format of elapsed hours:minutes:seconds:1/100 seconds (this is the time code returned to the cue list).

The clip position bar may be used to set the current position - simply drag the bar to the desired location.

Click the folder button to load a new media file.

See also <u>cue list commands</u><sup>177</sup>, <u>using time code in cue lists</u><sup>179</sup>, <u>playing multiple, simultanious media files from the cue list</u><sup>185</sup>

### 13.9 Playing multiple, simultaneous media files from the cue list

By default, media clips played by LightJockey MediaPlayer returns current time code to the cue list. Since multiple simultaneous time codes makes no sense to the cue list, only once instance of the LightJockey MediaPlayer interacting with the cue lists allowed at any time - this also means that only one media clip can be played using the LJ MediaPlayer. However, multiple instances of the MediaPlayer can be started by launching the MediaPlayer as an external program from the cue list. **Warning :** Playing multiple simultaneous media clips (especially multiple video clips) can cause a serious CPU load on any PC to the extent that the PC bogs completely down or Windows crashes. If playback of multiple simultaneous media clips is needed please make sure to use a PC that is fast enough to handle the playback properly.

#### Restrictions when launching the LJ MediaPlayer as external program

When the MediaPlayer is launched as an external program it runs as an independent instance - so when launched this way it is not possible to interact with this instance of the MediaPlayer from the cue list. The MediaPlayer plays the media clip exactly one time from start all the way to the end, ignoring any loop options. A MediaPlayer playback file [183] is required to specify the media clip and MediaPlayer settings.

How to:

110	·				
I	13	Auto	Wait for MP at	00:00:45:00	
I	14	Auto	Execute	C:\LJ_W2K\LJMediaPlayer.exe	Avisample2.mps 5
ļ	15	Auto	~		

Launching the MediaPlayer

- 1. Use the <u>execute file</u> 177 command to specify the LJ MediaPlayer as program to execute (LJMediaplayer.exe). The program is located in the main LightJockey folder.
- Specify the Playback file to be loaded by the MediaPlayer as parameter specify the file name only (e.g : videosample1.mps). Important: The name of the playback file must not contain any spaces and the playback file must be located in the default playback files folder in the current user library <sup>62</sup>: <LightJockey>\User\<User Library Folder>\MediaPlayerSettings\ (this is the default location of playback files).
- 3. Specify an optional wait time parameter (in seconds). Since loading time of a large media file may vary from time to time, the wait parameter is useful when the MediaPlayer is loading a large media file but still required to start playback at a specific time. If no wait parameter is given the MediaPlayer will load the media file and start playing immediately when a wait time is used the MediaPlayer will load the media file on startup but wait the specified amount of time before actually starting playback.

See also <u>cue list commands</u> [177], <u>using time code in cue lists</u> [178], <u>launching external programs from the cue list</u> [183], <u>using the LightJockey MediaPlayer</u> [183]

### 13.10 Using Winamp for digital audio playback

#### Important Note:

After the initial implementation of the Winamp interface it has been discovered that Winamp has serious problems with time code consistency. Please read the following section: <u>Winamp time code issues</u> 1877 . If precise time codes are needed for time code synchronization the <u>LightJockey Mediaplayer</u> 1833 is be a better alternative to Winamp.

Winamp is a piece of software developed by Nullsoft for playback of digital audio files. Winamp is not restricted to MP3 files only, but supports a multitude of digital audio formats. Winamp is a registered trademark of Nullsoft. Winamp is NOT distributed LightJockey but must be acquired separately. At the time of writing Winamp may be downloaded freely from <u>www.winamp.com</u>. Please refer to Winamp's own documentation on how to setup and operate Winamp.



Winamp

# Note: The LightJockey interface only supports Winamp version 2 and a minimum of version 2.74 is required.

#### **Configuration notes**

LightJockey's <u>cue list</u> willizes Winamp for playback of digital audio and time code feedback by 'remote controlling' specific Winamp functions. To prepare LightJockey to use Winamp, it must be configured via the <u>hardware setup dialog</u> with the Digital Audio/Audio CD tab, select **Winamp**. To automatically launch Winamp when needed, LightJockey must know the exact path to the Winamp executable (usually winamp.exe). click to open up a file dialog and locate winamp.exe. Alternatively, Winamp should be started manually before any attempt to use Winamp from the cue list.

#### Using Winamp in the cue list

When using Winamp to playback audio in the cue list, the actual digital audio file name is transferred from the cue list to Winamp. When selecting the audio file for the cue list, switch the file type in the file selection dialog to enable to selection of different audio file formats (Winamp actually supports more formats than indicated in the filter - check documentation for Winamp for the exact formats supported).

File <u>n</u> ame:	The Microsoft Sound.wav	<u>O</u> pen
Files of type:	Microsoft Waveform Audio Files (*.Wav)	Cancel
	MPEG Audio Files (*MP3 * MP2 * MP1 ) Windows Media Audio Files (*.wma) CD Audio Tracks (*.CDA) Microsoft Waveform Audio Files (*.Wav)	

Changing the file filter

#### NOTES

The interface between LightJockey and Winamp has been tested with Winamp version 2.74 (the current version at the time of writing). Note that earlier versions of Winamp may not support the needed functions.

See also using time code in cue lists 179, cue list commands 177

### 13.11 Winamp time code issues

After the initial implementation of the LightJockey/Winamp interface it has been discovered that there are problems with the time code consistency of Winamp (as some users found out the hard way - sorry guys). At the time of writing it is not known if there will be a bug fix for Winamp. The problem is that Winamp gets the time code wrong when playing the audio track - it simply doesn't advance the current time code with as many milliseconds as it should. The problem affects almost any digital audio file format (MP3,WMA,WAV) except that MP3 files encoded at 96KBP seems to work just fine. Experiments show that the problem exists with the following formats:

.MP3 (except for 96KBP encoded files) - Winamp only counts approx. 0.25 second less pr minute. .WMA : Winamp counts approx. 1.75 seconds less pr. minute (factor may vary) .WAV : Winamp counts approx. 0.25 seconds less pr. minute The problem occurs as seek commands (Seek DA or moving the track bar on Winamp) seem to decode the time correctly. For example: Use a DA seek to position the track in an MP3 track at around 04:00:00 and let the track play - log a time code at some recognizable event in the track (e.g. 04:05:00). Next let the track play from the beginning - when the track reaches the event the time code (which was logged at 04:05:00) the time code from Winamp will be at approx 04:04:00 - so the time code lags about a second after the original log (approx. 0.25 seconds pr minute). Since most time code synchronized cue lists are made by seeking and logging and fine-tuning to small bits of the track at a time this poses a real problem as Winamp does not return identical time code when the track is played from the start.

#### **Partial Fix**

Fortunately the time code inconsistency seems to be fairly consistent - at least with regards to MP3 files, which allows at least a partial fix namely multiplying the time code from Winamp with a factor when playing the full audio track.

Use the fix the following way:

#### When logging time codes:

Enable the **Auto Seek audio tracks/media files on Run** option in the preferences menu (the cue list). Then highlight the closest cue list line containing a wait or seek command above the 'area of interest' - depending on the contents of the cue list it may be necessary to add 'artificial' wait commands just to force a seek close to the relevant part of the track. Start the cue list with the **run** command (rather than the run from top command). Try to seek as close to the relevant part of the track as possible - remember that after just 30 seconds the time code from an MP3 file will be about 1/8 of a second off behind.

#### When running the full track:

When you are ready to run the entire cue list insert a **DA timecode Factor** (command menu, Digital audio commands) command at the top of the cue list - the command accepts one parameter which is the factor that modifies the time code received from Winamp. For MP3 files a factor of **1.0040 - 1.0045** seems a good choice.

Then start the cue list from top. Note that the cue list time code display now marks the incoming time code with an \* since it is now modified by the factor (e.g. 03:33:44\*).

Note that the factor is only applied when the cue list actually executes a **DA Timecode Factor** command - it automatically cleared (or rather reset to 1.0) as soon as the cue list is stopped or restarted. If necessary, multiple commands with different values may be inserted in the same cue list.

#### **Factor calculator**

If the recommended factor doesn't seem to work, then a small tool to calculate the relevant scaling factor for a particular track can be found in the cue list 'tools' menu.

Digital Audio Timeco	de Scaling		×
Full Track Timecode (ms)	574636	Log	
Sample Timecode (ms)	577248	Log	Reset
Timecode Factor	1.00454550	Calc	ulate

The dialog works by comparing two time codes and calculating the factor - here is the easiest way to use it:

Click the top log button (full track time code) and start the track from the beginning (or from the intended start location). Let the track run all the way to the end - the highest time code received is automatically kept as reference (click reset to reset the time to 0). Next, click the second log button (sample time code), click reset (to reset the time code to 0) - and start the track about 10 -20 seconds from the end of the track and let it play to the end.

Once the track has finished playing click **Calculate** to calculate the factor between the two time codes and use this factor in the cue list.

Scaling factor tool

## 14 The statics control

Statics

The Statics Control can be opened via \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_, located on the <u>cue list tool bar</u> [55]. If any of the static control entries are active, the 'LED' on the button turns green as a reminder - when no entries are active, the 'LED' is red.

🖬 Statics Control 🔀										
Preferences Replace-matr	ix <u>H</u> elp									
01 Center Strobes	Replace	Flash	Level 100,0%							
02 Back strobes	Replace	Flash	Static output							
03 Front Strobes	Replace	Flash	level							
04 All strobes	Replace	Flash	Level 100,0%							
Morgotroplace	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
mode switch	erge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
07 Tellow cans	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
08 Bar lights	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
09 Fibers slow	Replace	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
10 Fibers med	Replace	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
11 Fibers fast	Replace	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
12	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
13	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
14 Toggle/flash	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
150 mode switch	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
16	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
17	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
18	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
19	Merge	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
20 Emergency lights	Replace	Toggle	Level 100,0%							
	Release	Al								

The statics control

The primary purpose of the statics control is to control 'simple' fixtures or effects with only on/off states, usually controlled via dimmer- or switch packs. It may however, be used to control any parameter of any fixture. The static control works by combining the contents of up to 20 individual static scenes into a single static scene, which in turn is combined with the rest of the output values generated by LightJockey to create the final output. The combined output of the static entries has a higher priority than the current cue, but lower priority than the current background cue. To activate the contents of a static single entry, click the corresponding button (or assign a hotkey and liash modes later) the entry will remove the contents of this entry from the combined output of the static control. The combined output of the active static entries is calculated by using the latest take precedence (LTP) principle. This means that if the same parameter (DMX control channel) is accessed in more than one static entry, the **last activated** entry has priority. The LTP evaluation works even if multiple entries are activated or deactivated. This method is different from the current cue, where the sequence priorities are based on their location within in the cue.

#### **Programming static entries**

The contents of the static entry is programmed like programming any other scene using the <u>current sequence</u> 18. To apply the contents of the current scene to one of the 20 static entries, rightclick the corresponding button and select **record and save current scene** from the popup menu. *Note* that the record and clear options are not available as long as the entry is enabled (button is down) - release the entry before trying to save saving to it.

The contents of the current scene, including the fade time, is now copied to the static entry. Give the entry a descriptive name and click **save**. To clear the contents of the entry, select **Clear Static Entry** 

from the popup menu.

Hint: program all scenes for the static entries in one sequence, this will make it easier to re-edit the contents of the static entries later.

#### **Toggle and flash modes**

The entries may be activated in one of two modes, toggle mode or flash mode. In toggle mode, one click on a button (or one press of a hotkey) will activate the entry, another click will release it. In flash mode the entry is only active for as long as the mouse button or hotkey is held down. For hotkey activation of entries in flash mode, note that the PC keyboard does normally not register more than 3 or 4 keys held down simultaneously.

#### Merge and replace modes

The buttons may apply the scene contents in one of two modes: replace or merge mode. Use the buttons on the control to switch an entry between replace and merge mode. In merge mode the contents of the entry is merged with the contents already present in the static scene; in replace mode the entry, when activated, may replace one or more already active entries as specified by the replace matrix, see static merge and replace modes

#### **Static output levels**

The level controls are hidden by default - enable **View Static Levels** in the preferences menu to show the drag bars. Use the static level controls to scale (0-100%) the overall output values of the statics entry. Note that all values in the static entry are scaled; regardless of what control channel the value belongs to, so the static level is typically only used when the static entry contains settings for fixture intensities or generic fixtures like dimmer packs. Typically the level controls will be remotely controlled via for example via DMX in, but they can also be controlled manually via the mouse. When controlling statics from an external source the static should be recorded with a default fade time (0.05 sec).

#### Scene fade times

The use of fade times in the statics control are deactivated by default (all values are snapped regardless of programmed fade state) - to enable the use of fade times, enable the **Statics use Fadetimes** switch in the preferences menu.

#### The preferences menu

Statics Use Fadetimes - enable to set the static control to use fade times, when disabled, fade times are ignored.

View Static Levels - enable to view the static levels (default disabled).

Default Levels at 0%, Default Levels at 100% - selects the default value for the level controls - default is 100% (full output)

Level Auto Static Enable, Level Auto Static Disable - with these options enabled, the static entry will automatically be enabled when the level control is at a level higher than 0%, and disabled when the level is at 0%. When the options are disabled the enable/disable state must be set separately. Typically these options are used to automatically enable/disable the static entries when the level is remotely controlled via DMX in or the 2518. Note that every time an entry is enabled, it will take first priority in the output of the statics control (LTP).

#### Typical uses of the static control

The primary strength of the static control is its independence of the contents of the cue. This means that the statics may be enabled or removed on the fly regardless of the contents of the actual cue, or even during programming. A typical use would be switching various 'simple' fixtures on and off. Each static entry contains one or more fixtures; individual fixtures are only programmed into one entry. The static control could also be used to flash various modifications such as colors moods or strobe onto intelligent fixtures. For 'live' use, the static may contain settings for guitar or drum solos, audience 'blinders' or similar effects.

## 14.1 Static merge and replace modes

A static entry may be set into either Merge or Replace mode by clicking the corresponding merge/replace mode button on the <u>statics control</u> [189].

#### Merge mode

When a static entry in merge mode is activated its output is merged into the existing static output using LTP priority (latest takes precedence).

#### **Replace mode**

When a static entry in replace mode is activated, it may automatically replace (deactivate) one or more of the other static entries. The exact entries to be replaced is determined by the statics replace matrix (click **Replace-matrix** on the statics control 189 to access the matrix).

	01	02	03	04	05	06	07	08	09	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
01 Center Strobes		×	х	x																
02 Back strobes	х		x	ж																
3 Front Strobes	х	x		ж																
)4 All strobes	х	×	x																	
15 Red cans	×	х	х	х		×	х	×	х	х	х	ж	×	х	х	ж	х	х	х	×
)6 Blue cans	×	х	х	ж	х		х	×	х	х	х	х	×	х	х	х	х	ж	х	×
)7 Yellow cans	×	х	х	ж	х	×		×	х	х	×	ж	×	х	х	х	х	х	×	×
)8 Barlights	×	х	х	ж	х	х	х		х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	×
9 Fibers slow										х	х									
0 Fibers med									х		х									
11 Fibers fast									х	х										
2	×	х	х	ж	х	х	х	×	х	х	х		х	х	х	х	х	х	х	×
3	×	х	х	ж	х	х	х	×	х	х	х	ж		х	×	х	х	х	х	×
4	×	х	х	ж	×	х	х	×	х	х	х	ж	х		х	х	х	х	х	×
5 DJ fixtures	×	х	х	ж	х	х	х	×	х	ж	х	ж	×	х		х	х	х	х	×
6	×	х	х	ж	ж	х	х	×	х	х	х	ж	×	х	×		ж	×	х	×
17	×	х	х	ж	х	х	х	×	х	ж	×	ж	×	х	х	х		×	х	×
8	×	х	х	ж	ж	×	х	×	х	ж	×	ж	×	х	$\mathbf{x}$	ж	ж		х	×
19	×	х	х	ж	х	×	х	×	х	×	×	ж	×	х	8	х	х	×		X
20 Emergency lights	х	×	х	х	х	х	×	х	х	x	х	×	х	ж	х	х	×	х	×	

Statics replace matrix

The matrix contains a horizontal and a vertical entry for each static entry. To setup the replace pattern click the corresponding cell for the static entries horizontal line. Entries to be replaced by each static are marked with an 'X'. Click the cell to toggle the X on and off - right click the leftmost or top most gray cell to set or clear replace status for an entire row or column.

Note: for static entries currently not in replace mode, the replace indicator (X) will be grayed out indicating that it has no current function.

#### Example:

In the matrix above, the first 4 entries all contain static entries for 'strobes'. Each of the entries are switched to replace mode and are set to replace each other. The effect is that activating either of the 4 strobe entries will automatically deactivate any of the 3 other entries, so only one entry can be active at any given time.

## 15 Using audio input

The Audio-in function in LightJockey is used to trig <u>scenes in a sequence</u> 144 in the cue control. The function relies on the Windows sound system, which means that the PC must be equipped with a Windows compatible sound card with working drivers. The audio-in function must be enabled via the <u>Hardware setup</u> 22 dialog (Main Menu -> Setup -> Hardware Setup).

The audio-input from the sound card is analyzed via a separate module(Martin Audio Analyzer) before information is passed to LightJockey. The module is an external application that is automatically launched when LightJockey starts up. If the Analyzer for some reason is closed down it may be restarted via the **Audio in** menu on the main desktop.



Audio Analyzer - time line View

#### **Adjusting Windows audio properties**

Since the audio-in uses the Windows sound system, it might be necessary to adjust the Windows audio properties. Usually, when Windows installs drivers for sound cards it also installs a volume or play control that usually lies with a small icon in the tray on the Windows taskbar. Depending on which features are supported by the actual sound card and drivers, the play control may support more or less features. If the PC contains more than one audio-input device, different devices may be selected via the *sound device selector*. Note that the *Microsoft Sound Mapper* is not a physical device. Selecting the *sound mapper* will always use the default/primary sound device in the system. Usually sound cards supports numerous audio inputs such as microphone, Line-in and CD-ROM - but the support for different input sources may vary with the actual sound hardware, especially on laptop a PC. Also note that some sound cards/drivers may limit the number of input sources that may be used at any one time.



An example of a Windows play control

Use the play control to ensure that the input source is enabled (not muted) and to adjust the input level of the source. Before adjusting the input level, switch the Audio Analyzer into real-time view (**View** ->

**Show** -> **Input** -> **Real-Time**). he real-time view continually shows a small portion of the sampled sound input. If the input is adjusted a level that is too high, there is a good chance that the sound card hardware will 'clip' the samples which means that the analyzer no longer gets the proper information about the dynamic characteristics of the music. If the input is level adjusted too low, the input may no longer have enough 'resolution' to enable a good trig analysis. A well-adjusted input will show a graph that never 'max-out', thus clipping the input - but still have enough dynamics for a good analysis.

Note that the Sound Analyzer draws the graph in yellow when the sample is close to clipping level and in red when the sample is clipped. The analyzer also shows a clip indicator in the lower left corner even when the real-time view is not used.



Audio Analyzer - Real-time view

#### Adjusting the trigging sensitivity

Once the input level has been adjusted - there are various parameters that may be adjusted to decide how the analyzer finds the trig information in the music. Adjusting these parameters is best done with the analyzer in time-line view (**View -> Show -> Input -> time-line**). The time line view shows the last 5.8 seconds of 'dynamic' information contained in the audio in.



The analyzer detects trig information by comparing the current input level with the previous input levels. If the current level exceeds the previous levels by a certain factor (see below) the analyzer indicates a trig. Detecting trigs this way ensures that the trigs are found independently of the actual input level of the sampled sound. Trigs are shown on the graph as yellow lines. There are various factors that may influence whether the analyzer detects a trig or not.



**Noise Level** - a noise threshold limit may be applied. The threshold may be used to filter out noise, or may be used to filter out trigs that appear below a certain threshold level. The range of the noise threshold may be set from low to high in the **Trigger** -> **Noise level** menu. The threshold itself may be adjusted using the middle drag bar or by dragging the blue line representing the threshold directly on the graph.

Trig Decay - the trig decay is the time that must pass from one trig until the next can occur. The decay

time may be adjusted using the leftmost drag bar from between approx. 0.05 to 0.6 seconds. Trig Sensitivity - the trig sensitivity regulates how much the current sample must exceed the previous sample in order to detect a trig. The sensitivity is set using the rightmost drag bar, and ranges from about a factor 2 to a factor 10.

Input Gain - the input gain works by scaling the graph representing the audio-input. While the scaling will not affect trig decay or sensitivity, it will affect how the trigs are found with regards to the noise threshold level.

#### Using the Equalizer



The audio analyzer also implements a 16-band equalizer that may be used to enhance or dampen certain frequency ranges of the sound spectrum. Enhancing certain frequency ranges means these ranges will be enhanced in the final sound input for the analyzer - for example enhancing the 3 lowest bands will ensure that the input that is analyzed is very dominated by bass information in the music. Note that the equalizer routines contain a lot of calculations and are **VERY** CPU insensitive. For this reason running the sound analyzer on a low spec PC is not recommended since it will slow anything else down including the rest of LightJockey. Minimum recommended PC for using the equalizer is a Pentium 300 MHz or equivalent.

#### Analyzer menu

Auto save changes - Saves any changes as soon as they are applied. Pass key presses to LightJockey - Pass any key presses to LightJockey; this allows the use of LJ hotkeys even if the Audio Analyzer has Windows focus.

#### Trigger menu

Use Equalizer - enables the equalizer, see <u>using audio-in</u> 192. Set default -> Equalizer or Gain - re-sets levels to default for Equalizer and Gain. Noise level - > Low, Medium and High - sets the range of the noise threshold.

#### **View Menu**

Run minimized - when launched the analyzer will minimize and not take up space on the desktop. To restore click the **Ijsound** button on the windows taskbar.

Stay on Top - when checked the analyzer stays on top of most other forms even when another window gets the focus.

Show Input -> None, Real-time or Time-Line - set to disable the graph or shows the graph as real time or time line.

Trigger Faders - shows or hides the adjustment drag bars.

Sound Cards - shows or hides sound device selector.

## 16 Global functions

### 16.1 Global intensity control

### 16.1.1 Blackout/restore

The blackout function is a global blackout affecting all fixtures. The blackout function may be disabled for individual fixtures in the fixture configuration 6 dialog.

Blackout is a temporary overlay function and does not affect any programmed sequences or cues. When a blackout command is given, LightJockey will select the fastest way of disabling the light output on the fixtures. This usually means using the fixtures shutter if available. For fixtures without a shutter LightJockey will use alternatives to try to blackout the fixture - e.g. the RoboColor II blackout is by shutting off the halogen lamp, and the Roboscan 812 by selecting the black out gobo on the gobo wheel. Use Restore to restore output from a blackout.

The Blackout command can be selected either from  $\boxed{100}$  on the <u>fixture tool bar</u>  $\boxed{57}$ , or via the <u>master intensity control</u>  $\boxed{100}$  or for example through <u>hotkeys</u>  $\boxed{200}$ . The icon as a toggle, when clicked the first time, it will set state to blackout - when clicked a second time it will restore from blackout. By default, a warning will appear on the screen when blackout is engaged. This warning may be disabled in the <u>system preferences dialog</u>  $\boxed{50}$ .

See also master intensity

### 16.1.2 Master intensity control



Master intensity control

The master intensity control contains virtual faders for the Grand Master (Master) and 8 sub-masters. The grand master and sub-masters are used to regulate the overall intensity level of the fixtures controlled by LightJockey. The level of the Grand Master is also displayed on the <u>status bar</u> as a reminder.

#### Fixtures without intensity control

LightJockey uses the fixtures intensity controls (through the DMX protocol) to modify intensity levels. However, some fixtures do not implement any means of controlling intensity level. For example the Roboscan 218 only has shutter control for a light on/off control, while the Roboscan 812 use gobo and/or color wheels to obtain a blackout. LightJockey cannot regulate the intensity of these fixtures beyond on/off. For fixtures of this type LightJockey will blackout the fixture using shutter or color or gobo wheels when the overall intensity level reaches 0% (note: for user defined profiles this feature must be enabled in the profile).

#### Warnings

By default a warning will appear on the screen when Blackout or auto fade in or out is engaged. The warnings may be disabled in the System Preferences dialog all.

#### **Grand Master**

The Grand Master, by default, modifies the intensity level of all fixtures. The exceptions are fixtures assigned to sub-masters that are configured to be unaffected by the Grand Master (see below), and fixtures that are set to ignore Grand Master in the fixture configuration 6 dialog.

Both the grand master and sub-masters works by modifying the intensity level **proportionally** to the programmed intensity level before the DMX data is transmitted to the fixtures. That means if a fixture is programmed to 50% intensity and the grand master is set to 75 %, the resulting intensity will be 75% x 50% = 37.5%.

The 8 sub-masters may be used to control the intensity level of specific groups of fixtures. Besides being modified by the grand master, the intensity level of a fixture can only be controlled by one other sub-master. The resulting intensity levels from sub-masters also depend on the level of the grand master as well (see below).

#### **Sub Masters and Intensity Groups**



Intensity groups dialog

The 8 sub-masters each work on each their own individual intensity group. To assign fixtures to intensity groups, select **Groups** from the master intensity control main menu. The group intensity dialog contains 9 different lists accessed by the group tabs. The first list named 'fixtures' lists all the fixtures configured in LightJockey together with the group they are currently assigned to. If a fixture is not assigned to any groups it will indicate *master* as group control. To assign fixtures to a group, activate the group on via the tab, and then <u>select</u> the relevant fixture icons on the desktop. After the relevant fixtures have been selected, click **Assign Selected Fixtures** to assign the selected fixtures to the group. **Assign Master Fixture** will assign the master fixture only. If the fixture(s) are already assigned to another group, they will automatically be removed from that group. To remove fixtures from a group without assigning them to another group, highlight the fixtures in the group list and click **Remove Fixture(s)**. The intensity groups may be given a name of up to 5 characters in length. **Note that modifications to groups do not take effect until saved**.

#### **The Bump Buttons**

Each of the 9 faders has a bump button assigned. Left clicking and holding the bump button forces the

level of the fader to full for as long as the button is held down. When released the level will return to the previous level. To latch the bump state (automatically keeping the bump state without holding the mouse button) use right-click. When latched, the bump state is kept at on until the button is clicked again. A typical use of the bump buttons is to 'flash' fixture intensities manually to the beat of the music. The bump button functions may also be assigned to keyboard hotkeys and hotkeys affect and level set by remote input (for example levels set by DMX in).

#### **The Sync Buttons**

The Sync buttons may be used to synchronize 2 or more sub-masters. When sync is enabled for multiple faders, the faders will synchronize their levels as soon as the level of one fader is changed. Sync has no effect on faders under remote control.

#### **Sub Master Modes**

The sub-masters may operate one of in 4 different modes.

Master Proportional mode - in this mode the master level modifies the sub-master just as fixture intensity is modified by the Grand Master. This means that if a fixture is programmed at 75% intensity, and it belongs to an intensity group at 50% and the Grand master is at 30% the resulting intensity will be 75% x 50% x 30% = 11.25%. This is the default setting

Master LoTP Mode - in this mode, resulting intensity is calculated by comparing the Grand Master level with the Sub Master level. The lowest is used to calculate the resulting intensity value (lowest take priority).

Master HTP Mode - same as LoTP mode, but in this case the higher value is used (highest take priority). This mode may be useful for fixtures that should never dim out completely (e.g. front lights). Master No Effect - In this mode the sub master is not affected by the Grand Master at all.

#### Auto Fade out and in

The **Fade Out** and **Fade In** provides a tool to automatically create timed fades on the Grand Master. It is also usually obtains a smoother fade than trying to fade directly on the screen with the mouse. Note that the **Fade In** button is only enabled when a fade out or blackout is currently active (since it needs a level to fade in from). Likewise the **Fade Out** is not active as long as a blackout or fade out is active. Use the drop down box to select between different times for the fade out/in action (from 0.5 second to 10 seconds) - selecting another the time will not affect the currently active fade (if any). Fading in from a blackout

It is possible to fade in from a blackout, however this may not work on all types of fixtures as the fade uses the intensity function of the fixture, while blackout normally uses the shutter function to obtain the blackout as fast as possible. For this reason fading in from a blackout will not work on, for example, a Roboscan 218 or Mac 600.

The auto fade out and fade in functions may be assigned to keyboard hotkeys 205.

#### **Blackout and Restore**

The blackout / restore buttons duplicate the function of the single blackout/restore button on the fixture tool bar 57. See also blackout/restore 195

#### **Options Menu**

Patch Subma	sters	
Patch Sub Mast	ters	×
Help		
Function	Source (DMX Out)	
Group 1	513	
Group 2		
Group 3		
Group 4		
Group 5		
Group 6		
Group 7		
Group 8		
✓ 0	K 🗶 Cancel	

#### Patch Submasters dialog

The sub master patch dialog implements the possibility of controlling the value of a sub master from a 'normal' DMX output channel. An example of use would be to automatically fade a number of generic DMX channels (e.g. par cans) while simultaneously running a chase on the same channels. To patch one or more sub masters, configure a generic DMX fixture (up to 8 channels) and patch the addresses of the generic DMX output from the individual channels to the sub masters. Remember to include the relevant fixtures in the sub master group.

#### **Preferences menu**

#### Show Master Only

Check to hide the sub-masters, thus making the control take up less space on the desktop. Note that the sub-masters will be active even though hidden.

Show Values as %

It is also possible to toggle between values displayed on the fader between absolute values or % values.

#### Synchronize Bump

Check to enable simultaneous bumps on synchronized masters.

See also DMX in 231, sequence intensities 150

### 16.2 Freeze output

By default the freeze switch is disabled, the use of the freeze function may be enabled by enabling

Allow Freeze Output in the system preferences dialog <sup>50</sup>. The freeze state can be set through on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> <sup>57</sup> or through a <u>hotkey function</u> <sup>205</sup>. When the DMX output is frozen, LightJockey immediately stops calculating new DMX output values as a result of fades or macros. When 'de-frozen' calculations are continued from where they were stopped. If assigned to a <u>hotkey flash function</u> <sup>203</sup> the freeze function can be used to great effect to for example freeze lights in place when there is a break in the music. Note that sequences running the cue are still being trigged.

See also sequence blind mode 129, Offline/OnLine switch 198

### 16.3 Offline / Online switch

The switch is set via the offline / online on the fixture tool bar of the button mimics the current offline state). By default access to the Offline/Online switch is disabled, access is enabled by checking **Allow Offline Switch** option in the system preferences dialog of the hardware does not stop refreshing the physical DMX signal but the DMX values remain unchanged). During offline state all usual calculations and macros are still performed and the resulting DMX output is still routed to the Offline Visualizer 284. This allows for blind programming while still maintaining a static DMX output to connected fixtures.

See also sequence blind mode 129, freeze output 198.

### **16.4** Follow spot function

To enable the follow spot function, click **main** on the fixture tool bar. Use follow spot function to temporarily take manual control over one or more fixtures.

The follow spot function uses the <u>current sequence</u> to first apply a pre-defined contents to the current scene (e.g. open white, pan/tilt position) then allowing the user to change the fixture(s) position using the position control (and other attributes using the normal fixture controls). Note that the follow

spot settings will **not** overwrite output created by <u>generic DMX macros</u> 148. LightJockey may hold up to 20 different pre-defined follow spot settings.

#### Editing the follow spot settings.

To edit the follow spot settings using the follow spot settings dialog. To access the dialog, select **Main Desktop menu -> Setup -> Preferences -> Edit Follow spot Settings** - or right click the follow spot icon on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> (57), and select **Options -> Edit Settings** from the menu of the follow spot selection dialog (see below).

m	Edit	FollowSpot Settings		<u>×</u>
Qpl	tions	Help		
1	On	Guitar Solo 1	1: S	ides@50% (autock)
2	On	Guita Followspot		Associated
3	On	Drum: Entry		Static Entry
4	On	Drums 2		diana ana y
5	On	Lead - Yellow	2 F	ront@30% (autoclr)
6	On	Lead - White		
7	Off			
8	Off			
9	Off			
10	Off			
11	Off			
12	Off		_	
13	Off			
14	Off			
15	Off		_	
16	Off		_	
17	Off		-	
18	Off			
19	UIT			
20	Ulf		_	
<u> </u>				
		Apply Current Scene to 1		① Clear Settings in 1
-			181 -	
1	1000		2	ave

Edit follow spot settings dialog

Follow spot settings are not restricted to merely using pan/tilt positions and intensity settings, any effect may be programmed into the follow spot setting (e.g. color or iris settings). Use this feature to set the initial state that the fixture(s) should assume when switched into follow spot mode. To set the parameters which should be applied to each fixture when in follow spot mode, simply program them into the current scene - (hint: clear the current cue before programming the follow spot scene as this makes it easier to see exactly what is being programmed). Once the fixtures are programmed, **make sure that all programmed follow spot fixtures are selected on the desktop**, then highlight one of the 20 follow spot presets, and click **Apply Current Scene to Preset#**. When applying the preset scene, LJ records the programmed parameters for all selected fixtures. Effects that are not programmed will use <u>default DMX values</u> when the follow spot settings are used (see later). Enter a name for the follow spot setting, highlight the setting, then click **Clear settings in preset#** - to clear all follow spot settings select **Clear all Follow spot Settings** from the Options Menu.

#### Associating static entries with follow spot settings

To argument a follow spot, a static <u>static entry</u> will automatically be enabled (latched) when the follow spot setting is activated (see below).

Use the static entry to enforce specific settings to fixtures that are not included in the follow spot setting - e.g. automatically reduce front lights to 30% intensity as soon as the follow spot setting is activated - without overwriting other parameters such as colors or positions from the current cue.

To associate a static entry with the follow spot setting, right click the corresponding line list. Then select the static entry from the popup menu (set static):

Apply Current Scene - apply current scene to follow spot setting

Clear Entry- clear the follow spot setting

Set Static - select a static to be associated with the follow spot setting

Clear Static - clear associated static

Set static as Auto Clear - mark static entry as Auto Clear to automatically disable the static when deactivating the follow spot setting (see below).

#### Using (activating) the follow spot settings

To activate a follow spot setting right-click **mail** on the fixture tool bar to display the follow spot setting selection dialog. If the icon is left-clicked, the last activated follow spot setting will be re-activated.

Select Followspot Setting	x
Options Preferences Help	
Guitar Solo 1	
Guitar Solo 2	
Drums 1	
Drums 2 Load Valley	
Lead - Yellow	
Lead . Wilke	
	1

Follow spot selection dialog

To select a specific follow spot setting, highlight the line and click Ok (or double click the line). A setting may also be activated using keyboard <u>hotkeys</u>  $20\beta$  or the 2532 direct access  $22\beta$ . Once a follow spot

setting has been activated, it can be 'released' by clicking **Clear** or by clicking **Image 1** on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> [57]. When a follow spot setting is activated, LightJockey will automatically call up the <u>intensity</u> [96] and <u>pan/tilt controls</u> [96] for the selected fixture(s). As the setting is activated, LightJockey will apply all the pre programmed parameters (follow spot settings) to the fixtures designated as follow spots. Parameters not programmed will be set to the <u>default DMX values</u> [53]. Finally, all effects (DMX control channels) are set to <u>snap</u> [93] to move the fixture into the follow spot settings as fast as possible.

#### Use only selected fixtures as Follow spots

When a follow spot setting is recorded, the selection state of all fixtures are also recorded. When activating a follow spot setting, LightJockey will automatically re-select these fixtures and deselect all other. If **Use only selected fixtures as Follow spots** (preferences menu) is enabled, ONLY the fixtures that already are selected will be re-selected when a new follow spot setting is activated.

**Tip:** If multiple fixtures are used together in a follow spot setting, make sure to select **Relative Movement** in the pan/tilt control

### 16.5 Fixture solo function

The fixture solo function is activated via solo on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> or by using a keyboard <u>hotkey</u> hotkey with the solo function may be disabled (to avoid confusing inexperienced users) via the <u>system preferences</u> with a tool to help during programming. It works by sending a blackout command to all <u>non-selected fixtures</u> of (only fixtures that have a defined blackout function are affected). The blackout means that only selected fixtures will have light output. The blackout 'moves' with the fixture selection - this has the effect that if, for example, the solo function is used in connection with the <u>next/previous fixture</u> function, only the currently selected fixtures.

## 16.6 Global patching

### 16.6.1 Global patch dialog

The global patch is accessed via the main setup menu <sup>50</sup> or by right-clicking on a fixture icon and select Global Patch from the popup menu. The latter method aligns the patch list with the fixtures DMX address. The global patch allows patching the 'source' of individual DMX output channels as well as defining attributes such as minimum and maximum values or. The dialog is also used to assign individual channels to <u>HTP channel groups</u><sup>203</sup>. Note: Changes in the dialog will not take effect on the actual output until the patch is applied (click **Apply Patch**).

Ele	Options Help	)											
Adr	Fature	Ch der	er.	Value	DMX0ut	DM00n	In mode/Sw	HTP	Groups	Inv	Min	Мах	
24	(DMX)	output	Ch 2	0				1+3					-
25	14 Change	a al	Ch 3	0	Cun	rent C	utput	1+3					
26	Chan	lei	Ch 4	0	Valu	0		1+3					
27	(5) DMC IN	Dimme	r Ch 1	25	valu	le l		1			25		
28	6] DMK4	Dimme	r Ch 2	2.0				1		Yes	25	250	
29	(5) DMX4	Dimme	r Ch 3	250				1	New	Dee	wieu	I.C.	
30	(5) DMX4	Dimme	r Ch 4	0				1	Nexi	Pie	VIOL	15	
31	(6) DMX4	Dimme	r Ch 1	0	236				Patc	hed	Cha	anne	
32	(6) DMX4	Dimme	r Ch 2	0	236						1	1	
33	[6] DMX4	Dimme	r Ch 3	0		1	>0 /Use			Ye	100	200	
34	(6) DMX4	Dimme	r Ch 4	0		1	>0 /Use			1			•
Sour	ce Out 2	Min Linit:4	le	werted:3					1		T		
Sour	ce In:2	Max Limit:4	H	TP Group	x≈12					-	_	-	
Mod	lify Output	DMX Valu	e Outpu	t Source	DMD	( in Mod	e HTP Gro	ups		-			1
				-	- C /	bsolute	HIPO	roup 1	- 2		2	ca	
Inge	rt Value IM		DM	×Qut	CL	TP	HTPG	iroup 2			1.50	Values	1
	Min 100		Г	my In 1	- C F	ITP	HTPG	iroup 4			1.00	10005	
				method .	61	0 <xm< td=""><td>HTP 0</td><td>roup 5</td><td></td><td>1 10</td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td></xm<>	HTP 0	roup 5		1 10			1

The global patch dialog

Click **Previous** or **Next** to locate the previous or next channel cintaining any patch settings. To clear all settings for one or more output channels, highlight the relevant lines and click **Clear**. To clear all patch settings, select **New Global Patch** from the File Menu. To 'synchronize' all settings for multiple channels, highlight the relevant lines, change settings if necessary, then click **<-Set Values**.

#### Setting the minimum and maximum output value of a DMX channel.

To set the minimum and/or maximum value of one or more channels, highlight the corresponding lines in the patch list. Set the minimum and or maximum values in the Min and Max fields respectively. Alternatively, highlight, right-click and select **Clear** -> **Min** or **Clear** -> **Max** from the popup menu. A minimum value of 0 and the minimum value of 255 are default and will not be displayed in the patch-list. When the patch is applied, minimum and maximum limits are applied to the DMX output values before the values are transmitted to the fixtures and do not affect the programmed data. For example, if an output channel is programmed to a value of 5 and a minimum value of 10 is set, the DMX output will never go below 10. If the minimum value is removed or lowered below 5, the channel will output 5 as programmed.

**Tip**: Applying a minimum output level for par cans for similar fixtures using halogen lamps can drastically shorten the time it takes the lamp to 'go on' (pre-heat).

#### Inverting the DMX output value

Setting the invert flag inverts the output value of the channel, e.g. a programmed value of 0 is inverted to the value of 255, or a value of 100 is output as 155. The operation performed is analog to inverting the output of a fader on a normal console so that the fader has maximum output when all down and minimum output when pushed to the top. The inverting of the value is performed before any min/max constraints are applied so the inverted output values will still be inside the min/max interval.

#### Modifying the source of output values

#### Modifying the DMX Output source

Changing the DMX output source means changing the source of the DMX output value transmitted to

the channel. The source of the DMX output value can be another DMX output channel or a DMX input channel. Patching several output channels to the same source may be useful when there is a need to control multiple channels from one source (e.g. a generic DMX fixture profile fader) or, using DMX in, from a console fader. Often, when using generic DMX fixtures such as Par 64 or pin spots, it is practical to control the fixtures in groups, even if each fixture has an individual DMX address on the dimmer rack (see HTP groups below). Unless the dimmer/switch packs supplying the fixtures has the capability of patching and it is necessary to allocate an individual channel to each of the fixtures (which may use up a lot of generic controls/channels). Using the patch tool it is possible to reduce the number of 'control channels' needed to control the number of groups that are used.

#### Setting the source to a DMX output channel

To patch one or more channels so that they take their output value from another output channel, highlight the lines representing the channels to be patched, and then enter the source address in the DMX Out field. The source channel is displayed in the 'DMXOut' column in the patch-list.

Set DMX Out Sequence	×
Channels to Patch : 14	🗶 Cancel
Start Sequence at : 311	🗸 ОК

Patching channels sequentially

To patch multiple channels sequentially (e.g. 30->1, 31->2, 32->3, etc.), highlight the target channels and, right-click and select **Set DMX out Sequence** from the popup menu. In the dialog enter the address for the first source channel and click Ok.

#### Setting the source to a DMX input channel

To patch one or more channels so that they take their output value from a DMX input channel, highlight the corresponding lines and enter the relevant DMX input channel in the DMX In field. The source channel will be displayed in the 'DMXIn' column in the patch-list. To patch multiple channels sequentially (e.g. 30->DMX in 1; 31-> DMX in 2; 32-> DMX in 3 etc.) highlight the target channels and, right-click and select **Set DMX In Sequence** from the popup menu. In the dialog enter the address for the first DMX input source channel.

To patch a full DMX 512 in link to a specific DMX out Link, select **Options** -> **Patch DMX in**. This function may be used to verify programs on another console via the Offline Visualizer. See also  $DMX in^{231}$ 

#### Selecting the DMX in mode

The DMX in source may be applied in one of 5 ways:

Absolute - the DMX input value <u>always</u> overwrites the output value.

LoTP - the DMX input value only overwrites when the DMX input value is <u>lower</u> than the programmed output value.

HTP - the DMX input value only overwrites when the DMX input value is <u>higher</u> than the programmed output value (highest takes precedence).

DMX > 0 - the DMX input value only overwrites when the DMX input value is <u>higher</u> than 0.

DMX < 255 - the DMX input value only overwrites when the DMX input value is lower than 255.

Set or change the DMX in mode for individual channels by selecting the relevant lines and then select the DMX in mode.

The two last modes are particular useful to control certain fixture functions manually via DMX-in. For example, to control the color wheels of a number of fixtures via a fader, patch the color control channels to a DMX in channel, and set the mode to < 255. When the console fader is at a value < 255 it overwrites the output value generated by LightJockey, when the fader is moved to a value of 255, the output generated by LightJockey will not be overwritten - effectively switching the DMX input override off. The DMX input patches is by default linked to the **Overwrite Enable** function in the <u>DMX-in setup</u> <sup>[231]</sup> dialog. The Overwrite Enable switch may be used to enable or disable all DMX in overwrites entirely. To make individual DMX-in patches independent of the Overwrite Enable function,

select the relevant lines, right-click and set the **Ignore DMX In Enable switch**. Channels marked as ignoring the switch will always be overwritten by the DMX in channel values regardless of overwrite Enable state.

#### HTP Groups - see HTP Groups 203

#### **Saving and loading Global Patch settings**

The global patch settings may be saved to a file for later retrieval. Save and Load functions are available from the File menu. LightJockey will try it's best to warn about 'suspect' patches (e.g. channel 1 is patched from channel 2, that in turn is patched from channel 1). If a suspect patch is found, a warning dialog will be shown (Nested Patches Found). If the dialog appears, please re-check patches.

**Tip:** If the patched channels are used to control fixtures that does not need a fixture profile (e.g. generic DMX fixture profiles) - any unused DMX channel may be patched without configuring a fixture in the fixture configuration [66]. When unused channels are patched this way there will be no way to actually see that the channels are used if new fixtures are added later on. It is therefore a good idea to configure generic DMX fixtures to match these addresses, even if programming the fixtures via these controls is not possible since the output values are taken from the source channels, and not from the programmed scenes. But at least there will be an indication to show that the channels are already in use. The icons may even be 'hidden' on a desktop tab [45] created for this purpose. If the patched channels does have a fixture profile assigned to them (e.g. uses a generic DMX fixture profile [84]), the fixture controls will reflect the output ONLY when the controls fade state [93] is set to off.

#### 16.6.1.1 HTP groups

HTP groups is a useful tool to for patching multiple groups of single channel fixtures through DMX in (such as multiple groups of par cans via dimmer packs). HTP groups are configured via the <u>Global Patch</u> and <u>Global Pa</u>

#### Caution !

Checking DMX output generated by HTP groups is a fairly time consuming process, especially if many channels are affected. Users of low spec PCs may experience a degradation of overall speed and DMX output 'quality' if many channels are assigned to HTP groups.

#### HTP groups and master intensity control

By default, output generated by HTP groups is not affected by <u>intensity master or sub master</u> [195] settings. Check *Enable HTP group master intensity control* in the preferences menu to enable master intensity control of HTP groups. Note that only 'intensity type ' channels are affected by master intensity settings.

### 17 Hotkeys

### 17.1 Using hotkeys

#### Keyboard functions for selecting fixtures

When <u>selecting fixtures</u> by clicking on the fixture icons, the following mouse/keyboard combinations are available:

[shift]+left-click fixture icon - force master. This will force the fixture into master status, regardless of it's

previous selected state.

[Control]+left-click fixture icon - solo fixture select. This will select the fixture as master and de-select all other fixtures.

[Control]+"rubber-banding" fixture icons - this will select fixtures within rubber band frame only. Rubberbanding means to click and hold down left mouse button and then drag a rectangle around the fixture icons before releasing the button again.

#### **Keyboard hotkeys**

LightJockey may be setup to use keyboard as hotkeys to select different functions, programs and effects directly. In order for the hotkeys to work LightJockey must have the Windows focus (one of the LightJockey windows must be the 'active' window). If any other program has focus , the keyboard commands will not be passed to the LightJockey application. The hotkeys will not have effect outside LightJockey. This restriction, by default, includes the <u>Offline Visualizer</u> which may be configured to pass key presses to LightJockey. Hotkeys function may be globally enabled or disabled by setting or clearing the **Hotkeys Enabled** switch in the **Main -> Setup -> Hotkeys** menu. To edit the hotkeys configuration, select **Edit Hotkeys** from the **Main -> Setup -> Hotkeys** menu.

Note that hotkey actions may be disabled in some parts of the application, e.g. during fixture configuration 6.

#### **Configuring Hotkeys**

🛷 Edit Hotkeys 📃 🛁		Find	Clear
Options Help SC	roll Lock		
Key Combo Screet	Lock Activated	C EndHotkey	Dea Hotkey
Key Combo	Key Combo 🔺	Sequence (Flash) Cue Cuelist B	G Cue
Close All Windows	[Shift] Esc	Cue# Cue Name	SCRL Key Londo
'Bind	[Shift] B	0001 Gaton	- 2
Elind Toggle	В	1003 mt Program Tal	he 3
Intensity Functions		0004 macross	4
Togge Blackout		0005 ultra-violet	5
Togge FadeUla		0006 blue	(Shift) 1
Sidexout Sidexout		10007 overge	ISht12
Page Marine		0008 green	[Shift] 3
Burn Sub 1 Function List		0009 daton	[Shift] 4
*Burne Sub 2		0010 daton2 Program	LIST [Shill]5
"Burno Sub 3		0011 dator3	[Control] 1
"Burno Sub 4		0012 slow 1	[Control] 2
*Bump Sub 5		0013 slow 2	[Control] 3
*Bump Sub 6		0014 slow 2	l
*Bump Sub 7		0015 random /	ssign
Burne C. A. O		U016 yellow (Sect Cue)	Cuel ist RGCue)
To Assign Euroption		10017 while (Sey, Cue, C	Suelist, booue)
Too Assign Function		0018 green	
Toggle Bump Suby2	*	0015 165	×
Atsign Function [lea	r Function(s)	Assign Que	Clear Hotkey(:)
	X Cancel	Accepit Hotkeys	

The edit hotkeys dialog

The edit hotkey dialog lists the functions and programs that are may be assigned to hotkeys. To assign a key or key combination to a function or program, first press the key or key combination to 'record' the key or combination. The 'recorded' key or combination will appear in the *Key Combo* window. Note that it is the key itself that is registered not the 'value' of the key. Alpha-keys ("a" -"z") will always register as capitals ("A"-"Z"). [Control] and [Shift] combinations such as [Shift]E or [Control]E are recognized as separate hotkeys. Some keys are not pre-defined in Windows but have a function that depends on the currently installed keyboard driver. These keys will list their value as [XXX]. [Alt] combinations are not recognized by the hotkey system, but are reserved for use by the normal Windows hotkey system. Furthermore, Windows reserves a couple of keyboard combinations for itself, e.g. [Control]+[Esc]. These combinations are also not available as hotkey combos.

To see if a particular key/combination is already in use, record the key/combination and click **Find Hotkey**. If the key or combo is already assigned to a function or program, the assigned function will be highlighted in the relevant list.

To clear a particular key/combination, record the key and click **Clear Hotkey**. Alternatively locate and clear the relevant functions or programs and click **Clear Functions** or **Clear Hotkeys(s)** located at the bottom of each list.

#### Disable hotkeys in dialogs

To disable the hotkeys in dialogs where normal keyboard operation is required (such as when entering a name in save dialogs), check the **Disable Hotkeys in Dialogs** item found in the options menu. By default hotkeys are disabled in dialogs.

#### Using Scroll Lock

The scope of hotkeys may be limited by enabling the scroll lock switch for each key/combination. With scroll lock the hotkey will only work when scroll lock function of the keyboard is enabled. To set or clear the scroll lock attribute for multiple entries, select the lines, right click and select set or clear scroll lock from the popup menu.

#### Keyboard Function Keys (F1-F12)

The function keys F1-F12 and their respective shift/control combinations will always work, regardless of disable in dialogs or scroll lock setting.

#### **Assigning Functions to hotkeys**

To assign a function to a particular hotkey, record the key combination and highlight the function in the function list. Then click **Assign Function**.

See <u>hotkey functions</u> for a more detailed explanation of the individual functions.

#### Assigning programs to hotkeys

It is possible to assign hotkey to a specific program (sequence, cue, cue list or background cue). To assign a hotkey to a program, record the hotkey and select (highlight) the program in the relevant list. Then click **assign 'program'**.

#### Saving and loading hotkey setups

Since different operators may prefer different hotkey setups, or different setups may work better in different situations (for example programming vs. playback), it is possible to save and reload different hotkey setups. In order to save the current setup, select **Save Hotkeys** from the options menu and use the standard Windows file dialog to save the setup with a filename. To load a setup, either select **Load Hotkeys** from the **options** menu, or select the from the **Main Menu** -> **Setup** -> **Hotkeys** -> **Setup** menu, where up to 8 previously saved setups will appear below the **Edit Hotkeys** item (if any files present).

•	¥	Hotkeys <u>E</u> nable		
រុះ 🗍		<u>E</u> dit Hotkeys		
		Default Playback Keys Edit Keys	Saveo Se	tups

Selecting setups from the hotkey menu

See also hotkey functions 205

### 17.2 Hotkey functions

#### **Hotkey function types**

Hotkey enable functions - a hotkey enable function is a function that enables a certain state, for example the Blackout function enables blackout while Restore restores from a blackout. Hotkey toggle functions - a toggle function is a function that toggles between two states. e.g. the Blackout/Restore function will toggle between blackout and restore each time the key is pressed. Most functions are either enable or toggle functions.

Flash Functions - a Flash function is a function that is activated as soon as the hotkey combo is selected, and deactivated when the hotkey key combo is released.

Since the state of the [Shift] and [Control] keys are read at the point where the 'main' hotkey is pressed, make sure to press and the [Shift]/[Control] keys **before** the 'main' key and to release the

[shift]/[Control] keys **after** the 'main' hotkey has been released. Or avoid using [Shift]/[Control] functions for flash functions. Flash functions are marked with an \*. Note that due to the nature of the PC keyboard, it may be impossible to hold more than a couple of keys down in flash mode before the keyboard buffer runs full and the keyboard stops responding.

#### **System functions**

Close Window - Closes the current active LJ window (except the main LJ desktop) Close All Windows - Closes all LJ windows (except the main LJ desktop)

\*Freeze Output - see <u>freeze output</u> 198. Freezes the DMX output values while the key is held down. Fade calculations and movement macros are stopped, but sequences in cues are still trigged. (flash function)

Freeze Output Toggle - see <u>freeze output</u> 198 - the mode toggles on and off for each key press. \*Freeze + B/O - Combines freeze and Blackout command (flash function)

Freeze + B/O toggle - Combines freeze and Blackout command - toggles on and off for each key press.

DMX Offline, DMX Online, DMX OnLine/OffLine toggle - see offline/online switch 198 2532 Control - Toggles the 2532 control 225

Virtual Fingers - use to toggle virtual fingers 224

Fingers status panel - use to toggle fingers status panel 216

#### **Intensity functions**

Toggle Master Intensity Control - Toggles the <u>master intensity control</u> and off Blackout/Restore - Toggles blackout/restore (as the blackout button [195])

Blackout - Sets Blackout

Restore - Restore from blackout

Fade Out/Fade In - Toggles the fade out / fade in states, using the fade time set in the master intensity control

Fade Out - Starts a Fadeout using the Master Intensity fade time.

Fade In - Starts a Fade in using the Master Intensity fade time.

Fade Out 1-10 Sec / Fade In 1-10 Sec - Starts a fade out or fade in using the specific time. Master Intensity off/full/+1/+10/-1/-10 - Immediately sets or modifies the level of the intensity master - note that when using a hotkey for 'fading' by holding down a key on the keyboard, the 'fade time' is determined by the system keyboard repeat rate.

\*BlackOut - Sets Blackout for as long as the key is held down - when the key is released the output is restored.

\*FadeOut - Activates fadeout for as long as the key is held down - when the key is released a fade in is performed. Both fade out and fade in use the default fade time selected on the master intensity control [195].

\*Bump Master, \*Bump Sub 1-8 - bumps the individual <u>master intensity</u> [195] faders (Flash Function). Toggle Bump Master, Toggle Bump Sub 1-8 - toggles bump status on the individual faders on the <u>master intensity</u> [195].

#### HTP groups

\*HTP group X - Bump - Flashes the channels belonging to the HTP group 201 to On (DMX value = 255).

HTP group X - Toggle - Toggles the channels belonging to the <u>HTP group</u> 201 between On (DMX value = 255) and Off (DMX value = 0).

#### **Fixture controls**

Fixture controls (Intensity -> Level/Special) - Toggles the individual <u>fixture controls</u> - fixture controls will only be shown if they are valid for the current, selected <u>master fixture</u>

Toggle Intensity Palette -> Toggle Levels/Special Palette - Toggles the corresponding user palette and off.

Toggle Position Preset - Toggles the position preset 108 list on and off.

Toggle All Palettes/Presets - Toggles all preset 106 or user palettes st on and off. P/T Macro - Toggles the movement macro control 102. FanOut Control - Toggles the <u>fan out control</u> 101. Position Options - Toggles the <u>position options control</u> 198 Mirror Pan, Mirror Tilt, Swap and 360 deg - Activates each of the functions from the <u>position options control</u> 198

Pan Relative +/- Tilt Relative +/- - Moves the pan/tilt for the selected fixture(s).

Home Selected Fixtures - Moves the pan/tilt for the selected fixture(s) to Home position. <u>fade state</u> state state

All Controls - Toggles all fixture controls from Intensity to Effects controls, controls will only be shown if they are valid for the current master fixture

#### Other

Generic Controls - Toggles the generic DMX control and off.

Smoke Control - Toggles visibility of the smoke control 122

\*Smoke Button - Controls the smoke button on the Smoke Control (flash function)

Toggle smoke timer - toggles the smoke timer button on the Smoke Control.

CD Control - Toggles the <u>audio CD control</u>

Follow spot 1-10 - Activates follow spot settings 1 to 10 198

Clear Followspot - Clears the current follow spot setting (if any)

View DMX Output - Toggles the DMX output monitor

Toggle Notes - Toggles the Notes on and off. Normally standard keys are captured by the notes window which will prevent a 'normal' hotkey from closing the window. Assign a function key (F1-F12) for the function or use [Escape] to close the Window.

Autostrike lamps toggle - Toggles the auto strike lamps function on and off (see <u>startup options</u> set) Assign Preset# - Assign position preset 1 to 10 to selected fixtures.

#### **Sequence functions**

Sequence Control - Toggles the <u>sequence control</u> [12] Toggle List of Sequences - Toggles the <u>list of sequences</u> [12]. Next Scene - Advances the current sequence to the next scene Previous Scene - Advances the current sequence to the next scene Add Scene - Adds a scene to the current sequence First Scene - Places the current sequence in the first scene Last Scene - Places the current sequence in the last scene Quick Save Sequence - <u>quicksaves</u> [50] the current sequence New Sequence - Performs a clear/new Sequence Command. Set Sequence Blind - Sets the <u>sequence blind</u> [12] state \*Sequence Blind - Clears the <u>sequence blind</u> [12] state Sequence Blind - Clears the <u>sequence blind</u> [12] state Playback Fwd, Rev, Stop - Activates the playback functions on the sequence control [12]

#### **Cue functions**

List of cue functions - these functions relate to the list of cues Toggle List of Cues - Toggles the list of cues Toggle List of Cues - Toggles the list of cues Load Selected Cue (global list) - loads the selected cue from the global list of cues. Load Selected Cue (Cue Page) - loads the selected cue from the current cue page. Force Cue# selection - forces Windows focus to the Cue# entry. Previous Cue Page - selects the previous cue page. Next Cue Page - selects the next cue page. Cue Page Latch Previous Cue - latches the previous cue on the current cue page. Cue Page Select Previous Cue - selects the previous cue on the current cue page, but does not latch the cue. Cue Page Select Next Cue - selects the next cue on the current cue page, but does not latch the cue.

Cue control functions - these functions relate to the <u>cue control</u> [132]

Toggle Cue Control - Toggles the <u>cue control</u> [132]

Toggle Chase Manual - Toggles 'Chase Man' function in the cue control 132

Toggle Chase Fade - Toggles the Disable Fade time in Chase Mode option in the cue control rate preferences menu.

\*Flash selected Sequence - Adds the selected sequence (if any) to the current cue in flash mode (sequence is removed as soon as the key is released). If the sequence list is closed the last selected sequence is loaded.

Release latched Flash - Releases a latched flash sequence.

Quick Save Cue - <u>quicksaves</u> of the current Cue

New/Clear Cue - Performs a new cue command.

Toggle Select All - Toggles the select all / deselect all button on the <u>cue control</u> 132.

Cue Time Control - Toggles the <u>cue time</u> 147 control.

Cue Loop Control - Toggles the sequence slot loop options 145 control.

Cue macro control functions - these functions relate to the <u>cue macro control</u> <sup>148</sup> Cue Macro Control toggle - Toggles the <u>cue macro control</u> <sup>148</sup>

Pan/Tilt Macro : Fade In, Fadeout, Macro Off, Macro On - Hotkeys for corresponding buttons in the <u>cue macro control</u> [148].

Pan/Tilt Macro : Reset Amplitude, Reset Speed - Resets speed and amplitude in the <u>cue macro control</u> [148].

Pan/Tilt Macro : Freeze, Run, Toggle Freeze, \*Freeze - Freezes pan/tilt macros running in the cue (\*Freeze is a flash function')

Toggle Cue slot selection Toggle Slot# - toggles slot selection state on/off

Toggle Seq On/Off

All Slots Off - Sets all sequence slots to off (effectively switching off the cue) All Slots On - Sets all sequence slots to on Toggle Slot#f - Toggles the enabled/disabled state of the individual sequence slots

Clear Cue Slot Clear Sequence # - Clears the corresponding sequence slot #

Sequences Stop/Go

Seq # Stop - Stops the corresponding sequence in slot # All Sequences Stop - Stops all Sequences Seq # Go - Starts the corresponding sequence in slot # All Sequences Go - Starts all Sequences Seq # Stop/Go Toggle - Toggles stop/go state for the corresponding sequence in slot # All Sequences Stop/Go - Toggles stop/go state all Sequences Emulate Audio Trig - Emulates a trig from the audio analyzer

Trigging multiple sequences

Trig Selected Manual\* (Default/Fwd/Rev/Rnd/Bounce) - Trigs individual selected (highlighted) sequences if the sequences are in manual trig mode.

Trig Selected Auto\* (Default/Fwd/Rev/Rnd/Bounce) - Trigs individual selected (highlighted) sequences if the sequences are in auto trig mode.

Trig Selected\* (Default/Fwd/Rev/Rnd/Bounce) - Trigs individual selected (highlighted) sequences. (\*) If no sequences are selected, all sequences in the relevant mode are trigged.

Trig All Manual (Default/Fwd/Rev/Rnd/Bounce) - Trigs all manual sequences regardless of selected state.

Default - Trigs with the sequence(s) with the default (programmed) loop function.. Fwd - Trigs the sequence(s) in a forward loop direction.

Rev - Trigs the sequence(s) in a reverse loop direction.

Rnd - Trig the sequence(s) random scene mode. Bounce - Trig the sequence(s) in bounce mode.

#### Trigging individual sequences

Trig Seg# Default - Trigs the individual sequence slot # with the default (programmed) loop function.

- Trig Seq# Fwd Trigs the individual sequence slot # one scene forward
- Trig Seq# Rev Trigs the individual sequence slot # one scene backwards
- Trig Seg# Rnd Calls up a random scene in the sequence slot #
- Trig Seg# Rnd Calls up a random scene in the sequence slot #

#### **Cue builder functions**

Toggle Cue Builder - Toggles the cue builder control Toggle Cue Capture Activate - Toggles Cue Builder Cue Capture Toggle Seq Capture Activate - Toggles Cue Builder Sequence Capture Cue Stack Go - Activates Cue Builder Cue Stack Go Command Cue Preset Go - Activates Cue Builder Cue Preset Go Command Get Cue - Activates Cue Builder Get Cue Command Clear Cue Stack - Clears the cue stack Clear All Seq - Clears all sequences from the Cue preset list (same as right clicking 'Clear Seq')

#### **Generic DMX macro editor functions**

Generic Macro Engine Off - Stops the generic DMX macro engine 1561. This affects all running macros including any macro running from the macro editor [156]. Generic Macro Engine On - Starts the generic DMX macro engine 156 Generic Macro Engine Toggle - toggles on/off state of the generic DMX macro engine 158 Toggle Generic Macro Editor - Toggles the generic macro editor 156 Toggle Generic Macro List - Toggles the list with Generic Macros 168 Clear Generic Macro Editor - Clears the contents of the Generic Macro Editor Generic Macro Slot Off - Switches the Generic Macro (if any) associated with the Cue Off.

Generic Macro Slot On - Switches the Generic Macro (if any) associated with the Cue On. Toggle Generic Macro Slot - Toggles the Generic Macro (if any) associated with the Cue On/Off.

#### **Cue list functions**

CueList Control - Toggles the cue list control Toggle List of Cuelists - Toggles the list of cue lists 176 Quick Save CueList - quick saves 50 the current cue list Cuelist Start Top - Executes a Start Top Command Cuelist Start Selected - Executes a Run Command Cuelist Go - Trigs the cue list Go command. If the cue list is not already active (running) a 'Run from top' command is given to the cue list. Cuelist Back - Trigs the cue list Back command. The cue list must be active (running) for this command to be work. Cuelist Stop - Stops the current cue list executing. Cuelist Stop and Clear - Stops the current cue list executing and clears the current cue. Cuelist Goto Mark 1-4 - jump to Mark Cuelist Run from Mark 1-4 - Executes a Run command at Mark 1-4 Log Timecode - Logs time code (if the log time code control 179 is visible). Cuelist select prev, next and start - scrolls up and down and starts a cuelist in the list of cue lists 178.

#### **Background cue functions**

Toggle BGCue control - Toggles the background cue control [167].

Clear BGCue - Clears the current background cue

Toggle BG Cue List - Toggles the list of background cues

BGCue - Toggle slot 1-5 - Toggles the individual slots of the background cue on and off. BGCue - All Slots Off/On - Sets the state of all slots in the background cue to off or on respectively. Load Selected BG Cue - Loads the currently selected (highlighted) background cue from the select background cue list (this function only works when the list is opened)

#### **Statics control**

Statics control - toggles the statics control 189.

Static 01-10 - Sets the on/off state of the individual statics control entries 18. Note that the key will act as flash if the static entry is designated as flash.

Release statics - Releases all enabled static entries.

#### **Fixture selection**

Toggle Inclusive/Exclusive - Toggles inclusive/Exclusive <u>fixture selection</u> and mode.

Next Fixture - Selects next fixture (see <u>next/orevious fixture</u> [81])

Previous Fixture - Selects previous fixture (see <u>next/orevious fixture</u> and )

De-select All Fixture - de-selects all fixtures.

Toggle Fixture Solo - Toggles fixture solo and off.

\*Fixture Solo - Sets fixture solo 200 mode (flash function).

Select fixture like master - Hotkey for the <u>fixture icon popup</u> for command 'Select all of this type' - selects all fixtures of the same type as the master fixture.

Select programmed - Hotkey for the corresponding <u>desktop popup</u> 45 command - selects all fixtures programmed in the current scene.

Select programmed (Master) - Hotkey for the <u>fixture icon popup</u> for command 'Select all programmed of this type' - selects all fixtures of the same type as the master fixture which are programmed in the current scene.

#### Fixture groups

Toggle Group View - Toggles the fixture group view and off. Fixture groups 1-20 - Selects user defined fixture groups 1-20. Note that the groups must be defined first using the fixture group view and .

#### Offline Visualizer

**Toggle Offline Visualizer** - Toggles the <u>Offline Visualizer</u><sup>2284</sup> enabled/disabled state. Note that when disabled, the Offline Visualizer does not close down, but just minimize and deactivate. User Camera 1-8 - Hotkeys for user defined cameras in the <u>Offline Visualizer</u><sup>284</sup>. Cameras 1-8 are selected in the order they appear in the list on the Visualizer tool bar.

#### Emulate 2532

2532 Emulate Latch, 2532 Emulate Flash, 2532 Emulate User Key - Emulates the functions of 2532 keys. See emulating the 2532 231.

Release Flash - Releases the flash sequence. See <u>emulating the 2532</u> 231. 2532 Next page, 2532 Previous page - Selects next or previous page respectively.

#### DMX in

DMXin Functions Disable - Disables DMX in functions 231. DMXin Functions Enable - Enables DMX in functions 231. DMXin Functions Toggle - Toggles DMX in functions 231 Enable/Disable.

See also hotkeys 203

## **18 External control**

### **18.1** Fingers for LightJockey

#### **18.1.1 Introduction to Fingers**

Fingers for LightJockey is a dedicated LightJockey hardware front-end which includes buttons, faders and jog wheels for hands-on control of several of LightJockey's functions. Fingers connects through

RS-232 and requires a free serial port (COM1 - COM4). For PCs without serial port use a standard USB to RS-232 converter may be used.



Fingers front panel

LightJockey contains a <u>virtual model of Fingers</u> that mimics the function of the physical Fingers. Although the virtual model is not a substitute for the real one, with a few restrictions, it may be used to setup and operate LightJockey as if the physical unit was connected.

See also Fingers setup <sup>[21]</sup>, Fingers controls overview <sup>[21]</sup>, configuring and using the function buttons <sup>[21]</sup>, configuring and using the scroll buttons <sup>[21]</sup>, configuring and using the cue slot button functions <sup>[21]</sup>, configuring and using fader and bump functions <sup>[22]</sup>, configuring and using jog-wheel functions <sup>[22]</sup>, Fingers status panel <sup>[21]</sup>, virtual Fingers <sup>[22]</sup>

### 18.1.2 Fingers setup

Open Fingers setup dialog via **Fingers** on the main menu or via the setup icon: [] on the <u>Fingers status panel</u> or <u>virtual Fingers</u> 22 ]. It is necessary to configure LightJockey to use Fingers before using any of the functions (initial setup via **Fingers** on main).

Preferences Virtual Fingers								
COM Port: COM	16 💌							
	COM Port: COM							

Fingers hardware setup

#### RS-232 (COM) Port

Disable - all fingers functionality is disabled Virtual Mode - this enables the virtual Fingers. Serial connection (RS-232) - connect to physical Fingers. Select the serial port (COM1 - COM 9) in the drop down box to the right.

#### **Preferences tab**



Fingers preferences

#### Fader flicker threshold value

To avoid value flicker on the faders from the analogue to digital conversion, Fingers implement a filter that requires the value change for the fader to be above a certain threshold value. By default the threshold value is 4, which means that any change in fader value must be at 4 or higher to register. Fader changes to 0 and 255 (full) always registers regardless of threshold value. The threshold value may be lowered to 2 or 3, but be aware that this may cause fader values to flicker on some physical units.

#### [Page] and [Shift] options

Page and shift options refer to how the buttons, faders and jog wheels work in combination with shift and page (A,B,C,D) buttons.

It is possible to expand or restrict the number of possible combinations by enabling shift and page selections for each group of controls.

Enable [Shift] latch - latches the shift state - to release a shift state, press the button a second time (shift is always latched on the virtual Fingers 224)

Enable F1-F10 shift select - enables the F1 to F10 buttons to be configured according to shift state. Enable Fader/slot shift select - enables the faders and slot buttons to be configured according to shift state

Enable Fader/slot page select - enables the faders and slot buttons to be configured according to page selection

Enable jog-wheel shift select - enables the jog-wheels to be configured according to shift state Enable jog-wheel page select - enables the jog wheels to be configured according to page selection Enable scroll button shift select - enables the scroll buttons to be configured according to shift state Enable scroll button page select - enables the scroll buttons to be configured according to page selection

Set Default - sets the default shift/page selection options. By default, only fader/slot page select and scroll button shift select are enabled.

For more information on the effect of shift and page selection see fingers controls overview 213

Fingers Status Display - settings relates to the status panel 218

Large status panel - uses the large status panel 216

Stay on top - forces the status panel to stay on top of other windows Show on startup - automatically shows the status panel at startup

#### **Other Settings**

Disable Multi Select mode - disables <u>multi select mode</u><sup>[224]</sup>. Disable Slot LED feedback - disables <u>cue slot state feedback on LEDs</u><sup>[219]</sup> Function selects cue slot - when enabled, functions that relate to a specific cue slot are reflected by selecting (high-lighting) the corresponding cue slot when the function is activated. If the option is disabled functions will not select the corresponding cue slot(s).

#### **Virtual Fingers tab**

Fingers Setup						
igers						
Hot zone color (click)						
0	(Click)	Skin default				
El Frak						
Enab	ie mouse w	n sees				
	igers	Hot zone				

Virtual Fingers settings

See also virtual Fingers 224

Skin File - click the folder icon to select a different skin for Virtual Fingers (note in case of update by download, extra skins may not be available).

Hot zone color - click the left button to select a custom color for mouse wheel hot-zones. Select **Skin** default to use the default color for the skin in use.

Stay on top - forces Virtual Fingers to remain on top of other forms.

Show fader values as hints - displays a faders values as a hint when it is moved.

Show jog -wheel values as hints - displays a jog-wheels value change as a hint when it is moved.

Enable mouse wheel - enables mouse wheel control of faders and jog-wheels

Show mouse wheel hot zone - displays a 'hot' rectangle when the cursor is within range of a fader or jog-wheel for mouse wheel control.

See also introduction to Fingers 210

#### 18.1.3 Fingers controls overview

The following sections gives a description of each of Finger's control sections. **The Mode Buttons** 



The mode buttons may be used to switch Fingers into different modes of operation. Currently only mode 1 is available while modes 2 and 3 are non-functional and reserved for future expansions.

#### **The Shift Buttons**



The shift buttons may be used to alter the function of buttons, faders and Jog-wheels. The 3 buttons allows for 4 different shift states: no shift, shift 1, shift 2 and shift 3. By default, the buttons works like the shift key on a PC keyboard, in the sense that the shift state is cleared to 'no shift state' as the button is released. The shift buttons may be configured as 'latch' buttons so the state is not altered when the button is released (causing the shift buttons to toggle state and act like the PC keyboard caps lock). To release a latched shift, press the shift button a second time. On virtual Fingers <sup>[224]</sup>

shift buttons are treated as in latch mode.



Page buttons may be used to select 4 different pages of functions. Most control groups (faders, jog wheels, button groups) may be configured with different functions according to the selected page. The current selected page is indicated by the page button LED. The page buttons are also used to invoke multi-select mode (see below)

#### Shift state and page selection, notes

Most Fingers controls may be <u>setup</u> 211 to contain different functions according to shift state (shift buttons) and page selection (buttons A-D).

In order to use or configure the functions in the different shift states and on different pages, use the corresponding shift or page button to switch Fingers into the relevant shift state or to the relevant page. Although enabling shift state and page selection for the various controls will greatly expand the number of possible functions it also means that functions may be spread over a large number of shift/page combinations, thus requiring multiple Fingers button presses to activate.

#### The B/O button and GM (Grand Master)



The B/O button and GM fader both have fixed functions and are always controlling LightJockey's <u>blackout</u> [195] state and <u>master intensity</u> [195] level respectively.

Note both blackout state and Master intensity level may still be manipulated from LightJockey, even if Fingers is attached. The Blackout button LED reflects the following intensity states: Off - Master intensity at full

Blinking - Master intensity at less than full (Master intensity set at less than 100% or master intensity auto fade in/out in action)

On - Blackout

B/O and GM are not affected by shift or page button combinations.

# The 'Square' button

The Square button has two functions. Tap the button to show and hide the <u>fingers status panel</u> [216]. Hold the button for more than 0.5 seconds to deactivate Fingers commands - when in deactivated state, the status panel still shows relevant feedback (fader positions or slot selections) but any commands sent from Fingers are ignored by LightJockey. The function of this button is not affected by shift state or page selection.

#### The function buttons (F1-F10)



The function buttons may be used to invoke a large number of LightJockey functions including <u>hotkey functions</u> and various programming elements such as cues or cue lists. The function buttons are always decoded with respect to the current shift state, thus giving access to 40 (4 x 10) different functions - 10 functions for each shift state. The function buttons may also be <u>configured</u> [21] to react on page selection as well as shift state, increasing the number of possible assignable functions to 160 (10 x 4 x 4). If function button page selection is enabled, the <u>status panel</u> [216] will show functions as assigned to each page (each column represents a page selection). Use the shift buttons to switch the shift state in order to access and configure the different 'shift block' of functions.

If function button page selection is disabled the status panel shows functions according to shift state (each column represents a given shift state).

See <u>configuring and using the function buttons</u> [217] for configuration details and <u>hotkey functions</u> [205] for more information on the individual hotkey functions.

#### The scroll buttons R/S

The scroll buttons may be configured to open and scroll in and select items from various lists (up. down, select). Alternatively the buttons may be configured as scroll in a cue list or go/back/run-stop in a manually driven cue list. The function of the scroll buttons may be configured 211 to depend on page selection and/or shift state allowing for a total of up to 16 different scroll functions. See configuring and using the scroll buttons [218] for more information on the individual selection functions.

#### The cue slot buttons



The block of 3 x 12 buttons are referred to as the cue slot buttons. These buttons are primarily for functions relating to individual sequence slots in the cue control [132]. Each row of buttons may be configured with a function (e.g. sequence trig forward) and each button then affects an individual slot in the cue control (e.g. button number 3 affects cue slot no 3). Slot buttons may be configured to depend on shift state and page selection, resulting in a total of 32 (2 x 4 x 4). See

configuring slot button functions 21 for more information on the individual cue slot functions.



The top row of the cue slot buttons are also used to select slots or faders in multi select mode 224



The block of 12 faders may be configured with several different types of functions ranging from intensity control to statics level control. Individual functions are assigned to all 12 faders as a whole. and each fader then controls one out of several individual sub-functions - e.g. when configuring the faders to statics level new control for static entries 1-12 - each fader controls the level of one static entry (e.g. fader no 4 controls the level of static entry #4). Fader functions may be setup [21] to depend on page selection and shift state allowing for a total of 16 (4 x 4) different functions assignable to the fader block. See configuring and using fader and bump functions 220 for more information on the individual fader functions. See also multi select mode 224.

#### The bump buttons

1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1000	1.00	1000	1000
4	H.	H	1	H	L.	H.	L.	4	1	1	Ŧ
6	L.	e.	Ξ.	E.	e e	6	C.	C.	(W)	<u></u>	Geo

The function of each of the bump button is associated with the function of the function of the fader that the button corresponds with. If for example the fader controls the value of an intensity sun master 19 pressing the bump button will force the level of the sub master to 100%. Note that many of the fader functions have an inverted bump function - if the control level is already at full then activating the bump button will force the level to zero (inverted bump). When a bump button is released, the effect being bumped will return to the logical value of the corresponding fader. E.g. if the bump button is pressed with the function at a value of 50% (bump forces the value of the control to 100%), the value of the control will return to 50% when the bump button is released. It is still possible to move the corresponding fader while the bump button is held - this will cause the control to restore to the new

value set by the fader as the bump button is released. If a bump button is held during page and/or shift changes it will still release the function that was assigned to it when pressed. See <u>configuring and using fader and bump functions</u> for more information on the individual fader and bump button functions.

#### The jog wheels

Since jog-wheels have no 'physical position' the 5 jog-wheels may used to affect values of various functions directly without concern for 'activating' the jog wheel first. Turn the wheel clockwise for increasing a functions value, counter-clockwise for decreasing the function value. Most jog-wheel functions implement an acceleration function - the faster the wheel is turned, the more the value is increased or decreased. For small adjustments turn the wheel slowly.

The actual function of the jog-wheels may be <u>configured</u> 211 to depend on page selection and shift states implementing up to 80 (5 x 4 x 4) possible jog-wheel functions. See <u>configuring jog-wheel functions</u> for more information on the individual functions

See also introduction to Fingers 210

#### 18.1.4 Fingers status panel

The Fingers status panel is used to provide on-screen information about Fingers - it is also used when configuring Fingers functions by dragging functions to the status panel.

Open the status panel from the main menu (Fingers -> Status panel) or from Fingers itself by tapping

Image: Non-transmission
Image: Non-tra

the square button **Least**. Tap once to open, one more time to close.

The status panel exists in to versions a small and a large version - the large version requires a horizontal screen resolution of 1024 or higher to be fully visible. Use the <u>Fingers setup</u> and large formats. Both panel versions shows the same type of information, the lager panel however, may contain function longer descriptions (e.g. full hotkey function names or longer cue names).

The top part of the panel shows the functions assigned to the F1-F10 buttons - each column represents the functions of the buttons in different shift states or on different pages (see <u>configuring and using the function buttons</u><sup>[217]</sup>).

The middle part shows functions assigned to  $\underline{jog-wheels}^{[223]}$  including the changes made by turning a jog-wheel. It also shows the current shift state as well as the current mode and page selection. The lower part shows the current physical and logical values and selection state of the <u>faders</u>  $\overline{220}$ . It also, in the lower right hand corner, shows the functions assigned to the current shift/page combination of <u>scroll buttons</u>  $\overline{218}$  and <u>cue slot buttons</u>  $\overline{219}$  and <u>fader pages</u>  $\overline{220}$ .

See also introduction to Fingers 210
### 18.1.5 Configuring and using the function buttons

# Function buttons, shift state and page buttonsF1F2F3F4F5F6F7F8F9F10

The function buttons are always affected by the current shift state - this means that each of the buttons may be configured with 4 different functions - the function invoked by the button depends on the shift state. Hint: To make sure a button always has the same function regardless of shift state simply configure the same function for all shift states. Function buttons may also be <u>setup</u> at to depend on page selection (using page buttons A-D) - in this case each button has 16 possible functions (4 for each shift state x 4 for each page).

Finders	and the second secon		and the second	
n	n	11	n .	
F2	F2	F2	F2	
13	F3	13	F3	
54	F4	F4	F4	
F5	F5	F5	FS	
F6	FG	FG	FG	
17	F7	17	17	
rs	F 8	F8	F8	
F9	F9	F9	FB	
F10	F10	F10	F 10	

Fingers status panel, function button columns

The status panel 216 always shows 4 columns with functions buttons - if function button page selection is not enabled, the 4 columns shows the allocated functions according to each of the 4 shift states. If page selection is enabled, the columns show the functions assigned for pages A-D respectively. Change the shift state to view, use and configure functions for the other shift states - the status panel automatically change the contents of the function button columns to reflect the functions assigned to the function buttons for the selected shift state.

Firspen		and the second secon	💷 in the second s
F1 Fade Out 1 Sec	F1 Fade In 1 Sec	D HIP LIVER	FI HIP 11 Bung
F2 Fade Out 2 Sec	F2 Fode In 2 See	F2 HTP 2 lunp	F2 HTP 12 Burst
Faile Out 3 Sec	f3 Fede In 3 Sec	13 HTP 3 See	F3 HTP 1 Flesh
F4 Fade Out 4 Sec	F4 Fode In 4 Sec	F4 HTP 4 Ihmo	F4 HTP 2 flash
F5 Fade Out 5 Sec	FS Fade In 5 Sec	FS_HTP 5 Burg	rs Hitranian
F6 Fade Dut 6 Sec	F6 Fade In 6 Sec	F6 HTP 6 Burg	FS HTP 4 Flash
F7 Fade Out 7 Sec	F7 Fade In 7 Sec	F7 HTP 7 Burg	F7 HTP S Rudy
F8 Fade Out 8 Sec	Fit Fade In 8 Sec	F8 HTP 8 Itump	FB HTP 6 Flain
F3 Fade Dat 5 Sec	F9 Fade In 9 Sec	FS H1P 9 Evep	FS THIP / Hach
F10 Fade Out 10 Sec	F10 Fade In 10 Sec	F10H1P10Bwmp	FIG HTP B Flash

*Fingers status panel, function button columns - shift state or page selection highlight (shift 1 or page B)* Note that column representing the current active set of functions will highlight the functions using a colored background to make it easier to identify which functions are currently active.

#### Color codes

Fingers	
F1 Close Window	F1 Close Window
F2 Sequence	F2 Sequence
F3 Cue	F3 Cue
F4 BG-Cue	F4 BG-Cue
F5 Cuelist	F5 Cuelist
F6	F6
F7	F7
F8	F8
F9	F9
F10	F10

For quick identification of the type of function assigned to the function button, the different types of functions are color-coded:

Hotkey functions are displayed with a white color Sequences are displayed with an orange color Cues are displayed with a yellow color Background cues are displayed in magenta color Cue lists are displayed in cyan color Assigning a hotkey function: on the <u>status panel</u> [216], right click any of the fields representing the function buttons and select show function list from the popup menu. Then drag the function from the function list to the field representing the button. See <u>hotkey functions</u> [205] for more details on the individual functions.

Note that the small size status panel may display a short form of hotkey function names in order to fit the smaller layout of the small status panel - the large size status panel shows the regular hotkey function name.

Sequence, cue, background cue or cue list: To assign an existing program element to a button, drag the element from the corresponding list off (for example the <u>list of cues</u> [137]) to the field representing the button. Alternatively, right-click the field and select "Assign current <element>" to assign an already active (loaded) element to the button.

Hint: to configure a button with a <u>generic macro</u> [153], create a transparent cue containing only the macro and assign the cue to the button.

Hint: To see the number and full name of a program element (e.g. a sequence), make sure the status panel has Windows focus - then let the mouse cursor hover over the text field for a short while to see the full information being displayed as hint.

Pressing a button containing a hotkey function activates the function. Pressing a button containing a sequence will cause the sequence to flash in the cue control. Pressing a button containing a cue will load the cue Pressing a button containing a background cue will load the background cue Pressing a button containing a cue list will load (but not start) the cue list

Clearing functions: to clear a function, right-click the field representing the button. Select **Clear Function** to clear the function assigned to the button.

Select **Clear all** - to clear all assigned functions for all function buttons (including any shift and page combinations).

See also introduction to Fingers 210

#### 18.1.6 Configuring and using the scroll buttons

# ▲ ▼ R/S

The 3 scroll buttons are typically used scroll in and select items from various lists. The functions for the scroll buttons configures the specific function of all 3 buttons at once (e.g. with previous, next and select functions) - it is not possible to configure the 3 buttons individually.

#### Configuring shift state and page selection for scroll buttons

The scroll buttons may be <u>configured</u><sup>[21</sup>] to change their function according to shift state and/or page selection - thus giving access to assign up to 16 different scroll functions.



Status panel<sup>216</sup> showing the current scroll button functions

Assigning a function - on the status panel, right-click either of the 3 text fields representing one of the scroll buttons, then select show function-list from the popup. Drag the desired function from the list to either of the text fields representing the scroll button functions.

Clearing functions - to clear a function, right-click any of the text fields representing the scroll buttons - then select **Clear Function**.

Select **Clear all** - to clear all assigned functions for all scroll buttons (including any shift and page combinations).

#### Available scroll functions

List of selections (Up/Down scrolls list up and down, R/S loads cue). Select Cue (Global) - scrolls and selects from the <u>global list of cues</u> [137] Select Cue (Page) - performs the same actions as select cue (global) above, except that it scrolls in and selects from the <u>list of cues</u> [137] page view. Hint: check *Automatic page change* in the pages preferences menu on the list of cues dialog to automatically change pages when scrolling. Select Sequence - scrolls in and selects from the <u>list of sequences</u> [127] Select Cuelist - scrolls in and selects from the <u>list of cue lists</u> [176] Select BGCue - scrolls in and selects from the <u>list of background cues</u> [168] Select Macro - scrolls in and selects from the <u>list of generic DMX macros</u> [168] The above functions all automatically open and make the relevant list visible if it is closed. Active Select - scrolls in any of the lists mentioned above - in order to work one of the lists must have windows focus (be active)

#### Cue list functions (in main cue list window)

Cuelist (Manual) - used to run a manual <u>cue list</u> 169. **Up** = back, **Down** = Go, **R/S** = start / Stop Cuelist (Edit) - used to scroll in the cue list in edit mode **Up** = back, **Down** = Go, **R/S** = start at current line/stop

See also introduction to Fingers 210

### 18.1.7 Configuring and using the cue slot button functions

The cue slot buttons are used for functions affecting individual sequences in the <u>cue control</u>  $13^{2}$ . To manipulate more than one cue slot at a time with a single button, invoke Fingers <u>multi select mode</u>  $22^{4}$ .

Ψ	LZ L	L)	ų.	LS I	ų.	ų	LÊN	LU	ЦШ	υIJ	Ug.J
4	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

#### Configuring shift state and page button selection for cue slot buttons.

The functions of the cue slot buttons may be <u>setup</u>  $|21^{\frac{1}{1}}|$  to change their function according to shift state and/or page selection - thus giving access to assign up to 16 different sets of cue slot button functions. Note that shift and page selection for cue slot buttons are the same as the shift and page selection for faders  $22^{\frac{1}{2}}$ .

Slot On/Off
 Slot Trig Def
 Slot Trig Rnd

Status panel<sup>21</sup> showing the current cue slot button functions.

Assigning a function: on the status panel, right-click the text field representing the cue slot buttons, then select show function-list from the popup. Drag and drop the desired function from the list to the text field.

Clearing functions: to clear a function, right-click any of the text fields representing the scroll buttons - then select **Clear Function**.

Select **Clear all** - to clear all assigned functions for the cue slot buttons (including any shift and page combinations).

#### Available cue slot functions

Slot On/Off - toggles the sequence in the cue slot on and off Slot on flash - enables the sequence in the slot as long as the button is held down Slot On Solo - enables sequence in the corresponding cue slot and disables all other slots Slot OnSolo Flash - enables sequence in the corresponding cue slot and disables all other slots for as long as one or more flash buttons are held down. Slot Clear - clears the sequence in the cue slot Slot Stop - stops the sequence in the cue slot

Slot Start - starts the sequence in the cue slot

Slot Start/Stop - toggles start stop for the sequence in the cue slot

Slot Trig Def - trigs the sequence in the cue slot with it's default loop options (see sequence slot loop options [145])

Slot Trig Fwd - trigs the sequence in the cue slot in a forwards direction

Slot Trig Rev - trigs the sequence in the cue slot in a backwards direction

Slot Trig Rnd - trigs the sequence in the cue slot to a random scene

Slot Trig Bounce - trigs the sequence in the cue slot in a bounce fashion (see sequence slot loop options [145])

Slot Auto Trig - switches the sequence in the slot into auto trig mode

Slot Audio Trig - switches the sequence in the slot into audio trig mode

Slot Manual Trig - switches the sequence in the slot into manual trig mode

Slot Trig Type - changes the trig type of the sequence in slot between auto, audio and manual trig mode

Slot On/Off (Sync), Slot Start/Stop (Sync), Slot Trig Type (Sync) - these functions work the same as above, except that in <u>multi-select mode</u> they synchronize the effect for all selected slots, e.g. all selected slots are switched on or off, rather than toggled individually.

#### Cue slot state LED feedback

If the top row of buttons is configured with the Slot On/Off function, the LEDs reflects the state of the cue-slot the in following way:

Off : slot is empty (or sequence being edited)

blinking : slot contains sequence but is off

On : slot contains sequence and is on

Slot state LED feedback may be disabled in the setup dialog 21

See also introduction to Fingers 210

#### 18.1.8 Configuring and using fader and bump functions



#### **Using faders**

#### Fader values - physical and logical values

As the faders may be configured, via page and shift buttons, to control different functions, the physical location of the fader may not always correspond with the value of the function controlled - this is typically the situation when using page or shift buttons to change the function of the faders or at startup where faders may be located randomly while the function value is determined by startup conditions. Also some functions controllable from Fingers may still be manipulated using the usual LightJockey controls so even if the intensity sub groups are controlled by faders, sub group levels can still be altered from the master intensity control [195].

To get around the problem with faders not positioned at the same value as the function value, LightJockey implements a 'value crossing' method to activate a fader, which means that an inactive fader must physically cross from one side of the value to the other before it is activated. The method is best illustrated using the status panel where the fader and function values are both illustrated using different colors for different states.



Each of the 12 faders is represented on the status panel, showing the value of each of the 4 functions allocated to pages A to D. The value of the function assigned to the current selected page shown in as highlighted bars, in the example above, as yellow and green bars, while the functions assigned to the other pages are shown as cyan bars. The physical value of the fader is always represented as a white horizontal bar as well as a white numerical value shown just below the value bars. The logical value of the function controlled by the fader is shown as a color-coded bar with the numerical value (also color coded) as the second value below the fader value bars.

In the example above faders 1 and 2 have a physical value that is different from the value of the function they control (color code = yellow) while fader 3 is active (color code = green). Moving fader 3 will affect the function immediately while faders 1 and 2 must be moved to or across the function value (fader logical value) in order to activate. In the example fader 1 must be moved down to 147 or below to activate while fader 2 must be moved up to 111 or above.

Inactive faders activate as soon as their physical value reaches or crosses the logical value (which is a representation of the function it controls).

#### Status panel color codes



On the status panel 216, different color codes are used for the bar and numerical value representing the fader:

Cyan - function on another page. Green - fader is active Yellow - fader is inactive (needs to reach or cross value to activate) Orange - Bump button held Red - Fingers deactivated (see 'square' button above).

#### Fine-tuning fader values

To avoid any flicker caused by the analogue to digital conversion of the fader values, Fingers implements a minimum change threshold value that must be exceeded before the change is accepted - any changes below that threshold is ignored, except when the new value is 0 or full (255) - these two values are always accepted. By default the threshold value is set to 4 (see <u>Fingers setup</u><sup>[21†]</sup>) which means that a change in value must be 4 or greater to register. Most functions do not really require very fine adjustments but to fine-tune the value of a fader use the function <u>fader relative</u><sup>[223]</sup> assigned to one of the jog-wheels (see below) to adjust the logical fader value and hence the assigned function value.

#### Selecting faders for relative adjustment without actually the values

In rare circumstances it may be desirable not to actually move a fader in order to activate it or select it for <u>relative adjustment</u> by jog-wheel - since a moving the fader may have an undesired effect - e.g. the need to adjust a fader value from 0 to exactly 1. In this case, hold down the square button for more

than 0.5 seconds to deactivate fingers commands, then move the fader to select it and finally release the square button.

#### Forcing fader activation from a specific 'direction'

The above mentioned method is also useful to force an activation from a specific direction - for example when moving multiple faders activating at different values such as 'catching' a number of statics levels from' below' in one fluid motion. In this case the physical value of all relevant faders needs to be brought below the logical value, which normally may cause the fader to activate, but without actually activating the fader. To avoid activating any faders, press and hold the square button for more than 0.5 seconds. Then, while holding the square button, pull all faders below their logical values - and then finally release the square button.

#### **Configuring fader functions**

Fader functions are configured as single functions that is assigned to all 12 faders at once (fader page functions) - each fader then controls an individual sub-function (e.g. when using faders to control static levels are each fader controls the level of a single static entry. The fader page function also determines the function of the bump button. By default Fingers can hold a separate function for each of the 4 pages (buttons A-D). This capacity may be expanded by configuring and for faders are identical state selection for faders a well. Note that shift state and page selection settings for faders are identical to the settings for cue slot buttons are identical.

A	Sequence Time
В	Statics 1-12 Level
С	Statics 13-20 Level
D	HTP Group 1-12

Status panel showing fader page functions (active page selection is highlighted)

Assigning a function to a fader page: on the status panel, right-click the text field representing the fader page, then select show function-list from the popup. Drag and drop the desired function from the list to the text field.

Clearing functions: to clear a function, right-click any of the text fields representing the fader page - then select **Clear Function**.

Select **Clear all** - to clear all assigned functions for the cue slot buttons (including any shift and page combinations).

#### Available fader page functions

Sequence Intensity - see sequence intensities 150. Each fader controls the intensity component of the individual sequences in the cue (slots 1-12 respectively) - for fixtures that do not implement intensity control LightJockey will attempt to black out the fixture when the intensity level is set to 0. Note - sequence intensity state is not reset when a new cue is loaded. Bump button: holding the bump

button will force the intensity to full (100%). If the intensity level is already at full it will be forced to 0. Seq. Intensity/On-Off - this function controls the sequence intensity the same way as Sequence Intensity (see above) does, but it also automatically switches the sequence off if the intensity level is 0 and automatically switches the sequence on if the intensity level is > 0.

Sequence Time, Sequence Time (Inv) - see <u>cue time control</u> [147]. Each fader controls the time scale for individual sequences in the cue (slots 1-12 respectively). Sequence Time (Inv) inverts the scaling direction (fast at max fader value).

Note, cue times are reset when a new cue is loaded. Hint: To control the cue time rather than individual sequence times, assign the **cue time** function to one of the <u>jog-wheels</u> 23. Bump button: pressing the bump button forces the time scale to 100% (default)

Statics 1-12 Level, Statics 13-20 Level - see statics control [189]. Each fader controls the level of a static entry (entries 1-12 or 13-20 respectively). Hint: When using Fingers to control statics levels, check level auto enable and disable options in the statics control preferences to automatically enable static entries when the level is set above 0% and automatically disable the entry when the level is set to 0%. Bump button: holding the bump button will force the level to full (100%). If the level is already at full it will be forced to 0.

Intensity Group - see <u>master intensity control</u> [195]. Each fader (only faders 1-8) controls an individual

intensity sub master. Bump button: holding the bump button will force the sub master to full (100%). If the level is already at full it will be forced to 0.

HTP Group 1-12, HTP Group 13-24 - see <u>HTP groups</u><sup>203</sup>. Each fader controls a single HTP group. Bump button: holding the bump button will force the HTP group level to full (100%). If the level is already at full it will be forced to 0.

Sequence DMX Values - The value of each fader acts as a scaling factor for the DMX values generated by each of the 12 sequences in the cue. The DMX value generated by the sequence will be scaled by the fader value (scaling by 0-100%). Note, the sequence DMX value scaling factor is not reset when a new cue is loaded. Bump button: holding the bump button will force the scaling to 100%. If already at 100% scaling value will be forced to 0.

DMX in (1-12), (13-24), (25-36),(37-48) - see DMX in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ ). Use this function to emulate DMX in function from Fingers - when in use the values of the 12 faders are emulating the values of DMX input channel 1-12, 13-24, 25-36 and 37-48 respectively. Hint : Using the global patch dialog a single fader may be patched directly to the DMX output value of one or more DMX channels. Set the **DMX > 0** option (global patch) for each patched channel to automatically 'deactivate' the fader when set to 0%. Bump button: holding the bump button will force the DMX in value to full (100%). If the value is already at full it will be forced to 0.

See also introduction to Fingers 210

### 18.1.9 Configuring and using jog-wheel functions

Turn the wheel clockwise for increasing a functions value, counter-clockwise for decreasing the function value. Most jog-wheel functions implement an automatic acceleration function - the faster the wheel is turned, the more the value is increased or decreased. For small adjustments turn the wheel slowly. The actual value that the jog-wheel changes the function with is displayed in on the status panel<sup>216</sup> where the function of the jog-wheel is highlighted briefly together with the function value change.

#### Configuring shift state and page selection for jog-buttons

The jog-wheels may be <u>configured</u> at to change their function according to shift state and/or page selection - thus giving access to assign up to 16 different scroll functions.

#### **Function value display**

Depending on jog-wheel function, the <u>status display</u> will show either a relative value change or an absolute function value.

Relative changes are displayed as [*nn*] *Function*, where nn is the relative value change, e.g. [-47] *Pan MSB*.

Absolute values are shown as *Function (nn)*, where nn is the absolute function value, eg: *Smoke Ctrl, Level (55%)* 

#### Jog wheel functions

Cue Time - see <u>cue time control</u> 147. Use this function to adjust the overall cue time in the cue time control.

P/T Macro, Ampl., P/T Macro, Speed - see <u>cue macro control</u> [148]. Use these functions to adjust the pan/tilt macro amplitude and speed settings. The inverted functions (inv) inverts the wheel direction. Audio, Gain and Min TrglvI (trig level) - see <u>audio analyzer</u> [192]. Use these functions to adjust gain and minimum trig level threshold for the audio analyzer

If the Audio Analyzer has not been started the status displays [N/A] as value.

Smoke Ctrl, Level, Duration, Cycle, Hazer Ctrl, Level, Fan - see <u>smoke control</u> [122]. Use these functions to adjust the corresponding level settings in the smoke control

Pan MSB, Pan LSB (16-bit), Tilt MSB, Tilt LSB (16-bit) - see <u>position control</u> [98]. Use these functions to adjust pan/tilt settings for fixtures in the current scene. If the current scene does not contain pan/tilt values (fade state is off), the initial pan and tilt values are captured from the current output values. GM Relative - use this function to fine-tune the value of the GM (see using faders [220])

Fader Relative - use this function to fine-tune the values of the active fader (see  $using faders^{220}$ ). The function also works on multiple faders when in <u>multi selection mode</u><sup>220</sup>.

A fader becomes active for jog-wheel adjustment when it is 'touched'. To select which fader to adjust without moving the fader directly (and modify the value), either use <u>multi select mode</u> <sup>[224]</sup> or deactivate fingers commands (hold square button) before moving the fader. In deactivated mode the LEDs on the top row of the cue slot buttons reflects which fader is selected. The fader selection is cleared when changing page or shift state. The active fader is also indicated on the status panel where the fader number will be highlighted in red.



Status panel highlighting active fader

See also introduction to Fingers 210

### 18.1.10 Fingers multi select mode

Press and hold one of the page buttons for more than 0.5 seconds to switch Fingers in to multi selection mode (when using Virtual Fingers, right-click a page button). As soon as multi selection mode is activated the page button LED will start to blink indicating multi-selection mode. In multi select mode, one fader or slot button may, depending on the slot selection, affect more than 'it's own' sub-function or cue slot. Use the select buttons (top row of 12 buttons) to select or deselect individual sub-functions and slots - the selection buttons reflects the selection state using it's built in LED by blinking when sub-function or cue slot is selected - press a button to toggle the selection state. Note that multi-select mode may be disabled from the setup dialog [21]



Use buttons to include or exclude slot from multi selection

Note: the jog-wheel fader relative 23 function also affects all selected faders when in multi-select mode.

See also introduction to Fingers 210

### **18.1.11 Virtual Fingers**

Open Virtual Fingers from Main menu -> Fingers (or assign a hotkey مراجعة).

**Important:** Please note that the current version of Virtual Fingers will not work with touch screens. In order for faders and jog-wheels, a mouse or similar device must be used.

In order to make the Virtual Fingers work with LightJockey make sure to select virtual mode in <u>Fingers setup</u> and <u>Fingers setup</u> dialog - the Virtual Fingers will not work if LightJockey is configured to use Fingers on any of the serial ports (or if fingers is disabled). Note that enabling Fingers in virtual mode causes LightJockey it use extra CPU resources if virtual fingers is used or not. If virtual fingers is not used make sure to disable Fingers in the setup dialog.

The virtual mode of fingers is in most respects a faithful representation of the real fingers. When running Fingers in virtual mode it may be operated almost exactly as a real fingers, except that it is not possible to use more than one control at a time. Also the virtual model takes up space on the desktop, and is best used on dual-monitor systems or systems with quite large video resolutions. Fingers button functions are activated by clicking the corresponding virtual button. Move the virtual faders by click, hold and drag. To rotate a jog wheel, click, hold and then move the mouse up or down to simulate rotation. Faders and jog-wheels may also be moved using a mouse wheel (see <u>setup</u> [211]) On the virtual model, shift buttons are always treated as latch buttons (click once to set, a second time to release)

Use the following methods to overcome some of the other limitations of using the virtual model:

**Right click** the square button to simulate holding the button down (deactivating Fingers) - click a second time to release the hold.

Right click the page buttons to simulate holding a page button for multi selection

If you find the looks of the virtual Fingers is just a bit too plain, use the setup and dialog to select a different skin for the Virtual Fingers.



Alternative skin

See also introduction to Fingers 210

### 18.2 Using the 2532 direct access controller

#### 18.2.1 2532 direct access

The 2532 Direct Keyboard is an add-on device that connects to the PC via a standard RS-232 port. The 2532 offers a good alternative to the standard PC keyboard and mouse when calling up programs and performing various actions. The 2532 does not know anything about the application it is used with (in this case LightJockey), so the actual functions of the 2532 needs to be configured within LightJockey. By connecting a suitable printer to the PC, the 2532 configuration may be printed and attached to the 2532.

Note : The 2532 must have at least firmware version 3.0 in order to work with LightJockey.

See the 2532 layout [225], configuring the 2532 controller [226], printing the 2532 configuration [231], emulating the 2532 with keyboard and mouse [231]

### 18.2.2 The 2532 layout



The 2532

The keys on the 2532 are divided into two sections. The bank, latch and flash keys forming the 7 x 8 matrix - and the 18 user keys.



The LightJockey 2532 control

#### The matrix Keys

The matrix consists of 7 bank keys and 8 latch and flash keys giving a total of 56 virtual keys on each 2532 page.

Latch keys - the 2532 has 8 latch keys (1-8) placed in a row above the matrix area. The main purpose of the latch keys are to latch programs (cues, cue lists and background cues). The term latch indicates that the program is loaded and executed when the key is pressed. The programs are not 'unloaded' when the key is released. The latch keys may also be used to trig various functions such as fade-out or sequence trig, however if the function itself is a flash function releasing the key will also release the function.

Flash keys - placed below the matrix area the 2532 has 8 flash keys (1-8). The main purpose of the flash keys is to flash sequences on top of the current cue. The sequence is only active for as long as the flash key is held down. The output of the flashed sequence has a higher priority than the output sequences in the cue, so the output of flashed sequences will always be effective compared to the output of the cue. For example, if a sequence is programmed with all fixtures in red, then flashing this sequence on top of a cue with all fixtures in blue will force all fixtures to red since the flashed sequence has highest priority.

The flashed sequence never becomes part of the cue, and a multi-scene sequence will always run in a forwards direction with the scene and fade-times 22 programmed into the sequence.

Bank keys - together with the latch and flash keys the 7 bank keys A-G sets up a matrix of 56 "virtual" flash keys for each page.

Each bank key enables another row of latch and flash keys. The 2532 always has an active bank (the LED is on), to select a key in a different bank, press the bank key so it flashes (is pre-selected). The active bank is changed to the pre-selected bank as soon as a latch key is pressed - pressing a flash key selects the flash key in the pre-selected bank, but does not change the active bank.

Pages - the 2532 control may contain up to 18 matrix pages (for a total of 18\*7\*8 = 1008) virtual latch and flash buttons. There are no keys pre-allocated to change page, assign one or more user keys to the task of changing the active 2532 page, or change the active page directly in the control.

User keys - the User keys are usually used to activate functions such as changing the active page or perform 'global' functions such as a activating a fade-in or fade-out. The function of user keys does not change with the active 2532 page (as the matrix keys does), so the 18 function assigned to the user keys are always instantly available. The user keys can only perform 'functions' they cannot be used to execute programs.

Blackout Button - the Blackout button on the 2532 may be used to toggle blackout/restore. However since communication from the 2532 to the PC is one-way, the LED indicating Blackout may be out of sync with the LightJockey blackout status if the blackout is enabled or canceled directly in LightJockey.

See also configuring the 2532 controller 226

### 18.2.3 Configuring the 2532 controller

The 2532 control is toggled on and off by clicking the **field** icon on the <u>cue list tool bar</u> **5**. The 2532

control may be displayed in one of two modes, a large size control and a smaller version that can be used to monitor the status of the 2532 connection. Check **Preferences** -> **Show Large Control** in the menu to toggle between the large and small control sizes. The large size control may be resized to better show the contents of the various buttons. The preferences menu also contains several options to manipulate the text used for the virtual buttons.

2532 Direc	t Acce	88			×
<u>Options</u>	View	Prefe	sences	Help	) (
Online 🔾	B/0	•	Record	•	Page 01
Latch 00	04 mag	gnenta	3		
Flash 00	04 wild	1?			

The 2532 control (small)

The online status LED indicates if the 2532 is currently online, the B/O LED indicates if blackout is enabled via the Black-out key on the 2532. The Record LED shows if any record mode (see later) is currently enabled. The page indicator shows which page is currently active, and the sequence and cue values show latched cues and flashed sequence enabled via the 2532. The functions of the 2532 are identical no matter what mode the control is displayed in.

To configure the function of the 2532 keys, switch the control into large size.

#### **Configuring the User keys**

Sequenc Cu	ж м	1 2532 Function List
ι	lser keys	Functions
Page 1	Fade Out 1 Sec	User Key only functions Record Cue
Page 2	Fade In 1 Sec	Record Sequence Record Cuelist
Page 3	Fade Out 5 Sec	Record BG-Cue 2532 Pages
Page 4	Fade In 5 Sec	Page 1 Page 2
Page 5	Black Out	Page 3 Page 4 Page 5
Page 6	Restore	Page 6 Page 7
Page 7	Record Cue	Page 8 Page 9
Page 8	2532 Control	Page 10 Page 11
Page 9	*Smoke Button	Page 12 Page 13
		Page 14

User key configuration

The 2532 user keys may only be used to activate functions (not programs). To configure, open the list with functions by clicking **Function-List** in the menu. To assign a function to a user key, drag the function from the list to the user key on the control. The list contains 3 types of functions, the "User key only functions" at the top of the list, 2532 page selection and the regular <u>hotkey functions</u> and the matrix keys. 2532 page and hotkey functions may also be assigned to the matrix keys, but do be aware that assigning 2532 page functions to matrix keys can be very confusing for the inexperienced operator - especially if transparent page mode is enabled (see below).

To clear one or more of the user keys, select the keys (hold the mouse button and drag to select multiple buttons), right-click and select **Clear Key(s)**.

#### **Configuring the Matrix keys**

	P1	P2   1	P3	P4	P5	P6	P7	P8	
		1		2			3		
A	Blue (	Circles	Pin	k Circles					
в	Bump	y Fire 1	Ro	tating wh	nites				
С	Go-Go	o CueList	Ma	icro On					
D	The S	ilow List	Ma	icro Off		1			
E	Barligi	hts 1	Ma	icro Fade	e In				
F	BarLig	ghts 2	Ma	icro Fade	e Out				
G	Strobe	e White Fas	t Str	obe Whi	te Med	Strobe V	/hite Slow		

Matrix keys

The virtual key in the configuration dialog displays both latch and flash values of the individual latch and flash matrix keys on the 2532.

#### The Latch Keys

The latch matrix keys may be used to launch programs (cues, cue lists and background cues) as well as changing page and activating <u>hotkey</u><sup>203</sup> functions.

2532 Color Sch	eme	×
	Text Backgr.	
Functions		
Sequences		
Cues		
Cuelists		
BG Cues		

Color scheme

The different types of functions (cues, cue lists, background cues and hotkey functions) may be color coded in order to differentiate them better - to set the color codes for the text or background select **Preferences** -> **Font Properties** -> **Color Scheme** to modify the color scheme.

#### Assigning functions to latch keys

Assigning Cues - to assign a cue to a latch key, open the <u>list of cues</u> and drag the cue from the list to the appropriate key. Alternatively, right-click the virtual key and select **set latch** -> **current cue** to set the key to latch the current active cue (if any, otherwise the option is grayed out).

Assigning Cue Lists - to assign a cue to a latch key, open the <u>list of cue lists</u> and drag the cue list from the list to the appropriate key. Alternatively, right-click the virtual key and select **set latch** -> **current cue list** to set the key to latch the current active cue list (if any, otherwise the option is grayed out).

Assigning background cues - to assign a background cue to a latch key, open the

<u>list of background cues</u> and drag the cue list from the list to the appropriate key. Alternatively, rightclick the virtual key and select **set latch** -> **current background cue** to set the key to latch the current active background cue (if any, otherwise the option is grayed out).

Assigning Hotkey functions - the hotkey functions are assigned to the latch keys in the same way as they are assigned to the user keys. Open the list with functions by selecting **Function-List** from the menu and drag the function from the list to the user key on the control. Note that "User Key only functions" cannot be assigned to the matrix keys. See <u>hotkey functions</u> for details on individual hotkey functions.

#### **The Flash Keys**

Assigning Sequences - the flash keys may be used to flash a sequence. To assign a sequence to a flash key open the list of sequences  $12^{2}$  and drag the sequence from the list to the appropriate key. Alternatively, right-click the virtual key and select **set flash** -> **current sequence** to set the key to flash the current sequence (if any, otherwise the option is grayed out).

#### Using the record function

As an alternative to selecting programs from a list, the record functions can be used to 'record' the currently active program onto the matrix keys. The record function may enabled by clicking the relevant button on the control (or assign the function to a user key). When the record function is enabled the next key press on the 2532 will 'record' the active program (if any) onto the 2532 key. Note that record cue, record cue list and record background cue options are mutually exclusive.

#### **Clearing matrix keys**

To clear one or more matrix keys, select the keys (hold the mouse button and drag to select multiple buttons), right-click and select the **Clear** sub menu. Select **Clear Latch Values** or **Clear Flash Values** to clear latch or flash values only. Select **Clear Latch & Flash Values** to clear both at the same time.

#### **Customizing text**

Often the text for the user, latch and flash functions does not fit completely into the area representing the button; it may be necessary to customize the text. To do this, right-click the button and select **Customize Text** - make sure that only one button is selected before the right-click, otherwise the option to customize text will be disabled. For the matrix buttons it is possible to customize both the latch and flash text. Note that the custom text is cleared whenever a new program or function is assigned.

#### **Cut & paste functions**

It is possible to replace or move matrix button functions by using simple copy/cut and paste operations that works much like standard Windows cut & paste. To move button assignments, highlight one or more buttons (click and hold the mouse button, then drag the cursor to include more buttons), right click and select cut/copy. Select the target area, right-click and select paste to paste both latch and flash values or paste latch or flash values only.

#### **Customizing Page Tabs**

The page tab names may be edited for better identification. To edit the tab names, select **Preferences** ->**Tab Options** -> **Name Page Tabs** from the 2532 control main menu. To modify the size of the tabs select **Preferences** -> **Tab Options** -> **Set Tab Size**. To modify background and text colors select **Preferences** -> **Tab Options** -> **Tab Colors**.

#### Transparent page mode

The transparent page mode is enabled or disabled from the preferences menu. When in transparent page mode, LightJockey will try to find an alternative latch or flash value when ever a key without a latch or flash value is pressed. LightJockey will search through all 18 pages using the same bank and latch or flash key values for a page containing a value. If a page is found to contain a value, the latch or flash value is taken from that page. This mode is especially useful to fix the "2532 not working problem" when operators by mistake changes the active page to a page containing no values, and then gets no response on key presses.

#### Files Menu

New 2532 Setup - default all contents of the 2532 control.

Load 2532 Setup - Loads a previously saved 2532 setup.

Save 2532 Setup - Saves the current 2532 setup to a separate file.

Import Old-Style Setup - Use this option to import setups made with previous versions of LightJockey. Use the file type selector at the bottom of the file dialog to select between the previous default setup (Select *Old style setup*, then select the 2532.cfg file) or any previously saved setups (Select *Saved 2532 Files - Old Format*, then select any of the .D25 files). Imported setups are automatically converted to the new setup format.

#### The Options Menu

Clear All Pages - Clears the contents of all the matrix pages Print Layout - Sends the 2532 layout (user keys and matrix pages to the printer) - see Printing the 2532 configuration 231

#### The Preferences Menu

Show Control at Startup - If enabled the 2532 control is automatically shown when LightJockey starts up.

Show Large Control - Toggles between large and small control format.

Hide Status Panel on large control - Hides the top status panel when the control is in 'large' format, leaving more space for the user and matrix buttons. Emulate With Mouse - See Emulating the 2532 [23]

Enable Transparent Pages - Enable or disable transparent page mode Synchronize 2532 Page Selection - If disabled, changing pages on the 2532 will not automatically change the page tab on the LightJockey 2532 control.

Auto-release Record - If enabled the record function will be turned off each time a new program is recorded to a 2532 button.

Font Properties - Select Font. Select the font used to display the entries in the user and matrix buttons. Font Properties - Color Scheme. Setup a color scheme for the various types of entries in the user and matrix keys.

Tab Options - Name page tabs. Select this to edit the names on the page tabs.

Tab Options - Set Tab Size. Select to customize the size of the individual tabs.

Tab Options - Tab Colors. Select to customize background and text colors (check Enabled to use customized colors)

Show user keys - If disabled, the control will not show the contents of the user keys leaving more space for the matrix keys.

Wrap User Key text - When enabled the control will try to fit the complete text for each of the user keys by wrapping the text inside the button area. When disabled, only one line of text is shown pr. button and the text may be cut.

Wrap Matrix text - When enabled the control will try to fit the complete text for each of the matrix keys by wrapping the text inside the button area. When disabled, only one line of text is shown for latch and flash text respectively and the text may be cut. Note that wrapping the text does not guarantee that the text fits into the button.

Always split matrix buttons - Normally text within matrix buttons is only split in an upper and lower part if the button contains both a latch and a flash text. Enable this option to force the button to always split the text into an upper (latch text) and lower (flash text) part.

Matrix button info -Enable. When the matrix button info is enabled the lower part of the 2532 control shows the contents of the selected matrix button in the two panels below the user keys and matrix. If the function is disabled the panels are removed.



Matrix button info - Show at Mouse cursor. Shows info for the matrix button under the mouse cursor. Matrix button info - Show at Mouse cursor. Shows info for the currently selected (highlighted) matrix button.

#### **Function-List**

Calls up the list of functions. Assign the functions to keys by dragging them from the list to the key.

### 18.2.4 Printing the 2532 configuration

To print out the current user key functions and page layouts select **Options -> Print Layout**.



2532 layout print dialog

Select to print out the user keys and page layouts by checking each item in the list. Click **Print** to start printing. If more than one printer is connected to the PC a different printer may be selected from the list at the top of the dialog. To select a particular printer, select **Setup -> Printer**. Note that the printout uses the wrap and split options selected in the preferences menu  $\frac{1}{226}$ .

### 18.2.5 Emulating the 2532

It is possible to emulate the latch and flash functions of the 2532 by using the 2532 Control, mouse clicks and/or keyboard hotkeys.

To setup the control for mouse emulation, Select **Preferences** -> **Emulate with mouse** -> **Enable mouse-click**. When this option is enabled, clicking a virtual key on the 2532 control is identical to pressing the corresponding Latch key on the 2532 controller.

To access the matrix flash functions hold down the [CTRL] key on the keyboard, or click the virtual key using the middle mouse button on a 3-button mouse. The **Preferences** -> **Emulate with mouse** -> **Release flash on Mouse-Up** setting determines if the flash function is released as soon as the mouse button is released. If disabled, the flash can only be released by using the release-flash

keyboard hotkey 2053. Alternatively, use **Mouse Latch/Flash** toggle button in the top right corner to swap the latch/flash function of a mouse click - when pressed (**Flash**) the mouse click will perform a flash function, when depressed (**Latch**) the mouse click will perform a latch function.

Finally, via **Preferences** -> **Emulate with Mouse** select either of the two **Mouseclick autoselect** options. When enabled, a click on a button containing either a flash or latch function (but not both) will automatically select the function - when the button contains both a flash and a latch function the default selection of either flash or latch is indicated by the priority selection in the menu. Holding [CTRL] while clicking will invert the selection priority. These options are mainly handy when most buttons contain only one function (either one latch or one flash function).

To use keyboard hotkeys, assign the needed functions (emulate latch, flash and user keys) to keyboard hotkeys. The emulate latch and flash hotkey functions activates the currently selected (highlighted) matrix button, while the emulate user key function activates the currently highlighted user key. Note that the 2532 control must be open for the hotkey functions to work.

See also 2532 direct access 225

# 18.3 Using DMX in

The ability to receive DMX in depends on the  $\underline{DMX \text{ hardware}}$  used by LightJockey. When a link is configured as DMX-in, all 512 DMX channels are available for DMX-in remote control.

The DMX in capability of LightJockey allows remote control of several functions, such as intensity levels or cues from another DMX source (e.g. another DMX console). Remote control is setup by assigning specific DMX channels from the received DMX signal to pre-defined functions within LightJockey. Some functions such as remote cue control, work by combining the values of several DMX input channels. Received DMX values may also be patched directly to one or more DMX output channels.

When in DMX in mode LightJockey just listens to the DMX like any other DMX fixture, so it is perfectly possible to connect other DMX fixtures to the same DMX link that is used to remote control LightJockey. However, since the cable supplied with LightJockey does not have a DMX through like most DMX fixtures, LightJockey usually goes into the 'end' of the link.

**Note:** to receive DMX input, DMX-in must be enabled in the <u>hardware setup</u>  $|2^2|$  dialog.

#### **Configuring DMX-In functions**

DMX	Chann	els In 512	Update Freq 31 Hz			
Cue 1	N/A	Cue				
Ch#	Value	Translation	Function	-	Available Functions	
001	255	Off/0	ranslation		Cuelist Stop and Clear	
002	000	Off/On	ranslation		Static 01, Latch	
003	070	Sine			Static 02, Latch	
004	020	Sine		- 833	Static 03, Function	
005	000		HTP Group 1		Static 04,	
006	000		HTP Group 2		Static 05, IIST	
007	000	Eunction-	MIP Group 3		Static 06, Latch	
800	000	r uncuon	HTP Group 4	100	Static 07, Latch	
009	00		Binary Cue Value 1	- 23	Static 08, Latch	
010	000		Binary Cue Value 2		Static 09, Latch	
011	000		Binary Cue Value 4		Static 10, Latch	
012	000		Binary Cue Value 8	100	Static 11, Latch	
013	000	Current	Binary Cue Value 16		Static 12, Latch	
014	000	value	Latch Cue	1000	Static 13, Latch	
015	000	Value	Smoke Level	100	Static 14, Latch	
016	000		Smoke Duration		Static 15, Latch	
017	000		Smoke Button		Static 16, Latch	
018	000			-1	Static 17, Latch	-

The DMX in configuration dialog is accessed through the **icon** on the <u>cue list tool bar</u> 56.

DMX-in setup dialog

#### **Monitoring incoming DMX**

The upper part of the setup dialog displays the incoming DMX signal. Number of channels received, DMX refresh rate. The refresh rate most often not important unless very low (such as below 10 Hz). The DMX values currently received may be monitored in the list on the left hand side of the dialog. Note that incoming DMX values may be <u>translated through a value translation table</u> and the dialog. In this case the displayed value is the translated value which is not necessarily the same value as transmitted from the DMX source.

#### Assigning functions to DMX in

To assign a function simply drag the function from the list of DMX functions on the right side to the list on the left side, or highlight both the relevant lines and click **Assign Function**. The leftmost column in the assignment list is the incoming DMX channel number, so to assign the blackout function to incoming DMX channel 10 simply drag the blackout function to the line marked 10 in the assignment list. To clear assignments use the options menu to clear all or specific assignments, or highlight the relevant line(s) and click **Clear Function**.

#### **Disable DMX-in functions**

The hardware option to receive DMX in can only be disabled in the hardware setup dialog. The functions controlled by DMX-in may be disabled by checking **Disable DMX-in functions** in the Options menu (buttons and lists will be grayed out when functions are disabled). Note that disabling functions does not disable DMX in overrides defined in the <u>global patch dialog</u> [201], only the functions configured in the DMX in dialog. DMX in may also be enabled/disabled through hotkeys [203].

#### Patching DMX in to DMX out

Use the <u>global patch dialog</u><sup>201</sup> to patch an incoming DMX channel to one or more DMX output channels. DMX input values may be <u>translated via translation tables</u><sup>236</sup> to translate a full 0-255 value range to one or more specific control values. Use value tables when patching functions that does not take up a full control channel (e.g. to directly override a fixture strobe function that is shared with other functions on the same control channel).

**IMPORTANT**: New assignments and options will **NOT** take effect until the DMX in configuration has been saved.

#### Calling up cues via DMX in

As all LightJockey cues have a unique numbers, it is possible to use DMX values to call up a cue, simply by passing the cue number to LightJockey. The cue number is passed using a 'binary' combination of 'on/off' channels, much like a DIP switch. A single channel acts as a 'latch' command so that cue numbers may be setup without actually latching the cue before the complete number has been setup.

Ch#	Value	Transl	Function	
001	000		Binary Cue Value 1	-
002	000		Binary Cue Value 2	
003	000		Binary Cue Value 4	
004	000		Binary Cue Value 8	
005	000		Binary Cue Value 16	
006	000		Binary Cue Value 32	
007	000		Binary Cue Value 64	
008	000		Binary Cue Value 128	
009	000		Latch Cue	
010	000			

Calling cues via DMX in

The example above assigns 7 DMX channels (from 1 to 7) for the cue numbers (**Binary cue value** 1 to 128) and one for the **Latch Cue** function. With these 7 DMX channels it is possible to call cues with numbers between 1 and 255 (1+2+4+8+16+32+64+128, cue 0 has a special function). To setup a cue number, set the required binary cue value channels to a value above 127 (50%). In the ABOVE example if channels 1,2,7 have values above 128, cue number 1+2+64=67 is selected. The DMX in dialog displays the currently selected cue number, and if there is an existing cue it also displays the cue name. Use the **Latch Cue** channel to latch the cue - the cue will be latched when the channel has a value above 127 (50%) - if the value is below 128, the cue number is be preset but not latched.

**IMPORTANT**: without the **Latch Cue** function it is **NOT** possible to actually load and execute cues via DMX in.

When **Cue Latch** is enabled (value above 127) and a valid cue number is selected, it is not possible to manually load another cue - it will be overwritten by the remote DMX cue. Cues can be manually loaded if **Cue Latch** is not enabled (value below 128) or if an invalid cue number is selected. In the **Preferences - > Cue Latch** menu there is an option that causes cue number 0 clear the current cue. If this option is not enabled, cues can be loaded manually, as long as remote cue #0 is latched.

#### Using cue page functions via DMX in

A number of <u>cue page</u> 14<sup>(h)</sup> functions are available as DMX in commands. These commands are primarily useful for 'sequential' loading of cues where the cue pages may act as a sets of small manually driven cue-lists. A good example would be live performances with cues and pages preprogrammed for each song. The commands may be assigned to one DMX in channel and are

executed when the DMX value for the channel rises from below 127 (50%) to 127 or above (assign bump buttons if they are supported by the console).

Latch Current Cue from Page - Latches the currently selected cue on the page.

Previous/Next Cue Page - selects the previous or next cue page.

Latch Previous/Next Cue from Page - latches the previous or next cue from the cue page. Select Previous/Next Cue from Page - selects but does not latch the previous or next cue from the cue page.

#### Flashing Sequences via DMX-in

Ch#	Value	Transl	Function	
001	000		Flash Seg 0014 All On/home	-
002	000		Flash Seq 0015 All Red	
003	000		Flash Seq 0016 All Yellow	
004	000			
OOE	000			

Flashing a sequence via DMX in

It is possible to use a DMX in channel to flash a specific sequence in the current cue, the function is similar to using the flash buttons of the 2532 direct access[225] controller. To assign a DMX in channel to flash a specific sequence, drag the sequence from the list of sequences 127 to the DMX-in channel assigned functions list on the assigned functions list. The sequence assigned is flashed as soon as the level of the DMX in channel is above 127 (50%) and released when the level is below 128.

#### Latching cues, cue lists and background cues using a single channel.

It is also possible to latch a cue, cue list or background cue via a single DMX-in channel. To assign a cue or cue list to a specific DMX-in channel, drag the cue or cue list from the list of cues [137], list of cue lists [176] or list of background cues [169] to the DMX-in channel.

#### Controlling HTP group levels

<u>HTP group levels</u> |201| may be controlled via DMX in by assigning the **HTP Group (X)** function to a DMX in channel.

#### **Activating Static Entries**

A DMX-in channel may be used to activate a <u>static entry</u> [189], the entry is activated as soon as the level reaches 50%. Note that the static control entry flash and merge/replace modes disregarded when entries are controlled via DMX-in.

#### Static Control Levels

Used to remotely set the level of the individual static entries 189.

#### Sequence On/Off

The DMX in may be used to control the on/off state of each of the sequences in the cue. For this function assign the function **Sequence XX On/Off** to the DMX input channel. Note that the <u>cue control</u> (152) has the capability to enable/disable this function - in order for the cue control to accept remote on/off make sure to enable the *Allow Remote Enable/Disable* in the preferences menu on the cue control as well - also make sure to disable the <u>cue modified warning</u> to avoid the warning when the sequence state has been changed.

#### **Sequence Intensities**

DMX in may be used to override intensity parameters in individual sequences in a cue. See <u>sequence intensities</u> for more details.

#### Remote controlling Master Intensity Levels and Blackout

The <u>master intensity control</u> (1987), featuring a grand master and 8 sub-masters, can be remote controlled via DMX in. Simply assign the relevant function to the appropriate DMX in channel, the **Master Intensity** function will control the grand master, while **Intensity Gr.1** to **Intensity Gr.8** will control the

sub-masters.

When the grand master or any of the sub masters are controlled by DMX in, it is no longer possible to set the value manually with the mouse - even if no DMX in is received. When the Grand Master or sub masters are remotely controlled, it will be indicated by displaying the fader mode in red on the Master Intensity Control.

The <u>blackout</u> [195] function can also be assigned to DMX in control. To set blackout the channel value has to be above 127 (50%). Auto Fade Out/In and blackout/restore will still work on intensity levels, even though the levels are controlled by DMX in. Manual blackout will not work if the function is controlled remotely.

#### Patching DMX input to DMX output

The values of single or multiple DMX output channels may be controlled directly from the DMX input, effectively patching DMX in values to the DMX output of the LightJockey. Use the <u>Global Patch</u> and <u>Gl</u>

#### **Overwrite Enable Function**

The Overwrite Enable function is used as a switch to enable or disable the output overwrites. If the DMX value of the DMX in channel allocated to this function is above 127 (50%) the overwrite function is enabled, if below 127 the overwrite is disabled. If this function is not assigned to any channel, overwrite is always enabled. To setup which DMX input channels should overwrite which DMX output channels, use the <u>Global Patch</u> 201. Note that the override enable function only enables/disables direct DMX value overrides set through the global patch - it does not affect overrides such as intensity override.

#### **Cue list commands**

A number of cue list commands are available through DMX in. The commands are activated when the level of the DMX in channel crosses over from below 128 (50%) to above 127 (50% - 100%). Cuelist Go - Trigs the cue list Go command. If the cue list is not already active (running) a 'Run from top' command is given to the cue list.

Cuelist Back - Trigs the cue list back command. The cue list must be active (running) for this command to be work.

Cuelist Stop - Stops the current cue list executing.

Cuelist Stop and Clear - Stops the current cue list executing and clears the current cue.

Cuelist Go (Alt) - This version of cue list Go uses different value transitions to activate a go command: Transitions from less than 50% to 50% or above (0-127 -> 128-255)

Transitions from 50%-75% to 75%-100% (128-191 -> 192-255)

Transitions from 75% -> 100% to 50-75% (192-255 -> 128-919)

Where the regular cue list Go commands may require 2 discrete steps from the external console - the alternate command allows the external console to embed each go command in a single static value simply by alternating output values between 50%-75% and 75%-100%. Note: make sure that the external console do not fade value transitions; fading the value from 0% to100 may cause 2 go commands to be issued.

#### Smoke control override

Smoke Button, Smoke Level, Smoke Duration, Smoke Cycle, Haze Level and Haze fan may all be used to override the corresponding controls on the <u>Smoke control</u> 2. The smoke button will be activated as long as the DMX value of the channel is kept above a value of 127.

#### **Overriding the Cue Macro Control**

Assigning **Cue Macro Amplitude** and **Cue Macro Sped** functions to DMX in channels allows the two functions to be remotely controlled via DMX in. Note that both functions scale from 0%-100.0% so it is not possible to increase the amplitude more than the previously programmed amplitude, nor is it possible to increase the speed above the programmed speed.

Each of the two functions have a complimentary inverted version. The inverted function inverts the

captured DMX value, so the higher the 'physical' DMX value, the less amplitude and speed - in effect the macro slows down. The inverted functions makes the functions comparable to overriding the cue time functions (see below) where a higher DMX in value slows the sequence down as well. See Cue Macro Control [148] for more details.

#### **Overriding the Cue Time Control**

The Cue Time control allows direct control with the cue's dynamic timings by scaling the scene and fade times of each of the sequences in the cue. It is possible to assign control of the Cue time fader, and each of the 12 sequence time faders to DMX in. Via the <u>Cue Time Control</u> 147 preferences menu it is possible to set up if the DMX in override should override always or only when changes occurs on the DMX in values.

#### Audio Analyzer options override

Audio Analyzer, Gain - Overrides the gain setting on the <u>audio analyzer [192</u>]. Audio Analyzer, Noise Threshold - Overrides the noise threshold setting on the <u>audio analyzer [192]</u>.

#### Trig all manual default, Emulate Audio Trig

Activates the corresponding <u>hotkey functions</u> and <u>hotkey functions</u> - note that these functions will activate on a DMX value transition from less than 128 (decimal) to 128 or higher.

See also DMX in translation 236

#### 18.3.1 DMX in translation

#### How to use translations

Usually translations will be used when patching a DMX in channel (e.g. from a fader on a conventional DMX console) through to DMX out via the <u>global patch dialog</u> and <u>several functions</u> to the same DMX control channel it is often desirable to map the full control value range (0-255) into a limited selection of the control channel values so a single function may be controlled from a full fader range.

**Note:** DMX in translation values are considered global to the lightjockey installation and thus not copied or restored when doing <u>user library backup/restore</u> **6**.

To transfer any user made translation tables to a different LightJockey installation you must manually copy the files located in the <LJ installation>\User\Valuetables\ folder from the source to the target PC.

DMX values	Function
0-49	Shutter on/off commands
50-72	Strobe fast->slow
73-207	More shutter commands and strobe macros
208-217	Fixture reset
218-255	More shutter commands and lamp control commands

Example,	controlling	a Martin MX	10 strobe	from a fader	on an externa	l console
----------	-------------	-------------	-----------	--------------	---------------	-----------

Martin MX-10 shutter control channel (simplified)

Using translation, the full fader value range (0-255) can be translated into the value range for the MX-10 strobe (50-72) which controls the MX-10 strobe speed. The translation may even 'invert' the direction so the MX-10 strobes slowly at low values and faster as the fader is raised, which is opposite the fixture protocol itself which will strobe fast at low value and slower as the value gets higher.

Using a 'disable' value

DMX Value Output Source	DMX in Mode
DMX <u>O</u> ut Dmx <u>I</u> n 5 Ignore DMX In Enable Switch 🗂	C Absolute C LoTP C HTP C DMX > 0 C DMX < 255

Global patch disable DMX in at value 0

In the above example, mapping the full control range (0-255) into the fixture strobe control range (50-72) is not ideal, since that would cause the fixture to strobe continuously (since DMX in patched to DMX out). The <u>global patch dialog</u> [20<sup>th</sup>] implements options to temporarily 'disable' the DMX input value at the values of either 0 or 255 - by translating a part of the original DMX values (usually the first few values such as 0-5) to either of these 2 values, and setting the corresponding option in the global patch dialog, the console fader now 'disables' at values 0-5.

#### Creating new tables

Since there are literally thousands of possible translation tables (each fixture type may require its own set of translation tables) and LightJockey distributions only supplies a few sample tables, there is a very good chance that users will have to create their own translation tables based on specific fixture protocols - see below.

#### Available translation tables and assigned translations

When assigning a translation table to a DMX in channel, the translation table is selected from a pool of available tables. The table pool is system-wide which means that it is available in all <u>user libraries</u> where as the actual translation assignment is used in individual libraries. As tables from the pool may be edited and to avoid that modifications to tables has unwanted effects to translations in other user libraries, a copy of the original table is used for the actual translation - not the table from the pool. As a consequence modifications to a table in the pool does not affect already assigned translations, even if originally based on the modified table. To update assigned translations so they are identical to the table, use the update method (see below).

#### **DMX** in translation dialog

To access the DMX in translation dialog, select **Value-translations** from the main menu of the DMX in configuration dialog<sup>[23<sup>†</sup>]</sup>.



DMX in translation dialog

The left hand side of the dialog contains all available DMX in control channels (1-512) and assigned translation tables, while the right hand side contains a list of available translation tables as well as notes and a graphical representation of the selected translation dialog. Note: assigning translations to DMX in does nothing by itself; remember to assign DMX in as source of the relevant DMX output channels in the global patch dialog 20th.

#### Assigning and removing translations

Locate the table in the list of available channels and drag it to the line representing the DMX in channel. Alternatively, first highlight the table, then highlight one or more DMX in channels; finally rightclick, one of the selected DMX in channels and select **Assign table:** from the pop up menu. To remove one or more translations, highlight the DMX in channels, right-click and select **Remove translation** from the pop up menu.

**Note:** when assigning a table to a DMX in channel, a copy of the original table is assigned - not a reference to the table. This is an important difference if the table is later modified - modifying a table does not automatically update the copy made when the table was assigned (see updating translations below)

#### Editing existing and creating new tables

To edit an existing table, highlight the table, right-click and select **Edit table** from the pop up menu. To create a copy of an existing table select, right-click and select **Copy table**. To create a new table from scratch select **Create table** from the pop up menu. To create a new table from an already assigned translation, right-click the assignment and select **Copy to new table**. Either option opens the edit translation table dialog<sup>[23]</sup>

#### **Updating translations**

To update already assigned translation tables with the content of a table that has subsequently been modified, right-click the table entry and select **update translations** - the option is only available if one or more previously assigned translations has content different from the table.

#### 18.3.1.1 Editing translation tables

The built in translation table editor allows users to edit the contents of translation tables, or to create a translation data file for manual editing using an Ascii editor (see below).

Sedit tran	nlation table			×
DMX value	Translation	-	Set Linear Range	
0	0		Value: 0	to 255
1	0			
2	0		Translation: 0	to 255 set
3	0		ID	
4	0		JODCC2CC2 EC2C 42DD 0	194.0042020000053
5	0		130003-020-4200-0	134-004303020203/
6	207		Туре	
7	207		MARTIN MX-10	
8	207		Name	
9	206		MX-10 Color (stepped)	
10	206		Purpose	
11	206		DMX in color override - u	se switch in global patch
12	206			
13	206		2	
14	205		8 <b></b>	
15	205		a	
16	205		9	
17	205			
18	205			
19	204			
20	204			DMX Value
21	204			Entry Value
22	204	-	🗸 ОК	🗙 Cancel

Edit translation table dialog

### Using the editor

To set or modify single translation values, simply type the desired value into the list on the left (values 0-255 only).

To set a linear range of values use the set linear range function. First enter the value interval to translate and then the value interval to translate to, e.g. to translate values 50 -> 100 into 150 -> 170 enter 50 and 100 into the two value fields followed by 150 and 170 into the translation fields. Then click **set**.

ID - The ID is a unique identifier that is used as a reference between assigned translations and the original translation table. The value cannot be modified with the editor.

Type - Use the type field to describe the overall type of the table. If the table is for a specific fixture function the type field should contain a description that identifies the manufacturer and fixture type, e.g. **MARTIN MX-10**. When assigning translations, available tables are stored in 'folders' according to the contents in the type field.

Name - Name of the table. When created for a specific fixture, the name should describe the function of the table, e.g. **MX-10 Strobe (regular)**.

Purpose - Used for further text describing the function of the table, e.g. DMX in strobe override - use switch in global patch to disable override at fader = 0-5

Click **Ok** to save the modified table or **Cancel** to discard any modifications. **Note:** Remember to update already assigned translation tables with modified table contents using the update function.

#### Using a text editor

Translation tables are stored in files containing ordinary Ascii format text. This means that the contents can be modified with a standard text editor (or even created by custom applications if required). Note that LightJockey does not automatically refresh tables when a file is modified. To refresh tables after manual editing make sure to close the assign translation dialog and then reopen it (opening the dialog refreshes the tables).

#### Filename

```
Translation data files are stored in <LightJockey installation folder>\Users\ValueTables\
Filenames are created from type,name and ID in the form of <Type>_<Name>_<ID>.vtr
File contents (example):
ID={9B3EA976-8C53-4173-91A8-774C8F881E3D}
TYPE=SYSTEM
NAME=Sqrt
PURPOSE=Sqrt()
0=0
1=16
2=23
<etc...>
254=254
255=255
```

The **ID** field contains a unique ID to identify the table (GUID). This means that the same ID cannot be used in multiple translation table files. Do not try to create an ID by random, create a new/empty table and use as template. Custom applications should provide a properly formatted GUID as ID. Contents of **Type**, **Name** and **Purpose** is described above, neither should be left blank. Type and name are limited to 80 characters, while purpose is limited to 255 characters.

Translation values are listed in the form of **DMX value = translates to value** - the file does not have to contain all DMX 256 values, if missing 1:1 is assumed'.

### 18.4 Using MIDI in

LightJockey may use a MIDI note commands to remote control a number of functions from a MIDI device. MIDI-in control requires a suitable MIDI interface installed in the PC and must be enabled in the hardware setup 2. Once enabled, a separate MIDI in application will automatically launch whenever LightJockey starts up. After it is launched the MIDI in module can be accessed from LightJockey by

clicking on the cue list tool bar

The MIDI implementation relies on the MIDI functionality that is built in to Windows, LightJockey does not talk to the MIDI devices directly. This means that the MIDI receiver device (for example a sound card with MIDI in capability) must be correctly installed in Windows and the correct drivers must be installed as well. Please refer to the documentation for the MIDI device for documentation on how to install the device in a Windows environment. The MIDI in program also relies on connecting (through software) to LightJockey for certain dynamic data - if LightJockey is not running when the MIDI in program starts up an error message is displayed.

#### MIDI In setup



Selecting the MIDI in Device - since Windows supports multiple MIDI devices, the first thing to configure is what MIDI in device to use. Select the relevant device from the list of devices on the Setup tab. If no devices are listed, Windows has not registered any MIDI in devices.

Treat velocity = 0 as note off - some MIDI devices use a note on command with a 0 velocity value to indicate a note off. LightJockey will by default treat a note on command with velocity = 0 as a note off command - to disable, uncheck this option.

Release Seq on Note Off - when option this is checked, the MIDI in module will clear the flashed sequence (see later) when a note off command corresponding to the last sequence note on is received.

Release Cue on Note Off - when option this is checked, the MIDI in module will clear the latched cue (see later) as soon as a note off command corresponding to the last cue note on is received. Release BGCue on Note Off - when option this is checked, the MIDI in module will clear the latched

background cue (see later) as soon as a note off command corresponding to the last background cue note on is received.

Release Cuelist on Note Off - when option this is checked, the MIDI in module will stop the latched cue list (see later) and clear the current cue as soon as a corresponding to the last cue list note on note off command is received.

#### The Options Menu

Run Minimized - When enabled, this option configures the MIDI in application to start up in minimized form. To restore the application, click the MIDI in button on the <u>fixture tool bar</u> or the corresponding button on the Windows taskbar.

Stay on Top - this option keeps the MIDI in module on top of the main LightJockey desktop. Auto Save Changes - when enabled, all changes are automatically saved when the module closes down. If this option is not enabled any changes must be saved before closing (**Save**).

#### Sequence, cue, background cues and cue list tabs



#### Assigning functions

Using MIDI note commands LightJockey can launch sequences (flash sequences, see <u>cue control</u> [132]), cues, background cues and cue lists.

The sequence, cue, background cues and cue lists configurations are all located on individual tabs. To enable either function, check the enable function box (e.g. enable Sequence Flash) on the relevant tab. Next select what MIDI channel (MIDI address) the MIDI in will have to listen to for that particular function. MIDI supports up to 16 different channels (channels 1-16). Select either 'All to decode the note on command on any MIDI channels or select a single MIDI channel to decode commands on that MIDI channel only. By specifying specific MIDI channels, the MIDI device (e.g. a sequencer or keyboard) may use the other channels for other purposes, such as MIDI instruments or other controllers. It also allows the same note values to be used for sequences, cues and cue lists as long as the MIDI channel is different. Note that not all MIDI transmitters have the possibility to use specific channels, please refer to the documentation for the MIDI transmitter.

There are two methods to assign sequences, cues, background cues and cue lists to MIDI note values. The first is to manually enter the sequence, cue or cue number directly. Highlight the line with the

required note value, enter the relevant number in the entry field and click **<-Set**. The second method is to load the relevant sequence, cue, background or cue list in LightJockey, click **Learn** and send the MIDI command (e.g. press the key on the MIDI keyboard). The MIDI In Module will register the current sequence, cue, background cue or cue list and assign this to the received note value. To clear the assignment for a specific MIDI value, right-click the line representing the value and select **Clear Values** from the popup menu.

#### **Hotkey functions**

Use the functions tab makes to assign LightJockey <u>hotkey functions</u> b to MIDI note commands. Note that LightJockey must be running when the MIDI in program starts up, otherwise hotkey function data will not be transferred to the MIDI in program. To assign a function to a note value go to the functions tab and click **Get Functions List**. This brings up a list of available functions. Then simply drag and drop the function from the list to the line representing the MIDI note value. Assigning flash functions

Note that some MIDI devices prefers to send velocity = 0 rather than note off commands. If this is the case, make sure to check **Treat velocity = 0 as note off** on the setup tab. Otherwise the flash function may not be disabled again.

#### **MIDI Monitor.**

The final tab consists of a list showing the latest incoming MIDI note on and note off commands. The Monitor can be used to decide what MIDI channels are used by the MIDI transmitter.

### 18.5 Using the 2518 controller via RS-232

### 18.5.1 2518 controller via RS-232

LightJockey may be remotely controlled from a Martin 2518 controller using a standard RS-232 connection. Since this form of remote control does not require other hardware than a standard RS-232 port it is possible to connect the 2518 to LightJockey without using DMX hardware that supports DMXin. The RS-232 connection uses the same type of RS-232 cable (straight through) as the Upload/Download utility for the 2518 controller (see 2518 manual). When the 2518 is connected as remote control via RS-232 it is not capable of performing as normal, i.e. it does not run sequences or transmit DMX. When switched into RS-232 mode the LightJockey continuously reads the status of the 2518's buttons and faders and controls the output of the 2518 display.

LightJockey implements the 2518 interface in two modes. Mode 1 is supported by all firmware revisions of the 2518, **while mode 2 requires firmware version 2.0** or better in the 2518. The actual version of 2518 firmware is shown as the 2518 is powered up.

See also 2518 via RS-232, mode 1 243, 2518 via RS-232, mode 2 242

#### 18.5.2 2518 controller via RS-232, mode 2

Mode 2 of the LightJockey 2518 via RS232 interface is only supported by 2518 firmware revisions 2.0 or higher. The actual firmware revision is shown in the 2518 display during power on. In order to use the 2518 it must first be configured in the hardware setup 22, make sure to **select the 2518 Mode 2** option in the setup dialog.

Once configured the 2518 control is available via the icon on the <u>cue list tool bar</u> 56.

Dpti Online indicator	Connect Button	Record To	oggle ×
2518 Online	Ø Gennest	🔴 Record B	utton/Fader
	Cues Fader Functions	CueLists Button Fanctions	BG Cue Sequences
Fader Levels	Fader Functions Master Intensit Blackout Intensity Gr.1	ion Tabs	Fader A
<b>x x x x x x x x x x</b>	Intensity Gr.2 Fu Intensity Gr.3 Intensity Gr.4	nctions List	Fader 4
	🗸 OK		

The 2518 control (mode 2)

Under normal circumstances the 2518 will connect as remote control when LightJockey starts up however if the 2518 fails to connect (for example if powered off when LightJockey started), use **connect** to attempt to establish a connection between the 2518 and LightJockey (also see auto reconnect later). Re-connecting this way also works if the 2518 is temporarily disconnected while LightJockey is running. The online LED indicates the current 2518 connected state. There are two types of functions available via the 2518: fader functions and button functions. The fader functions are a sub-set of the functions available via DMX-in<sup>[231]</sup>. The button functions are identical to the functions available via keyboard hotkeys<sup>[205]</sup>. Like the keyboard hotkeys it is possible to assign specific sequences, cues, cue lists and background cues to the 2518 buttons. Click the appropriate **Function Tab** to select between different lists of fader and button functions.

#### Assigning faders and 2518 buttons to functions

There are two ways of assigning functions to faders or buttons. Enable the Record Toggle button to switch into 'record' mode. When in record mode, moving the fader

more than 50% or pressing a button, will assign the fader or button to the selected function. Alternatively, select the function in the list and right-click the line; then assign the fader or button from the popup menu.

To clear one or more functions, highlight the line(s) and select **clear functions** from the right-click popup menu. To clear all functions, select **Options** -> **New Setup** from the options menu.

#### Saving and re-loading setups

A setup may be saved into a file for later use. Select **Options** -> **Save setup file** and **Options** -> **load setup file** to save or re-load setups.

#### Auto Reconnect

The auto reconnect option found in the preferences menu will prompt LightJockey to automatically attempt a connection to the 2518 every 2 seconds.

The option may lead to a slightly slower execution of LightJockey itself and is best left off if no 2518 is connected to the PC.

See also 2518 via RS-232, mode 1 243

### 18.5.3 2518 controller via RS-232, mode 1

Mode 1 of the LightJockey 2518-RS232 interface is supported by all 2518 firmware revisions. In order to use the 2518 it must first be configured in the <u>hardware setup</u>  $22^{1}$ , make sure to **de-select the 2518 Mode 2** option in the dialog.

Once configured the 2518 control is available via the icon on the cue list tool bar 56.



The 2518 control (mode 1)

Under normal circumstances the 2518 will connect as remote control when LightJockey starts up - however if the 2518 fails to connect, click **connect** to attempt to establish a connection between LightJockey and the 2518. This also works if the 2518 is disconnected while LightJockey is running. The online LED indicates the current 2518 connected state.



The connect button

#### **2518 Functions**

The following functions are fixed and cannot be changed by the user:

DMX Channels buttons - the DMX channels buttons (the column of buttons leftmost on the 2518) controls the sequence on/off State for the 6 first sequences in the cue control. The state is mimicked by the LEDs on the 2518, LED on is sequence on, LED off is sequence off. Faders - the faders of the 2518 is used to remote control the Master intensities. The leftmost fader controls the Master intensity while the last 5 faders controls sub-masters 1-5. Blackout button - the blackout button toggles the blackout/restore state of the LightJockey.

#### User definable functions:

Scenes buttons (Scenes 1-6) - the scenes buttons may be used as 'bump' buttons for the Master Intensity control or may be used to flash 6 different sequences in the cue. When used as bump buttons, the buttons may either be configured as bump-flash or bump-latch buttons (set in the preferences menu). When used as sequence flash buttons, configure the buttons by dragging the sequence from the list of sequences [127] onto the line representing the button. Alternatively right-click on the line and select **Add Current Sequence** to add the current sequence. To clear a button, rightclick the line and select **Remove Sequence**. A change in sequence configuration does not take effect until saved.

#### **Options Menu**

Calibrate faders - May be used to initialize the fader calibration routine of the 2518. Click **Yes** to initiate the calibration routine. Once the 2518 has entered the calibration state (DMX channel LEDs are 'running'), move all faders to the absolute top - then press the top **DMX Channels** button. Once all LEDs are out, press the top **DMX Channels** button again. Wait until the 2518 has performed a reset ('01' flashing in the display), then click Ok on the dialog. Wait until LJ has re-connected to the 2518.

#### **Preferences Menu**

Scenes buttons - used to set the function for the scenes buttons on the 2518 (see above).

See also 2518 via RS-232, mode 2 242

## 18.6 MC-X remote control

The Martin MC-X Remote Control is a small 8 button device that uses the DMX protocol to communicate to the main controller. The 8 buttons have an on/off toggle function and are mutually exclusive (only one can be 'On' at a time). The MC-X must be configured in the hardware setup 2

#### **MX-C Setup**

To access the MX-C setup dialog, click the icon on the <u>cue list tool bar</u> [56].

🙆 MCX S	etup	×
Options F	<u>1</u> elp	
	Due	_
Preset 1	0002 HouseLights	
Preset 2	0001 Intro Cue	
Preset 3	0003 Speaker	
Preset 4	0004 Audience	
Preset 5	0005 Stage standby	
Preset 6	0006 Stage on 1	
Preset 7	0007 Stage on 2	_
	CueList	
Auto	0002 Intermission	
	-	
	🔀 Save  🧾 Close	

MC-X setup dialog

The dialog contains 7 entries for the 7 preset buttons and one entry for the auto button. Assigning cues to the preset buttons - make sure the MC-X is setup to use cues in the preferences menu. Cues may be assigned by dragging the cue from the <u>list of cues</u> (137), or by right-clicking the line representing the preset and select **Assign current Cue** from the popup menu. The second approach requires that a cue has already been loaded.

Assigning background cues to the preset buttons - make sure the MC-X is setup to use background cues in the preferences menu. Background cues may be assigned by dragging the background cue from the list of background cues in the preset and selecting **Assign current Background Cue** from the popup menu. The second approach requires that a background cue is already loaded.

Assigning a cue list to the auto button - the cue list may either be dragged and dropped from the list of cue lists and right-clicking the 'auto' line in the MC-X setup dialog.

#### Clearing cues and cue lists

To clear button function, right click the line representing the button and select clear.

#### The preferences menu

Preset use Cues/Preset use Background Cues - use this switch to determine if the preset buttons are used to call up regular  $\underline{cues}^{132}$  or  $\underline{background cues}^{167}$ . The dialog will automatically switch between showing assigned cues or background cues.

Clear Cue/BGCue on Preset Off - when enabled the current cue or background cue is cleared when the preset button is toggled off. Note that the cue will only be cleared if it is identical (same cue/background cue number) as the one assigned to the preset button - e.g.. if cue #1 is loaded by

preset button 1 it will only clear the cue when toggled off, if the current cue is #1. Clear Cuelist on Auto off - When enabled, toggling the Auto button off clears the current cue list, but only if the current cue list is identical to the cue list assigned to the Auto button (see above) Clear Cuelist on Preset - When enabled the current cue list will be cleared as any of the preset buttons toggled on. This function will clear any cue list.

### 18.7 RS-232 remote control

The RS-232 remote control option is supported through an external support application, LJ\_RS232.EXE - located in the LightJockey Installation folder.



The RS-232 remote application

For automated purposes, either start the program via the Windows Startup folder, or use LightJockey's auto-launch facility in the <u>startup options</u> [52]. The program enables remote control various LightJockey options, such as calling up a cue or call a fade out. Before the application can be used, RS-232 settings to be used must be configured. Select **Setup** -> **RS 232 settings** to configure the RS-232 parameters. Select COM Port from 1 through 4 and one of the possible Baud-Rates. The RS-232 data format is fixed at 8 data bytes, 1 stop byte and no parity.

#### **RS-232 Protocol**

The RS-232 protocol is based on a 3 byte binary protocol.

The format for all commands are identical: [Command] [Data1 (MSB)] [Data2 (LSB)]

All 3 bytes must be sent to LightJockey within 0.2 seconds, otherwise an incomplete command times out.

All bytes with a value of 128 or above are treated as a [command] byte. Consequently all data bytes must have a value of 127 or lower.

When the both the data bytes are used to send a value the value must be split into an MSB and an LSB pair.

Examples:

To load cue number 130: Send **[129] [1] [2]** - 129 is the Load Cue command, and 1\*128+2 selects cue number 130.

To load cue list number 2 Send [128] [0] [2] - 128 is the load cue list command, and 0\*128+2 selects cue list number 2.

Listed below are the various commands accepted by the RS-232 interface application

Function	[Cmd]	[Data 1]	[Data 2]	Notes
Load cue list	[128]	Cue list # MSB	Cue list # LSB	send # 0 to stop current
Load cue	[129]	Cue # MSB	Cue # LSB	send # 0 to clear current
Load background cue	[130]	[BG Cue # MSB]	[BG Cue # LSB]	send #0 to clear current
Flash Sequence on	[131]	[Sequence # MSB]	[Sequence # LSB]	send # 0 to clear current
Smoke Off	[132]	[0]	[0]	see smoke Control 122
Smoke On	[132]	[0]	[1]	see smoke control 122
Smoke timer off	[132]	[1]	[0]	see smoke control 122
Smoke timer on	[132]	[1]	[1]	see smoke control 122
Blackout	[132]	[2]	[1]	see <u>blackout/restore</u> विक्र
Restore	[132]	[2]	[0]	see <u>blackout/restore</u>
Fade in	[132]	[3]	[0]	see <u>master intensity</u> [195], uses preset time
Fade out	[132]	[3]	[1]	see <u>master intensity</u> [195],
				uses preset time
Enable static entry	[133]	[Static #]	[1]	see statics control 189
Disable static entry	[133]	[Static #]	[0]	see statics control 189
Current cue list Go	[134]	[1]	[1]	manual cue lists only, see
Current cue list Back	[134]	[1]	[2]	manual cue lists only, see
Cue control slot on	[135]	[slot#]	[1]	see <u>cue control</u>
Cue control slot off	[135]	[slot#]	[0]	see <u>cue control</u>
Background cue slot on	[136]	[slot#]	[1]	see background cue
Background cue slot off	[136]	[slot#]	[0]	see background cue

# **19** User definable fixture profiles

# **19.1** The user definable fixtures profiles

User definable fixture profiles make it possible to define profiles for fixtures that are not already included in LightJockey. User defined profiles may be saved, reused, tweaked and transferred to other installations. User defined fixture profiles can use all normal fixture functions including <u>position presets</u> 10<sup>th</sup>, <u>movement macros</u> 10<sup>th</sup> and <u>palettes</u> 10<sup>th</sup> for color, gobos and effects. Most non-Martin fixture profiles are supplied as user defined fixture profiles; the updated library including new or modified profiles can be found on the Internet at: http://www.martin.com/service/Software/controller/LJ/list.asp

Note that user fixtures controlled by a user defined profile will only show up in the Offline Visualizer 284

if they are linked to a suitable Offline Visualizer profile 278.

In order to define a new or modify an existing profile, a generic **user definable fixture** profile must be  $\underline{configured}$  and placed on the desktop.

There are 3 types of user definable profiles:

<u>User definable fixture type 2 profile</u> (max 32 channels, 16 bit pan/tilt) This is the type currently used for the profiles included with LightJockey and distributed via the Internet and.

<u>Generic Scanner 1</u> [248] (8 bit, max 8 channels, limited number of functions) This profile type is maintained for backwards compatibility only and should not be used for new profiles.

<u>Color Scrollers</u> (color palette and intensity control) A special type of profile used to control fixtures consisting of a separate color scroller and lighting fixture (e.g. a profile spot with external color scroller).

### **19.2** Scanner 1 profile

### **19.2.1 Configuring the Scanner 1 profile**

Note: this profile type is included for backwards compatibility only - use generic fixture type 2 profile 24 to write new profiles.

The scanner 1 profile supports the following (optional) user definable features: <u>intensity control</u> - including shutter, strobe, <u>grand master</u> [195] and <u>blackout</u> [195]. <u>8-</u> <u>bit pan & tilt control</u> [96], including position presets and movement macros. <u>color palette</u> [108] - max 16 colors. <u>gobo palette</u> [111] - max 16 gobos. Other functions may be controlled via <u>generic DMX controls</u> [84].

#### Configuring the scanner 1 fixture profile

To configure the fixture select **Generic Scanner 1** in the list of available (located under User Definable) fixtures in the <u>fixture configuration</u> dialog and give it a valid DMX address. By default the Scanner 1 profile takes up 8 DMX channels but it is possible when defining the profile to reduce the number of channels used . Note that no matter how many channels the fixture actually uses, the auto address feature will always allocate 8 channels for the profile.



Scanner 1 fixture icon

Once the fixture has been configured and the fixture icon has been placed on the desktop, the fixture profile functions including the optional features may be defined, see defining the Scanner 1 profile 248

#### 19.2.2 Defining the Scanner 1 profile

Note : The scanner 1 profile is provided for backwards compatibility only - new profiles should only be created using the generic fixture 2 profile 256.

In order to use the profile to control the fixture, it is necessary to define the fixture's control channels, and optionally color and gobo palette values. Open the Scanner 1 profile definition dialog by rightclicking on the fixture icon on the desktop and selecting **Define Fixture Profile** from the popup menu.

Define Generic Scanner1 profile     Ele Help     Intensity     Pan & Tit     Color Palette     Gobo	Palette   Levels & Id					
Enable Shutter Function     Enable Strobe Function     Enable Intensity Function     Enable Grand Master/Intensity     Blackout on GM at 0	Blackout Values Ch Ofs Value Set 0 -1 1 -1 2 -1 V					
Shutter Offset         Image: Constraint of the second	Shutter Open 0 Strobe Fast 0 Strobe Off 0 Intensity Max 0					
🗶 Cancel 🛛 🗸 OK						

Scanner 1 profile definition dialog

Defining the scanner 1 intensity control 249 Defining the Scanner 1 pan and tilt control 251 Defining the Scanner 1 color control 252 Defining the Scanner 1 gobo control 253 Defining the Scanner 1 level controls 254

#### **The File Menu**

Save Profile - this will save the current profile to a file. The profile can then be reused when configuring multiple fixtures of the same type by first configuring a generic scanner 1 and then load the profile for the individual fixtures. Changes to profiles are not dynamic, saving a profile will not automatically update other profiles.

Load Profile - this will load a previously saved profile into the current fixture. Clear Profile - this will clear the contents of the current profile.

LightJockey defaults the file path to the following folder <LightJockey Installation>\User\UserFixtures\<filename.SS1>

#### 19.2.3 Defining Scanner 1 intensity control

Define Generic Scanner1 profile	X
Ele Help	
Intensity Pan & Tilt Color Palette Gob	p Palette   Levels & Id
Enable Shutter Function Enable Strobe Function	Blackout Values Ch Ofs Value
Enable Intensity Function     Enable Grand Master/Intensity     Disclosulation GM at 0	
Shutter Offset O Shutter Close O	Shutter Open 1
Strobe Offset 0 Strobe Slow 10	Strobe Fast 50 Strobe Off 0
Intensity Offset 1 Intensity Min 0	Intensity Max 255
X Cancel	🗸 ок

Scanner 1 profile - Intensity tab

Use this dialog to set up the intensity control definitions.

🔺 Inten	sity		X
UserPalet	te E	ades <u>H</u> elp	
Snap		Shutter Open	
Snap	•	Strobe 50,0%	•
Fade	•	Intensity 100,0%	۲

Scanner 1 intensity control

Only controls for the enabled functions will be visible - if no intensity control functions are enabled the, intensity control will not be available for the fixture.

Shutter control - the shutter control must be controlled on one DMX control channel. Strobe control - the strobe control must be controlled on one DMX control channel. Intensity control - the intensity must be controlled by one channel, and the DMX value for minimum intensity must be lower than the value for maximum intensity. For the intensity control to be linked to the grand master controls (195), the DMX values for intensity must be valid within 0 to maximum intensity value.

Enable Shutter Function (Intensity Control Function) - to enable the shutter function for the fixture, check this option. Make sure to fill out the shutter data fields with appropriate data.

Enable Strobe Function (Intensity Control Function) - to enable the strobe function for the fixture, check this option. Make sure to fill out the strobe data fields with appropriate data.

Enable Intensity Function (Intensity Control Function) - to enable the Intensity function for the fixture, check this option. Make sure to fill out the intensity data fields with appropriate data.

Enable Grand Master/Intensity (Intensity Control Function) - checking this option will link the grand master control [195] to the fixtures intensity control. When not checked the Grand Master does not affect the intensity level of the fixture. This option should only be selected if the fixture supports intensity control. Since the Grand Master works by scaling the DMX value sent to control the intensity, do not enable this option unless the DMX values for controlling the fixture's intensity are within the range of 0 to maximum intensity.

Blackout on GM at 0 - if the fixture does not support intensity control, checking this option will cause the grand master controls to instruct the fixture to blackout when the GM/sub master intensity level reaches 0.

Blackout Value Table - use this table to setup the DMX values needed to blackout the fixture. The table contains values for the maximum 8 control channels allocated for the fixture (note that first channel is numbered 0). A value of -1 means that the specific channel is not affected by the blackout command. If the fixture supports shutter or intensity control use values that addresses these functions. If no values are entered the fixture will not respond to blackout instructions. To set a channel value, highlight the line in the table then type in the value in the blackout value field and click **Set**. To reset the value to -1 highlight the line and click clear.

#### Shutter Data

Use these fields to set the DMX channel and values needed to control the shutter function. The offset value represents the control channel used to control the shutter on the fixture - note that offset values starts at 0. The shutter close value represents the DMX value used to close the shutter (no lights), and the shutter open value represents the DMX value used to open the shutter.

#### Strobe Data

Use these fields to set the DMX channel and values needed to control the strobe function. The offset value represents the control channel used to control the strobe function on the fixture - note that offset values starts at 0. The strobe slow value represents the DMX value where the fixture strobes at the slowest rate, the strobe fast value represents the DMX value where the fixture strobes at the fastest rate.

#### **Intensity Data**

Use these fields to set the DMX channel and values needed to control the fixture's intensity function.

The offset value represents the control channel used to control the intensity function on the fixture note that offset values starts at 0. The intensity min value represents the DMX value where the fixture has minimum light output, the intensity max value represents the DMX value where the fixture has maximum light output. Note that the minimum value must be smaller than the maximum value for the intensity control to work.

See also defining the Scanner 1 profile 248

### 19.2.4 Defining Scanner 1 pan & tilt control

🕂 Define Generic Scanner1 profile	×
Ele Help	
Intensity Pan & Tilt Color Palette Gobo Palette Levels & Id	
Enable Pan/Tilt Control Pan Channel Offset (8 Bit Only)     It Channel Offset (8 bit only)     5     Enable Position Presets     Enable Movement Macros	
🗶 Cancel 🛛 🗸 OK	

Scanner 1 profile - pan & tilt tab

Use this Dialog to set up the Pan and Tilt control definitions for the Scanner 1 profile. The scanner 1 profile only supports 8-bit Pan and Tilt control.

**Note:** In order for the profile to use the Pan/Tilt position control, pan and tilt must be controllable on two individual 8-bit control channels. Furthermore the profile must have valid pan/tilt DMX values from 0 to 255.

Enable Pan/Tilt Control - checking this option allows the fixture to use the standard

pan/tilt position control are in the only position control available for the scanner 1 profile. Pan/Tilt Channel offsets - use these fields to set the DMX channels offsets needed to control the pan and tilt functions of the fixture. Note that offset values starts at 0 for the fixture's first control channel. Enable position presets - checking this option allows the profile to use the LightJockey's position presets 100.

Enable Movement macros - checking this option allows the profile to use the movement macros associated with the pan/tilt control.

See also defining the Scanner 1 profile 248

### 19.2.5 Defining Scanner 1 color control



Scanner 1 profile - color tab

Use this dialog to set up the Color control definitions for the Scanner 1 fixture.

Colors					×
UserPalett	e F	references	Eades	Help	
08	٩	Co	lor Valu	e 0	►

Example of scanner 1 color control

**Note:** The Scanner 1 color control supports one single 8-bit color control channel. It also supports a user definable color palette with a maximum of 16 colors, using RGB colors or standard Windows bitmap files (.BMP).

Enable Color Control - check to enable the color control function for the profile.

Color Channel offset - use to set the DMX channels offset needed to control profiles color function. Note that offset values starts at 0 for the fixture's first control channel.

#### The color palette

To define color palette entries first highlight the appropriate color palette line. Select the color or bitmap for the palette button by clicking either **get color** or **get bitmap**. Finally, set the corresponding DMX value by entering the value in the Palette DMX value field and click **Set Value**. Clear palette entries by highlighting the lines and click **Clear Entry**. A DMX value of -1 indicates that the palette button is unused. Note that when selecting a bitmap file for the palette button, the bitmap file must be present in the windows folder that is selected by default.

Only palette buttons with defined values will appear on the color control.

See also defining the Scanner 1 profile 248, creating custom bitmaps for palette controls 279
### 19.2.6 Defining Scanner 1 gobo control



Scanner 1 profile - gobo tab

Use this dialog to set up gobo control definitions for the Scanner 1 profile.

🔵 Gobos					x
<u>U</u> serPalette	Preferences	Eades	Help		
Snap	< ○	lobo Val	ue 40		►
	0	Ŷ	_	• (	)

Scanner 1 gobo control

### Notes

The Scanner 1 profile gobo control supports one single 8-bit Gobo control channel. It also supports a user definable Gobo palette with a maximum of 16 gobos, using standard Windows bitmaps (BMP files).

Enable Gobo Control - to enable the Gobo control function for the profile, check this option. Gobo Channel offset - use this field to set the DMX channels offset needed to control fixture's Gobo function. Note that offset values starts at 0 for the fixture's first control channel.

### The Gobo palette

To define Gobo palette entries first highlight the appropriate Gobo palette line. Then select the Gobo bitmap for the palette button by clicking **get bitmap**. Set the corresponding DMX value by entering the value in the Palette DMX value field and click **Set Value**. Clear palette entries by highlighting the lines and click **Clear Entry**. A DMX value of -1 indicates that the palette button is unused. Note that when selecting a bitmap file for the palette button, the selected file must be present in the Windows folder that is selected by default.

Only palette buttons with defined values will appear on the gobo control.

See also defining the Scanner 1 profile 248, creating custom bitmaps for palette controls 279

### 19.2.7 Defining Scanner 1 level control



Scanner 1 profile - levels & Id tab

Use this dialog to set up the level control definitions and Id for the Scanner 1 profile.



Scanner 1 level control

### Notes

The Scanner 1 profile level control implements up to 8 channels of 8-bit DMX control. Channels may specifically be allocated to intensity functions, pan and tilt, color and gobo Controls. All other fixture functions must be programmed via the level control.

### **Configuring the Channel Control**

It is possible to label each of the levels with an individual Caption. Highlight the line(s) in the channel table and type the new caption in the level caption field.

### Reducing the number of required DMX channels.

By default the Scanner 1 level control has all 8 DMX levels enabled and visible. If the actual fixture uses less than 8 control channels, disabling the unused channels will free them to be used by other fixtures. To disable the unused channels, highlight the channels in the channel table click **disable**, the disabled channels will now be available for other fixtures when setting DMX addresses in the fixture configuration of dialog. Note that channels that are marked as unused this way are not detected by the auto-address feature.

### Selection Id

The selection Id is a small optional 'tag' that allows LightJockey to distinguish between different 'flavors' of user-defined scanner 1 profiles - the tag is a 4-character user definable value. Use this tag to ensure that values are not sent to selected fixtures that are not compatible with the currently selected <u>master fixture</u> by entering a different Id for different Scanner 1 fixtures (same fixture type should have the same Id).

Note that intensity and pan/tilt position controls per definition are cross fixture compatible and will always work across different fixture types.

See also defining the Scanner 1 profile 248, generic DMX controls 84

### 19.3 Color Scroller 1

### 19.3.1 User Definable Fixtures - Color Scroller 1

The color scroller profile is a special case of the generic DMX control that allows a light source with mounted color scroller to be programmed as one unit. It also includes a palette function that allows the user to setup a color palette that matches the colors in the scroller. Often color scrollers are attachments to an individual light source (e.g., a par can that is controlled through a dimmer pack). As a consequence of this the DMX address of the light source and the color scroller may not be contiguous as is normally the case with multi parameter fixtures.

### Configuring the color scroller

To configure a color scroller fixture, select **Color Scroller 1** in the list of available fixtures in the <u>fixture configuration</u> (dialog. Note: when setting the DMX address of the fixture, **specify the DMX address of the Intensity control channel - not the DMX address of the color scroller**. Once the fixture color scroller icons are placed on the desktop, each fixture must be configured with a DMX address for the color scroller unit and (optionally) values for the color palette - see <u>defining the color scroller profile</u> [255].







Color scroller fixture icon

Once the color scroller has been setup it can be programmed as any other fixture via the color scroller control. The control has a intensity control, and another drag bar for controlling the position of the color scroller. If the fixture has been setup with values for the color palette, colors can also be selected by clicking on the color palette buttons.

### 19.3.2 Defining the Color Scroller Profile

After <u>configuring</u> a color scroller 1 fixture, open the Color scroller definition dialog by right-clicking on the fixture icon on the desktop and select **Define Fixture Profile** from the popup.

Define Color Scroller prof	ile		x
Selection ID 123 No Blackout Ignore Grand Master	No Value 0 0 1 1 2 2 3 3	Color 🔺	Clear Palette Get Color Set Value
Scroller DMX address 512	4 4 5 5 ⊊ancel _ ✓		0

Color scroller definition dialog

No Blackout - by default the color scroller will <u>blackout</u> by reducing the level of the intensity control to 0.Check to disable blackout.

Ignore Grand Master - by default the color scroller intensity is controlled by the Grand Master 195. Check to disable.

Scroller DMX address - this is the DMX address of the color scroller unit. **Note** that LightJockey does not check if the address given is already allocated to other fixtures - it is entirely up to the end user to make sure that the address is correct. The allocated address is also **not** taken into account when using the Auto Address feature in the Fixture Configuration of - this may cause other fixtures to overwrite the DMX output values of the Color Scroller.

Configuring the color palette - the color scroller profile supports up to 20 color palette buttons (numbered 0-19). To set the DMX value and color for the individual buttons, highlight the line with the button number. Select the RGB color from the color dialog by clicking **Get Color**. Set the corresponding DMX values by entering the value in the field in the lower right hand corner and click **Set Value**. Palette entries may be cleared by highlighting the line(s) and clicking **Clear Palette**. Selection Id - the selection Id is a small optional 'tag' that allows LightJockey to distinguish between different 'flavors' of color scrollers (e.g. scrollers with different gels) - the tag is a 4-character user definable value. Normally when setting the color with the color drag control or palette buttons, the value will be sent to all selected color scrollers with the same Id value as the <u>master fixture</u> will be programmed.

### The File Menu

Save Profile - this will save the current profile to a file. The profile may then be loaded into other color scroller fixtures.

Load Profile - this will load a previously saved profile into the current color scroller fixture. Loading a profile does not change the scroller DMX address.

Clear Profile - this will clear the current profile.

LightJockey defaults the profiles files to the following folder <LightJockey Installation>\User\UserFixtures\<filename.SC1>

See also color scroller 1 255

### **19.4** Generic fixture type 2 profile

### 19.4.1 Defining the generic fixture 2 profile

A user-defined fixture profile contains definitions of a fixtures control channels, functions and optionally palette values. Defining a profile, unless it is a very simple fixture - usually requires a detailed knowledge of the fixture's DMX Protocol. Please make sure to read the help notes on the individual tabs before defining the first profile. The user definable fixture profile is limited to devices of a maximum of 32 DMX channels and supports optional 16 bit control on pan and tilt control. By default, a new profile only has <u>generic level control</u> and the profile defining 8 bit virtual fader control of all 32 channels). Additional functions must be defined using the profile dialog.

### Defining or editing a profile

To define a new or edit an existing profile, configure a **generic fixture 2** in the <u>fixture configuration</u> [66]. Set a valid DMX address for the generic fixture. If a fixture is already connected to LightJockey, set the DMX address of the generic fixture to the fixtures DMX address. Make sure that the address does not overlap with other fixtures already configured in LightJockey and leave enough free addresses for all of the fixtures control channels. Defining a profile without giving the generic fixture a valid DMX address will not work properly.

Once the new fixture icon representing the fixture is placed on the desktop, open the fixture profile dialog by right-clicking on the fixture icon and select **Define Fixture Profile** from the popup menu. The fixture icon will automatically be selected as master **BO** fixture.



Define fixture profile dialog

The dialog consists pages located on a number of tabs, each tab containing a group of specific fixture related functions (see below). Any changes in the fixture profile dialog must be applied (click any of the **Apply** buttons) to the profile before taking effect. Click **Apply to Master Fixture** to apply the new profile data to the master of fixture only; click as **Apply to all Selected Fixtures** brings up a fixture selection dialog <sup>258</sup> to apply the new profile data to all or some of the selected fixtures. Applying a profile to a fixture will change the available controls and functions for that fixture - so it is actually possible to test and program the profile while still defining it. This feature is very useful for testing the profile 'live' with a fixture connected.

### The File Menu

Load Profile - this will load a previously saved profile data file.

**Saving profiles** - saving profile data will apply and save the current profile to a named file. Note: updating and re-saving a profile will not automatically update other fixtures using the same (now different) profile.

Save Profile - This option will only be available if the profile data has been loaded from a previously saved file (and either loaded manually or configured via the fixture configuration). The file name suggested in the save file dialog is the same as the profile data was originally loaded or configured, making it simpler to modify and re-save a profile without knowing the original filename. Save profile as - Opens the save dialog without suggesting the filename.

**WARNING!** - when using an already existing profile as basis for a new fixture profile or profile variation, be careful NOT to overwrite the original profile by using the filename suggested by the save option.

Clear Profile - clears the current profile data.

### Control types.

The generic profiles basically uses two types of controls :

The <u>dynamic</u> solution of <u>drag control</u> allows the user to select between different values from an interval of values, usually via some kind of <u>drag control</u> or palette on the fixture control. Some dynamic function may have an associated palette 260.

The <u>static</u><sup>260</sup> control type contains static values for one or more fixture control channels and is usually used to select more specialized functions such as fixture reset or lamp on or off commands.

Using the The fixture info tab Using the The intensity & lamp tab Using the The pan & tilt tab Using the The fixed color tab Using the The gobo tab Using the The beam tab Using the The effects tab Using the The special tab Using the The special tab Using the The special tab Using the The offline Visualizer tab

See also <u>user definable palettes</u> [260], <u>customizing palettes for built-in fixture profiles</u> [76], <u>importing user defined fixture profiles</u> [280], <u>exporting user defined fixture profiles</u> [280]

### 19.4.2 Applying profile data to multiple fixtures



Use this dialog to apply the user defined profile data to one or more of the <u>selected</u> of fixtures (after selecting **Apply to all Selected Fixtures** on the profile definition dialog). Click the fixture lines to check or uncheck fixtures.

Click **Identical Id Only** to uncheck fixtures with a fixture Id 263 different from the current Master fixture. Click **All Selected Fixtures** to check all selected fixtures.

Click **Ok** to apply the profile to all checked fixtures.

Click **Cancel** to return without applying the profile to any fixtures.

### 19.4.3 User definable dynamic functions

C	Dmx Values		
Enable Color 1 Control (Palette)	4	Min 128 Max 255	
Enable Color 2 Control (Palette)	0	Min 🛛 Max 🗍	
Enable Color 3 Control	5 Name Speed	Min 0 Max 255	
Enable Color 4 Control	4 Name Spin	Min 0 Max 127	

Dynamic function definition (example, color controls)

Dynamic fixture functions work on one fixture DMX channel using 8-bit values from 0 to 255 or a defined interval. Usually, defining dynamic functions result in a corresponding  $\frac{\text{drag bar}}{\text{gan}}$  on the final fixture control  $\frac{1}{\text{gan}}$ .

Color	8	×
<u>P</u> resets	Prefe	rences Defaul: HColor 1 Control
Snap	•	Color1 181
Fade	◄	Speed 162
Snap	•	Spin ? Color 4 Control

Corresponding drag controls

Most of the dynamic functions are named functions, examples are intensity, focus and iris. A majority of these named functions are <u>cross fixture-type compatible</u> which means that they will work across different types of fixtures. Other functions are of a more generic nature, for example Beam 1 or Effects 2 and is not cross fixture compatible.

To define a dynamic function, check the relevant enable box and enter the address offset and minimum and maximum values. If no special minimum or maximum values are required, enter 0 for minimum and 255 for maximum.

# **IMPORTANT** : Address offset values start at 0 not at 1 - this means that the first fixture control channel must be entered as 0.

Entering minimum and maximum values do not impose a minimum or maximum constraint on the DMX output value (see <u>global patch</u> 201), it just limits the 'active control interval' on the control to given interval. This means that two or more functions may 'share' the same fixture control channel using different value intervals. Functions that share control channel may even be allocated on different tabs (for example an iris function can share fixture control channel with a gobo function). It is not uncommon that fixtures have multiple functions allocated to the same control channel. On the fixture control, the drag control will show the current output value, either as decimal or percentage value. If the current output value is outside the legal range of the function, the drag bar displays a '?' as value indicator.

Some functions use limits other than min/max. For example the strobe function has entries for 'slow' and 'fast'. This is used for certain cross fixture-type compatible 2 functions to allocate the same 'amount' of effect to all selected fixtures, regardless of type.

Some functions have a name field - this may be used to enter a more specific name for the function of the control, e.g.. 'Speed' to indicate that this drag bar controls a speed parameter, or 'ColParm' to indicate that the drag bar controls a color parameter.

### 19.4.4 User definable static functions



A static function (example blackout)

The static functions are used to define functions that require specific static values to be sent to one or more fixture control channels. For example, a fixture command such as lamp off may require a specific DMX value sent on the last fixture control channel, while all other channels are set to 0. The static control allows different values to be defined for one or more of the fixtures possible 32 channels. To define values for the static function, highlight the line(s) corresponding to the DMX offset (note first offset is 0, not 1) and enter the value in the field to the bottom right and click **Set**. To clear the offset so that no specific value is sent to the control channel when the function is selected, highlight the line(s) and click **Clear**. When activating a particular function, for example a lamp on command, from a fixture control, the values entered for each offset will be sent to the relevant control channels - if no value has been defined no special value will be sent.

### 19.4.5 User definable palettes

The use of palettes allows the fixture controls to show individual buttons for specific control values (e.g. individual buttons for a specific gobos, colors or functions).



Gobo control with palette buttons for gobo selection

Palettes may be created for color, gobo and effect controls. The palettes are created by editing the palette definitions located on their respective tabs in the <u>generic fixture profile</u> billing dialog. Each control may contain up to two palettes, each palette is activated by checking the corresponding

control - e.g. checking Enable Gobo Control 1 (Palette) on the gobo control tab, will activate the first palette on the gobo control.

Each palette is limited to 20 entries (0-19). Two palettes may be combined to control features on the same control channel by setting identical offset values.

Effec	ts 1 Pal	lette Ef	fects 2 F	alette				
No	Def	CW	CW	ldx	Shk	Color	Bitmap File	-
0	0						OPEN	
1	10	115	120	125	130		BEAMSPLITTER	
2	20	155	160	165	170		FUSEDDICHR0001	
3	40	175	180	185	190		FLOWERS	
4	250							
5	255							
6								
7								
8								-
^								

Palette definition list

### **Defining the palette entries**

Each palette button can be assigned a specific color or bitmap visualizing the effect of the button. Also,

each button can be assigned up to 5 different 'type' values.

### Selecting the palette functions

Note: if the fixture does not have multiple functions for individual palette entries it is not necessary to define the 'type' functions.Some of the more advanced fixtures may map different types of functions for the same effect (e.g. the same gobo) onto one DMX control channel. An example is fixture with rotating gobo where the 'function' (static, rotation, index etc..) of each individual gobo is selected via different values on the same control channel. For example :

Sliake

etc..

In order to be able to select the different functions for the same effect, the profile includes up to 5 different functions for each palette entry.



By default all 5 possible palette functions are defined as Def (for default). To select new functions or edit the current functions for the current palette, click **Palette Functions** in the lower right-hand corner of the dialog.

Select	Gobo 1 Palette Types			×
No	Value Type	<-Set	Available Types	•
1	Default		B/O (Blink)	100
2	Rotation CW		Shake	
3	Rotation CCW		Speed	
4	Indexed		Fixed	_
5	Shake	©[	Split	-
	🗶 Cance		🖊 ОК	

Palette functions dialog

Assign a function by high-lighting the function number (1-5) in the left hand list, then high-light the function in the available functions list on the right side and click **<-Set**. Alternatively. Note that the available functions are pre-defined and that it is not possible to define new functions.

Defining simple palettes

If the fixture does not have multiple functions it is not necessary to define the different palette value types. Enter the DMX values in the leftmost Def column using the first value field. If all DMX values are kept in the same column the different value type buttons will not show up on the fixture control at all.

#### Selecting button color

Each palette button should have a color or a bitmap assigned (if no color or bitmap is assigned, the palette button will be black). To select a color, highlight the relevant line in the palette list then click **Color** on the right hand side of the dialog. Use the standard Windows Color dialog to select a suitable color. To save system resources assign colors to buttons that represent color functions, rather than using bitmaps.

### Selecting button bitmap

To select a bitmap, click **Bitmaps** on the right hand side of the dialog to open the select bitmap dialog <sup>79</sup>.



Select bitmap dialog

To assign a bitmap to a palette entry, simply drag and drop the bitmap from the bitmap dialog to the palette entry. Alternatively high-light the palette entry and double-click the bitmap. Note that it is not possible to assign color bitmaps to gobo/effect palettes, or gobo bitmaps to color palettes. Click the gobo or color buttons to change the view between gobo/effect and color bitmaps. LightJockey includes a number of bitmaps for colors, gobos and effects - it is however likely that when defining new profiles, the correct bitmaps will not be present. In this case it is possible to create custom bitmaps to use with the palette buttons - see creating custom bitmaps for palettes are not the same - in order to use color bitmaps for gobos (or the other way around), the bitmap file must be copied into the correct folder.

### **Editing palette DMX control values**



### Entering entry palette values

To set DMX control values for each palette button, highlight the entry in the palette definition list and enter the values in the value fields to the right of the palette list. Note that the labels describing each values corresponds to the value types defined for the palette and change dynamically with the value types selected. If a particular button does not have the same or all the functions of other buttons, e.g. if the open gobo does not have values for rotation or index just leave the field blank. Then, when selecting open gobo on the fixture control the rotation and index functions will not be available. When the values have been entered, click Set Palette Values.

Right-click the palette list to access the palette popup men: Insert - inserts empty line (disabled if last palette entry is already used) Delete - deletes the highlighted palette entries Clear - clears the selected palette entries Clear all - clears all palette entries Compact palette - removes (deletes) 'empty' palette entries and compacts palette Copy palette to clipboard - copies palette to clipboard Copy palette from clipboard - copies the contents of a palette that has previously been copied to the clipboard.

Note : color palettes can only be copied from other color palettes while gobo and effect palettes may be copied from each other.

### 19.4.6 The fixture info tab

Manufacturer Clay Paky	Profile Notes (Max 4096 Chars)
Fixture Name CP Color 150	Clay Paky Color 150 - CMY Mode Untested profile made from manual protocol
Fixture Mode CMY Mode	information
Author JP Andersen	CMY Mode : Option 11 = ON
Fixture ID CPCOLOR150CMY	Ver 1.1 April 1 2004 JPA Renamed fixture and linked to new OV profile
Fixture Icon Bitmap CP_COLOR150 Set Clear	Ver 1.2 Feb 2005 JPA Modified to 2.6.9 format
Fixture Icon Caption Color 150	
DIPSwitch Offset	

The fixture info tab

The fixture info tab contains general profile information, including the fixture manufacturer and model, profile author, different attributes and notes about the profile.

#### Manufacturer

Select the manufacturer from the drop down list. If the manufacturer does not exist in the list simply type the name directly.

#### Fixture name (model)

Type the fixture model name here.

#### Fixture mode

Since a fixtures may often be controlled in one of several 'DMX Modes' use this field to specify the relevant 'DMX mode'. Profiles with identical manufacturer and fixture names but with different 'DMX Mode' entries will be listed as separate entries in a separate sub folder in the fixture configuration dialog 6.

CP Color 150 CP Color 150 CP Color 150, CMY Mode CP Color 150, RGB Mode

Listing for same fixture in 2 different modes

#### Note

Profiles created LightJockey proir to version 2.6 build 9 contains Manufacturer, Fixture Name and Mode combined into one field (Fixture Mode) - these older profiles are listed as seperate model entries in the fixture configuration, even if they are infact same fixture model in different modes. To update an old formatt profile, simply edit the relevant fields and res-ave the profile.

#### Icon bitmap

To select a bitmap for the fixture icon, click **Set** and select the bitmap from the file dialog. If no bitmap is specified, a generic scanner bitmap will be used for the fixture button. In the quite likely event that a suitable bitmap is not supplied with LightJockey, it is possible to use custom bitmaps - see <u>creating custom bitmaps for fixture icons</u> 279. Check the transparent check box to make the bitmap background color transparent.



Fixture icon using default bitmap

#### Icon caption

Use the lcon caption field to specify the default caption on the fixture icon. Note that the caption for configured fixtures may be still be modified by changing the fixtures user name in the fixture configuration 6.

#### Fixture ID (IMPORTANT)

Since all fixtures configured as <u>generic fixture type 2</u><sup>[247]</sup> are considered identical by LightJockey regardless of the actual profile, the fixture ID has been implemented to distinguish between different 'flavors' of profiles. While the <u>cross fixture compatibility</u> <sup>[22]</sup> is designed to let certain effects be compatible across fixture types, specific DMX values for effects such as color and gobo does normally not make sense when applied to different types of fixtures. When applying values to non-compatible effects, LightJockey uses the Fixture ID to distinguish between the different flavors of user profiles - for example values for example colors will only be applied to selected fixtures if the <u>master and slave</u> <sup>[30]</sup> fixtures have identical fixture IDs. When applying the ID it is usually a good idea to select a name that uniquely identifies the fixture type, e.g. "Roboscan 2000".

#### Addressing DIP Switch

If the fixture uses a standard DIP switch addressing scheme, enable the Adr-DIP switch to show the address setting in the fixture configuration. It is possible to add a constant to the DIP switch setting to offset the DIP switch by a constant value, for example -1 to set DMX address 1 = all DIPs off, or 512 to always set DIP switch 10 on.



#### **Profile notes**

Use the notes to pass usable information to other users. Notes should include details about specific fixture settings or missing functions or features.

Hint: cut and paste from a word processor like Microsoft Word enables the use of features such as different colors or text sizes and use of attributes such as bold or italics.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 256

### 19.4.7 The intensity & lamp tab

This tab defines intensity and lamp related functions.

DMX (	Offset Dmx Values	
Enable Shutter Function	Closed 0 Open 0	
I Enable Strobe Function 0	Slow 0 Fast 0 0	Iff 0
Enable Intensity Function	Min 0 Max 0 (Ra	ange min/max values)
Enable Grand Master/Intensity Blackout when Grand Master at	Invert Intensity value range     Invert entire Intensity channel	Limit GM to intensity range
Blackout Values	🔽 Enable Lamp On	🔽 Enable Lamp Off
Offset Value 🔺	Offset Value 🔺	Offset Value
0	0	0
2	2 Clear	2
3 Clear	3 Set	3 Clear
5 Set		4 <u>– – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –</u>
- Det		
6		6 Set

Intensity & lamp tab

🔺 Inten	sity		×
UserPalet	te E	ades <u>H</u> elp	
Off		Shutter Closed	
Off	•	Strobe Off	►
Off	•	Intensity 0,0%	►

Fixture Intensity control

### Shutter function (semi dynamic function)

Enabling the shutter function results in a shutter button on the intensity control. The function requires two values. One for shutter closed and one for shutter open. Note that he shutter button will only reflect the shutter open state if the current output value has exactly the same value as the shutter open command; most fixtures actually opens the shutter on a large value interval on the control channel. This function may also be used to switch the lamp on and off for fixtures equipped with a halogen lamp.

### Strobe function (dynamic function)

The strobe function requires a value for slowest strobe, a value for fastest strobe and a value for strobe off. The **strobe off** value is sent when the strobe control is dragged all the way back to 0%.

### Intensity function (dynamic function)

Enables intensity control. The values required are the minimum/maximum DMX values used in the control interval (not values for intensity min and max, see inverting values below).

### Enable Grand Master/Intensity

The intensity function may be linked to the Grand Master or sub-masters by checking the **Enable Grand Master/Intensity** box.

Blackout when Grand Master at 0

If the fixture does not have intensity control, it is possible, by checking **Blackout when Grand Master at 0**, to have the fixture blackout when the Grand Master reaches 0 (assuming blackout values are entered into the blackout values list - see below).

Note that it is not possible to link both intensity and Blackout to the Grand Master at the same time.

#### Invert entire Intensity Channel

If the fixture implements max intensity at DMX value 0 and minimum intensity at DMX value 255 check this option to invert the DMX values for the control channel before transmitting. Output values are calculated as 255-value. This function affects the entire control channel used for intensity control. This function is included mainly for backwards compatibility (see updated functions below).

#### Invert Intensity value range (\*)

This function inverts the DMX values as soon as the value is within the range specified in intensity min/max values. Use this switch when the fixture implements maximum intensity at lowest DMX value and minimum intensity at highest DMX value. Note, this function inverts the DMX value as soon as it is within the intensity control range regardless of actual source of the value. This includes sources such as <u>default DMX values</u> [277] - to set a default DMX value to intensity off for a fixture with inverted intensity, type the DMX value for maximum intensity into the default DMX values list (the value is automatically inverted to minimum intensity before being transmitted). Note with this option AND grand master control both enabled make sure to check *Limit GM to intensity range* as well, otherwise the Grand Master may produce unwanted results.

### Limit Grand Master (GM) to intensity range (\*)

This option limits the Grand Master (and sub masters) 'working range' - they will only take effect when the DMX value is within the given intensity interval. Use this function to stop the GM affecting other functions on the intensity channel (such as shutter or strobe commands). If the action of the GM is not limited, it will affect the whole Intensity control channel.

(\*) Note - these options are new to version 2.5 build 6 - they will be ignored if the profile is used on an earlier LightJockey version.

Examples: Single function Intensity channels

Example 1 (single function command channel) DMX 0-255 : Intensity 0-100%. Set Intensity Min/Max to 0 and 255 respectively and enable *GM/Intensity control*.

Example 2 (single function command channel) DMX 0-127 : Intensity 0-100%, DMX 128-255 : no function. Set Intensity Min/Max to 0 and 127 respectively and enable *GM/Intensity control*.

Example 3 (single function command channel, inverted) DMX 0-255 : Intensity 100%-0%, Set Intensity Min/Max to 0 and 255 respectively. Enable *GM/Intensity control* and check *Invert Intensity value range* (or entire intensity channel for backwards compatibility)

Example 4 (single function command channel, inverted) DMX 0-127 : Intensity 100%-0%, DMX 128-255 : N/A. Set Intensity Min/Max to 0 and 128 respectively. *Enable GM/Intensity control* and check *Limit GM to intensity range* 

Examples: *Multi function Intensity channels* 

Example 5 (Multi function command channel)

DMX 0-127 : Intensity 0-100%, DMX 127-255 : strobe (or whatever) Set Intensity Min/Max to 0 and 127 respectively and enable GM. Also check Limit GM to intensity range (unless the GM should affect the whole channel).

Example 6 (Multi function command channel, Intensity inverted)

DMX 0-99 : strobe (or whatever), DMX 100-200 : Intensity 100%-0%, DMX 201-255 : strobe (or whatever)

Set Intensity Min/Max to 100 and 200 respectively and enable *GM/Intensity control*. Also check *Invert Intensity Value Range* as well as *Limit GM to intensity* range.

### **Blackout values (static function)**

Fill out this <u>static function</u><sup>260</sup> to enable LightJockey to blackout the fixture. The values are sent when <u>Blackout</u><sup>195</sup> is enabled directly or via the Blackout when Grand Master at 0 function.

🔆 Lamp Control 🛛 🔀				
Help				
Snap	<u> </u>			
Snap	\$			

Fixture lamp control

### Lamp On Values (static function)

Enable the lamp on function and fill out the static values to enable LightJockey to send a lamp on command to the fixture.

### Auto LampOn Time

Some fixtures may require a lamp on command to be held for a minimum time before activating. To ensure that the <u>auto lamp on</u> [52] function holds the command for the required duration, enter the required minimum time in this field (in milliseconds).

### Lamp Off Values (static function)

Enable the lamp off function and fill out the static values to enable LightJockey to send a lamp off command to the fixture.

Both lamp on and lamp off commands are available from the fixtures lamp control. Note that these commands are intended to be used with fixtures that are equipped with discharge lamps that requires a certain cool down time before the lamp can be re-struck. Profiles for fixtures equipped with halogen lamps should use the normal intensity/shutter commands for lamp control.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 256, dynamic functions 259, static functions 260

### 19.4.8 The pan & tilt tab

Enable Pan/Tilt Control 16 Bit MSB/LSB Pan DMX Offset     Tilt DMX Offset     To     Tilt DMX Offset	
Enable Misc Movement Control DMX Offset Name Min Max Min Max	
Enable Position Presets     Enable Movement Macros     Enable Follow Spot Function	
Enable Pan/Tilt Patch         Patch Pan MSB to       0         Patch Tilt MSB to       0         Patch Tilt MSB to       0	

The pan & tilt tab



Fixture pan/tilt control

The pan/tilt control supports 8- or 16-bit pan and tilt control in any combination of control channels.

#### **Defining 8-bit pan/tilt**

Defining pan and tilt controls with 8 bit resolution is pretty straight forward. Check the **Enable Pan/Tilt Control 8-bit** box and enter the relevant offsets in the **pan and tilt DMX offset** respectively (note offsets start at 0 not 1)

#### **Defining 16-bit pan/tilt**

To enable 16 bit Pan/tilt control, check the **Enable Pan/Tilt Control 16-bit** box. If the fixture uses pan and tilt MSB/LSB control on adjacent channels simply enter the enter the relevant offsets in the **pan and tilt offset** respectively (note offsets start at 0 not 1), otherwise please read through the **Pan/Tilt patching** section below.

Misc Movement Control (dynamic function) - Check to enable a drag bar show the main pan/tilt grid. This control may, for example, be used to control a speed attribute linked to the fixtures pan/tilt.

Enable Position Presets - check to enable <u>position presets</u> for the profile. Enable Movement Macros - check this option to enable <u>movement macros</u> for the profile. Enable Follow Spot Function - check to enable the <u>follow spot function</u> for the profile.

#### Patching the 16 bit Pan and Tilt channels

This option is only available when 16 bit pan/tilt control has been selected. In order to perform the internal calculations (for example fades or movement macros) LightJockey requires the pan and tilt values to be present in an **adjacent MSB/LSB format** (the pan and tilt control channels them selves do not have to be adjacent). MSB and LSB are also often referred to as coarse and fine channels. Since not all fixture protocols follow this format for 16 bit pan/tilt control it may be necessary to patch the output of the pan and tilt values to the correct control channels after the relevant calculations have been performed.

#### Example 1

Fixture control channels offsets (offset at 0):Pan MSB(coarse)10Pan LSB(fine)11Tilt MSB(coarse)15Tilt LSB (fine)16

Since the fixture has adjacent MSB/LSB control channels no patching is necessary. Pan DMX Offset 10

Tilt DMX Offset 15

#### Example 2

Fixture control channels offsets (offset at 0)Pan LSB(fine)10Pan MSB(coarse)11Tilt LSB (fine)15Tilt MSB(coarse)16

0

The fixture has adjacent pan/tilt MSB/LSB control channels, but the MSB/LSB format is reversed (LSB is first) - so in this case it is necessary to patch the Pan and Tilt values.

Pan DMX Offset Tilt DMX Offset	15	1
Pan Patch MSB to	11	
Pan Patch LSB to	10	
Tilt Patch MSB to	16	
Tilt Patch LSB to	15	

#### Example 3

Fixture control channels offsets (offset at 0)Pan MSB(coarse)4Tilt MSB(coarse)5Pan LSB(fine)13Tilt LSB (fine)14

The fixture has non adjacent pan and tilt control channels, but since it has two control channels in adjacent pairs it is still possible to use the control channels to perform the calculations and then patch them afterwards:

Pan DMX Offset Tilt DMX Offset	13	4
Pan patch MSB to Pan Patch LSB to Tilt Patch MSB to Tilt Patch LSB to	4 13 5 14	
<b>Example 4</b> Pan MSB(coarse)	Д	
Tilt MSB(coarse)	7	
Pan LSB(fine)	13	
Tilt LSB (fine)	16	

In this case there are no pairs of two adjacent channels that LightJockey needs to perform the calculations so it is necessary to perform the calculations in channels that are not used for other purposes. This means reserving 4 extra control channels, effectively using 4 channels extra pr fixture and limits the profile to a total of 28 useful DMX channels. So for example, if the fixtures last used offset is 20 enter the following values:

Pan DMX Offset Tilt DMX Offset	23	21
Pan patch MSB to Pan Patch LSB to Tilt Patch MSB to Tilt Patch LSB to	4 13 7 16	

### 19.4.9 The fixed color tab

The functions on this tab define the profiles fixed color controls (e.g. colors mounted on a color wheel). CMY and RGB functions must be defined via the  $\underline{CMY \& RGB tab}$  [270].

				DMD	[	Omx Values					
🔽 Er	able Co	lor 1 Cor	ntrol (Pal	ette)	N	ame		Min 0	Max 0		
🔽 Er	able Co	lor 2 Cor	ntrol (Pal	ette)	N	ame 🗌		Min 0	Max 0		
🔽 Er	able Co	lor 3 Cor	ntrol	0	N	ame 🗌		Min 0	Max 0		
₩ Er	able Co	lor 4 Cor	ntrol	[C	) N	ame 🗌		Min 0	Max 0	_	
Color	1 Palett	colo	r 2 Palet	te						Bitmaps	Colors
No	Def	Def	Def	Def	Def	Color	Bitmap File		<b>_</b>	Def	Def
1					-	-				Def	Def 0
2										[	Def 0
4											
5			-	-	-					Set Pale	tte Values
7											
8									-	Palette	Functions

The fixed color control tab

Colors								
UserPalet	tte P	references	Eades	Help				
Snap	•		Colo	r O		►		
Snap	•		Scroll ?					

Fixture color control

### Color 1 and Color 2 (dynamic functions)

The color 1 and 2 function is intended to be used with selection of colors. Both have the option of having an associated palette 260.

### Color 3 & 4 (dynamic functions)

The primary purpose of the color 3 and color 4 functions are to control color related functions other than direct color selection. The functions do not have an associated palettes.

Some fixtures may have combined functions on one control channel, for example fixed color selection and continuous color rotation on one channel. In this case it is possible to 'share' the same control channel between 2 controls. For example :

Fixture has color control channel offset at 4. Color selection is from DMX value 0 to 200 and values over 200 sets continuous color wheel rotation.

Enable the color 1 control and set the DMX offset to 4 and set min and max values to 0 and 200 respectively (and create the palette).

Also assign color control 3 to offset 4 and set min and max values to 201 and 255 respectively. The two controls now shares the same control channel, but since color control 3 control is limited to the high interval it will control color wheel rotation only.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 258, dynamic functions 259, user definable palettes 260

### 19.4.10 The CMY & RGB tab

The functions on this tab define the profiles CMY and RGB color functions. To define other color functions use functions on the fixed color tab 270.

Cyan/Red Magenta/Green Yellow/Blue Invert CMY/RGB Values	DMX Offset	No Color 0 No Color 0 No Color 0 No Color 0	alues Full Color 0 Full Color 0 Full Color 0	
Enable CMY Control				
Enable RGB Control     Enable RGB hue control	🔲 Enable R(	3B saturation control	Enable RGB value control	

The CMY & RGB control tab

### CMY and RGB (dynamic functions)

The profile implements specific functions for CMY and RGB control. Besides the drag bars for each individual color, the CMY function implements a CMY color picker and RGB control implements HSV controls. For fixtures that invert the CMY or RGB values (full saturation at 0 value, no color at 255) use the Invert CMY/RGB values option to automatically invert the values before transmitting to the fixture.

CMY Picke	r			
Colors				×
UserPalette Pr	eferences <u>E</u> ades (	Help		
Fade 4	Cyan 69,0 <mark>%</mark>	Þ		
Fade ┥	Magenta 39,2%	►		
Fade	Yellow 45,1%	►		

### Fixture CMY Control (part of color control)

The CMY color picker is only available if each CMY control channel use the full 0-255 value range.



Color control with RGB and HSV controls

HSV controls modifies RGB levels via Hue, Saturation and Value drag bars respectively. Note that saturation and value bars are only useful for fixtures that integrate intensity control into the RGB control channels (e.g. LED fixtures with no separate intensity control). For fixtures with separate RGB and intensity control, only the hue control bar should be enabled. Note that Hue control is required to enable either Value and Saturation controls.



Color control with RGB and Hue control

HSV controls are only available if each RGB control channel use the full 0-255 value range.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile [258], dynamic functions [259]

### 19.4.11 The gobo tab

	DMX Offset									Values	
🔽 Er	nable Go	bo 1 Co	ntrol (Pa	lette) 0	N.	ame 🗌		Min	0	Мак 0	
🔽 Er	nable Go	bo 2 Co	ntrol (Pa	lette)	. N	ame		Min	0	Мак 0	
🔽 Er	nable Go	bo 3 Co	ntrol	0	N.	ame 🗌		Min	0	Max 0	
<b>▼</b> Er	nable Go	bo 4 Co	ntrol	ſ	N.	ame 🗌		Min	0	Мак 0	
Gobo	1 Palet	te Gob	o 2 Pale	tte ]							Bitmaps Colors
No	Def	Def	Def	Def	Def	Color	Bitmap File				
0											Def U Def U
1											Def 0 Def 0
2											Def
3										_	Dalo
4											
5											Set Palette Values
6											
7											
8										-	Palette Functions
1.0										_	

The gobo control tab



Fixture Gobo Control

### Gobo 1 and Gobo 2 (dynamic functions)

The gobo 1 and 2 function is intended to be used in connection with selection of gobos. Both have the possibility of having an associated palette 260.

### Gobo 3 & 4 (dynamic functions)

The primary purpose of the gobo 3 and 4 functions are to control gobo related functions other than direct gobo selection, such as gobo rotation and indexing. The functions do not have associated palettes.

Some fixtures have combined functions on one control channel, for example gobo selection and continuous gobo wheel rotation on one channel. In this case it is possible to 'share' the same control

channel between 2 controls. For example :

Fixture has gobo control channel offset at 4. Gobo selection is from DMX value 0 to 200 and values over 200 sets continuous gobo wheel rotation.

Enable the gobo 1 control and set the DMX offset to 4 and set min and max values to 0 and 200 respectively (and create the palette).

Also assign gobo control 3 to offset 4 and set min and max values to 201 and 255 respectively. The two controls now shares the same control channel, but color control 3 is limited to the high interval it will be much easier to select the right value for gobo wheel rotation.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 258, dynamic functions 259, user definable palettes 260

### 19.4.12 The beam tab

	DMX Offset	Dmx Values
Enable Iris Control	0	Open 0 Closed 0
Enable Focus Control	0	Near 0 Far 0
Enable Zoom Control	0	Wide 0 Narrow 0
<ul> <li>Enable Frost Control</li> </ul>	0	Off O On O
🔽 Enable Beam 1 Control	0 Name	Min 0 Max 0
Enable Beam 2 Control	0 Name	Min 0 Max 0

The beam tab

💊 Bean	n			×
Breacts	<u>D</u> efault	Help		
Fade			Iris 113	•
Fade			Focus 87	N,
Fade			Zoom 177	-
Fade			Frost 188	

Fixture beam control

The profile supports 4 named dynamic 'beam' functions, namely Iris, Focus, Zoom and (variable) frost or wash. These functions are all <u>cross fixture type compatible</u> 22. In order for the cross fixture compatibility to work properly make sure to fill in the correct values in the appropriate fields (such as the correct values for wide and narrow zoom). In addition, it is possible to define 2 'unspecified' beam controls for other beam related functions. These functions are not compatible across fixture types.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 258, dynamic functions 259

### 19.4.13 The effects tab

	DMX Offset									ix Values		
En En	able Eff	ects 1 C	ontrol (P	alette)	N	ame 🗌		Min	0	Max 0		
🗆 En	able Eff	ects 2 C	ontrol (P	alette) 🛛	N	ame 🗌		Min	0	Max 0		
En En	able Eff	iects 3 C	ontrol	0	N	ame 🗌		Min	0	Max 0	_	
🗆 En	able Eff	iects 4 C	ontrol	0	N	ame 🗌		Min	0	Max 0	_	
Effect	ts 1 Pak	ette Eff	ects 2 P	alette							Bitmaps	Colors
No	Def	Def	Def	Def	Def	Color	Bitmap File			<b>_</b>	Der (D	Dec la
0		_									Derjo	Derjo
2											Derjo	Derlo
3												Def
4												
5											Set Pale	tte Values
6												
7	_			_								
8		-								•	Palette	Functions

The effects tab



Fixture effects control

### Effects 1 and 2 (dynamic functions)

The effects 1 function is intended to be used with selection of effects (e.g. prism effect). Each of the effects controls may use an associated palette 2001.

### Effects 3 & 4 (dynamic functions)

The primary purpose of the effects 3 and 4 functions are to control effect related functions other than direct selection via the palette, such as rotation, indexing or speed selection. The functions do not have an associated palette.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 256, dynamic functions 259, user definable palettes 260

### 19.4.14 The special tab

### **Fixture Reset**

The special control tab contains an entry for the fixture reset command 120 - the reset command is sent

to selected fixtures when clicking A located on the fixture tool bar [57].

### Minimum Reset Time

Some fixtures may require the reset command to be held for a minimum amount of time. To ensure that the reset command is held for the required duration, enter the required minimum time in this field (in milliseconds).

#### **Special Functions**

Special Functions							
Special 1							
Special 2							
Special 3							
Linused							
Unused		-1					
	_						
Ē	lear Func	tion					
Function N	lame						
Special 1							
Function V	alues						
Offset	Value	•					
0	255						
1	131						
2							
3	4						
4		-					
4	Set	Clear					

The profile also contains the option to define up to 32 individual static functions that are not already pre-defined in LightJockey. Since the special functions are not defined, LightJockey does not indicate that a special function has been selected, other than showing the values in the fixture controls if the control channels used accidentally coincides with the channels used for the special command. As a consequence of this, there is also no way of removing a special command, short of clearing the scene or defining another special command that counters the first. Also note that the special commands are not presets - changing the contents of a special command does not alter already programmed scenes. All parameters contained in a special command are snapped by default unless another control is sets the channel to fade.

### **Defining special functions**

To define or edit a special function highlight the line in the special functions list (*unused* describes currently undefined function) and enter the special function values DMX values. Finally, give the function a name in the 'Function name' field.

Utevels				x
<u>U</u> serPalette	Eades	Special	Help	

Once a special function is defined it available in a list from the Special Control menu. To get the

Special/Level control click the  $\underbrace{III}$  icon on the fixture tool bar  $\boxed{57}$ .

Fixture Special 🛛 💌
Preferences Help
Special Functions
SPECIAL 1
SPECIAL 2
SPECIAL 3
SPECIAL 4
SPECIAL 5
<b>1</b> 0K
VON

Selecting a fixture special function from the special functions list

Apply the special command by selecting it from the list and click Ok, or double-click the line in the list.

### **Extending Grand Master control**

By default the <u>Grand Master</u> [195] only affects the dedicated intensity control channel as defined on the <u>Intensity tab</u> [265]. As some fixtures may not implement a dedicated intensity control channel or may feature multiple intensity control channels (e.g. RGB control fixtures without a dedicated intensity control channel), use the **Extended GM Control** settings to extend Grand master control to other control channels than the default intensity control channel.



(Ext GM = Extended GM control) (Def Int = Default Intensity control channel)

Note that it is only possible to define 'standard GM behaviour' to other channels than the dedicated intensity channel, standard means that the DMX output value is 'scaled' by the GM/sub master value, and that GM settings for the dedicated intensity control channel always overrides extended GM control settings for the same control channel. The ability to extend GM control to other channels than the dedicated intensity control channel is only available from LightJockey version 2.6 build 7. Older versions of LightJockey will ignore the extended GM control if included in the profile data.

### **Default DMX Values**

Normally LightJockey assumes 0 as default DMX output value for all controls channels for a newly configured fixture. However some fixtures may exhibit unwanted side effects when receiving 0 on a control channel (such as shutting off a discharge lamp). In this case make sure to specify a suitable default DMX value for critical control channels. The specified values are applied to the current <u>default DMX output values</u> when the profile data is applied and stored with the profile definition when saved.

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 256, static functions 260

#### Level Control Visible Ofs Caption Enabled 🔺 No Yes evel Contro Visible 3 No-Visihility 4 No Je. Invisible No Yes No control Channe Disabled Status Enabled 10 No ĭes Yes 11 No. Disable All evel Control 12 No Yes 13 Captions No Yes Level Caption No 14 Yes. BD-R 15 Yes Yes Speed otal Number of 16 Yes BD-4 BD-B DMX Channels 17 Yes 18 BD-0 Used Yes 19 BD-D Yes Yes Fixture Uses Yes Yes 20 Spee 21 Channels

### 19.4.15 The levels tab

The levels tab implements up to 32 generic 8 bit level controls as virtual faders. These may be used to define any dynamic functions that is cannot be defined in the normal function context or takes up too many control channels to fit inside the profile (e.g. barn-doors or extra color or gobo functions).



Fixture extended/level control

Enabled status By default, the generic fixture has all 32 DMX control channels enabled and visible in the level control. LightJockey uses the status of each of the channels to determine if the fixture has a valid control for that particular offset, so by default all 32 channels are available for control from the level control.

If a control channel is disabled, LightJockey will not send any values to that offset. Normally a fixture profile will use much less than the default 32 DMX channels. To disable the unused channels high-light the line(s) and click **Disable**, or click **Disable All** and then apply the profile (which will re-enable all channels used by the profile). Before saving the profile it is a good idea to verify that the last offsets enabled matches the total DMX channels used by the fixtures DMX protocol. Visible status

The 'visible' status of each offset determines if that particular control channel has a corresponding 'fader' in the level control.

When applying a profile to a fixture, LightJockey will automatically evaluate all <u>dynamic</u> and <u>static</u> will automatically evaluate all <u>dynamic</u> and <u>static</u> functions and enable channel control for the offsets used in the various functions. To avoid having control channels allocated to named functions (for example Intensity) show up in level control, LightJockey also sets the visible status to off. To change the visibility of the individual offsets in the fixtures level control, high-light the line(s) and click **Visible** or **Invisible**.

To assign one or more channels to level control, high-light the offset line(s) and click Enable or Visible

if the offset is already enabled.

### Level caption

Add a caption to each offset line that identifies the function of the individual level controls. The caption is used to identify the channel on the level control as well as the control channel function in for example the global patch and a g

See also defining the generic fixture 2 profile 256, dynamic functions 259

### 19.4.16 The Offline Visualizer tab

In order to make a fixture appear in the Offline Visualizer, an Offline Visualizer profile for the particular fixture must be linked to the LightJockey fixture profile (LightJockey and Offline Visualizer profiles are two different things) - use the Offline Visualizer tab to link the profile. Note that the Offline Visualizer must be running to create the link.

🕅 Generic Fixture Profil	e		×	
Files Help				
Fixture Info Inter	nsity & Lamp Pan & Tilt	Fixed Color Control	CMY & RGB Control	
Gobo Control Beam Control Effects Control Spe		Specials Lev	vets Offline Visualizer	
Manufacturer	Fixture Model	Fisture Mode		
Robe	Scan 1200xt	Assigned (	Offline profilection	
Manufacturer	Model	Mode	•	
Robe	ColorSpot 170at	m4		
Robe	DJScan 150	XT		
Robe	DJScan 250		XT	
Robe	be Ecolor		250M	
Robe	Scan 1200xt			
Robe	Scan 1200xt	m1		
Robe	Scan 12			
Robe	Spot 150 Supported fi	xture profiles		
Robe	Spot 150M	m2	_	
Robe	Spot 150xt	m3	100	
Robe	Spot 150xt	m4		
Robe	Spot 160xt	m1	-1	
Rohe	Snot 160x4	m?	<u> </u>	
Profile Notes: Prism supported. Profile History. 23 Jul 2003 Modified by 01 Focus flens) wheel denses	er Brum.	rofile notes	4	
🗶 Cance	Apply to N	faster Fixture A	oply to all Selected Fixtures	

The Offline Visualizer tab

### Assigning an Offline Visualizer profile to the profile

LightJockey will automatically request a list of supported fixtures from the Offline Visualizer application. The entire list of supported fixtures are shown in the list. Select the profile to link to the LightJockey profile from the list. If a suitable profile does not appear in the list, the Offline Visualizer does not support the fixture.

#### **Profile Notes**

Offline version 4.6+ implements a function to extract notes embedded in the Offline Visualizer profiles - notes and profile history is shown below the list. Not all profiles include notes and history.

### **Updating Offline profiles**

The complete LightJockey installation package and some update versions ship with a number of Offline Visualizer . New and updated profiles may be found at the Martin Website at <u>www.martin.com/service/software/controller/lj/Userprofiles.htm</u>. The latest official library with offline Visualizer profiles may be downloaded directly from the manufacturer's of the Offline Visualizer at <u>www.lighthouse.nl</u>, download area. Follow on-site instructions on how to update the Offline Visualizer fixture library.

### 19.4.17 Creating custom bitmaps for palette controls

The bitmap files must be standard Windows BMP files, and must not be RLE encoded. The size of the bitmap should be exact 31x30 pixels and the color depth should be either monochrome(black/white) or 256 colors (other formats can be used but may not work correctly in all installations). The filename of the bitmap file must not exceed 30 characters in length excluding the .BMP extension and folder name (see later). Note that the scanner1 profile only allows15 characters in total .

It is possible to use one of the already existing bitmaps as model when creating new custom bitmaps - however be sure to leave the original bitmap intact when saving the new modified bitmap.

The bitmap files for color palette buttons are located in the following folder structure:

<installationfolder>\Source-Images\Colors\<folder name>

The bitmap files for gobo and effects palette buttons are located in the following folder structure: <installationfolder>\Source-Images\Gobos\<folder name>

User-defined bitmaps must be placed into the same folders - take care not to overwrite the original bitmaps.

Note that LightJockey will not refresh the contents of the bitmap folders as long as the profile definition dialog is open - if new bitmaps are added with the dialog open, click refresh (menu) to update the contents of the dialog with the new bitbap files.

### **Bitmap folders**

To organize the bitmaps it is possible to create folders containing the individual bitmaps. The folders are created standard sub-folders under either the \Colors or \Gobos folder. For example <installationfolder>\Source-Images\Colors\MyColors will enable the folder MyColors. See user definable palettes 200.

Since updated versions of LightJockey is likely to contain new bitmaps for gobos and colors, it is advisable to use filenames that are unlikely to be used by LightJockey in the future - e.g.: Peters\_Cone.Bmp.

### 19.4.18 Creating custom bitmaps for fixture icons

The bitmap files must be standard Windows BMP files, and must not be RLE encoded. The height of the bitmap should not exceed 50 pixels to fit the fixed size Icon size. The filename of the bitmap file must not exceed 25 characters in length exclusive the .BMP extension. It is possible to use one of the already existing bitmaps as model when creating new custom bitmaps - however be sure to leave the original bitmap intact when saving the new bitmap.

The bitmap files for fixture icons are located in the following folder structure:

<installationfolder>\Source-Images\fixtures\

User-defined bitmaps must be placed into the same folder - take care not to overwrite the original bitmaps.

### **Transparent background bitmaps**



Fixture bitmap as non-transparent and transparent

For user defined profiles check **Transparent** on the <u>Fixture info tab</u> 263 in order to make the bitmap background color transparent (assume the color of the 'surface' the bitmap is imposed on). Note that for bitmaps the background color is defined as the color of the pixel in the lower left hand corner of the bitmap.

### 19.5 Importing and exporting profiles

### 19.5.1 Importing user defined fixture profiles

Use the Import profile function to import user defined profiles that has previously been created on and exported from other installations.

To import a profile, open the <u>fixture configuration</u> and select **Import -> Import Profile** from the menu. Use the standard Windows file dialog to select which file to import.

### Note:

Import/Export files exists in two formats:

.udo files - this format includes Offline Visualizer support files as well as the LightJockey profile. There are also .udo files for built in fixture profiles; these contain Offline Visualizer files only. .udo files can only be imported in LightJockey version 2.6 build 5 or higher.

.udf files - this format includes the LightJockey profile only.

Use the file dialog filter to list either or one of the two formats. Offline Visualizer support files will not be imported if the Offline Visualizer is not installed.



Filtering file types

Select a file and click Open to start the profile import.

### The Import File List

Before copying any files to the installation, LightJockey checks all files contained in the import file to see if the individual file already exists in the installation or if a file with the same file name but a different contents, for example a bitmap file with a different picture of a gobo, is already present in an installation. All files contained in the export file will be listed in the File Import List. If the export file contains Offline Visualizer support files, import of these files may be disabled by unchecking the *Import Offline Visualizer support files* option below the list.

HES_Technobeam.Udo			
ile List LJ Profile Notes			
mport File	Туре	Status/Action	
iource-Images\Gobos\Frost.bmp	LJ Bitmap	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Spots\HighEnd v1\HighEnd Technobeam Full(Rot	OV Fixture def	Import [modified]	
Offine2\Gobo\h_3Dblka.bmp	OV Bitmap	Skip (exists)	
Diffine2VGoboVh_3Dblks.LG	OV Line-gabo	Skip (exists)	
Diffine2VGoboVh_trianR.bmp	OV Bitmap	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Gobo\h_trianR.LG	OV Line-gabo	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Gobo\h_sicsq.bmp	OV Bitmap	Skip (exists)	
)Illine2\Gobo\h_sicsg.LG	OV Line-gabo	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Gobo\h_tumoi.bmp	OV Bilmap	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Gobo\h_tumpiLG	OV Line-gabo	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Gobo\h_rip.bmp	OV Bitmap	Import [modified]	
Offine2\Gobo\h_rip.LG	OV Line-gabo	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Gobo\h_wedges.bmp	OV Bilmap	Skip (exists)	
Offine2\Gobo\h_wedges.LG	OV Line-gabo	Skip (exists)	
Offine2V5oboVh_datcir.bmp	OV Bilmap	Skip (exists)	
and she to the state	25712	Part 2 - 113	_
Import Offline Visualizer support files			

Import File List

•If the file does not already exist it will be imported - Import(new).

•If the file already exists and has the same contents it will not be imported - Skip (exists)

•If a file with the same name already exists but has a different contents, new dialog will appear to

decide what action to take - Import (modified)

Click **Import All Files** to import all new and modified files from the profile export file. Click **Import Files (check modified)** to import all new files and prompt for an action for each file that already exists but with a different contents. The filename is shown together with a small description of the purpose of the file. In case of bitmap files (.bmp) the dialog displays both bitmap versions, both from the import and the already existing bitmap file - note that the bitmaps may not be displayed in their 'natural' size.



File Exists Dialog

**Use file from import** - This option will overwrite the existing file with the new file from the import. For profile definition files (.gs2,spt files), this means that the existing profile (LightJockey and/or Offline Visualizer profiles) will be overwritten by the new one. For bitmap files, any fixture already using the old bitmap (e.g. a gobo bitmap) will now use the new bitmap since the file is being replaced.

**Use existing file** - This option will keep the existing file and skip the new one. If the skipped file is a profile definition file, the new profile will not be imported. If the file is a bitmap the new profile will automatically use the existing bitmap in place of the one contained in the import file.

See also exporting user defined fixture profiles 281

### 19.5.2 Exporting user defined fixture profiles

Use the export function to create a single file containing the fixture profile and bitmaps used, including any custom bitmaps created for the profile as well as Offline Visualizer support files. Once an export file has been created and saved it can be distributed and imported to another LightJockey installation. To export a profile, first make sure to save the profile data in the profile definition dialog and locate the profile in the available fixture profiles list.

Since version 2.6 build 5 LightJockey can include Offline Visualizer data files in the profile export file. Note - when including offline data files the profile is saved in a different format (\*.udo files) and cannot be imported into LightJockey installations lower than version 2.6 build 5.

**Exporting without Offline Visualizer data** 

Locate and right-click the profile in the available profiles list and select **Create Export File without Offline Visualizer data** 

**Exporting with Offline Visualizer data** 

This option is only available if the profile is linked to an existing Offline Visualizer profile and the Offline Visualizer is running.

Locate and right-click the profile in the available profiles list and select **Create Export File including Offline Visualizer data** 



A confirmation dialog will appear (if not disabled) prompting to verify that the profile should be created including Offline Visualizer data.

### Saving the export file

🙀 Exporting User profile 🔀
(telp
CP_MiniScan_150_300.652
Adding LWS80.3 Drange.bmp Adding Bke 108.bmp Adding Deen.BMP Adding Open.BMP Adding Chen.BMP Adding Phone.BMP Adding Phone.BMP Adding DotCone.bmp Adding Control LS Adding Control LS Adding C Star2.LS Adding C Star2.LS Adding C Star2.LS Adding C Star2.LS Adding C DotextLLS Adding C DotextLS Adding C D
😸 Save 🛛 🗶 Cancel

Export file list

The contents of the profile export is now displayed in a list. To save the final export file click **Save** and save the file using the standard Windows file dialog. LightJockey defaults the folder to "<LJ installation>\Exports\". Export files that contain Offline Visualizer support data files are saved as .udo files - export files without Offline Visualizer support files are saved as .udf files. The saved file may now be moved or copied to another LightJockey installation and imported via the import profile [280] function.

Profiles may be submitted to the LightJockey fixture library through the LightJockey end user forum here: Link to topic

See also importing user defined fixture profiles 280

### 19.6 External application/device profile plug in

The External Application/Device profile is a specialized profile that enables communication from LJ to a 'plug in' type application rather than a DMX device. The plug in application may in turn control other applications or external devices. The profile acts like a regular fixture profile - this means that the external application or device can be controlled and programmed in the same contexts as a regular DMX fixture (e.g. programmed in scenes/sequences/cues, statics etc).

An example of an eternal plug in application is **LJ-RS232Send** that allows control of RS-232 devices from LightJockey - LJ-RS232Send can be found in *<Main LJ Folder*>\LJ-RS232Send\, please see LJ-

RS232Send help file for more documentation.

### Capabilities

The capabilities of the External application/device link depends entirely on the external application itself - the following section lists the possible options, which may or may not be implemented in the external application.

### String based interface

The external application link implements a string based interface where commands strings are sent from LightJockey to the external application. Command strings may contain ASCII characters from CHR(32) to CHR(127) with a length not exceeding 32 characters pr command (scene). If the external application is controlling an external device, it is up to the external application to transfer the command strings into something meaningful for the device.

### DMX out & in channels

Besides the commands string, the external application link may transfer the value of up to 4 user configurable DMX output channels and 4 user configurable DMX input channels pr profile. Note, there is a maximum limit of a total of 8 DMX output channels unless the selected output channels are within the addressing space of configured DMX transmitter hardware.

### Configuring an external application link

To setup a link to an external application, first <u>configure</u> an '**External Application/Device**' profile located under the 'Other' manufacturer.

The profile requires a valid DMX address and needs a total of 32 DMX channels. Since it is normally not required that the command data is sent out to the DMX link, the profile does not need to be addressed in the DMX address space covered by DMX hardware (see below).

### Addressing outside the hardware supported DMX address space

If the installed DMX hardware does not support all available DMX out addresses (link 1-4), the external application/device profile may be addressed on an unused link. In order to be able to access links not covered by DMX transmitter hardware, re-configure LJ to no DMX hardware to allow access to the full addressing space. Set the DMX address for the profile to an unused link - then finally, reconfigure LJ with the DMX transmitter hardware. Note that subsequent modifications to the fixture configuration will give a warning that the profile does not have a valid DMX address - in this case, the warning may be ignored.

### Application link setup

Once the profile has been setup, it will appear on the LightJockey desktop as an 'unlinked' external application link.



'Unlinked' external link

Right-Click the fixture icon, and select **Define Application Link**. Click the folder icon (top right) to browse for the .ini file associated with the external application (see application documentation). If the external application uses DMX output/input values (see application documentation) specify the relevant source channels. Check Auto-launch and Auto-close to have the external application automatically start and close down with LightJockey.

C:\LJ_W2K\Test\ExternalApplicationSa	ample\SampleExternalApp.Ini		
Property	Value		
Definition File	C:\LJ_W2K\Test\ExternalApplicationSample\SampleExternalA_		
NAME	External Application Sample		
AUTHOR	J.P. Andersen, Martin R&D		
EXECUTABLE	ExternalApp.Exe		
PURPOSE	LJ External Application Link Demonstration		
BITMAP	dcd485.bmp		
APPLICATIONCADTION	External Assessment in the		
CORVENTACODE	22		
COMMANDINTEREACE	0		
FULLUPDATE	No		
SUPPORTSCOMMANDREQUEST	Yes		
DMXOUTCHANNELS	4		
DMXINCHANNELS	4		
DMX Output channel 1 0 🚖	DMX Input channel 1 0 🚖 🔽 Auto-launch application		
DMX Output channel 2 0 🚖	DMX Input channel 2 0 😴 🔽 Auto-close application		
DMX Output channel 3 0	DMX Input channel 3 0 👮		
DMX Output channel 4 0	DMX Input channel 4 0		

External application setup dialog

# 20 Real time visualizing

## 20.1 The Offline Visualizer



The Offline Visualizer

The Offline Visualizer is a scaled down version of the offline module from Martin Show Designer (MSD) which is integrated into the LightJockey package. The Offline Visualizer is an independent program that is used to create real-time rendering of the lights programmed with LightJockey. The integration means as both programs are running on the same PC, no hardware, special drivers or dongles are needed to enable communication between the two programs.



The Offline Visualizer using a scene built with MSD

### **Offline Visualizer help**

The Offline Visualizer has it's own built-in help file. Click help, then contents on the Offline Visualizer window to access.

#### Available Offline Visualizer fixture profiles

The fixture profiles used by LightJockey and the Offline Visualizer are not the same - the fact that a fixture has a profile in LightJockey does not necessarily mean that the fixture is also has a corresponding Offline Visualizer profile. LightJockey releases will always contain the Offline Visualizer profiles available at release time but it may be necessary to obtain supplemental Offline Visualizer profiles to use the Offline Visualizer with certain fixtures (if available). The LightJockey online fixture profile library (<u>www.martin.com/service/Software/controller/LJ/list.asp</u>) updated with the latest available Offline Visualizer fixture profiles.

#### First time setup - LightJockey configuration

Before the Offline Visualizer can be used LightJockey must be configured to launch it. This is done via the Setup/Preferences/System menu - External Links tab. Note that in newer releases the Offline Visualizer is enabled by default and this section can be skipped. Check **Enable Offline Visualizer** to enable the communication between LightJockey and the Offline Visualizer. If the check box is grayed out it means that LightJockey could not find the Offline Visualizer installed so possibly an update has been installed rather than the full version. Click Ok and restart LightJockey.

### Starting the Offline Visualizer

Once the link to the Offline Visualizer has been configured there will be a new item in the main desktop menu: **Off-line** and a new tool bar for quick access to some of the Offline Visualizer functions. Note: The Offline Visualizer tool bar may be disabled - Check **Offline Toolbar** in the **View** -> **Toolbars** menu to enable. Start the Offline Visualizer by selecting **launch**, either from the Off-line menu or via the tool bar.

#### Auto startup

To automatically launch the offline whenever LightJockey starts up, check **Auto Launch on Startup** option in the **Off-line**/preferences menu.

#### O/V disable/enable

Once the Visualizer is running it is possible to **enable** or **disable** it via tool bar button or keyboard <u>hotkey</u> with hotkey with the Visualizer is minimized and uses virtually no CPU resources but will restore and resume instantly when enabled.

#### Single monitor systems

If the Offline Visualizer shares monitor with the LightJockey desktop (single monitor setups), make sure to check the **Always on top** option in the Settings menu (in the Offline Visualizer) otherwise it will

just disappear behind the LightJockey desktop when ever LightJockey takes the Windows focus. Make sure to check **Auto Minimize on dialogs** in the LightJockey Off-Line/preferences menu to automatically minimize the Offline Visualizer when LightJockey displays a dialog or error message that requires user response to continue.

### Multi-monitor systems

If LightJockey runs on a multi-monitor system it is usually a good idea to leave LightJockey and the Offline Visualizer running on each their own monitor. However, since multi-monitor video systems have different performance on individual monitors (often 3D accelerated programs such as the Offline Visualizer runs much faster and smoother on the primary monitor) - running the Offline Visualizer on the primary monitor usually gives the best overall system performance.

### LightJockey: Offline Visualizer preferences

Most settings for the Offline Visualizer is done within the Offline Visualizer itself. LightJockey itself has a few preference settings relating to the Offline Visualizer. These are located in preferences section of the **Off-Line** menu on the main LightJockey desktop.

Auto Launch on Startup - Automatically launches the Offline Visualizer when LightJockey starts up. Autoload last used scene file - When checked, the Offline Visualizer automatically loads the last used (and saved) scene file on startup.

Enable Fixture Selection - Enables LightJockey fixture selection from the Offline Visualizer. Fixture selection is disabled when LightJockey fixture definition or configuration dialogs are active. Auto Minimize on dialogs - Automatically minimizes the Offline Visualizer when certain LightJockey dialogs are shown - typically confirmation dialogs that require user input or error messages. On single monitor systems, such dialogs could easily hide behind the Offline Visualizer window when the Offline Visualizer is set to Always on top. To avoid the Offline Visualizer hiding dialogs on single monitor systems enable this option. On multi-monitor systems where the Offline Visualizer window is located on a different monitor than the LightJockey desktop, disable this option to avoid the Offline Visualizer being automatically minimized.

### 20.2 Interfacing with Capture



Capture screen shots

Capture is an application for lighting designers and programmers which includes real time, virtual visualization of lighting designs in on a PC. Capture is developed and supported through Capture Sweden www.capturesweden.com. LightJockey is capable of interfacing with Capture through CITP (*Capture Interface Transport Protocol*) and a special LightJockey interface module distributed with Capture. The fact that the communication interface is based on network protocols means that the two applications can run on the same PC or on two different PCs connected through a standard network. Interfacing requires Capture version 3.0.16 or higher and LightJockey version 2.6 build 6 or higher.

### **Features**

The current LightJockey/Capture interface supports bi-directional transferal of DMX data between the two applications. Lighting programs made with LightJockey can be visualized in real-time Capture, and data from Capture, such as setting fixture pan/tilt positions in the 3D view may be used to program LightJockey scenes.

### Requirements

Capture must be installed on the same PC as LightJockey even if the connection is made between different PCs.

### Network requirements

- The computers(s) used must have TCP/IP protocol installed.
- All involved computers on a network must be part of the same subnet.

### **Firewall issues**

Since the communication between LJ and Capture is based on a network protocol, it may be necessary to allow communication through certain security applications or devices such as firewalls or routers, even if the two applications are running on the same PC. Specifically, port 4810 must be opened for UDP traffic, and port 4811 must be open for TCP traffic.

### **Interface Setup**

Please refer to Capture documentation for system requirements and instructions for configuring Capture to use CITP and how use LightJockey as data provider (the current version of Capture requires that LightJockey has an active connection before it can be selected as data provider).

### LightJockey Setup

Since the all interfacing software is distributed with Capture, this means that Capture should be installed on the same PC as LightJockey, even if the actual connection is made through network on two different PCs. The Capture interface option will not be available unless LightJockey can find the interface module on the local PC.

### Configuring LightJockey

The Capture interface is enabled by checking "Enable link to Capture" on the External Links tab in the System Preferences dialog (main menu/Setup/System Preferences). As soon as the link is enabled, the interface will start looking for Capture application through the network connection (which includes the local PC) and the Capture status panel will be available through the Capture menu (from the main menu).



Capture connection status

The connection status shows: Capture Interface: the location of the interface module Version: Version of the Interface module Connection Status: status of connection (disconnected, connection IP) Stats: DMX data packages sent and DMX data packages received through talk back (see below).

Note that the number of DMX data packages sent represents the number of packages sent to the interface module and not necessarily the number of packages that has reached Capture (it will still increase even if disconnected).

### Talk back

The bi-directional communication means that Capture may be used to program LightJockey scenes - DMX data from Capture is used to program the current scene. To enable talk back, check "Enable Capture talkback" on the Capture Status panel.

**Note**: talk back may not work properly if the fixture is configured with different addresses in Capture and LightJockey - especially:

- Fixture has pan or tilt inverted or pan/tilt swapped and the DMX output is patched through the global patch dialog (e.g. fixture with inverted pan has DMX address 1 in LightJockey and 100 in Capture)
- Fixture DMX protocol implements 16 bit pan/tilt different from MSB/LSB pairs and output is repatched through the global patch dialog.
- Nested patching through the global patch dialog (e.g. DMX channel 1 takes the output from channel 2 which takes the output from channel 3).

Talk back also requires 'receiving' fixtures in LightJockey - programming fixtures that are only configured in Capture will not work properly.

### 21 LJ Manager

### 21.1 LJ Manager plugin



LJ Manager logo

LJ Manager is a separate plug-in application that works together with LightJockey to greatly expand the capabilities of a LightJockey installation. The current version of LJ Manager includes two separate modules:

The Scheduler module which can be used to automate an installation so certain events happen at a specific time and date.

Sch	netuler Startup Actio	n M		Auto	
NO		• Cerv (1		Start	18
No	Description	Event type	Time	Action S	~
1	No Description	Clack	12:00:03 AM	[0000] No Action	1
2	12	Clack	12:00:04 AM	[0050][Cue D005]	-
3	No Description	Clack	12:00:15 AM	[0053][State 15]	
4	No Description	Clack	12:00:17 AM	[0054][Static 17]	
5	No Description	Clack	1:00:00 AM	[0000] No Action	
6	No Description	Surcest + 11h 00m 00x	3:22:54 AM	[0000] No Action	-
7	No Description	Surcest + 11h 00m 00x	3:22:54 AM	[0061][Cue 0010]	-
a	No Description	Clack	7:00:00 AM	[0000] No Action	E2
3	1	Preset [001] Opening + 00.	9:00:01 AN	[0038][State 01]	-
10	No Description	Clack	10:00:00 AM	[0058][Cue 0008]	01
11	No Description	Clack	11:00:00 AM	[0000] No Action	
12	No Description	Clack	12:00:00 PM	[0012][Cue 0006]	
13	No Description	Surget + DDh 00m 02x	4:22:55 PM	[0000] No Action	
					0
Desc	ription	Event typeO	ttoot Time Setting		
1		O Oock 0		A S AMPN	
Cum	ent Date: 02/01/2004	O Darret	) 🛄 🕻	• • • • • • • • •	
Cum	ent Time: 7:30:04 PM	U SUTDER	tion because a	AUL A	
Neid Event in: ?		O Suntee A	Action: [0038][Static 01] lamp On		
		Preset     Pr	eset: [001] Openi	rg v	

### Scheduler

The Touch Panel module which allows a wealth of functions and commands to be structured and used with a touch screen (or mouse).
nel Edit	Yev Setup	Beset Toggie	Hold Lock	Help		
Close	Reset Toggle	Lock Buttons	Hold			
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8	9	10	11	12	13	14
15	16	17	18	19	20	21
22	23	24	25	26	27	28
29	30	31	32	33	34	35
36	37	38	39	40	41	42
43	44	45	46	47	48	49

Touch panel

Nightclubs, Live Shows or a Remote Control Screen for architectural installations are only a few examples of where LJ manager can be used.

LJ Manager must be installed as a separate application and it's functions are documented in a separate help file and on-line manual.

#### Configuring LightJockey to startup LJ Manager

LJ Manager Preferences
Help
- LJ Manager ✓ Use default LJ Manager instance
U:\Program Files\Martin Professional\LJ Manager v1.02\LJManager.Exe)
C:\Program Files\Martin Professional\Martin LightJockey\LJ Manager\L
- Auto start options Auto Start LJ Manager
OK X Cancel

LJ manager preferences dialog

Although LJ Manager can be started as a separate application, it may be more practical to have it launched automatically by LightJockey.

To do so, click *LJ Manager* on the main menu and open the preferences dialog. Make sure *Use default LJ Manager instance* is checked and also check *Auto Start LJ manager*. LJ manager will now be automatically launched as soon as LightJockey has initialized after startup.

#### LJ Manager user data

LJ Manager saves it's user data in the current <u>user library</u> of LightJockey. This means that data saved from LJ manager is included in the regular LightJockey <u>backup option and restore files</u> of LightJockey.

#### Multiple installations issues

When LJ Manager is installed it registers itself as the 'default instance' in Windows registry. If LJ is setup to launch the default instance it will always use the latest installed instance. To maintain a system with several instances of LightJockey and/or LJ manager installed there are a few issues that

should be onsidered.

A specific installation (which can be different from the default instance) of LJ manager can be used by checking *Use specific LJ Manager instance* and locate the LJManager.exe through the file dialog (click

to open file dialog). However, do be aware that since LJ Manager stores data in the current LightJockey user library, different LJ Manager instances should be used from different LJ user libraries or even different LJ installations - otherwise different LJ manager instances may actually use the same data which can be a problematic if the instances are of different versions.

# 22 The 2510 playback controller

# 22.1 Using the 2510 playback controller with LightJockey

The Martin 2510 Playback controller is a device used to playback sequences that has been created by another device or application. It is not possible to create any programs just using the 2510 itself. Originally the 2510 controller was developed to playback sequences from the Martin 3032 PC controller (using Martin protocol to control fixtures), but has since been upgraded to allow playback of sequences programmed on the LightJockey using DMX protocol. Note that in order to work with LightJockey the 2510 must have firmware **version 2.0** or higher installed. The latest revision of the manual for the 2510 can be downloaded from support section of the Martin Website at www.martin.com

The sequences programmed in LightJockey are downloaded to the 2510 controller's non-volatile memory via RS-232 and does not require any special hardware other than a serial cable cable and an available serial port on the PC. Once sequences are transferred to the memory of the 2510, the LightJockey connection is no longer needed to playback the sequences from the 2510.

#### **Programming restrictions**

When programming sequences for the 2510 on the LightJockey the following must be observed:

- The 2510 will control any DMX compatible fixture; it is not restricted to Martin fixtures.
- There is no restriction on how many fixtures can be programmed (except for the limit of LightJockey), but since the 2510 only supports one DMX link (512 channels) all fixtures must be addressed on the same DMX link in the LightJockey configuration.
- The 2510 cannot playback cues only sequences.
- The 2510 can contain a maximum of 99 sequence entries. The number of possible scenes in the sequences depends on how many DMX channels the configured fixtures take up. If all 512 channels are used no more than 247 scenes in total can be programmed. If only 1 DMX channel is used the 2510 may hold as many as 42325 scenes.
- The 2510 cannot use fade times. The only way to program slow transitions into individual scenes is
  to use speed control that may be provided with the fixture profile. Most of the built in Martin fixtures
  offer one speed control for pan/tilt and one for effects. It may be necessary to change to a different
  LightJockey personality/mode to access speed controls via DMX usually that means changing the
  DMX mode on the fixture itself as well (e.g. a Roboscan 812 needs to run in DMX mode 2 for access
  to speed controls) please refer to the technical documentation for the fixtures. Fixtures from other
  manufacturers may or may not offer speed controls, please refer to the fixtures technical
  documentation.
- The 2510 cannot use Movement Macros; Pan/Tilt movements must be programmed as static positions using the Pan/Tilt control.

The 2510 uses Martin pin-out on the 3-pin XLR - this means that the signal on pins 2 & 3 are swapped compared to the output of the LightJockey. To use the 2510 with fixtures with 5 pin XLR or 3 pin XLR with DMX pin-out, construct a converter cable (see below).

Although the 2510 does not support fade times or macros, it is possible to create sequences containing multiple scenes to emulate fade times and macros. The easiest way to do this is by using the real-time recording function - see snapshot and recording from DMX out 130. Be aware that emulating fades and macros this way may quickly use up the 2510's scene memory.

#### Cable connections

5-pin to 3-pin Adaptor		3-pin f Ada	to 5-pin aptor	3-pin to 3-pin Phase-Reversing Adaptor		
Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
1 — 2 — 3 — 4 5	1 2 3	1 — 2 — 3 —	1 2 3 4 5	1 2 3	$\sim$ <sup>1</sup> $\sim$ <sup>2</sup> 3	
P/N 309160		Con	struct	P/N 309158		

DMX cable converter configurations

25 pin PC output	9 pin PC output	2510 RS-232 input
pin 2	pin 3	pin 3
pin 7	pin 5	pin 5

2510 RS-232 cable configurations

See <u>creating a sequence list for the 2510 Controller</u> विभी, <u>using the 2510 after download</u> विभी, <u>binary 2510 files</u> विभी, <u>2510 memory test</u> विभी

# 22.2 Creating a sequence list for the 2510 controller



2510 download list dialog (empty)

#### **Creating the 2510 Download File**

Before downloading sequences to the 2510 a download file must be created. The download file is a binary image that contains the complete information that is needed for the 2510 to playback the sequences. Use the 2510 download list dialog to create a list containing references to the sequences and various settings to be included in the download file.

To access the dialog select **Download** -> **Martin 2510 Controller** from the main desktop menu. The list contains 99 lines, each containing a sequence entry with sequence number and associated sequence attributes (see below). Once a 2510 download list has been created, click **Create Download File** to <u>generate a download file</u><sup>[294]</sup>.

#### Selecting fixtures to be included in download

<u>Select the fixtures</u> that are to be controlled by the 2510 on the desktop. Note that all selected fixtures **MUST** be addressed on the same DMX output link - it is not possible to download data for fixtures on different links.

8 Fixtures Selected 24 Sequences 258 Scenes of 1476

Fixture selection and memory status

Due to the 2510's limited memory capacity the amount of data that can be downloaded is limited.

#### Total number of scenes affecting total capacity

The memory space used various settings in the 2510 has a fixed size, so the number of sequences downloaded does not affect the capacity of the 2510, only the total number of scenes in the sequences.

#### Fixture addressing affecting total capacity

Since the 2510 needs scene data from DMX channel no 1 to the last DMX channel in used by the selected fixtures, the scene capacity depends on the last DMX address used.

LightJockey continuously keeps track of the actual and maximum scene count (if the scene count is not visible it is either because no fixtures have been selected or fixtures on different links have been selected). The capacity ranges from a total of 42325 scenes if only DMX channel 1 is used to 247 scenes in total if all 512 DMX channels are used.

#### **2510 Sequence List**

##	Seq#	SeqName	Scenes	TrigType	Loop	SubList	Time	
1								
2								

2510 list columns

## - Indicates the number of the sequence entry (also the number the sequence will have once downloaded into the 2510).

Seq# - Indicates the LightJockey sequence number.

SeqName - The LightJockey sequence name.

Scenes - The number of scenes in the sequence.

TrigType - The default trig type of the sequence once downloaded into the 2510 (see below)

Loop- The number of times a sequence should loop when the 2510 is running in list or sub-list mode (see below)

SubList- The sub-list number assigned to the sequence (see below)

Time- The time it takes for the sequence to perform all its loops in list or sub-list mode (only calculated for sequences in auto-trig mode)

The 2510 can hold a maximum of 99 sequences (98 if a special startup sequence is used).

To assign sequences to the 2510 download list, simply drag sequences from the list of sequences <sup>127</sup> to the 2510 list (note: sequence list must be in drag mode). Alternatively, right-click on the sequence in the list of sequences and select *add to 2510 list* from the popup menu to add the sequence to the first empty line in the 2510 list (requires that the 2510 download list window is opened). Once sequences are placed in the 2510 download list, several attributes such as trig mode or loop count can be set for each individual sequence.

To insert an entry before or delete a sequence entry right-click the line and select the action from the popup menu.

#### 2510 start-up modes

The download file assigns one of three different 2510 startup modes:



○ Manual List C Sub-List

2510 start up mode

Manual - each sequence in the list loops continuously until a new sequence is selected. List - each sequence loops the number of times indicated by the sequence loop value. After the last loop the next sequence in the list is automatically started. Sub-List - in Sub-list mode the 2510 works similar to the list mode, except it only runs sequences belonging to a given sub-list (e.g. all sequences in sub-list 1). A sequence can only be assigned to one sub-list. The actual sub-list may be selected on the 2510 after start up. The 2510 always start up using the sub-list with the lowest number.

#### **Sequence Attributes**

#### Sequence Trig Types

The sequences downloaded to the 2510 must be assigned a default trig mode. The default trig mode is automatically selected after 2510 power up or when re-entering list or sub list mode. If the 2510 is to be used for automated purposes without user interaction it is important to set the right trig mode before creating the download file.

# 9 🚯 📢

The default trig mode is assigned by highlighting one or more sequences in the 2510 download list and clicking one of trig mode icons on the right hand side.

Manual Trig - the sequence is only trigged by the [Manual] button on the 2510.

Auto Trig - the sequence is automatically trigged using the programmed scene time

Music Trig - the sequence is trigged using the microphone built into the 2510.

Music Trig/Random - the sequence is trigged using the microphone built into the 2510. If the sequence contains more than 2 scenes a random scene in the sequence is selected.

Loops - Indicates how many times a sequence loops before the next sequence is loaded. Loops are only used in list and sub-list mode.

Sub-List - Indicates to which sub-list the sequence is assigned.

#### File Menu

New 2510 list - clears the current 2510 download list.

Save 2510 List - Load 2510 List - It is possible to save and re-load 2510 files from the **File** menu of the 2510 download list. Be aware that saving the file does **not** save the actual contents of the sequences in the download file or the actual fixture configuration. It only saves references to the sequences (sequence number), sequence attributes and selected fixture. This means that if the fixture configuration or included sequences are modified, the contents of the 2510 download file is no longer the same as before the modification.

It is also possible to save a binary image of the contents of the download file for download later, binary files contain all needed data and is not affected by modifications. See binary 2510 files 29.

#### **Options**

Compress List - before the 2510 download list can be made into a download file, it must be 'compressed' removing any empty lines. This is done automatically when the download file is created. Use the command to compress 'manually'.

#### Preferences

Auto Apply Fixture Selection - when this option is checked the last used fixture section will automatically be applied when the file is re-loaded.

Force DBO - used for generating blackout values to be sent when the blackout button is pressed on the 2510. If not checked, the 2510 download file will contain blackout values based on the selected fixture profiles. If Force DBO is checked, 0 values will be sent on all DMX channels when the blackout button is pressed on the 2510.

Set first Sequence as Startup Sequence Only - check this to assign the first sequence in the list to be startup sequence only. If a dedicated startup sequence is assigned the 2510 list will designate the first sequence as "SU" rather than "01". Subsequent lines are numbered "01" to "98" leaving room for 98 further sequences.

As a dedicated startup sequence, the sequence is loaded and executed right after the 2510 starts up. The sequence will loop the number of times given by the loop count attribute. After startup the sequence is no longer accessible on the 2510. Use a dedicated startup sequence to for example strike

discharge lamps in fixtures with lamp-on commands. Make sure that the sequence runs at least as long as it takes fixtures to power on and be ready to receive the lamp on command (use scene time and loops).

# 22.3 Generating the 2510 download file

Setup the 2510 download file 291, then create the download file by clicking Create Download File.

Creating 2510 Download File
<u>H</u> elp
Checking Setup - please wait Warning Line 1: Sequence 0001 Fixture(s) using fadetime Warning Line 1: Sequence 0001 Fixture(s) using Macro Warning Line 15: Sequence 0001 Fixture(s) using fadetime Warning Line 15: Sequence 0001 Fixture(s) using Macro
Downloading a total of 258 scenes. 21,13% 2510 scene-memory used.
0 Errors 4 Warnings
Building File - Please Wait Download File Ready
2510 Memory
Download to 2510 → — 送 Save Binary X Cancel

Create 2510 download file dialog (note, warnings were generated)

Before creating the actual binary file, the validity of the list and the sequences used are checked. LightJockey checks for the following:

#### Errors:

Selected fixtures addressed on different links - generates and error and the file is not created. Download file too large for 2510 Memory - generates and error and the file is not created. Sequence does not exist (a sequence has been deleted after the list was made) - generates and error and the file is not created.

#### Warnings:

DMX Channel #xxx is Patched - The DMX channel used by the fixture is patched from another source (DMX in or out). Since the data file to the 2510 is generated from the DMX output values and these values may be influenced by patches, the patched output channels may not contain the values programmed into the sequence. Remove the patch using the <u>global patch dialog</u>. Movement macros used - If any of the selected fixtures uses movement macros, a warning is issued. The file will be generated but the 2510 file does not include the macro information. Fadetime used - If any of the fixtures uses fade times a warning is issued. Any effects programmed with fade time will automatically be converted to be snapped by the 2510.

When the file has been created,  $\underline{download}^{295}$  the file directly to the 2510 by clicking the **Download to** 2510 or save a binary file for later download by clicking **Save Binary**.

See also 2510 playback controller 200, using the 2510 after download 205, binary 2510 files 207

# 22.4 Downloading the 2510 download file



2510 download dialog

This dialog is used to download data to the 2510. Make sure to select the right COM port and follow the on screen instructions to download the data. If the access to comport fails (error accessing COM port) it may be that another LightJockey device is currently configured to the same COM port (such as a 2532 direct access or 2518 controller in RS232 mode). Use the hardware setup  $2^{2}$  dialog to disable the configured device, then, if necessary re-configure the COM port once the data has been downloaded.

The download procedure consists of a data download part and a verify part. The communication from the PC to the 2510 is one-way only so the LightJockey cannot directly verify the download, or indeed, even if a 2510 is connected at all. The download is automatically verified by downloading the data to the 2510 a second time and letting the 2510 compare with the stored data. To check that the download has been performed correctly check the result after download in the 2510 display. If the downloaded data verifies correctly the 2510 will display [rd], if there was an error during download or during verify the 2510 will flash [er] and [xx] where xx indicates an error code.

Error codes 02 and 03 download failed, but the contents of 2510 has not been changed. Other error codes download failed, and the contents of 2510 has been compromised.

After a successful download, the 2510 must be switched off then on again to start the playback.

See also 2510 playback controller 200, using the 2510 after download 2003, binary 2510 files 2007

# 22.5 Using the 2510 for playback

Once programs have been downloaded to the 2510, it must be switched off and on again to initialize correctly.

# 2510 Startup

During startup the 2510 flashes [25][10], then the firmware revision [X.X], then the download host application ([LJ] for LightJockey). Finally, the number of downloaded sequences is flashed 3 times. If a dedicated startup sequence has been setup, the 2510 will start running this sequence while flashing [SU] in the display. The startup sequence may be aborted at any time by pressing any key on the 2510. If no startup sequence has been assigned or after the startup sequence has finished, the 2510 will start to playback the downloaded sequences in the default 2510 Startup Mode selected in the

#### 2510 list dialog 291.

#### Manual Mode

The 2510 will start executing sequence #1 in the default trig mode. Use [up] and [down] buttons on the 2510 to select different sequences and load the new sequence by pressing [Enter]. The trig mode of the sequence may be changed at any point, see later.

#### Sub-List Mode

The 2510 will start executing the first sequence in sub-list with the lowest number. The 2510 indicates the current sub-list number by displaying [-X] where X indicates the sub-list number. Use [up] and [down] buttons on the 2510 to select a different sub-list, and start the sub-list by pressing [Enter].

#### List Mode

The 2510 will start by executing the first sequence in the list, followed by the rest of the sequences in sequential order. When all sequences have been executed the list starts from top.

#### Changing list mode

The 2510 mode may be changed at any point in the following cycle: Manual -> Sub-list -> List -> Manual

From Manual mode to sub-list mode: press and hold the [Enter] button until the 2510 displays [-X] where X indicates a sub-list number, then release [Enter]. To change directly to list mode hold down the [Enter] button until the display briefly displays [--].

From Sub-List mode, hold down the [Enter] button to until the display shows [--] to enter list mode. From list mode, press the [Enter] button briefly until the display shows [--] to enter manual mode. Note that when entering Sub-list or List mode, the sequence trig modes are reset to the default trig modes and scene times programmed in the 2510 list.

#### Trig modes

The 2510 has 4 different trig modes, each of the sequences are assigned a default-trig mode in the 2510 list 291.

The actual trig mode may be changed on the 2510 at any time using the [Manual], [Auto] and [Music] buttons. The actual trig mode will remain active and override the default trig mode until the 2510 is switched back into Sub-list or List mode.

Manual - Sequences are only trigged when pressing the [Manual] button.

Auto - Sequences are trigged by the internal clock, either using the scene time originally programmed in the LightJockey sequences or using the override time provided by the user. To set an override autotrig time, press the [Auto] button continuously until the desired auto-rate is set. To restore to the preprogrammed auto time, press and hold the [Auto] button for more than 0.5 seconds.

Music - Press the [Music] button to switch to music trig mode. The 2510 will now trig the sequences via the built-in microphone.

Music Random - To enter the Music random mode, press and hold the [Music] button for more than 0.5 seconds. In Music Random mode, sequences with more than 2 scenes, when trigged by the microphone will select a random scene in the sequence rather than selecting scenes sequentially.

#### Blackout

Use the [Blackout] button to blackout the fixtures. Press the [Blackout] button again to restore the light output. Unless the *Force DBO* switch has been set in the <u>2510 list dialog</u> [291], black out will be performed according to the blackout command defined in the relevant LightJockey fixture profiles. This means that all effects not related to fixture intensity will not be affected, allowing a more graceful restore from a blackout.

See also 2510 playback controller 200, using the 2510 after download 293, binary 2510 files 297

# 22.6 2510 memory test

**Warning:** The 2510 memory test is a destructive test - it completely erases the memory contents of the 2510 controller. The test is used to check the flash memory chip mounted on the 2510 PCB. The memory test is accessible from *Options* menu of the <u>2510 list dialog</u> [29].

2510 Memory Test	×
Help	
Warning: The 2510 memory test contents in the 2510. See more details in on	will erase all memory -line help.
COM Port	
C COM 1	C COM 3
COM 2	C COM 4
Test 2510 Memory	X Cancel

2510 Memory test dialog

Switch on the 2510 while holding down the [Auto] key until the 2510 displays [dd]. Select the COM port on the 2510 Memory test dialog and click **Test 2510 Memory** to start the memory test. During the test, the display of the 2510 will flicker a lot - this is normal. At the end of the test the 2510 displays [rd] if the memory test is Ok, a flashing [er] [xx] indicates a problem with the 2510 flash chip.

# 22.7 Binary 2510 files

In contrast to the files saved from the 2510 list dialog which are basically just 'reference' files, the binary 2510 file contains the complete binary image of the 2510 download file. The binary file may be saved right after the download file has been <u>created</u> 294. When the binary file is saved, the notes, a list containing the fixture configuration with DMX addresses and a list of sequences are all embedded in the binary file. The notes and lists may be viewed when re-loading the binary file. It is not possible to re-construct the original fixture configuration or sequences from the binary file. If it is necessary to maintain 2510 file lists for different fixture configurations use different user libraries for each configuration.

Since the binary file contains all data for download and documentation for the fixture setup and sequences it is a useful format for storing or distributing a 2510 download file for a known configuration. Make sure to include useful information about special fixture settings etc. in the notes on the 2510 list dialog before saving the binary file.

#### Loading a binary 2510 file

A binary file is loaded from the File -> Load Binary 2510 file menu entry in the 2510 list dialog 291.

Download 2510 Binary File		3
Rep		
Binary File D:\Delphi 3\Projects\Clubite\User\Default\2510	Nagub25	
Notes Configuration Sequence List		
LightJockey 2510 Binary File. Fixture Configuration Binary File :sgu.b25		i
### FistureType D01 Raboscas 812 (mode 1) D02 Roboscas 812 (mode 1) D03 Raboscas 812 (mode 1) D04 Roboscas 812 (mode 1) D05 Raboscas 918 (mode 2/4-SCRL) D05 Raboscas 918 (mode 2/4-SCRL) D07 Raboscas 918 (mode 2/4-SCRL) D08 Roboscas 918 (mode 2/4-SCRL)	DMX-Adr 001 006 011 016 021 037 053 053	
Download to 2510	Dose	

Load Binary 2510 file dialog

Use the standard Windows file dialog to locate and select the 2510 binary file. Once the file has been loaded, click **Download to 2510** to download the data to the 2510. The notes and lists attached to the binary file may be viewed on the different tabs. While it is not possible to print the information directly from the dialog, the content may be moved by simple cut and paste to any application such as MS Word or Windows Notepad in order to make a printout.

See also generating the 2510 download file 294

# 23 Creating download files for the 2518 controller

LightJockey may be used to create sequences that may be compiled and later downloaded to the Martin 2518 DMX controller. It is not possible to download data directly from LightJockey to the 2518 controller. After creating a download file (.mem file) it must be downloaded to the memory of a 2518 controller via a special 2518 upload/download utility. The upload/download utility may be downloaded from the support section of the Martin Website at <a href="https://www.martin.com">www.martin.com</a>

#### **Download Restrictions**

The 2518 controller imposes a number of restrictions on what be downloaded.

**Sequences must contain exactly 6 scenes**. If a sequence contains less than 6 scenes the remaining scenes are patched with all 0 values. If a sequence contains more than 6 scenes only the first 6 scenes are used.

No more than 30 sequences consisting of 6 scenes each can be downloaded. Only fixtures assigned DMX addresses 1-70 on link 1 can be included in the download. It is not possible to include fixtures that use DMX addresses above 70 or is addressed to a different link. The 2518 does not support fade times, scene times or movement macros - while it is possible to download sequences containing fade times or movement macros, these are ignored by the 2518. Slow transitions must be programmed using speed controls.

LightJockey will automatically resolve pan/tilt inversion settings and <u>position presets</u> when generating the download file. The <u>default DMX output</u> will also be applied to all non-programmed DMX channels in each scene.

Cre.	ate 251	8 Memory-file			
Help					
Bank	Seq#	SegName	Scenes		
01	0011	918 Spread	1	1	Heing Scene 1.6
02	0004	Intro Pos 1	1		Using Scene 1-6
03	0001	All Fade In 2 Sec	1		Max UMX Address: 72
04	0002	Starting Pos	1		Using 1 to 64
05	0004	Intro Pos 1	1		
06	0003	Color Fade 1	1		New Servence List
07	0007	Mac 2000 Preset	1		
08					😹 Save Sequence List
09	I	Sequences			
10	······	sequences			😕 Load Sequence List
11					· · · · · · ·
12					Lompress Sequence List
13					Create 2518 Memory File
14				-	Credite 2010 Hemoly File

#### **Building the 2518 Sequence list**

2518 sequence list

To build a list of sequences for the 2518, select **Download** -> **Martin 2518 (.Mem file)** from the desktop main menu. This opens the 2518 sequence list. To add a sequence to the list, drag the sequence from the list of sequences  $12^{7}$  to a line in the list. The 30 lines in the list each corresponds to a 2518 bank. Clear the sequence for a specific bank by right-clicking the line and select **Clear Bank** from the popup menu..

New Sequence List Clears the current 2518 sequence list. Save Sequence List Saves the current 2518 sequence list to hard disk for later retrieval (note only the sequence numbers are saved, not the actual contents of the sequences) Load Sequence List Loads a previously saved 2518 sequence list. Compress sequence list compresses the list by moving sequences up in the list to eliminate empty banks.

Once the 2518 sequence list has been set up, make sure to select the fixtures to include in the download by selecting them on the desktop. Then click **Create 2518 Memory File**. Each sequence will be checked before the download file is created and the results are shown in a list, displaying the total number of warnings and errors at the bottom of the list.



Memory file list

The following issues generates warnings:

Fixture(s) using macros: One or more fixtures have been programmed with a movement macro. The macro is ignored.

Fixture(s) using fade/fadetime - changed to snap : one or more fixtures have been programmed with fade times. Fade times are ignored.

Too few scenes in sequence - will patch with 0 : there are less than 6 scenes in the sequence, the remaining scenes are patched with 0.

Too many scenes in sequence - scenes 1- 6 will be used : there are more than 6 scenes in the sequence, only scene 1 through 6 are used.

The only situation that will generate errors is if a sequence has been assigned to a 2518 bank and then deleted before the .mem file is generated.

If the sequence list contains no errors, the memory file may be saved to disk by clicking **Save Mem File**. Please refer to the documentation on the upload/download utility and the 2518 controller (all available from <u>www.martin.com</u> - support section) for information on how to download the Memory file to the 2518 controller and how to use the 2518 controller for playback and programming.

# 24 Release notes

The following pages contain release notes for the individual LightJockey releases.

Version 1.01 Notes 334 Version 1.03 Notes 333 Version 1.04 Notes 332 Version 1.05 Notes 333 Version 1.06 Notes 326 Version 1.07 Notes 321 Version 1.08 Notes 337

Version 2.0 Notes 317 Version 2.1 Notes 314 Version 2.2 Notes312Version 2.3 Notes312Version 2.5 Notes303Version 2.6 Notes303Version 2.7 Notes301Version 2.8 Notes301Version 2.9 Notes300Version 2.95 Notes300

# 24.1 Version 2.95

# Fixture personalities added/changed

#### Build 1

- Added built-in profiles for MAC 401 Dual. RGB-ALL, RGBX-ALL, HS-ALL, HSX-ALL, RGB-1 and HS-1 DMX modes supported.
- Added built-in profiles for Martin RGB laser 1.6 for Full, Extended and Standard DMX modes. Profile for Basic DMX mode has been modified.
- Added built-in profiles for Martin RGB laser 1.6 for Full, Extended, Standard, Basic DMX modes which includes an on-screen warning when the laser is programmed for output.
- Modified built-in profiles for MAC 2000 Wash to match modified DMX protocol for pan/tilt and effects speed channels.
- Added built-in profile for Martin MAC 250 Beam 16-bit DMX mode.
- Added built-in profiles for Martin MAC 2000 Wash with no barndoors (Wash, Wash XB, Wash Studio, Wash Studio XB).
- Added built-in profiles for Martin Exterior 400,410 (HSI,HSIC,RGBW modes).
- Added built-in profile for Martin Exterior 420 (CTC mode).
- Added built-in profile for Martin Exterior 430.
- Added built-in profile for Martin MAC 350 Entour 16-bit DMX mode.
- Added built-in profile for Martin MAC 301 Wash, standard 8-bit DMX mode.
- Added built-in profiles for Martin Tripix 300/Easypix 300, HSI, HSIC modes (HSIC mode for Tripix 300 only).
- Modified color dialog for Exterior 200, 400 and Extube HSIC profiles.

# **Bug fixes**

Build 1

- Fixed bug where setting strobe values for multiple fixture types could lead to garbage values being sent to slave fixtures.
- Fixed a bug in the generic macro editor where a rightclick could lead to a memory access violation error.

# Offline Visualizer updates

Build 1

• Updated to offline visualizer version 4.9.0.2

# 24.2 Version 2.9

# Fixture personalities added/changed

# Build 1

- Added built-in profile for Martin MAC III Profile, Basic 16.bit
- Added built-in profiles for Martin Extube single segment with HSI, HSIC and RGBW control.
- Added built-in profiles for 16-bit control of RBG fixures (includes profile for one 16-bit RGB unit and four 16-bit RGB units).

# **Misc. Changes**

#### Build 1

- LightJockey will now recongnize Windows Vista (32-bit only) as operating system and allow for Universal USB/DMX interface configuration and use when running under Windows Vista. Note that the Universal USB/DMX interface is the only DMX transmitter hardware that will detect and run under Windows Vista.
- The driver for the Universal USB/DMX interface has been <u>updated</u> be reminded to update the driver each time LightJockey starts up until the drivers have been updated. Universal USB/DMX users are urged to update the driver as soon as possible.

# **Bug fixes**

# Build 1

• A bug causing the programmed fade times on intensity channels to be affected (increased on fade out) when the master intensity was lowered below 100% has been located and fixed.

# 24.3 Version 2.8

# Fixture personalities added/changed Build 1

- Added built-in profiles for Martin MAC 2000 Wash XB in regular mode (second color wheel installed) and Studio mode (dimmer wheel installed)
- Added built in profiles for Martin Alien LED Downlight, HSI and RGBW modes

#### **Features added**

#### Misc. Changes

Build 1

- Help file format has been changed from the old Winhelp format to the newer HTML help (chm) format. Note that due to default browser security settings a HTML help file may not open correctly if the file is not located on a local drive (e.g. if LightJockey is installed to a network drive). Also note that Windows 95 does not by default support HTML help files. HTML help support is automatically installed together with newer versions of Internet explorer or can be installed separately via the HTML help redistributable from Microsoft (MS download link valid at time of writing).
- Several of the external applications, such as <u>Audio analyzer</u> 192 or <u>LJ-Midiln</u> 240 now redirects help file requests to a running instance of LightJockey. As a consequence of these changes, accessing on-line help from these applications will not be available unless LightJockey is running.

# **Bug fixes**

# Build 1

- Fixed bug with intensity snap/fade for built in smartMAC profile.
- Enabled userpalette function for Exterior 200 LED, HSI profile

# **Offline Visualizer updates**

# 24.4 Version 2.7

#### Fixture personalities added/changed

# Build 1

• Added built-in profile for Mania EFX 600, Mania SCX 700, Exterior 1200 Wash

Build 2

Added built-in profile for MAC 700 Wash and Mania EFX 700

**Build 3** 

• Added built-in profile for Martin MAC TW1, Martin GRB Laser 1.6 (Basic mode), Martin Mania EFX 800 and Martin Stagebar 54.

#### **Build 5**

• Added built-in profile for Martin Mania SCX 700 in intensity mode and Martin Exterior 1200 Image Projector.

Build 6

- · Added built-in profile for Martin Mania SCX 800, mode 2 intensity
- Build 7
- Modified extended controls for Martin Exterior 1200 wash to add shortcut options introduced with fixture firmware version 1.2.

# Build 8

- Added built in profile for Martin MAC 575 Krypton
- Added built in profile for Martin smartMAC
- Added built in profiles for Martin Exterior 200 LED in RGBAW, HSI and HSIC modes.

#### Features added:

#### Build 1

Added support for the <u>Universal USB/DMX interface</u> 24

#### Misc. Changes:

#### Build 1

- Added a progress window to the Setup/Fixture Configuration dialog.
- Build 3
- Updated driver and system files for <u>Universal USB/DMX</u> at interface for compliance with interface hardware revision B. New driver is backwards compatible with hardware revision A. There is no need to update unless a revision A interface is replaced by a revision B interface. Driver installation procedures are unchanged.

#### Build 5

Changed naming and ID's used to link to the offline Visializer by Martin Stagebar fixtures. Existing
scene files containing stagebars will have to be re-linked either through "Read fixture list" in the O/V
or by rightclicking the fixture icon, then selecting Customize Fixture to select the proper O/V profile.

#### Build 7

Added compatibility with capture 2005

#### Build 9

Added smartMAC channel descriptions

# **Bug fixes:**

#### Build 1

- Fixed EFX 500 rotation/shake speed fade button
- Fixed Acrobat intensity control

#### Build 3

- Added master and blackout control to built-in profiles for MAC 700 Wash and Exerior 1200 Wash
   Build 4
- Added Generic Macro capabilities to Martin Stagebar 54 profiles.
- The Online/Offline function now works with the Universal USB/DMX interface **Build 6**
- Fixed autostrike and gobo palette position issues for Mania SCX 700
   Build 7
- Fixed missing link between Mania SCX 700 shutter and grandmaster **Build 9**
- Fixed transfer of pan value from OV for smartMAC profile

## **Offline Visualizer updates:**

# Build 1

- Updated Visualizer application. (Version 4.7.6.1)
- Library updated. (23.12.2005 update from www.lighthouse.nl)

# Build 3

• Updated Visualizer application. (Version 4.8.0.2)

# Build 4

- Updated Visualizer application. (Version 4.8.0.3).
- Fixes problem with fixture selection from the O/V and prism selection in double head fixtures

# Build 6

- Updated Visualizer application. (Version 4.8.2).
- The Offline Visializer now features it's own help system relevant content removed from this help file.

# 24.5 Version 2.6

# Fixture personalities added/changed

# Build 1

•Added built-in profiles for Martin Imager Gobo and Imager Gobo+Scanner attachment.

•Added built-in profiles for Imager Rotating GoboWheel and Imager Rotating GoboWheel + Scanner attachment.

•Modified Martin Wizard profiles to include auto lamp strike command.

•Swapped prism CW/CCW rotation direction in MAC250 Krypton, MAC250, MAC250+ and MX10 profiles to match protocol specifications (this does not affect scenes already programmed). •Added built-in profile for Martin CYCLO 04 DMX

•Fixed several bugs in bug in MAC 250 Krypton profile. Effect speed control not working, gobo shake control not allowing gobo# 6 to shake, and bugs in focus, prism and pan/tilt speed not being included in user palettes. Made a few cosmetic changes to color and gobo controls.

# **Build 3**

•Swapped gobo rotation directions (CW and CCW) on Imagers without scanner attachments (does not affect already programmed sequences).

•Added built-in profiles for MAC 250 Entour and MAC 550 Profile.

# Build 3

•Swapped gobo rotation directions (CW and CCW) on Imagers without AND without scanner attachments- again. Hopefully this time they are correct.

# Build 4

•Added profiles for Atomic Color (combined Atomic+Color scroller profile) and separate Atomic Colorscroller.

# Build 5

•Modified Fibersource CMY 150 Offline Visualizer link to match OV Profile.

•Modified MAC 2000 gobo and effects palettes

•Added built-in profile for MAC 2000 Wash Studio mode

•Added built-in profile for CYCLO 03 DMX

•Fixed bug in CYCLO 04 DMX color control

•Added built-in profile for Martin CX-10.

# Build 7

•Added built-in profiles for Martin Ego-X4, Ego-X5 and Ego-X6

•Added built in profile for Martin Mania SCX 500

•Added built-in profiles for Martin Inground CI and CMYI

#### Build 8

Added built-in profiles for Martin Magnum Hazer, Martin Magnum 2000
Added built-in profiles for Jem ZR24/7 Hazer, Jem Roadie X-trem, Jem ZR12-DMX Added built-in profile for Martin Mac 250 Wash

## Build 9

•Modified Mac 250 Wash implementation to match production DMX protocol

•Added built-in profile for Martin Stage Cyclo

# Build 10

Added built-in profile RGB pack x 4 with a different RGB pannel layout (RGB x 4 B)
Added built-in profile for Martin MAC 700 profile

Build 11

•Added built-in profile Mania EFX 500, Mania SCX 600

#### Features added:

## Build 1

•Added hotkey hooks for Offline/Online switch functions

•Added hotkey functions 205 for Generic Macro enable/disable and Marco Engine enable/disable

•Added hotkey functions 205 for Master intensity full/off, +/- 1 and +/-10.

•Added option to automatically activate a static entry when activating a follow spot setting 198.

•Added Hotkey function 205 for Offline Visualizer enable/disable

•Support for <u>Fingers for LightJockey</u> [210] implemented. The implementation includes a functional virtual model of Fingers.

#### Build 2

•Added hotkey function to show the Virtual Fingers (doesn't toggle Virtual Fingers)

•Added stop to userdefined fixtures palette functions.

# Build 4

•Added alternative <u>DMX-in function</u> 231 *Cuelist Go (Alt),* which implements Go commands using a single DMX-in value transition.

•Added Restore LJ desktop on startup option to System Preferences 50.

•Added Flash Sequence option to Cuelist commands 177

•Added Sequence Intensity + on/off to Fingers Fader functions 220

•Added DMX-in emulation of channels 13-24, 25-36, 37-48 to Fingers Fader functions 220

•Added combined Freeze+B/O function to hotkey functions 205.

•Added Statics latch and Statics level control to 2518 fader functions 242

•Added Inverted versions of Macro amplitude and speed control via DMX in 231 and

Fingers Jogwheel functions 223

# Build 5

•The <u>fixture configuration</u> dialog has been modified considerably. Fixture profiles are now listed according to manufacturer.

•Added extraction of Offline Visualizer notes to the <u>Fixture Configuration dialog</u> as well as the <u>Offline Visualizer tab</u> as well as tab as well as t

•Added a new, optional <u>fixture profile export format</u> [281] - the new format includes support data files for the offline visualizer (if present). As a consequence of the new format, bitmap files can no longer be renamed during profile import. Note: the new import file format cannot be imported in versions lower than 2.6 build 5.

•Added <u>Use Global Chase Rate</u> 144 to Cue control. The new option forces all manually trigged sequences to follow the a 'global' chase, even when a new cue is loaded.

•Added function to <u>disable Fingers automatically selecting cueslots</u> when a function or multiselection is activated. Fader functions changed so that only functions with relevance to cueslots may select cueslots. Flash button functions now included in cue slot selection.

•Added <u>option</u><sup>203</sup> to have HTP groups affected by the the intensity Master and submasters - by default HTP groups are not affected by intensity masters.

•Added option 284 to disable automatic minimizing of the Offline Visualizer when certain dialogs are shown.

# Build 6

•Added support for linking up with Capture 286

•Added hotkey functions 205 for Sequence Playback 124 control (forwards, reverse and stop).

•Although still a separate application (and installation), <u>LJ Manager</u><sup>[288]</sup> is now an officially supported plug-in for LightJockey.

•Top row of Fingers Cue slot buttons may now be configured with cue slot functions. Added button LED feedback to Slot On/Off function when assigned to top row.

•Added *Wait PC Date-Change* to <u>cuelist commands</u> for PC clocked cuelists crossing midnight **Build 7** 

•Added shortcut button for Generic fixture profiles in fixture configuration 6.

•Added <u>Cue Slot On Solo</u><sup>219</sup> function for Fingers

 Added option to extend GM control to several control channels for individual fixtures to <u>user defined fixture profiles</u><sup>[274]</sup>. The function is mainly useful for fixture profiles with multiple intensity control channels or fixtures without dedicated intensity control channel (e.g. RGB based LED Fixtures).
 Added <u>DMX in translation tables</u><sup>[236]</sup> for translating DMX in values to other values. Useful when

overwriting specific fixture control channels via DMX in.

•Added option in manual cue lists to jump directly to a different line (rightclick the line and select jump to from the popup)

•Added Slot Solo On, Slot Solo On Flash, and Slot On Flash functions to Fingers cueslot button functions 219.

•Added hotkey for list of generic macros toggle.

•Added custom unit captions, HSV control and RGB palette to the generic <u>RGB pack control</u> and RGB palette to the generic <u>RGB pack control</u> and <u>RGB pack contr</u>

•Added the option of HSV (hue, saturation, value) control bars to user defined profiles with RGB control [270].

•Added refresh option to the bitmap picker used when creating user defined profiles.

# Build 8

Added option to modify O/V profile link for built in fixtures through the <u>customize fixture dialog</u>.
Added replace matrix to <u>static control</u> field for limiting replacing statics replace individual static entries
Added export option to the print fixture configuration in the fixture configuration dialog. The export option will export the configuration to a standard text file and includes DIP switch settings.

•Added hotkey functions 205 for cuelist select previous, next and start.

•Added Sequence Time (Inv) fader function for Fingers 220.

# Build 9

• <u>Static entries</u> are now using individual fade times when enabled.

Build 11

• Added support for the Universal USB/DMX interface 24

# Misc. Changes:

# Build 1

•Modified <u>2532 function list</u><sup>226</sup> so page selections are now assignable to matrix buttons.

•<u>Hotkey function</u><sup>205</sup> trig sequence default now also trigs sequences in audio trig mode.

•Changed *LTP* designation to *LoTP* in <u>sequence intensity</u> [150] settings to avoid confusion with the usual meaning of LTP (latest takes precedence)

# Build 5

•Applying a user defined profile from the <u>definition dialog</u><sup>274</sup> now includes the specified default DMX values to the current default DMX output.

•Modified **Save** and added **Save as** function for user defined profiles. **Save as** works 'as usual' - **Save** will suggest the original profile data filename (if any) making it easier to modify and re-save a profile without hunting down the original filename. Note that the save option is not be available for fixtures configured in earlier versions.

•Modified *Disable Hotkeys in Dialogs* <sup>203</sup> function for more consistency.

•Removed *Disable Hotkeys when Active* option from the Generic DMX control <sup>86</sup>. Keys assigned as hotkeys now perform assigned actions.

•Removed *Disable Hotkeys in Cue# Entry* option from the <u>list of cues</u> 13. Keys assigned as hotkeys now perform assigned actions.

Added COM5 through COM9 options to <u>Fingers setup</u><sup>[21]</sup>, 2518 connection through RS-232.
Modified timings on RS-232 connection to 2518 in mode 2.

•Doubleclicking a bitmap in the <u>Select Bitmaps</u> dialog now automatically advance the list by one item until the last item is reached.

•Modified Fingers pan/tilt jogwheel functions so initial pan/tilt values are captured from the current output values if the current scene does not have any pan/tilt values (fadestate is off) **Build 6** 

•Fixture selection from the Offline Visualizer now disabled when individual fixture definition or configuration dialogs are open.

•Several Fingers jogwheel 23 functions now display the actual value of the function controlled on the status panely rather than the relative value change (e.g. smoke level is now shown as absolute value) - names of several functions changed slightly. <u>Snapshot and recording from DMX Output</u> (reviously known as Sequence Snapshot) is back, now supports multi-scene recording of real-time DMX output to sequences

•Removed the pan/tilt cycle time display option from the pan/tilt macro control. The cycle times are now shown directly on the drag bars (which has been renamed from speed bars to cycle time bars). There are no changes in the function of the drag bars.

•Sequence slots in chase mode (manual trig mode, chase enabled) now retains the loop direction with witch they were saved rather than defaulting to forward.

Sequence loop direction can now be set for sequences in chase mode through the loop options 145
 Individual position options 98 are now disabled if functions are not supported by fixture profile.
 CMY Control color picker now refreshes when the 'hidden' color is modified.

•Added Hotkey disable in dialogs filter to Cue Time control

•The top row row of Fingers cue slot buttons are no longer reserved for multi selection mode, but may now be configured with cue slot functions. The multi select function (which is unaltered) may now be disabled from the <u>setup dialog</u> [21]. Since the buttons can contain functions they will no longer select a fader for relative adjustment via jog-wheel. To select the fader value to be adjusted, use the deactivated state (hold square button) before pressing the button (or move the fader) to select which fader to adjust.

•Fingers cue slot buttons now updates cue slot selection in cue control even when Fingers is in inactive state.

#### Build 7

•The on-line help file has been restructured. Help file contents page and search option is now available directly from the Windows help menu 10 and help browse function has been enabled.

•Fixture group dialog now creates individual system groups for user defined fixture profiles.

•Enable solo function moved from preferences menu to system preferences dialog 50.

•Expanded hotkeys for fixture groups selection to group 1-20

•Modified active cuelist line indication. The active line (the last line to execute) is now highlighted in gray, while the next line (the next line waiting to execute) is highlighted in blue.

#### Build 9

•Starting a cuelist from an external application (such as LJ manager) no longer modifies the name on the LJ taskbar icon.

•The 'Fixture name' field for <u>user defined profiles</u> and has been split into separate entries for manufacturer, model and DMX mode. If several profiles for the same fixture model exists (e.g. 8- and 16-bit DMX modes) these may now be listed separately under a single product model in list of available profiles in the <u>fixture configutation dialog</u> and the fixture service of the several profiles created with previous versions of LightJockey are still compatible but will not include the new extended features (edit and resave to update format). •Fixtures configured using user defined profiles now create system groups in the <u>Fixture Group list</u> according to model name (rather than list as a generic USER2 fixture)

Added option to list fixtures by either either profile name or user name in the <u>Fixture Group list</u>
 The ID function on the <u>Fixture Info popup</u>
 has been removed - the popup now shows DIP switch address settings for profiles that contain relevant information.
 Build 10

•All included user defined fixture profiles have been converted to the new format containing separate information for manufacturer, model and mode.

•LJCommand is now version 1.1 (documentation corrections, no functional changes) •LJ-RS232Send now version 1.1 (COM port selection extended to COM 1-9)

# **Bug fixes:**

# Build 1

•Fixed bug in 2532 dialog - tab names now refresh properly after loading a setup file.

•Fixed a couple of bugs in <u>RS-232-in</u><sup>[246]</sup> program. MSB data bytes now correctly calculated as 128\*value (not 127). Clear Cue command (Cue #0) now works. RS-232-in application is now version 1.3.

•Fixed problem that would cause various errors if data files containing user defined fixture profiles is tagged as read-only (read-only tag is cleared).

•Fixed bug executing Hotkey commands in cuelists when in manual advance mode (when the list itself has focus).

•Any channel type (not just only intensity channel types) may now be assigned to one or more HTP groups without ignoring the DMX value generated by LightJockey programs.

#### Build 2

•Fixed pan/tilt control size problem with built in 16-bit fixtures under large fonts.

•Fixed size problem with Fingers setup dialog and large fonts.

•Fixed Fingers bug refreshing F1-F10 button contents on Status Panel with shiftlock disabled

•Fixed Fingers bug on status panel showing strings with & character as keyboard accelerator character (&key would become <u>key</u>)

•Fixed missing help file link from Virtual Fingers

•Fixed bugs that could cause blackout and freeze warnings to occasionally reset their positions to default.

•Fixed bug that would cause sequences with start- and end-scene limited by cue loop options to start incorrectly at scene 1 when *restore sequence enabled state* was set in cue preferences

# Build 3

•Fixed bug in Fingers DMX-in emulation function (flash wouldn't release properly)

#### Build 4

•Fixed bug that could cause automatic launching of Virtual Fingers to launch applications included in startup options twice.

•More fixes on sequence loop options - added Trig on Load option to the

Sequence Slot Loop Options 145 dialog.

•Invalid bitmap formats no longer stops palette gobo bitmap selections from building (added error message)

•Fixed Global patch bug where assigning a DMX in or DMX out sequence could cause an already patched source to reset to channel 1.

# Build 5

•Fixed relative pan bug for MAC 250 Entour and Krypton

•Fixed bug where different fixture selection options would not always update solo states.

•Using <u>sequence intensities</u> (through DMX in or Fingers) no longer affects fade times programmed with the sequences.

# Build 6

•Fixed Fingers statics levels bug (output from statics not correctly updating)

•Fixed problem with DMX output monitor value overwrite function messing with DMX overwrite values from external applications.

•Fixed problem that could cause LJ to stop calculating DMX output values after creating a 2510 or 2518 download file.

•Fixed bug that could cause the cuecontrol to incorrectly indicate chase state for sequences switched from chase mode to auto or music trig.

•In exclusive fixtureselection mode fixture group hotkeys no longer de-selects fixtures unless the new fixture group actually exists (it is still possible to create and select an empty fixture group for quick

deselection of all fixtures).

## Build 7

•Fixed bug in <u>Fingers cue slot state LED feedback</u><sup>219</sup>. Empty slots no longer causes the LED to blink when the slot is switched off.

•The main list of the cuelist control has been excluded from the 'disable hotkeys in dialogs' list of dialogs. Dialog disabled hotkeys will now work again when the main has focus.

•Fixed bug that would cause LJ to lock up if a [freeze] and [freeze+B/O] hotkey command was executed.

•Fixed bug that would cause 2518 faders to latch the static entry corresponding to the fader number regardless of assigned static entry.

•Fixed bug that could cause cuelist to stall if a goto line command specified last line (or an invalid line number)

•Added hidden focus field to <u>cue time control</u> 147 to disable active hotkey filtering due to one of the numerical time entries having focus when the control is opened.

•Fixed bug in profile import function that would miss imports of OV support files if the offline folder name were created with name in capitals (\OFFLINE2\)

•Fixed bug in manual cuelist back function

•Fixed bug that could cause save buttons to be hidden in save sequence dialog when "show add to cueslot" was disabled.

•Fixed DMX value for MAC550 Gobowheel macro

#### Build 8

Fixed value display bug in intensity control for profiles with inverted intensity control values
Fixed zoom control problem for MAC 550

#### Build 9

•Fixture configuration export no longer shows wrong end-addresses for userdefined profiles.

•Fixed bug that would cause color,gobo and effects control for userdefined profiles to allocate vertical space for palettes even if no palette is defined.

•Fixed missing last gobo in MAC 550 custom rotating gobo configuration

•Fixed bug using alternate palette values for entry nr 20 in user defined profiles.

•Status bar will now recover when showing garbage information

#### Build 10

•Fixed fixture number offset error in RGB pack definition dialog.

•Sorting order in available profile list is no longer case sensitive

•Fixed bug where auto strike would fail if no built-in profiles were configured.

#### Build 11

•DMX in translation tables now also includes DMX in values emulated via Fingers.

•Modified gobo-strobe interval for SCX 500

•Fixed Wizard Extended music standalone feature.

#### Offline Visualizer updates:

#### Build 1

•Offline visualizer updated to version 4.5.0. build 2. This release supports visualization of continuous color scroll and removes 'black' beams (when colors or gobos are specified as black). Note that some offline fixture profiles may need to be updated in order to show continuous color scroll.

# Build 5

Offline visualizer updated to version 4.6.2 (build 4).

•Supports extraction of notes from Offline Visualizer profiles

•Supports exports of Offline visualizer support files through LightJockey.

•Supports new "solid beams projection" display-mode.

•Supports fixture position editing via fixturelist.

#### Build 6

Offline visualizer updated to version 4.6.4 (build 6)

•Adds support for animation wheels

•Fixes bug in initial startup folder selection

Fixes arrow pointer (fixture direction) bug
Build 7
Offline visualizer updated to version 4.6.6
Build 8
Offline visualizer updated to version 4.6.6 (build 1)
Build 9
Offline visualizer updated to version 4.7.1 which intrduces new visual styles.

# 24.6 Version 2.5

#### Fixture personalities added/changed

Build 1

•Added profile for Martin MX-10

•Added profiles for generic DMX switch packs at (1,2,4,6,8,12,16,24,30,32 channels)

#### Build 5

•Modified gobo controls for: MAC250+, MX-10, MAC500 (SCRL), RS-918 (SCRL). Gobo rotation may now be stopped by clicking the active rotation direction (CW or CCW).

Build 6

•Added built in profiles for Martin CYCLO 02,03 and 04.

#### Build 7

•Added built-in profile for Martin MAC 250 Krypton

•Note: Martin Minimac Maestro and Image scan has been moved to 'Imagers' section in the builtin profiles list 66.

#### Features added:

## Build 1

•Implemented support for up to 4 USB DMX-out interfaces, as well as support for DMX-in via dedicated USB DMX-in interface. This means that configuration and use of the USB/DMX interface has changed - please see USB hardware installation notes 27. Note the USB DMX-in interface has not yet been released.

•<u>The Generic DMX Macro</u> <sup>153</sup> now implements 16 bit DMX macros for 16-bit DMX control channels, making it much more suitable for use with 16-bit pan & tilt and other 16-bit control channels. It is no longer possible to assign macros or macro parameters to 16-bit LSB control channels - macros and parameters assigned to LSB channels in previous LJ versions will no longer work - macros and parameters assigned to MSB channels will run unaffected.

•Added new 'Stepped Ellipse' macro type to the movement macro engine 102. Build 5

•Added hotkey 205 for 'Toggle list of cuelists'

•Added ability to execute <u>hotkey commands</u> 205 from a <u>cuelist</u> 177. Build 6

•Added a few commands to the RS232 remote interface 246

# Build 7

Added mode for using touch devices (rather than a mouse) in the <u>position control</u> at .
Profile for <u>External Application/Device plug in</u> an external application that can be used to control various external devices or applications.

# Misc. Changes:

#### Build 1

•The state of various options in the save sequence dialog is now preserved between sessions. •Added BMP readout to the sequence control [124]. Added option to display scene time as BPM on the <u>cue control</u> [132]

•Added Cue value 512 to the DMX in cue latch function

•Added 'Auto load last used scene' switch to Offline/Preferences on the LightJockey main menu. If unchecked - the Offline Visualizer will no longer automatically load the last used scene.

•Added driver files for PCMCIA card, hardware revision 3.

# Build 2

Fan Out and Movement options windows now automatically close when the position control closes.
Import fixture definition file dialog will now create and default to an 'exports\' folder rather than defaulting to 'my documents' if an exports folder doesn't exist.

•The <u>DMX output monitor</u> and has received a major overhaul. It now includes functions such as being able to modify DMX output values directly as well as a 'search channel' function.

# Build 3

•Changes to <u>LJ Media player</u> [185] (now version 1.3) - it is now possible to launch multiple instances of the LJ media player from the cuelist to playback multiple simultaneous media files. Also a loop playback option has been implemented to loop playback of a media clip indefinitely.

•Cuelist Time code log window now retains last opened position.

•Added "Load Cue on double click" option to Cuelist preferences menu 169.

•Added "Run to line" in the Cuelist Popup Menu - using "Run to" will update the cue control with any cues (including transparent cues) that are loaded previously in the cuelist, giving an 'up to date' content of the cuelist corresponding with the contents that is loaded to the cue control when the cuelist is running. The Run to line function only updates the cue control contents and ignores time/time code, media and other types of commands.

•Added remaining cuelist hotkey functions to 2532 and 2518/Rs232 command set.

#### Build 5

•Added new 'Color' palette function to Generic Fixture Profile dialog. Note that profiles using this palette function will show another default function on earlier LJ releases.

•Added view 'Fixture Notes' to right-click popup menu in the Configured Fixtures list in the Fixture Configuration dialog - note that the function is not enabled for modified fixtures unless the configuration has been saved first.

•Added new functions to <u>edit palette values</u> with the 'Generic Fixture Function' dialog. New functions include the ability to cut and paste entire palettes, as well as value insert and delete functions.

# •Changed *LTP* designation to *LoTP* in the Global Patch dialog to avoid confusion.

# Build 5

•Save cue control now retains 'save as transparent' and 'save macro control values' states between sessions.

#### Build 6

•Added new options to the <u>Intensity definition</u><sup>265</sup> for user defined fixtures. Please note that users will need to run at least LightJockey version 2.5 build 6 in order for the new options to take effect (earlier versions just ignores the new options).

•Added Clear after Save option to the Save Cue Dialog 136

•Added 'Clear Cue Stack' and 'Clear All Sequences' hotkey functions for the Cue builder 150.

•Added option to hide the top status panel on the large size 2532 control.

•Blackout and freeze warning dialogs now retains their positions on screen between sessions.

•Changed pan/tilt maximum resolution factor for built-in 16 bit fixtures from 128 to 256. **Build 7** 

# •Sequence control snapshot function temporarily disabled until further bugs are fixed!.

#### **Bug fixes:**

## Build 1

•Fixed bug restoring cue sequence slot names and other cue control properties from backup file. Fixed problem restoring cue page names and other load cue control properties from backup.

•Fixture information now rebuilds properly when replacing user defined fixture profiles with built in fixture profiles without starting LightJockey.

•Replacing a userdefined profile with the generic user definable fixture 2 now correctly updates the fixture user name.

•Selecting between fixtures with different user defined profiles would not update the channel list in the <u>Generic Macro editor</u> [156]. This is now fixed.

•In previous versions the <u>Generic DMX Macro editor</u> [156] display the wrong pan/tilt channels for user defined fixtures that patches pan and tilt parameters differently from the default MSB/LSB format. The

editor now shows the channel allocation correctly according to the 'internal' control channel representation - which may not be the same as the final allocation if MSB/LSB parameters are patched.

•Previous versions of LightJockey would correctly identify the presence of user defined Generic Macros in individual user libraries, but still attempt to load the macros from the main LightJockey installation folder. This has now been fixed - the macros are now correctly loaded from the individual user library.

•Fixture Group window now restores position correctly.

•Startup options are now properly restored when restoring a backup to the active user library. •Added code to compensate for small, accumulating timing errors in the sequence and cue timings which would cause the sequences and cues to 'slide' over time.

# Build 2

•Fixed bug that would cause the cursor to disappear if the pan/tilt control was closed with a hotkey while in right-click lock cursor mode.

•The bug fix in 2.5 build 1 concerning wrong display of patched pan/tilt parameters in the generic DMX macro unfortunately affected the display in the global patch dialog so that it would display wrong channel information. This has now been fixed.

•A bug that would cause LJ to attempt a printout when saving 2510 binary files has been fixed. **Build 3** 

•Fixed bug that would cause the cuelist time code log to return "Wait DA" commands rather than "Wait MP" when "Enable Cue Logging" is enabled.

•Bug fix "Autosave cuelist on exit" option in the cuelist preferences may now be disabled.

•Changed timeout value that could cause the media player to not start playing the media clip when using the "Run from Line" command in the cuelist.

•Fixed bug that could cause certain Windows (e.g. cue control) to reset their "stay on top" state if other programs using stay on top was launched through the auto launch program function (auto start).

#### **Build 5**

•Reloading a custom fixture selection in the fan out control now correctly re-loads the fixture selection order as well as the fixture selection status.

•Fixed bug that could crash LightJockey if a sequence was saved at the same time as being active as a flash sequence.

Fixed bug in scene snapshot function that would cause pan/tilt inverted fixtures to be inverted twice.
Fixed bug that would cause an access violation error when pressing enter after modifying channel description for channel 32 in the Generic Fixture Profile dialog.

•Fixed bug that would cause subsequent library restore operations to fail if a restore was previously performed from a write protected file (typically copied or restored from a read-only media such as a CD-ROM).

•Bug fix: Clear Fixture/Clear Selected fixtures from the fixture icon popup now properly clears pan/tilt macro parameters.

•Rewrote function requiring the presence of SHLWAPI.DLL which is not part of the original Windows 95.

#### Build 6

•Problem with certain windows and controls such as the sequence- or cue-control disappearing behind the desktop is now fixed.

•Fixed built-in profiles for Wizard and MiniMacs in Intensity Mode so that DMX-in Sequence Intensity only affects DMX values within the intensity value interval.

•Fixed a potential timing issue with functions from LightJockey's external function list called from other applications (such as LJ touch).

#### Offline Visualizer updates:

#### Build 7

•LightJockey now ships with Offline Visualizer version 4.5.

# 24.7 Version 2.3

# Features added:

•Added Trig all manual default and Emulate Audio Trig functions to DMX-in [231].

## Misc. Changes:

#### Build 1

•Modified timer resolution of the sequence chase function in the cue from 0.05 to 0.001 seconds - resulting in a much better 'tab' synchronization.

#### Bug fixes:

#### Build 1

•Fixed bug that would cause access violations when an RGB fixture doesn't have a DMX address assigned.

•Fixed help file entry on Freeze Output function [198].

#### Offline Visualizer updates Build 3

The Offline Visualizer has been updated to version 4.4 rev 2.

The new version includes support for prism and frost effects - note that the prism effect does not model the prism effect realistically but it does provide a suitable visual feedback when prisms and related effects such as rotation are applied.

The new version is compatible with scene files created with older versions of the OV - however some of the new features such as prism emulation may not be properly enabled until the scene file format is updated. To update the scene file format, clear the current scene (new) - then re-open the scene file with **Open and Update** from the files menu. Make sure to re-save the scene file with the updated format.

MSD line gobo version 2 format is now supported making the OV compatible with the latest version of MSD fixture profiles.

The Offline Visualizer will now automatically create line gobo files for bitmaps used for gobos that are not already present - the automatic process works best for black and white bitmaps that are not too small.

The scene update frequency may now be set by a priority timer rather than running on idle process time (Settings/Preferences/Max framerate).

# 24.8 Version 2.2

#### Fixture personalities added/changed Build 4

•Added profile for AlienO2 Build 6 •Added profile for MAC 2000 Wash

#### Features added:

# Build 1 Added Pan/Tilt Macro Freeze option to the <u>Cue Macro Control</u> Added MTC timeout ignore option to the <u>cuelist</u> Added a warning dialog if the <u>USB</u> interface gets disconnected when in use. The interface now

gets properly reinitialized when re-attached. Note - the warning and subsequent re-initialization only occurs if the there are modifications in the DMX output values while the interface is disconnected. •New USB driver available - the new driver no longer crashes the PC when powering down from software in Windows 2000/XP.

•Added <u>hotkeys</u> by for individual cue control slot selection toggle (selection on/off). **Build 2** 

•Added hotkey function to load selected Background Cue from the Select Background Cue list 167 Build 4

•Added new <u>HTP channel</u> and groups, primarily for patching multiple single channel fixtures (e.g. par cans through dimmer packs, or on/off fixtures via switch packs) through DMX-in using HTP (highest takes precedence) from the DMX-in values combined with values generated by LJ.

•Due to popular demand the Sequence Playback buttons will no longer be disabled when loading a static sequence (sequence with only one scene)

#### Build 5

•Added <u>Hotkey function</u><sup>205</sup> to emulate a music trig from the sound analyzer.

•Added Hotkey functions 205 to set/clear DMX in Enable.

•Added <u>System Preferences</u> option to force LightJockey to start on the secondary monitor in a multi-monitor system.

•Added <u>System Preferences</u> option to confine positions of controls within the Windows desktop (option default on)

#### Misc. Changes:

#### Build 1

•Modified names of cue macro (hotkey) functions from 'cue macro, <function>' to 'Pan/Tilt Macro, <Function>'.

•The <u>CD control</u> has been re-written to cope better with different CD-ROM setups (including CD-ROM using digital playback). A number of options has been added for better CD\_ROM performance.

# Build 3

•Limited the number of <u>Cue Pages</u> 140 in the <u>List of Cues</u> 137 to 255.

•Modified the version check on the PCI/ISA driver so that it will no longer refuse to work with newer driver versions installed by other applications.

•Disable hotkeys in dialogs now set as default in new installations.

# Build 4

•The <u>Global Patch dialog</u> and has been rewritten to include fixture/channel information and setup for the new HTP Channel Groups.

# Build 5

•The <u>autolaunch file dialog</u> 52 will now accept any file type.

•Modified the <u>Audio CD control</u> and slightly and added minimum polling time (users of audio CDs should read notes)

# Build 6

•Added odd/even fixture filter to the group selection dialog 3.

•Added de-selection of odd/even fixtures to the main desktop popupmenu [45]

# **Bug fixes:**

# Build 1

•Fixed bug that could lead to access violation or crash when browsing color and gobo bitmaps for user defined fixtures.

•Fixed problem that could cause the movement macro control to display garbage on the main desktop on Windows 9X systems.

# Build 3

•Added a check for invalid cue page files that could cause LJ to crash on startup.

•Fixed bug that would not display desktop tabs correctly after restoring a backup to the current user library.

•CMY and RGB values for user defined fixtures now gets saved in user palettes. **Build 4** 

•Fixed bug where channels patched from another DMX output source would not react to blackout commands.

•Fixed bug in MIDI in module - 'Release Seq on note Off' option is now saved between sessions. •Fixed bug where Windows file dialogs would cause user defined fixtures to display the default fixture icon.

•Hotkey settings loaded from the hotkey menu now loads properly.

•Problem with synchronizing shift button status and popup menu when adding channels to groups in the generic DMX control fixed.

Loading a transparent cue no longer resets sequence on/off states for non affected sequence slots.
'Smoke button use level' setting in smoke control now works correctly.

•Fixed bug in pan 360deg function for built in moving head profiles.

•User Palettes will now save the correct fade state when the effect is 'off'.

•Wrong value for Lamp Off command for Roboscan 1220CMYR,RPR,XR fixed

Show Programmed Fixtures function rewritten and should cause no more random fatal crashes.
Fixed bug in LJ Media Player (now version 1.1), returning from full to default screen size now allows normal movement of the control.

•Backing up a user library will no longer mess with LightJockey's ability to find the correct icons and bitmap files.

•Trigging chased manual sequences with the bounce hotkey no longer resets chase direction to fwd or rev.

#### Build 7

•Fixed resize problems under Windows XP on Statics Windows and Sequence Slot Names Window.

#### **Offline Visualizer updates**

# 24.9 Version 2.1

#### Fixture personalities added/changed

#### Build 1

•Built-in profiles for Mac 250 and Mac 250 now programs color, effect and extended controls when both types are selected.

•Built-in profiles for MiniMac Profile and MiniMac Wash now programs extended control functions when both types are selected.

#### Build 8

•Added profile for MAC 2000 Performance

Build 12

•Added profile for Alien O5

#### Build 13

•Added speed control for the RoboColor I/II via DMX interface to the specials control.

#### Build 14

•Fixed the number of configurable gobos on Mini Mac profiles. It is now possible to customize the last gobo as well.

#### Build 16

•Corrected the number of DMX channels used by the MAC600NT profile to 15.

Modified the MAC2000 Performance profile to fit version 1.0 (production version) of the DMX protocol.
Modified AlienO5 profile to include reset command according final fixture protocol.

#### Build 20

•Added programming compatibility between MAC500 and Roboscan 918. It is now possible to select colors/gobos/effect simultaneously for these fixtures (fixed gobo only on fixtures in identical SCRL/non-SCRL modes)

•Removed random gobo buttons from Maestro profile (was never implemented in fixture).

# Features added:

# Build 3

•Added Import Cuelist option to the cuelist control. Drag the cuelist to import from the list of cuelists to the line where the cuelist should be imported to (below the last line to add the cuelist). Then from the Link or Import dialog select Import.

## Build 6

•Finalized support for the PCI 512 and PCI 2048 23 interface cards.

# Build 8

•Fixture selection mode (exclusive/inclusive) is now saved and restored when LJ is restarted.

•Added 'Add to Cuepage' option to the save cue dialog 136.

•Added MTC sync frames to the Cuelist <u>MIDI time code</u> and options.

•Added 'Select all programmed' to <u>desktop popup menu</u> 45 - also as <u>hotkey command</u> 205 •Added 'Select fixture like Master' as hotkey command 205

•Added 'Select All programmed of this type' to the <u>Fixture Icon popup</u> and <u>hotkey command</u> and <u>hotkey command</u>

•Added 'key press pass to LJ' to the Audio Analyzer - LJ hotkeys may now be used even if the Sound Analyzer has the Windows focus.

# Build 12

•The Master Intensity control [195] can now be opened by double clicking the Master Intensity field in the status bar [58]

•Added display of pan/tilt cycle time to the Movement Macro Control 102.

•Added hotkeys 205 for assigning position presets 1-10 to selected fixtures.

•Added the option of patching the value of a <u>Master Intensity</u> [195] sub master from a DMX out channel. •Added the <u>LightJockey Media Player</u> [183] for playback and time code synchronization of digital media files (including digital video files).

# Build 14

•Added option to disable functions controlled by DMX-in in the DMX-in dialog [231]

•Added Hotkey 205 for Cue control 'Chase Man' function

# Build 16

•Added <u>Generic DMX Macros</u> as a new type of programming elements. Generic DMX macros allows programming of macros on any DMX control channel. Added one macro slot to the cue control to hold a generic macro to be launched together with the cue.

•Added a <u>Sequence Snapshot</u> (130) option to the sequence control to 'record' the current DMX output values to the current scene.

•Added a couple of buttons to the Cue Control 132 for quicker access to the

Background Cue Control 167 and List of Background cues 169.

# Build 17

•Added sorting by column to the list of cuelists 178.

•Added functions to automatically select function when using mouse emulation in the  $\frac{2532 \text{ control}}{231}$  and the virtual button only contains one function (latch or flash).

# Build 19

•Added option to abort data restore process 48 if the restore file is corrupted.

# Build 20

•Added function to ensure that only one instance of the same LightJockey installation can be running it is no longer possible to start a second instance of the same LightJockey.exe. To run multiple instances of LightJockey at the same time make sure to install and run the individual instances from different installations.

•Added option to startup LightJockey in a specific user library <u>using a command line parameter</u> 64.

•Added <u>Hotkey functions</u> 205 to stop and start individual sequences in the cue.

•Added option to set random delay by fixture rather than by offset in the Generic DMX Macro Control

Misc. Changes: Build 3 •The cuelist now maintains focus on inserted lines after cut & paste operations.

•The cuelist control now gives a warning when trying to run a modified cuelist containing a link to another cuelist.

## Build 6

•Modified setup timing on ISA club and DJ cards. This should fix remaining problems with cards that seems to initialize correctly, but doesn't transmit DMX.

#### Build 8

•Windows9X USB drivers located in the <LJPath>\HardwareDrivers\USB\ folder will automatically be deleted when LightJockey is updated and started.

#### Build 12

•Warnings (freeze, blackout and offline) now appears centered on the main LJ desktop.

#### **Bug fixes:**

#### Build 1

•Fixed bug that disabled 'open on LightJockey Desktop' for the List of Cues view.

•LJ will no longer shut down Winamp unless it Winamp was originally launched by LJ.

•Fixed control value refresh bug when using clicking up/down buttons on the cue macro control. **Build 2** 

•The auto lamp on command no longer sends a zero value to the first channel of a 4 channel generic DMX fixture.

•The smoke button on the smoke control no longer stays active if the cursor moved out of the smoke button before the (mouse) button is released.

#### Build 8

•Another fix for ISA Club cards that did not initialize correctly (no DMX output)

# Build 12

•Fixed bug in Cue and Sequence times controlled from the 2518 via RS232.

•The Off-line entry in the main menu that disappeared a couple of releases ago is now back in place. •Fixed MAC2000 Performance shutter rotation angle fade button bug.

•Added explanation and a partial fix for Winamp time code inconsistencies 187.

•Fixed bug associated with the auto start of external executables.

•Fixed bug related to auto lamp function and user defined fixture profiles.

#### Build 14

•Fixed bugs with various up/down buttons getting stuck in auto-repeat.

•Fixture Home hotkey function will now actually home the fixtures.

#### Build 16

•Fixed problem with the <u>Sequence Control</u> 124 in <u>blind mode</u> 129. The '*Keep contents when entering blind mode option*' now also works when loading a sequence in blind mode.

#### Build 17

•Fixed a User Library restore from floppy diskette Windows 9X bug (again).

•Fixed problem when fixtures are set to invert pan/tilt or pan/tilt-swap and using the focus beam function in the Offline Visualizer.

•Fixed problem where LJ would starve the Offline Visualizer for CPU resources when multiple fixtures were positioned using the focus beam function.

#### Build 19

•Fixed DMX offline problem when using the USB interface.

# Build 20

•Fixed desktop grid resize bug.

•Fixed problem when setting pan/tilt or effect speeds with multiple fixture types selected.

# Offline Visualizer updates

## Build 3

•Added a new calibration option to help positioning fixtures in the 3D room. The calibration feature only works when the fixtures are physically connected to LJ.

# 24.10 Version 2.0

## Fixture personalities added/changed

Build 1
Added personality for Martin FiberSource CMY150.
Build 3
Fixed bug In Roboscan 1220II Rotating gobo function.

# Misc. Changes:

## Build 1

•Changed driver implementation for Windows 2000 ISA card driver so that it is now useable under Windows 2000 when not logged in as administrator. To make updates of previous versions work in non-administrator login under Windows 2000, the driver must be-re-installed 23.

Note that the location of the new installer program has changed to <LightJockeyInstallation>\HardwareDrivers\PCI\_ISA.

# **Bug fixes:**

# Build 1

•Fixed fixture ID function for a number of built-in fixture profiles.

•Fixed bug in Clear Fixture functions on the fixture popup menu. The clear command would in certain circumstances overlap to first channel of the next fixture.

•Fixed bug that could cause the cue-builder to appear in multiple invalid copies.

# Build 2

•Fixed bug in smoke control with smoke button on duration toggle, and duration < 1 second. **Build 4** 

•Fixed bug that would cause the Static Use Fadetime option to reset after LJ restart.

# Misc. Changes:

#### Build 3

•The Set Current Cue command now appears on the command panel in the cuelist after use.

# **Offline Visualizer updates**

# Build 2

Added the option to pass keyboard actions to LightJockey from the Offline Visualizer (OV Settings Menu) - LightJockey hotkeys will now work even if the Visualizer has the Windows focus.
Focus beam on non-moving fixtures (e.g. Par Cans or RoboColors) now focuses the selected fixtures in real time.

# Build 3

•Added proper profile for Roboscan 1220IIR

# 24.11 Version 1.08

The LightJockey end user forum on the Martin Website has moved - the new URL is http://www.http://www.martin.com/forum/ - <u>click to link</u> Fixture personalities added/changed:

# Build 1

Added personality for Martin Exterior 200Added Blackout and Master Intensity functionality to RGB fixtures

# Build 2

•Added personality for Martin Atomic 3000

#### Build 4

Added personalities for Martin Wizard

#### Features added:

#### Build 2

•Added Max Delay value to the <u>Auto Delay Control</u> 104. Decrement Max Delay for 'follow the leader/Snake' effects in movement macros.

•Added <u>Select Background Cue list</u> 169 to select background cues from a separate list rather than from the drop down list. Background cues may now also be dragged and dropped from this list (<u>Cuelist</u> 169, <u>DMX-in</u> 231, 2532 228 and <u>MC-X</u> 245 configuration).

•Added Hotkeys 2003 and 2532 Functions 2203 for Background Cue sequence toggle (individual slots, and all on/off).

•Added Hotkeys 205 to switch all cue slots on and off respectively.

•Added fixture profile notes to the <u>Fixture Icon popup</u> and menu.

•Added Auto lamp on command time for user definable fixture profiles 2651.

•Added Reset Command time for user definable fixture profiles 274

•Added paste latch/flash only in the 2532 configuration 226

•Added the option to launch <u>Background Cues</u> from <u>MIDI</u> 240.

•Added the option to create 2518 mem 298 files that may be downloaded to a 2518 controller.

•Added Hotkey for <u>Cue builder</u> 150 Get Cue, and hotkeys to reset macro amplitude and speed in the <u>Cue Macro Control</u> 148

Added the option to Customize the tab size on the <u>2532 dialog</u> <sup>[22b]</sup> (for touch screen use)
Increased the number of DMX channels for the DJ ISA card (to 512 out+512 in) and the USB interface (512 Out). The restriction of the number of controllable fixtures for those two packages has also been increased to 100.

•<u>New cuelist implementation</u><sup>163</sup>. Includes the option to synchronizing to digital audio file formats using Winamp for playback (including MP3 files)

•The <u>Cue Control</u> 132 has been slightly redesigned.

•The ability to latch <u>Background cues</u><sup>167</sup> from the Cue has been added.

•Specific Cue Macro Control settings for a Cue may now be <u>saved</u> and restored when reloading the cue.

•Added <u>Default DMX values</u> 274 to the user defined fixtures (type 2 only), and the option to <u>apply the default DMX values</u> 74 when saving a modified configuration.

#### Build 4

•Implemented Windows 2000 compatibility. Note that new <u>hardware drivers</u> are required to run the DMX transmitter hardware under Windows 2000.

•The implementation for the DMXADP interface has been changed. The external ADPDriver.exe application is no longer used or required.

•Increased the number of follow spot presets to 10. The <u>follow spot</u> [198] function has been slightly modified.

•The sync buttons on the <u>Master intensity control</u> [195] now also synchronizes Bump commands. •Increased the number of entries in the <u>Statics Control</u> [189] from 10 to 20.

•Added the option to restore sequence slot on/off status in the <u>Background Cue</u> (optional) •Added option to show the notes on <u>start up</u> 52

•Added optional bitmap transparency to user defined fixture profiles 263.

#### Build 6

•Added integrated backup and restore 64 of user libraries.

# Misc. Changes:

# Build 4

•A lot of controls and dialogs have been redesigned slightly for better resizing when using different

Windows fonts.

•The <u>BGCue button</u> and <u>Statics button</u> (188) on the toolbar have been redesigned - active BG cues or statics are now indicated with a green 'LED'.

•It is no longer necessary to allocate a serial port to use the 2532 in 'virtual' mode (using the control without actually connecting the 2532). The control is now always enabled, even if no 2532 is configured. For existing installations it is recommended to disable the 2532 hardware connection (select disabled in the hardware setup dialog  $2^{2}$ ) since 'noise' on an un-connected RS232 port may cause unpredictable behavior.

•Added bitmap background transparency to various buttons and built in fixtures icon bitmaps (almost all fixture icon bitmaps have been updated)

# Bug fixes:

## Build 1

•Sequences in the Background Cue no longer advance when in 'off' mode.

•Hotkeys for Macro auto delays no longer sets sequence changed state

•Clear Cue option on Cue Stack now works.

#### Build 2

•Flash sequences activated via keyboard hotkeys are no longer continuously restarted due to keyboard repetition.

•Setting on/off states of individual sequences in the Background Cue now updates the Background Cue output immediately.

•The memory load indicated in the Status Bar now updates correctly (once every second). The %-value and color interpretation has also changed. See <u>Status Bar</u> [58].

•Launching external programs (e.g. the Offline Visualizer) and restarting LightJockey now works correctly when the install path exceeds 60 characters.

•The problem with the Sound Analyzer locking up when exiting in Windows 2000 has been fixed

•A bug in the manual sequence trig that could cause overlapping scenes or 'no-trigs' has been fixed.

•The Get Cue function in the <u>Cue-builder</u> for now also reads the sequence slot on/off state in the cue control.

•Sequence time overrides via DMX in bug fixed - it is no longer necessary to override cue time via DMX in as well.

•Fixed bug on CX-4 gobo strobe fade button.

•Fixed bug that would create an access violation if the special commands control was open when a different type of user defined fixture was selected.

•Fixed bug in smoke control so that the smoke timer always uses programmed level regardless of 'Smoke Button use Level' state.

•Position presets can now be used in follow spot settings.

# Build 4

•Fixed bug that would crash LightJockey if the 2532 toggle command was applied to a 2532 button and then used to close the 2532 control.

•Added a check on data files marked for read-only. Read-only file attributes will now be cleared on startup, rather than crashing the application.

•A running Cuelist (started with a startup command) no longer stops the first time the cuelist control is opened

•Fixed 'Toggle Group View' hotkey bug

•Fixed a Windows 2000 related bug concerning the fixture CMY controls.

•Fixed bug causing instability and crashes related to unaddressed fixtures and the 'show programmed fixtures' option.

•Fixed bug concerning the 'Follow active BG cue' in the Select BG cue list.

•Fixed bug concerning export of bitmaps for the second effects palette when exporting user defined fixture profiles.

•Fixed bug that prevented the 'Open Controls on LightJockey Desktop' option to work correctly with the 2532 Control.

#### Build 6

•Fixed bug in Wizard movement control (missing update)

•Fixed timing problem in initialization of PCMCIA interface

•Fixed timing problem in initialization of ISA Club interface

•Fixed problem with updating installations using ADP interface - Version 1.08 build 4 ADP installations will need re-configuration of the ADP to work.

•Fixed bug related to double click processing in the movement-preset list.

•New Windows 2000 driver for LightJockey PCMCIA card. The new driver fixes problems in installations where the old driver wouldn't work after reboot - if the existing driver works fine, there is no need to update.

To update the driver in existing installations first install the LightJockey update - then right click *my computer* on the Windows desktop. From the popup menu select *Properties*, and then from the *Hardware* tab select *Device Manager*. Locate the DMX Card under *Other Devices* in the hardware list. Right Click the DMX Card entry and select *Properties* from the popup. On the *Driver* tab select *Update Driver* to start the *Upgrade Device Driver Wizard*. Select the Search for suitable driver option, then select *specify a location* and click next. Use the Browse function to locate updated driver in <LightJockey Installation>\HardwareDrivers\PCMCIA\W2K - select the *dmxcard.inf* file located in the directory and click *Open*, then *Ok*. Once Windows has examined the new driver, click *next* to update the installation with the new driver.

#### Build 7

•Another initialization bug of the ISA Club interface fixed - the bug could cause the ISA card to pass initial tests, but not initialize correctly (no DMX output).

•Fixed problem in Windows 9X installations when restoring user data library if the restore file was placed in the root directory of the media.

#### **Offline Visualizer updates**

#### Build 1

•The old version of the Offline Visualizer is no longer distributed with update files or installation CDs. Existing installations that rely on the old version will still be able to use it, but it is no longer possible to select it from system preferences sol. References to the old version of the Offline Visualizer have been removed from the help file.

#### Build 4

Added Acrobat (mirror drum rotation not emulated)
Added Profile for CX-4
Added Profile for Exterior 200
Added Profile for SynchroZap (mirror rotation not emulated)

The following non-Martin Fixtures now have partial support in the OV

#### **Clay Paky**

Golden Scan HPE Mini Scan 150/300 Mini Scan HPE Pin Scan Stage Scan Stage Color 300 Stage Color 575 Stage Color 1000 Stage Color 1200 Stage Light 300 Stage Zoom 1200 Super Scan Zoom Tiger Scan HES AF 1000 Color Pro HX/FX/HX-I Cvberlight CL/SV Cyberlight CX EC-1 ES-1 Intellabeam (13 ch, 8ch) Studiobeam PC (std/puremix) Studio Color 250 Studio Color 575 Studio Spot 250 Studio Spot 575 CMY Technobeam Technobeam (Iris) Trackspot (lo/hi res)

# 24.12 Version 1.07

Note, the URL for the LightJockey forum has changed. The new URL is http://www.martin.com/service/forums/ForumViewData.asp?ForumID=1

# Fixture personalities added/changed:

#### Build 2

•Personality for Acrobat, extended DMX mode added

•Personality for MX1, extended DMX mode added

•Personality for MX4, extended DMX mode added

•Personality for MiniMac Profile and Wash in intensity mode added. Note that sequences made with the non-intensity profile must have intensity levels re-programmed.

•Color selection for MiniMac Profile and Wash are now compatible, meaning that selecting a color on MiniMac profile fixtures will also select the same color on MiniMac Wash fixtures.

# Build 5

•Personality for MAC 600 NT added

# Build 9

•Personality for MAC 2000 added. Color, Gobo and Effect palettes may be customized by right-clicking the fixture icon and selecting Customize Fixture 76.

•Added <u>customizable color/gobo and effect palettes</u> for MAC 500 and Roboscan 918.

# Build 10

•Added <u>customizable effect palettes</u> <sup>76</sup> to MiniMAC Profile and Wash and Roboscan 518. **Build 11** 

Personality for MiniMac Maestro added. Use <u>customizable palettes</u> to configure the gobo palette.
 Build 12

•Added <u>customizable Color palette</u> **76** to FiberSource QFX.

•Build 13

•Added <u>customizable Color palette</u> to MAC300, MAC 600, Exterior 600 and MAC 600 NT.

•The gobo controls for MAC 500/ Roboscan 918 has been re-written to allow separation of gobo selection and gobo rotation parameters.

# Build 14

•Added customizable Color, Gobo and Effects palettes 76 to MAC250/250+

•The gobo control for MAC 250+ has been re-written to allow separation of gobo selection and gobo rotation parameters.

•Added access to the built-in Gobo/Prism macros on the MAC 250/250+ : Effects control - preferences - show special.

•Added <u>customizable Color, Gobo and Effects palettes</u> to Roboscan 1220XR and Roboscan 1220 CMYR. The gobo control was re-written to allow separation of gobo selection and gobo rotation parameters

•Added <u>customizable Color, Gobo and Effects palettes</u> 76 to Roboscan 1220RPR.The gobo and effect controls were re-written to allow separation of gobo/effect selection and rotation parameters.

•Added <u>customizable Color, Gobo palettes</u> to PAL 1200.The gobo and control was re-written to allow separation of gobo/effect selection and rotation parameters.

•Added <u>customizable Gobo palettes</u> to PAL 1200 FX. The gobo and control was re-written to allow separation of gobo/effect selection and rotation parameters. Use Color 1 palette values for first gobo control (uses color wheel).

•The effect control for MAC 2000 profile has been re-written to allow separation of effect selection and effect rotation parameters.

•The gobo control for the Imagescan has been re-written.

#### Build 17

•Added personalities for 30,12,6 and 2 channel generic DMX fixtures.

•Color/Gobo music trig buttons for MX/CX series has been replaced by a fixture trig button.

•Added personality for Martin CX-4 extended DMX mode (profile not yet supported by the Offline Visualizer)

## Build 18

•Changed gobo default for CX4 from DotCone to Holes3 (default palette to update configured fixtures). Build 19

•Added personalities for controlling packs of <u>RGB fixtures</u> 8.

#### Features added:

# Build 2

•Added hotkey 203 options for the movement options 98.

•Added a hotkey option for the <u>smoke control</u>  $12^{2}$  smoke timer button.

•Added a <u>Statics Control</u> for faster control of various types of 'static' fixtures, e.g. strobes or fixtures controlled through dimmer- or switch-packs.

•Added a an optional switch to the <u>cue control</u> 132 to automatically release the current sequence when a new cue is loaded.

•Added a Show Programmed Fixtures option to the <u>Desktop popup menu</u>. This option will mark fixtures programmed in the current scene/sequence.

•Added an option to the <u>System Preferences</u> of dialog that forces controls to open within the boundaries of the LightJockey desktop.

•Added a Clear Macro button to the pan/tilt position controls 98.

•Added a mouse right-click to open single fixture controls from the fixture tool bar 57.

#### Build 3

•Added a new option to the right-click function of the mouse in the pan/tilt position grid a. A right-click may now lock the mouse to the grid until another mouse click is made.

•Added the option of naming the 2532 pages.

•Added new DMX in options to the <u>Global Patch</u> 2017.

•Added the possibility to assign programs (sequences, cues, cuelists and BG Cues) to hotkeys. **Build 4** 

•Added *Cuelist Go, Cuelist Back, Cuelist Stop* And *Cuelist Stop and Clear* commands to hotkey 205 functions and DMX-in 231 commands.

•Added the possibility to flash sequences via DMX-in 231.

Added <u>Hotkey functions</u> <sup>205</sup> for sequence trig default (programmed) and bounce loop mode.
Added right click popup menu to clear multiple key combos and set or clear the scroll lock attribute in the <u>hotkeys setup</u> <sup>203</sup>.

•Added an option to put a label 143 in the sequence slots in the cue control 132.

•The internal cuelist engine has been re-written to ensure better program flow when the cuelist is active (running) - there are no functional changes in the cuelist itself.

•Added a new 2518 via RS-232 and the new mode requires firmware version 2.0 or higher

present in the 2518.

•The <u>global patch</u> and supports simultaneous patching from DMX in and DMX out. A couple of new options added.

•Added a pan/tilt fan-out function to the position controls approximation options menu.

#### Build 5

•Added value inversion on RGB control for the user definable Generic Fixture 2.

•Added selection/de-selection of all fixtures of a given type to the Fixture Icon popup is menu.

# Build 6

•Added support for <u>PCMCIA DMX Interfaces</u> 22.

•The <u>2532 Direct Access</u> <sup>225</sup> implementation has been rewritten. The 2532 may now be used to latch cuelists and background cues and trig hotkey functions. Use the File/Import menu entry on the 2532 control to import and convert setups made with previous implementations.

•Added a bunch of new <u>hotkey functions</u> and including Clear Sequence Slots, New Cue, De-select All Fixtures, Pan/Tilt relative and timed fade out and fade in. A number of functions have been renamed for a clearer description.

•Added a search help option to the main help menu.

•Added Sub-Master synchronize buttons to the Master Intensity control

•Added a <u>DIP Switch</u><sup>263</sup> option to the user definable type 2 fixture.

•Added Latch Cuelist, Latch Background Cue and Enable Static to the DMX in commands 231.

•Added an automatic prompt to clear data for new fixtures in the Fixture Configuration 6.

•Implemented an <u>offline/online switch</u> [198]. In offline mode the physical DMX output is blocked (frozen) - output is still routed to the Offline Visualizer making it possible to utilize the Visualizer to program blind, while maintaining different a (static) DMX output to the connected fixtures.

#### Build 7

Added a 4th (non palette) <u>effects control</u> <sup>274</sup> to the user definable fixture type 2. Note that the 4th control will not be useable if the profile is used in installations with software below this version.
 Added *Home Selected Fixtures* Hotkey function <sup>205</sup>.

•Added a Call Cue by Number option to the List of Cues 137.

•Added a new Generic DMX control at with keyboard command line interface.

•Added the an option to the <u>Cue Control</u> [132] so that hotkey trigs also changes the programmed sequence direction.

# Build 9

•Added Hotkey for Master Intensity Control toggle.

•Added Hotkey for User Palettes and Position Preset toggle.

•Added Hotkey for View Notes.

•Added the option of assigning background colors to the <u>on-screen 2532</u> [226] matrix (*Font Properties / Color Scheme*)

•Added a Link to Cuelist to the Cuelist commands so one cuelist may link to another cuelist.

•Added Custom Palette options to Built-in fixtures. Not all fixtures are yet supported. Note that changes to palettes does not reflect in the Offline Visualizer.

# Build 13

•Added master intensity status to the status bar 58.

# Build 14

•The list of cues has been completely rewritten. The new version offers improved functionality including cue pages and new hotkeys and DMX in commands.

•Added mouse latch/flash toggle button to the 2532 control 231 (mouse emulation).

•Added a Latch Flash Sequences option to the <u>cue control</u> [132].

•Added LightJockey hotkey functions to the MIDI in 240 program.

# Build 15

•Finalized USB support. The USB interface is only supported from this build.

•Added lots of help notes to the <u>new Offline Visualizer</u> [284].

•Added a DMX refresh-rate switch to the hardware setup (4064 cards only)

# Build 17

•Added the possibility to backup and restore data from a single user library. This option is primarily

useful when inexperienced users needs to restore LJ to a working order. See Using the Data Restore Option 48.

•Added the possibility to override cue times with DMX in or the 2518 on RS232, see  $\underline{DMX \text{ in }}_{231}$ ,  $\underline{2518/RS232}_{242}$  and  $\underline{Cue \text{ Time control }}_{147}$ .

•Added MIDI time code interface to the Cuelist. See <u>Hardware Setup</u> 22, <u>Cuelist control</u> 169 and MIDI/SMPTE time code driven cuelists.

#### Build 18

Added 'Auto strike Lamp' and 'toggle Background Cue control' to hotkey functions (and 2532).
 Added the option to control audio gain and noise threshold setting on the audio analyzer via DMX in [231].

•Increased the capacity of the <u>background cue</u> 167 to 5 sequences, and added modes for cue transparency and audio-trigged and 1-shot sequences

•Added 'Scenes/Trig' and 'Audio-Trigs/Trig' options to the sequence slot loop options 145.

•Added Windows accelerator keys to the <u>global patch</u> and to ease the entering of patch information. The [Enter] key now works as hotkey for the **Set Values** button, the selected address is automatically advanced by one and focus is automatically returned to the last edit field after pressing [Enter]. Hope you like it Jimmy :)

•Added level control capability to the statics control 189.

•Added a '<u>Cue Builder</u> 150' with a cue-preset and cue-stack for building cues on-the-fly.

#### Misc. Changes:

#### Build 3

•The resolution parameter in the position controls is now saved between sessions, one value for 16 bit controls, and one value for 8 bit controls.

#### Build 4

•Renamed the <u>Movement options</u> and moved it to a submenu in the position control options menu.

## Build 5

•List of sequence and list of cue now opens with the same top line they had when they were closed. **Build 6** 

•Changed Destroyer gobo selection to match production version.

•Changed the <u>Statics Control</u> 189 to use true LTP evaluation (Latest Takes Precedence).

•Renamed the blind mode to Freeze Output 198 to make the function clearer.

#### Build 7

•The Offline Visualizer is now by default enabled for new installations.

#### Build 14

•Increased the number of user defined fixture groups at to 99.

#### Bug fixes:

## Build 2

•Fixed a bug that sometimes would throw access violation errors when closing fixture controls.

# Build 3

•Fixed MiniMac Wash fade bug.

•Fixed potential bug in cuelist introduced in 1.07 build 2 (sluggish cuelist)

# Build 5

•Fixed Audio in function that broke in 1.07, build 4.

#### Build 6

•Fixed bug that would connect the 2518 controller via COM 1 regardless of the COM port setting in the hardware setup.

•Fixed bug that would sometime lock a cuelist using CD time code commands if the CD control was not visible.

•Fixed split color bug on SynchroZap Color control. **Build 7**
•Fixed hotkey *clear sequence* # bug that would not clear the sequence when the cue consisted of static sequences only.

•Added Show Offline Warning switch to the system preferences 50.

•Fixed inconsistency in the find hotkey function.

•Fixed a bug that would lock a CD time code cuelist if no CD-ROM was configured.

## Build 8

•Fixed the 'cannot execute CD time code Commands'-error bug on cuelists not containing CD time code commands

### Build 9

•Fixed a bug that would likely cause instability or even crash the application if the "show programmed fixtures" feature was enabled and fixtures were configured without DMX address.

•Swapped captions 'Near' and 'Far' for zoom in the beam section of the Generic Fixture Profile •Fixed bug that would lead to repeated 'flashes' when using keyboard emulation of the 2532 (hope noone is using it as a feature).

### Build 11

•Fixed bug that would cause position presets and user palettes to fail on the Mini MAC profile. •Fixed level/special hotkey toggle bug.

### Build 11

•Fixed bug that would show No Control Functions Controls when using show all controls.

## Build 13

•Fixed MAC 2000 color wheel scroll DMX values

•Fixed bug restoring from frozen mode after loading cues.

### Build 14

•Fixed bug displaying MAC500/RS918 gobo control without palette.

•Fixed bug that could cause an access violation when opening a list of cues.

•Fixed FID speed fade button bug in 1220-IIR intensity control.

•Fixed bug in MC-X configuration that wouldn't allow drag and drop configuration and removal of cues.

•Fixed Bug that might hinder saving of MIDI setups if not in default user library.

## Build 15

•Fixed bug that would make 8 bit pan/tilt fixtures very 'twitchy' when overlaying fading pan/tilt movements with movement macros.

## Build 16

•The first cue in the global list of cues no longer automatically loads when LJ starts up if Browse Cue mode is enabled.

•Fixed critical bug that could cause the to stop loading from the global cue window.

## Build 17

•Fixed bug that would reset the hotkey dialog disable option when LightJockey was restarted.

•Fixed bug that would save color schemes for the 2532 control incorrectly.

•Fixed bug that would print 2532 latch text incorrectly (or not at all) unless always split matrix buttons was selected.

•Fixed bug in Mac 250+ gobo control that would affect the focus fade parameters as well.

•Fixed bug that could cause an access violation when selecting an 'empty' channel output channel in the generics control.

•Fixed bug so the effect control for fixtures now resizes properly with 10 or more palette buttons.

•Fixed bug in Static Control so when statics are using fade times they should now work as intended. **Build 18** 

•Cue/Sequence times now reset correctly when replacing sequences in the cue.

•Fixed bug in MAC 2000 effect rotation control.

•Fixed bug that would sometimes quick save an existing cue as a new cue.

## Offline Visualizer updates

## Build 5

Support for the following fixture modes added:

•MX-4 Extended DMX
•Roboscan 218, mode 2 (\*)
•Roboscan 518, mode 2 (\*)
•MiniMac Profile, Intensity mode
•MiniMac Wash, Intensity mode
•RoboColor Pro 400, mode 2 (\*)
•RoboColor II, mode 2 (\*)
•RoboColor III, mode 2 (\*)
(\*) Speed parameters are not emulated.

### Build 6

•Fixed problems with direction markers on MAC 250/300/500/600

#### Build 14

•Introduced new Offline Visualizer version (4.3). The old version will no longer be updated with new fixtures.

#### Build 15

Fixed bug visualizing the 4 channel generic DMX fixture.Added 3D beam positioning to OV/LightJockey.

#### Build 17

•Added support for 30,12,6 and 2 channel generic DMX fixtures.

## 24.13 Version 1.06

Fixture personalities added/changed: Build 15 Personality for Martin Acrobat added **Build 16**  Personality for Martin MAC 250+ added Build 19 •Implemented P/T speed for the MX-1 Build 22 •Personality for the Martin CX2 color changer added •Personality for the Martin QFX Fibersource added •Personality for the Martin Exterior 600 Compact added •Personality for Roboscan 812, mode 2 added Added Fixture Stand Alone modes for Roboscan 518, Roboscan 218-II and the RoboColor 400 Added speed controls for 1220CMYR, 1220RPR and 1220XR Build 23 Added personality for Martin MX-4 •Personality for 4 channel Generic DMX control added •Added Speed Controls to MAC 500 and Roboscan 918 in Fixed Gobo mode Added personalities for Roboscan 218 and Roboscan 512 in mode 2 (8 bit pan/tilt - tracking/speed) Added personalities for Robocolor II and II, mode 2 (speed control) Build 24 •Added Pan/Tilt Speed Control to ImageScan Added Personality for RoboColor 400, mode 2 (speed control) Build 25 •Added Personality for Martin MiniMacs, Profile and Wash. Added Speed Controls to PAL and PAL-FX Added Speed Controls to MAC 1200

•Added Speed Control to Exterior 600

•Added Speed Control to Mac 250, Mac 250+, Mac 300 and Mac 600

•Added Intensity Control and pan speed control to Acrobat

## Features added:

•The <u>Global Patch Tool</u> and now implements minimum and maximum settings for DMX output as well as inverting the DMX value. Note that nesting patches is no longer possible.

•A new <u>User-Definable Fixture</u> [247] personality has been added. The new fixture profile supports 16-bit Pan and Tilt and a maximum of 32 DMX control channels.

•Added <u>MIDI in 240</u> as remote control option.

•Added the possibility to align fixture icons on the desktop. The alignment menu is available from the <u>Fixture Icon Popup</u>

•The possibility of inverting and swapping pan and tilt has been added to the fixture configuration 66

•The <u>Fixture Configuration</u> has been rewritten. User defined profiles (type 2 only) are now available for direct selection and configuration.

## Build 15

•The PC keyboard Hotkey 203 implementation has been completely re-written. Hot keys and are now user assignable to pre-defined functions.

### Build 16

- added more functions and a *disable in save dialogs* option to the Hotkeys 203
- added save cue as # to the Save Cue Dialog 136
- added user fixture profile Export 281 and Import 280 functions.

• added bump function to the Master Intensity Control [195]

### Build 17

•The <u>2532 Direct Access</u> Interface has been re-written to include resizing of control, font selection and print out.

•A *Place All* option has been added to the unassigned list. This option places all unassigned fixtures on the current desktop.

- A <u>Follow spot</u> 198 function has been added.
- Fixture Solo 200 function added.
- <u>Next/Previous Fixture</u> and function added.
- •Audio-input for synchronizing cues to music has been implemented. See Using Audio-in 192 and Trigging Sequences in the Cue 144

## Build 18

•Added Ignore Blackout and Ignore Grand Master to the Fixture Configuration 6.

#### Build 19

•Added chase mode to manually trigged sequences in the cue. See <u>Cue Control</u> [132] and <u>Trigging Sequences in the Cue</u> [142]

•Added check sequences to the Delete Sequences dialog, see Deleting Multiple Data files 48

•Added printer setup dialog to the 2532 printout dialog 231.

•Added 'latch' functions to the <u>Master Intensity Control</u> 195 bump buttons.

•Added support for the MC-X Controller <sup>245</sup> to be used as external control option.

•Added a <u>Background Cue</u> 167 to control house lights or similar functions.

•Added a <u>Transparent Cue</u><sup>149</sup> mode.

•Implemented individual <u>User Libraries</u> 62.

•Added <u>Sequence intensities</u> (DMX in only) for overriding intensities in individual sequences. **Build 22** 

•Added relative movement to the position control 98.

•Added a couple of movement options including mirror, swap and pan 360° to the position control st.

•Added a list of user cameras to the Offline Toolbar. <u>Hotkeys</u> 203 for quick access to user camera views added.

•Added a save to cue slot option to the save sequence dialog 125

•Added a second palette to the user definable fixtures effects control [274].

•Added a switch to disable fade times for sequences in <u>chase mode</u> 144 in the cue.

Added a <u>Cue macro control</u><sup>[148]</sup> to scale and disable/enable active movement macros in the cue.
Added diagnostics messages <sup>[33]</sup> to help trouble shooting problems with the 4064 card.

•Added 2518 via RS-232 242 as remote control option.

•Added <u>Blind mode</u> 1981.

## Build 23

•Added Sequence Blind Mode 129

•Added <u>Sequence Fade 132</u> control.

•Added Copy from Fixture 72 option to the fixture configuration 6.

•Added <u>Clear Fixture Data</u> 73 to the <u>fixture configuration</u> 66.

•Added New Sequence and Trig All Manual Sequences as <u>hotkey functions</u> 203 Also added Trig all manual fwd as <u>2532 user function</u> 228.

#### Build 25

•Added a *Trace Selected Fixtures* option to the mealtime view of <u>Movement Macros</u> 102 Build 27

•Added emulation mode to the 2532 Control 231

•Added an optional link between the master intensity control and strobe for selected Martin products.

This function may be enabled in the fixture configuration 6

#### Build 28

•Added support for download to <u>2510 playback controller</u> [290].

•Added Clear Fixture options to fixture right click pop-up menu 5.

•Added 'Add to BG Cue' to sequence list 127 right click pop-up

•Added dedicated load selected cue and flash selected sequence <u>hotkeys</u> 203 These will work even if the cue and sequence lists no longer has focus.

•Added an auto-launch feature for external support programs to the <u>Startup options dialog</u> 52.

•Added an external support program for remote control by RS-232 246

•Added a print option to the Fixture Configuration

## Build 29

•New fixtures added to the Offline Visualizer

#### Misc. Changes:

•The <u>DMX in Configuration</u> is now always available, even if no hardware is present. This allows clearing any functions allocated to DMX in control, even if DMX in is not enabled.

•The DMX input override DMX output function has been moved to the <u>Global Patch</u> 2011. Using the Global Patch allows assigning multiple outputs to a single input without having to nest the patches. It also enables the <u>Enable DMX Override</u> 2311 switch to work when multiple outputs are patched to a single input.

•The driver for the Parallel port has been updated again. The new driver consists of a new DMXPLUS.DLL (version 8.06) and a new ADPDriver.exe (version 2.5)

•Some of the bitmaps used for the fixture icons has been resized. This means that if fixture icons are displayed in 'Image Size', icons for certain fixture types will change their size slightly.

•Added fan control to the 518 fixture. The fan control is located on the lamp control.

•It no longer possible to reach the scanner1 and color Scroller profile definitions from the level control. Right-click the fixture icon and select Define Fixture Profile.

### Build 14

•Added a 5 second reset hold to the MX1 personality required by the final version of the fixture software.

•Added personality for the DJ Acrobat fixture.

•Added Sequence On/Off to the  $\underline{DMX \text{ in}}_{23}$  options.

### Build 16

•Added a skip first wait to the Cuelist Preferences - when checked the first real-time wait will be skipped (only on Run). The flag is not saved.

•Moved profile setup for <u>Generic DMX Fixtures</u>, Martin 6 Channel Switch and <u>Color Scroller</u> <sup>255</sup> to the fixture icon right-click menu.

•A delete shapes has been added to the Bézier Shapes menu on the Movement Macro Control

•Added Enable Follow spot Function to the User <u>Fixture Pan & Tilt definition</u> (user fixture 2 only). **Build 16** 

•Buttons for external controls (MIDI,DMX in,2532) has been moved to the Cuelist toolbar 56. Build 19

•The audio trig information is now duplicated on the status bar 58

•Added a **restart** option to the <u>Main System Menu</u> 47.

•Added a Quicksave use Save Options switch to the Save Sequence dialog 128.

#### Build 22

•The test button in Hardware Setup for testing the RS-232 connection to the 2532 has been removed. •Flashed sequences are now shown on the title bar of the <u>Cue Control</u> 132.

•The driver for the ADP interface has been re-written (now version 3.0). The new driver is needed to work with the forthcoming release of firmware revision 1.13 for the ADP interface. It also introduces a new, more efficient method of communication with the LightJockey application.

•Added Blackout and Fadeout as flash functions to the Keyboard Hotkeys 203 and

2532 user key functions 226.

## Build 23

• <u>Blind mode</u> (s) is now disabled by default.

#### Build 25

•Added hotkeys 203 for List of Sequences 127, List of Cues 137 and DMX Output Monitor 607

•Added <u>hotkeys</u><sup>203</sup> for <u>fixture group selection</u><sup>163</sup> and <u>fixture selection</u> mode (inclusive/exclusive). Build 27

•Added an *Audio In* item to the main desktop menu to allow restart of the Audio Analyzer if the audio analyzer for some reason has been closed down. The menu item is only visible if audio in has been enabled.

### Build 28

Added a switch in the preferences menu to disable the color coding of lines in the <u>Cue Control</u>
 Added Strobe to Grand master link to the Roboscan 218 personalities.

## Bug fixes:

•Last used <u>Help file Selection</u> 10 is now saved for the next session.

•Problems in previous 1.06 releases with the intensity control of the Color Scroller personality have been fixed.

•Fixed the Clear Cue on 0 bug in the DMX in cue latch function.

•Right-clicking a fixture icon after saving the configuration would sometimes throw a Windows system error message - this has been fixed.

#### Build 17

•Fixed protocol error in the implementation of the RoboZap via DMX interface.

•Fixed corrupted Master Intensity Control when Show Master Only is enabled.

•Fixed bug that would sometimes crash LightJockey when closing down the sound module

## Build 18

•Fixed 2532 'Edit selected flash' bug.

•Fixtures no longer use fade times when restoring from the solo function.

#### Build 19

•Fixed Destroyer Parabola rotation values.

•Fixed bug that would display wrong pan/tilt values when channels were inverted or pan/tilt swapped (thanks to Derrick Markotter for spotting that one).

•Fixed Printer selection bug in the 2532 Printout Function 231.

## Build 22

•Fixed Punisher Parabola rotation values.

•The <u>Auto Lamp on 52</u> now also works for user-definable fixtures.

•The Preserve sequence enabled switch in the <u>Cue Control</u> 132 now works again.

•Fixed bug where LJ would freeze up if the Close All hotkey was used when a modal dialog (e.g. Close LJ dialog) was active.

Build 23

•The right DMX values for *lamp off* and *fan lo* are now being sent to 1220CMYR,1220XR and 1220 RPR.

•Fixed wrong size for Exterior 600 Compact Color control.

•Fixed numerous bugs related to relative pan/tilt movement.

## Build 24

•Fixed Acrobat pan bug introduced in build 23

•Modified 4064 initialization routines that would report error on some cards.

#### Build 27

•Fixed a bug that wouldn't allow the offline user cameras to update properly in the offline toolbar. **Build 28** 

•Fixed a bug in the *browse to* function of the sequence list.

•Fixed disappearing *launch* item in the off-line menu, if the Visualizer was closed down manually **Build 30** 

• Fix for potential problem with download to 2510 (err 6 and err 7 during download).

Build 31

• Loading a transparent cue no longer resets the internal elapsed scene times on sequences already present in the cue

- Loading a transparent cue no longer resets the current scene to 1 on already present sequences stopped by a loop limit.
- A fix has been provided for the situations where the ADP interface fails to transmit the correct DMX start byte. The fix is supplied as a separate installation file. Please read the readme.txt file found in the Adpfix folder.

#### Offline Visualizer updates

•The Visualizer now automatically loads the last used \*.ofs file when launching.

•The complete Visualizer setup is now contained in the \*.ofs files. This means that different setups are no longer constrained to the room dimensions entered in the room preferences. \*.Ofs files created with earlier versions of the Visualizer will take the room dimensions from the current user preferences - but once re-saved with the new version, the Visualizer will automatically update the file to the new format.

•The Hidden file type bug is now fixed - it is no longer necessary to disable 'hide known file types' in the Windows setup.

Version 4.0, rev 2 (shipped with LJ version 1.06 build 19).

•Added 2D functionality to cameras, default cameras (front, back, top, bottom, left and right are now 2D) so zooming in, will no longer rotate the camera

•Beam visibility on solid room walls is 100%, and on the scene it is improved. In previous version, the lines of the beam were sometimes obscured by the walls of the room.

•The MX-1 fixture is now supported.

•There is a list with all fixtures that are used in the scene and there is an indication in the list whether the fixture is supported or not. The list is available from the view/spot list menu.

#### Version 4, Rev 2 (shipped with LJ version 1.06 build 23)

• MAC 250+, CX-2, Exterior 600 Compact and Roboscan 812 mode 2 (no speed emulation) are now supported.

Version 4, Rev 2 (shipped with LJ version 1.06 build 29)

• MiniMAC Profile and MiniMAC Wash. Martin MX-4 now supported.

# 24.14 Version 1.05

Offline Visualizer from MSD integrated Several features has been updated. Note : to move fixtures in the Visualizer hold down the [alt] key on the keyboard.

German on-line help file is now available See details here

### Fixture personalities added:

•Personality for Mac 300 has been added.

•Personality for Martin DJ Scan has been added (fixture working title).

•Personality for a <u>user-definable DMX color scroller</u> <sup>255</sup> has been added.

•Personality for an <u>8-bit small user-definable scanner</u> with user-definable palettes has been added.

•Personalities for 24 and 32 channel Generic DMX 124 has been added.

•Personalities for <u>DMX Smoke Machines and Hazers</u> added.

• <u>Smoke control</u> 122 for DMX Smoke Machines and Hazers added.

The following fixture personalities has been added for control through the Martin DMX interface: •Roboscan 805 - this personality will also work with Roboscan 804.

•Roboscan 218 (the old model)

•Roboscan 218 (the old fill •Roboscan 1220 II R.

•RoboZap MSR 1200.

•RoboZap 250.

Martin CenterPiece.

RoboColor I.

•RoboColor I.

•RoboColor II (the old model)

Notes on controlling fixtures through the DMX interface here 74

## Features added:

•<u>Master Intensity</u><sup>[195]</sup> control has been rewritten. It now supports a Grand Master and 8 sub-masters. •<u>DMX In</u><sup>[237]</sup> capability has been added. DMX in can be utilized to 'remote' control various features in the Light Jockey from any other DMX source.

•A <u>global patch</u> and tool has been implemented. The Patch tool allows the patching of one DMX channel value to several other channels.

Auto fade-in and out with specific timing has been added to the <u>2532 user key functions</u> 226.
 Added Fixture stand-alone to selected fixtures. The function will be available on the <u>extended control</u> 11711.

•Added Grand Master Control toggle for individual channels on the <u>Generic DMX fixtures</u> •User definable <u>default output values</u> as been implemented.

•Added global patch option to fixture icon right-click popup. This aligns the global patch view with the fixtures DMX address.

•Added <u>Smoke Control</u><sup>122</sup> for integration of DMX controllable Smoke Machines and Hazers.

## **Bugs fixed:**

•Random color selection now works with the Exterior 600.

•Moving icons with selection in exclusive mode didn't work. This is now patched.

•A bug would cause movement presets to fail when fade was disabled in the sequence control. This is now fixed.

•A problem with selecting a cue to link in the "link to cue" loop option in the cue control has been found and fixed.\_\_\_

• Hotkeys 203 F1-F12 had been disabled in certain controls by mistake (notably the cue time control).

This has been fixed. Note that the hotkeys will still not work when dedicated keyboard input fields has focus (such as sequence name in the <u>Save Sequence Dialog</u> 123).

•A much needed shutter-button has been added to the MAC1200 personality.

•Fixed problem with locking sequence times in the <u>Cue Time Control</u>  $|147\rangle$ .

•Fixed random strobe that didn't work on the Exterior 600.

•The GO option in the cuelist didn't work properly - it is now fixed.

•Fixed problem with Imagescan gobo rotation control.

•Fixed problem with intensity master and sub masters and fixtures with intensity status off.

•The gobo control bug that caused a resource leak when bitmap-caching was enabled has been fixed.

#### Misc. Changes:

•Changed caption on movement "delta" to "Resolution" on the Pan/Tilt control. The function is unaltered.

•The blackout warning has been changed slightly so that it no longer grabs the focus when forced in the foreground (quite annoying when using menus and other controls).

•It is no longer possible to disable the <u>Master Intensity</u> 195 and <u>Blackout</u> 195. Both controls are now always present on the fixture toolbar.

Position presets can now be assigned by double-clicking on the line in the preset list hole.
 Added [Control]+"rubber banding" to Hotkeys 203.

•Changed ADP driver (ADPDriver.exe) for the Parallel port version - now version 2.03

## 24.15 Version 1.04

#### Fixture personality added:

•The Imagescan fixture has been implemented.

•Controls for the PAL profile shutters has been implemented.

•Personalities for MAC500 and Roboscan 918 with scrollable gobo wheel has been added.

#### Features added:

•A couple of new mouse+keyboard combinations has been implemented for fixture selections. See Hotkeys 203

•A programmable fixture reset has been added. See Extended controls 117

•Position Presets has been implemented. See Position Presets 106

•A save button has been added to the confirm (overwrite/new etc.) dialogs. Clicking this button will bring up the relevant save dialog. If the sequence, cue or cuelist was previously saved, it will be resaved without the save dialog appearing (quick save).

•A couple of buttons has been added to the fixture toolbar :

All : this will select all fixtures

None : this deselects all fixtures

**Inclusive** / **exclusive** toggle button : When in exclusive mode, selecting fixtures with the mouse is different. A left-click on a fixture icon will select that fixture as master and deselect all other fixtures (solo select), this is identical to the [Control]+left-click combination.

A rubber-band selection will de-select all other fixtures before selecting the fixtures that are rubberbanded.

#### **Bugs fixed:**

•A bug that disabled the auto detect of the parallel port adapter has been found. Version 1.03 would often fail to auto detect the adapter. This is now fixed.

•The bug fix regarding fading pan and tilt after a movement macro from version 1.03 now also works when restoring from macros with separate pan and tilt speeds.

•A bug that would cause the cue to 'forget' fixture values in some of the sequences has been found

and fixed - the bug would strike periodically and only under certain circumstances.

•On the Punisher, it was not possible to assign effects shake if the parabola rotation was already set - this is now fixed.

•After 'testing' an already configured 2532 DA controller in the hardware setup- the 2532 would no longer work until LightJockey was restarted. This is now fixed.

•Using the lamp auto strike feature would sometimes leave one fixture to 'hanging' with the lamp strike command active, and no control over functions on DMX address 1. This has now been fixed.

•A bug that would cause the cue modified warning to appear even though the cue was not modified has been found and fixed. This bug was especially annoying when playing back cue lists.

•Selecting a startup cuelist with the select cuelist window already open would lead to a freeze up. This is now fixed.

•Error message when trying to run a cuelist with CD commands and CD ROM not configured.

Finally, we have now started a discussion forum dedicated to the LightJockey hosted on the Martin Website.

This forum can be accessed through the *service and support* entry on the Martin website or directly from here: <u>www.martin.com/forum</u>

# 24.16 Version 1.03

#### **File Format Change**

•The sequence file format has been changed. Sequence files of an older format will automatically be updated to version 1.03 at startup. This update is irreversible.

#### Features added:

•To make sequence editing faster, a fade enable/disable toggle menu has been added to the sequence control. When fade is disabled via this menu, all fades in the current scene will be evaluated as snap. The scenes will still be saved with the programmed fade status.

•A "Follow Cue" menu option has been added to the select cue view when enabled the currently active cue will be highlighted in the list, even if selected via cuelist or 2532 Direct Access Controller.

#### **Bugs fixed:**

•A bit more work was needed on the freeze on start up bug. A timeout has been added to the hardware validation routine.

•Previous versions could have a problem when setting sequence scene and fade times. The problem would occur when Windows regional settings would define the decimal point as a '.' (full stop). LightJockey will now accept '.' as well as ',' as decimal points.

•A bug concerning fading pan and tilt values after running a macro has been found and fixed. In previous versions fading pan and tilt to a static position from a movement macro would move pan and tilt with a seemingly random speed to the new position. Pan and tilt is now moved with the correct speed according to the actual fade time.

•The "Get Sequence" button on the sequence control is now properly synchronized with the button on the Sequence /Cue Toolbar.

The save sequence control no longer updates the sequence name and type when sequence is trigged or scenes deleted or inserted (quite annoying when trying to rename a sequence with playback active)
Sequence "Quick Save" function now considers the save options set (clear, add to cue etc.)

•The field for the current time in the status bar as been widened to fit a 12 hour time setting.

•When editing a sequence, changing the current fade-time in a scene would take immediate effect. This has now been fixed.

#### Notes on demo version:

•It is now possible to enable <u>CD-ROM</u> [40] in the demo version.

# 24.17 Version 1.01

#### **Implemented** :

•Support for the 2532 Direct Access 225 is now implemented.

### Features added :

A "clear command"- command has been added to the "command" popup-menu of the cuelist.
Double-clicking on a sequence slot in a cue now loads the sequence (if any). This feature may be disabled from the preferences menu.

•A "Close LightJockey" confirmation dialog as been added when Light Jockey is closed. This dialog might be disabled from the System Preferences son menu.

## **Bugs fixed:**

•A major bug that would cause LightJockey to freeze on startup has been fixed. This bug would often strike when re-starting after configuring the 4064 Club version card.

•Loading an empty cue does not update the DMX output accordingly - this is now fixed.

•Using the "Select All" function from the group selection

•no longer causes an access error, when no fixture is configured as fixture number one.

•Improper resizing of the Cue-control when using "Default view" has now been fixed.

•Sequence hotkeys now works when the select cuelist control has focus.

•Cuelist now updates cue information when cues are re-saved with a different name or deleted.